
PASCAGOULA CITY COUNCIL 
 

RECESSED REGULAR MEETING – TUESDAY AUGUST 16, 2016, 6:00 P.M. 
 
 

  WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER: 
 

 INVOCATION:     Councilman Tadlock   
 
  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilman Tipton 
 
  ADDRESS THE COUNCIL: 

 
1. Bicycle and  Pedestrian Infrastructure  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS – MINUTES OF THE PLANNING BOARD MEETING OF     

AUGUST 10, 6:00 P.M. 

 
2. Minutes of the Planning Board meeting of August 10, 2016 

Recommended Action: acknowledge receipt of minutes. 
 

3. Rezoning of parcels along Dr. Reuben P. Morris Drive between Victor Street and 
Mississippi Export Railroad 
Recommended Action: adopt an Ordinance to rezone several parcels along the north 
and south sides of Reuben P. Morris Drive and located east of Market Street 
between Victor Street and Mississippi Export Railroad from Mixed Use Residential 3 
(MR3) to Community Commercial (CC). 

 
 

   CONSENT AGENDA:* 
 

4.  Minutes of the regular Council meeting of August 2, 2016, and minutes of the 
recessed Council meeting of August 3, 2016. 
Recommended Action: adopt and approve minutes. 

 
5. Minutes of the Strategic Plan Steering Committee meeting of June 6, 2016 

Recommended Action: acknowledge receipt of minutes. 
 
6. Order terminating the State of Emergency issued on August 9, 2016 

Recommended Action: approve Order. 
 

7. Advertising the resources of the City through the Pascagoula Quarterback Club 2016 
Football Season for $250.00.   
Recommended Action: approve advertising request. 



8. Advertising the resources of the City through the Pascagoula Rotary Club Golf 
Tournament as a diamond sponsor for $500.00. The tournament will be held on 
August 27, 2016, at the Shell Landing Golf Club. 
Recommended Action: approve advertising request. 

 
9. Order authorizing the Sale of Real Property on 11th Street 

Recommended Action: approve Order and authorize the Mayor to execute the 
related documents. 

 
10. Closeout Documents for Point Park Boat Launch & Pier Restoration 

Recommended Action: approve and authorize the City Manager to execute the 
related documents. Authorize a manual check to be issued to J.E. Borries, Inc., in 
the amount of $293,161.16. 

 
11. Advertise the MDOT Safe Routes to School Program for Jackson Elementary 

Project 
Recommended Action: approve and authorize the City Clerk to advertise for bids 
for the MDOT Safe Routes to School Program for Jackson Elementary Project. 
This in contingent on the Mississippi Department of Transportation approval. 

 
12.  Approve additional funds to reimburse Orion Planning and Design for increases in 

travel costs related to the Comprehensive Plan 
Recommended Action: approve increase in contracted amount not to exceed 
$2,200.00 for costs related to facility space and travel resulting from delay in 
workshop at the request of the City Planner.  

 
13. CDBG Standard Operation Procedures  

Recommended Action: approve the CDBG Standard Operation Procedures.  
 

14. Extension of the annual Red Clay Bid #334  
Recommended Action: approval to extend the annual Red Clay Bid #334 with JET 
Construction. 
 

15. Extension of the annual Gas Pipe Bid #337 
Recommended Action: approval to extend the annual Gas Pipe Bid #337 with Port 
City Pipe. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



16. Change Order No. 3 for Drainage Improvements for Holland Street to Ingalls 
Avenue with Apple Construction, relating to field conditions and adjustments 
needed as work progresses under Ingalls Avenue. The overall adjustment to the 
contract is an increase of $2,140.00  
Recommended Action: approve Change Order No. 3 with Apple Construction and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the related documents. 
 

17. Senior Center Assistant 
Recommended Action: authorize revisions to the job description for the Senior 
Center Assistant. There are minor changes to update the description and there is no 
salary change that is necessary.  
 

18. City of Pascagoula Employees Group Health Plan Amendment #12 
Recommended Action: approve the amendment to the Group Health Plan, on pages 
2 and 66 of the Plan Document to include the position of Public Defender in the 
description of the Source of Plan Contributions and Definition of an Employee, 
respectively. 
 

19. City of Pascagoula Employees Insurance Committee Bylaws 
Recommended Action: approval of the Bylaws for the operation and structure of the 
City of Pascagoula Employees Insurance Committee. 
 

20. City of Pascagoula Website Redevelopment 
Recommended Action: approval to move forward with proposal from CivicPlus and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the related documents. 
 

21. Task Order  No. 61 with Compton Engineering for the 2D Renderings of Recreation 
Facilities 
Recommended Action: approve Task Order No. 61 with Compton Engineering in 
the amount not to exceed $3,000.00 for up to two (2) 2D renderings of the athletic 
facilities in Pascagoula. Authorize the Mayor to execute the related documents. 
 

22. YTD Revenue and Expenditure Reports 
Recommended Action: accept YTD Revenue and Expenditure Reports for July 2016 
 

23. Resolution setting liens on: 3706 Marie and an Accessory Lot, 4813 Chateau, 2211 
Ingalls and Vacant Lot on Ingalls 
Recommended Action: adopt the Resolution. 
 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 

 
24.  Appointment of an Election Commissioner 

  
 
 



COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

25. Resolution authorizing the submission of the HOME Investment Partnership 
Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Application to the Mississippi Home 
Corporation. Adopt the Affirmative Marketing Plan. The application requests 
$349,000.00 and there is no match required. 
Recommended Action: approve Resolution and authorize the Mayor to execute the 
related documents. 
 
 
CITY CLERK/COMPTROLLER 
 

26. Budget Amendment 16.21 in the General Fund for the FY2017 DUI grant revenue 
and related expenditures. 
Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.21. 

 
27. Ordinance to amend Section 70-9 of the Code of Ordinances to increase the rate 

charged for refuse collection. Rate will increase from $14.35 to $15.64. 
Recommended Action: approve Ordinance.  
 
 
CLAIMS DOCKET 

 
28.  Order for Docket of Claims for August 16, 2016 

 Recommended Action: approve Order for Docket of Claims. 
 

 
29. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Discussion concerning possible purchase of real 

property, JCUA legal matters and location of a business. 
 
 

30. ADJOURN 
 

 
* Consent Agenda – All matters listed under Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine by the  
 City Council and will be enacted by one motion.  There will not be separate discussion of these items.  
If discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered 
separately. 



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

Meeting Date: 8/16/16   

 
Submitting Department or Individual: Parks and Recreation  

 
Contact Name: Kristi Ducote  Phone: 228-372-6880 

 

 

Agenda Topic: Bicycle and Pedestrian Infrastructure 
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:  
Address council on the need and importance of the inclusion of bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure in the 
Market Street project and all future road projects. 

 
Budgeted Item Yes  No  Source of Funding  General Fund 
 

Contract Required Yes  No    Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required Yes  No    Grant 
 

       Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 1.



     



cwarren
Typewritten Text
2.

























cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 3



















     



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date: August 16, 2016   
 
Submitting Department or Individual: City Clerk  
 
Contact Name: Karen Kennedy  Phone: 938-6615 
 
 
Agenda Topic: Minutes of August 2, and 3, 2016 
Attach additional information as necessary 
 
Action Requested:  
Adopt and Approve Minutes  
 
Budgeted Item Yes  No  Source of Funding  General Fund 
 
Contract Required Yes  No    Utility Fund 
 
Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required Yes  No    Grant 
 
       Other 
 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 4



1 
 

      REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 2, 2016, AT 6:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL, PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 

 
 
The City Council of the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, met at City Hall in a regular meeting on 

Tuesday, August 2, 2016, at 6:00 p.m. Mayor Blevins called the meeting to order with the following 
officials present: 

 
Mayor Harry J. Blevins 
Councilman Burt Hill 
Councilman Freddy Jackson  
Councilman Marvin Pickett, Sr. 
Councilwoman Brenda Simkins  
Councilman David Tadlock  
Councilman Scott Tipton 
 
City Manager Joe Huffman 
City Attorney Eddie Williams 
Asst. City Clerk Karen Kennedy  
City Clerk/Comptroller Robert J. Parker was absent.   
 
 
 Mayor Blevins welcomed everyone to the meeting. The invocation was given by Councilman 

Hill. The pledge of allegiance was led by Councilman Jackson. 
 
      ***** 
Opening remarks were made by several members of the Council. Mayor Blevins recognized a 

Mayor’s Youth Council member, Gracie Usher.  Councilman Tadlock stated a public service 
announcement will be going out concerning recycling.  The recycling bins will be distributed over the 
next few weeks with information detailing what types of articles can be recycled.  The Mayor 
announced two (2) new businesses opening in the City, Delicious Donuts on 14th Street and Metro 
Beauty on Denny Avenue.  Also, he stated all City projects are continuing and on schedule.  Councilman 
Tadlock asked that a link be included on the new city website allowing the public to check the progress 
of the City projects.  

 
      ***** 
Mr. James Colmer, representing the Pascagoula High Quarterback Club, addressed the Council on 

ways the booster club plans to encourage the public to attend to the football games.  He asked for 
authorization to shoot a single firework each time the football team scores either a touchdown or field 
goal during the game.  He also presented a Fire Safety Plan approved by Donnie Carlson, Fire Chief.  
Additional information is spread on the minutes as follows:     

 



2 
 

 
 



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

 



5 
 

 



6 
 

Councilman Tipton made a motion to waive Section 30-71 of the Code Ordinances prohibiting 
the discharge of fireworks in the City.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Hill and received the 
following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
Mr. Steve Mitchell with Habitat for Humanity of the Mississippi Gulf Coast extended a formal 

invitation to the Council to attend an upcoming meeting to learn about the Hardest Hit Fund Blight 
Elimination Program on Wednesday, August 31, 2016, beginning at 1:30 p.m. – 3:00 p.m. at their office 
located at 2214 - 34th Street, Gulfport, Mississippi.    

 
Ms. Laura Cooley addressed the Council with concerns regarding Market Street.  The Mayor 

thanked Ms. Cooley for coming tonight.   
 
Mr. Al Brimm and Mr. Jay Spradlin with the Pascagoula Recreation Commission stated that they 

have been working on several projects in the Parks and Recreation Master Plan so that they can move 
forward with a plan to fund them with the 2% prepared food tax.  The plans include improved lighting, 
parking, improvements to the entrances to the soccer field, baseball, and softball fields, additional 
restrooms, concession stands, batting cages, etc.  The plan also includes improvements to the tennis 
courts, adding on to the skate park and making a cross country trail.  The Commission plans to have 
pamphlets printed to educate the public on the upcoming special election.  They will also be meeting 
with the football, baseball and soccer coaches from Pascagoula High and Resurrection to get their 
support.  The Mayor asked the Commission to meet with the restaurant owners to help them understand 
the referendum as well as getting their feedback.  The Mayor thanked Mr. Brimm and Mr. Spradlin for 
coming tonight.      

 
***** 

   PUBLIC HEARINGS – RESOLUTION FOR PROPERTY CLEANUP: 
 
 
A public hearing was held at this time for a property cleanup matter at 2704 Canty.  Donovan 

Scruggs, City Planner, provided the Council with an update on each parcel.  The property owner was not 
in attendance due to an illness.   

 
The Council then considered the following Resolution: 
 



7 
 



8 
 

  



9 
 

The following action was taken by the City Council:  
 
 
2704 Canty:  Councilwoman Simkins made a motion to “CONTINUE” the property cleanup 

hearing for 2704 Canty until the Council meeting of September 6, 2016.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Tadlock and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill 
“AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  
(Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

 
A public hearing was held at this time for property cleanup matters at 1900 Denny Avenue and 

3106 Louise Street.  Donovan Scruggs, City Planner, provided the Council with an update on each 
parcel.  One of the property owners was present and made comments.    

 
The Council then considered the following Resolution: 
 
 

 



10 
 

 



11 
 

 
 
 



12 
 

 
The following action was taken by the City Council. 
 
 
1900 Denny Avenue:  Councilman Tadlock made a motion to adopt the Resolution for 1900 

Denny Avenue as recommended.  It was further clarified that the sign is a non-conforming structure as a 
result of Section 8.3.d and 8.5.c of the ??? as well as causing a safety issue.   The motion was seconded 
by Councilman Tipton and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill 
“AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  
(Approved 8-2-16) 
 

3106 Louise Street:  Councilwoman Simkins made a motion to “CONTINUE” the property 
cleanup hearing for 3106 Louise Street until the Council meeting of September 6, 2016.  The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Hill and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  
Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and 
Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 
 

***** 
  
The following consent agenda items were considered at this time: 

 
The first item for consideration was a request to adopt and approve the minutes of the recessed 

regular Council meeting of July 19, and special call meeting of July 25, 2016, as recommended by 
Karen Kennedy, Asst. City Clerk. 

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to adopt and approve the minutes of the recessed regular Council 

meeting of July 19, and special call meeting of July 25, 2016, as recommended.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  
Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and 
Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

Minutes of the Pascagoula Redevelopment Authority meetings of June 6 and 30, 2016, were 
acknowledged by the Council. 
 

***** 
Minutes of the Recreation Commission meeting of June 1, 2016, and approved by the Pascagoula 

Recreation Commission on July 6, 2016, were acknowledged by the Council. 
 

***** 
 
The next item for consideration was the approval authorizing the use of four (4) Police vehicles 

as unmarked in accordance with section 25-1-87 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, as 
indicated, as recommended by Kenny Johnson, Police Chief.  

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to approve authorizing the use of four (4) Police vehicles as 

unmarked in accordance with section 25-1-87 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, as 
indicated, as recommended.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the 



13 
 

following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
(A copy of the related document is filed in the minute file of this meeting and incorporated 

herein by reference).  
  

***** 
The next item for consideration was a request to approve the postage funds in the amount of  

$3,000 for the direct debit/postage-on-call meter setting services with Neo-Post, as recommended by 
Karen Kennedy, Asst. City Clerk. 

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to approve postage funds of $3,000 for the direct debit/postage-

on-call meter setting services with Neo-Post, as recommended.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill 
“AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  
(Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

The next item for consideration was a request to approve authorizing the submission of the CDBG 
FY2016 Action Plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, as recommended by 
Jen Dearman, Community and Economic Development Director and authorize the Mayor to execute 
documents associated with the CDBG FY2016 Action Plan.  Funding associated with the Action Plan is 
approximately $179,527 for which no match is required.  

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to approve authorizing the submission of the CDBG FY2016 

Action Plan to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, as recommended and authorize 
the Mayor to execute related documents.    The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and 
received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett 
“AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
      *****  
The next item for consideration was a request to accept and approve the Parks and Recreation Fee 

Schedule, as recommended by Darcie Crews, Parks and Recreation Director.  
 
 
 
 
Councilman Hill made a motion to accept and approve the Parks Recreation Fee Schedule as 
recommended.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  
Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, 
Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

 
The next item for consideration was the adoption of an Ordinance to amend Section 58-31 of the 

Code of Ordinances to increase the number of commissioners serving on the Recreation Commission to 
13 members, as recommended by Eddie Williams, City Attorney.  

 
The Ordinance is spread on the minutes as follows:  



14 
 



15 
 

 
The above Ordinance was introduced in writing by Councilman Hill, seconded for 
adoption by  Councilman Jackson, and received the following vote:  Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”, Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
Passed this the 2nd day of August, 2016.  
 

        APPROVED: 
        



16 
 

        /s/ Harry J. Blevins 
        Harry J. Blevins, Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
/s/ Karen Kennedy 
Asst. City Clerk 
 

***** 
The next item for consideration was a request to approve advertising the resources of the City 

through the Mississippi Gulf Coast Blues Commission 25th Annual Blues and Heritage Festival on 
September 9, 2016, with a Bronze Package in the amount of $500.00, as recommended by Eddie 
Wiliams, City Attorney. 

 



17 
 

   



18 
 

 
 



19 
 

Councilman Hill made a motion to approve advertising the resources of the City through the 
Mississippi Gulf Coast Blues Commission, a non-profit corporation that has qualified as a 501(c)(3), at 
the 25th Annual Blues and Heritage Festival on September 9, 2016, with a Bronze Package in the amount 
of $500.00, as recommended.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the 
following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”, Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
*****  
 

The next item for consideration was a Resolution authorizing the transfer of certain assets to 
Jackson County and removal from City of Pascagoula inventory, as recommended by Police Chief 
Kenny Johnson. 

 
The Resolution is spread on the minutes as follows: 



20 
 

 



21 
 

 
 



22 
 

 
The above Resolution was introduced by Councilman Hill, seconded for 
adoption by Councilman Jackson, and received the following vote:  Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  The Mayor then 
declared the Resolution adopted on the 2nd day of August, 2016. 

 
*****  
 

The next item for consideration was a request to extend the current Motorcycle Lease Agreement 
with Bruce Rossmeyer’s Daytona Harley-Davidson of Ormond Beach, Florida, under the same terms 
and conditions, as recommended by Kenny Johnson, Police Chief.  The agreement is for twenty-four 
(24) months at $425.00 per bike per month for five (5) 2017 FLHTP Electra Glide police motorcycles.  
The contract dates will be December 1, 2016 through November 30, 2018.  Vendor concurs.    

 



23 
 

 
 



24 
 

 

 



25 
 

Councilman Hill made a motion to approve extending the current Motorcycle Lease Agreement 
with Bruce Rossmeyer’s Daytona Harley-Davidson of Ormond Beach, Florida, as recommended. The 
contract dates will be December 1, 2016 through November 30, 2018.  Vendor concurs.  The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”, 
Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and 
Tipton “AYE. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

Minutes of the Historic Preservation Commission meeting of June 22, 2016, were acknowledged 
by the Council. 
 

***** 
 

The following new business items were considered at this time: 
 
The first item for consideration was a presentation by Ravin Floyd, Public Relations Specialist, 

explaining a new Citizen Recognition Program, Flagship Award.  Mrs. Floyd stated the program will 
acknowledge and honor citizens whose efforts and achievements help make Pascagoula a great place to 
live, work and play.  It will be awarded bi-annually during the first meetings in May and November.  
Citizens can make recommendations to the City Council on who should be nominated. The Council will 
nominate citizens each month based on a list of nominees.  The Council will decide on who will receive 
the Flagship Citizens Award.  
  

***** 
 

The next item for consideration was the appointments to the Recreation Commission as presented 
by Darcie Crew, Parks and Recreation Director.  City Manager, Joe Huffman advised there are currently 
three (3) positions vacant after the Council adopted the Ordinance creating a 13- member Commission 
tonight.  Two applications have been submitted for consideration and the City will advertise to fill the 
third vacant position.        

 
Councilman Simkins made a motion to appoint James H. Colmer, Jr. to the Pascagoula Recreation 

Commission. The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote: Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock 
“AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
Councilman Jackson made a motion to appoint Joseph J. Davis to the Pascagoula Recreation 

Commission. The motion was seconded by Councilman Hill and received the following vote: Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock 
“AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 
 

***** 
The next item for consideration was an appointment to the Municipal Election Commission, as 

presented by Eddie Williams, City Attorney.  Mr. Williams advised Mr. Mike Murphy resigned his 
position due to an issue with his current work schedule, effective immediately.   

 
Councilman Tadlock made a motion to appoint Ms. Debbi McCallam to fill the vacant position on 

the Municipal Election Commission, as recommended. The motion was seconded by Councilman Hill 



26 
 

and received the following vote: Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, 
Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

 
The next item for consideration was to approve the Residential Central Business District Tax 

Exemption Policy, as presented by Jen Dearman, Community and Economic Director.   
 

 
 
 
 



27 
 

 
 

 



28 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



29 
 

 
 
 
After discussion, Councilwoman Simkins made a motion to approve the proposal with the 

inclusion of a modification that differentiates the investment threshold for a renovation to a minimum of 
$75,000.00.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Pickett and received the following vote: Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock 
“AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
 

***** 
 
The next item for consideration was the Order for Docket of Claims as follows: 

    
      ORDER 
 
WHEREAS, the attached docket of claims for the period July 15, 2016, through July 29, 2016, 

has been presented to the City Council for allowance and approval. 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that all of said claims are proper and should be allowed; 



30 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, that all claims shown on said dockets are hereby 

allowed and approved for payment. 
 
 
 
The above Order was introduced by Councilman Tipton, seconded for adoption by 
Councilman Jackson, and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  
Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock 
“AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  The Mayor then declared the Order adopted on the 2nd day 
of August, 2016. 
 
      ***** 
Councilman Tadlock made a motion to close the meeting to consider the need for an executive 

session.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock 
“AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.   

 
***** 

Councilman Tadlock made a motion to go into executive session for the purpose of discussing the 
potential Section 42 litigation, JCUA legal matters, location of a business and establish just 
compensation for Hospital Road project. The motion was seconded by Councilman Hill and received the 
following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”, after which the Mayor announced to the public 
and to those in attendance that the Council had voted to hold an executive session for the purpose stated 
above.  The Council then began the executive session. 

 
***** 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE  

CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI, AUTHORIZING  
REVISED JUST COMPENSATION FOR A CERTAIN PARCEL  

NEEDED FOR THE HOSPITAL ROAD PROJECT 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Pascagoula is presently engaged in certain improvements to Hospital Road 

south of Highway 90, the same being designated as STP-8971-00(005)LPA/ 106448-701000 (Project); and 

WHEREAS, the Project calls for the acquisition of a number of parcels of land for rights-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution dated the 3rd day of May, 2016, the City Council did set just 

compensation for the various parcels needed for the Project; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to revise compensation to adjust for a certain negotiated settlement with 

property owners in order to avoid litigation; and 

WHEREAS, an offer has been made by Mark Dye, the acquisitions agent for the Project, to property 

owners for the parcel identified herein on the basis of values which were established by the Council 

pursuant to the Resolution of May 3, 2016, and the offer was countered and negotiated by the property 

owners and Mark Dye resulting in the offer in the amount set forth hereinbelow, contingent on the approval 

by the City Council of the City of Pascagoula; and 



31 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that it is necessary to the Project and in the best interest of the 

City that the negotiated offer be approved, the same being reasonable, in order to avoid litigation for the 

acquisition of same: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

PASCAGOULA AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. That the findings and recitals in the above preambles are hereby declared and found 

to be true and correct. 

SECTION 2.  That the Mayor and Mark Dye are hereby authorized to acquire the right-of-way 

from the owners together with all other parties in interest for reasonable compensation based on the below 

recited negotiated offer as follows: 

Richard & Carron Hall    Original Offer:   $11,300.00 
Administrative Adjustment:   $10,000.00 
(88% increase based on revised damages.  See attached 
documents.) 

        Revised Offer:   $21,300.00 (Accepted) 

 

 SECTION 3. The City Manager is authorized and directed to issue a check payable to the owners 

of the above listed parcel as consideration for the acquisition of same and revised offer is hereby approved as 

just compensation for the parcel in question. 

 

The above Resolution was introduced by Councilman Tadlock, seconded for 
adoption by Councilman Pickett, and received the following vote:  Mayor 
Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, 
Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.  The Mayor then 
declared the Resolution adopted on the 2nd day of August, 2016. 

 

***** 
 

 During executive session, Eddie Williams, City Attorney discussed and recommended retaining 
an attorney, Mark Herbert, as co-counsel for a cost in the amount of $170.00 per hour. This is for the 
upcoming litigation with Knowles Construction Company.  

 
***** 

 
Councilman Tadlock made a motion to approve retaining Attorney Mark Herbert as co-counsel 

for litigation with Knowles Construction Company. The motion was seconded by Councilman Hill and 
received the following vote: Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett 
“AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

 
Councilman Tadlock made a motion to approve joining in the litigation against the Jackson 

County Utility Authority (JCUA) contingent upon all the municipalities located within Jackson County 
join in the lawsuit. The motion was seconded by Councilman Jackson and received the following vote: 



32 
 

Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, 
Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
***** 

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to authorize approval of $50.00 per hour to Dogan & Wilkinson 

to serve as lead counsel in the litigation against the Jackson County Utility Authority. The motion was 
seconded by Councilwoman Simkins and received the following vote: Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  
Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and 
Tipton “AYE”. (Approved 8-2-16) 

 
Councilman Hill made a motion to end the executive session and return to open session.  The 

motion was seconded by Councilwoman Simkins and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins 
“AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, 
and Tipton “AYE”. 

      ***** 
There being no further business to come before the Council at this time, Councilman Hill made a 

motion to recess until Wednesday, August 3, 2016, at 8:00 a.m.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Jackson and received the following vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill 
“AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”, Tadlock “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”. 

 
The meeting ended at 8:25 p.m. 
 
        APPROVE: 
 
 
        _____________________________  
        Harry J. Blevins, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________              
Karen Kennedy, Asst. City Clerk 



 
 

 PASCAGOULA CITY COUNCIL 
 

RECESSED REGULAR MEETING WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 2016, AT 8:00 A.M. 
 

CITY HALL, PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 
 
The City Council of the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, met at City Hall in a recessed 

regular meeting on Wednesday, August 3, 2016, at 8:00 a.m.  Mayor Blevins called the meeting 
to order with the following officials present: 

 
Mayor Harry J. Blevins 
Councilman Burt Hill 
Councilman Freddy Jackson  
Councilwoman Brenda Simkins - (arrived 8:04 a.m.) 
Councilman David Tadlock - (arrived 8:05 a.m.) 
Councilman Marvin Pickett, Sr. 
Councilman Scott Tipton 
 
City Manager Joe Huffman 
City Attorney Eddie Williams 
City Clerk/Comptroller Bobby Parker 
Asst. City Clerk Karen Kennedy  
  
 
Mayor Blevins welcomed everyone to the meeting.  The invocation was given by 

Councilman Jackson.  The pledge of allegiance was led by Councilman Tadlock. 
 
 
 Mayor Blevin stated this meeting was requested by the Council for the presentation of the 
proposed FY 2016-17 Budget. 

  
 Joe Huffman, City Manager, was the moderator for the meeting. 
 
 Mr. Huffman stated that no millage increase is contained in the budget.  He further stated 
he did not know whether or not the school district will have an increase in their millage.  
 

The Council then discussed the FY 2016-17 proposed budget.  Members of the Executive 
Management Team discussed their departmental budgets with the Council.  A lengthy question 
and answer session followed.  Additional information was requested on several items.   
 

 After further discussion and there being no further business to come before the Council  
and no action taken, Councilman Hill made a motion to recess the meeting until August 15, 
2016, at 1:00 pm.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Tadlock and received the following 
vote:  Mayor Blevins “AYE”.  Councilmen Hill “AYE”, Jackson “AYE”, Simkins “AYE”  
Tadlock “AYE”, Pickett “AYE”, and Tipton “AYE”.   
 
 
The meeting ended at 10:10 a.m. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
       __________________________________  
       Harry J. Blevins, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________  
Karen Kennedy, Asst. City Clerk 
 



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

Strategic Plan Steering Committee 170th Meeting Minutes

Acknowledge minutes as presented.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
5.



Strategic Plan Steering Committee – 170th Meeting  
16 June 2016 – page 1 of 3 

 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN STEERING COMMITTEE 

170th Meeting (100th AK) 

Community and Economic Development Department  

Conference Room 

 June 16, 2016 

 

 

 

The 170th meeting of the Strategic Plan Steering Committee was called to order by 

Chairman Richard Lucas at 4:30 PM.  There was a discussion regarding positive feedback 

about the city from attendees of Richard’s class reunion. 

  

Committee members in attendance:  Doug Adams, Richard Lucas, Ann Pickett, Amy 

Brandenstein, and Liz Ford 

Excused committee members not in attendance: Chris Wiggins, Terry Bollman, Drew 

Estabrook, Jim McIngvale, Hanson Horn, and Sara Jim Boykin 

Ex Officios in attendance:  Deborah Frederic, Pascagoula Pride; Jacob Clemens, 

Resurrection High School; Michele Coats, Pascagoula Main Street; Wes Smith, Planning 

Commission; Jen Dearman, Community and Economic Development; and Zoie Mestayer, 

Economic Development Intern 

Excused Ex Officios not in attendance:  Alice Walker, Pascagoula Redevelopment 

Authority; Kristin Pugh, Mike McElhaney, Recreation Commission; and Kris Rinza, 

Pascagoula High School 

 

Champion Reports:  

Small Business and Retail Sales – Kristin Pugh 

- Kristin is coordinating with Mark Davison on a paper regarding marketing and the 

growth of a small town. Mr. Davison is a Pascagoula resident who is attending the 

University of Florida.  

Infrastructure - Ann Pickett 

- The City’s Projects Spreadsheet was distributed.  

- The Hospital Road Project is completing Right-of-Way certifications with MDOT. 

- The Market Street Design Workshop will occur June 22, 2016, and June 23, 2016. 

Entertainment, Variety, and Cultural – Dr. Chris Wiggins 

- Northgate Cinema in Louisville, MS has a three screen theater with limited movie 

showings each week. It is cost prohibitive and only sustained by the owners 

other two successful theaters.  

- The cost of starting a new small theater would be approximately $2 million 

dollars to purchase digital projection and sound equipment. Then, the theater 

owner would have to apply for the public performance rights with the major 



Strategic Plan Steering Committee – 170th Meeting  
16 June 2016 – page 2 of 3 

movie companies. If approved, the companies provide the movies and require 

70% of ticket sales.  

Housing – Terry Bollman  

-  The Sub-committee is coordinating with owners of three properties: 1. the Hague 

Property is located in East Pascagoula north of the soccer fields; 2. the Holland 

Property is north of Ingalls Avenue between Chicot and Holland Streets; and 3. 

the Ingalls Shipbuilding owned “C” Lot is on Ingalls Avenue.  

- The Housing Sub-committee is defining actions to support  

- the City’s initiative to redevelop neighborhoods with a significant number of post-

Katrina vacancies. 

Aesthetics and Sense of Pride – Deborah Frederic  

- The Lighthouse Visitors Office is installed and additional landscaping is being 

planned at Lighthouse Park.   

- The task order for 3D renderings of recreation facilities to include a sports 

complex is on the June 21, 2016, Council Agenda. 

- The Taking Care of Business Program was briefly discussed. 

Education – K-University and Perception – Wayne Rodolfich 

- No report. 

Crime Prevention and Safety of Citizens – Doug Adams 

- Police officers are assigned to patrol the parks. 

- Beach Boulevard will be closed from Martin Street to Pascagoula Street on the 

evening of July 4, 2016. 

Youth Report – Kris Rinza and Jake Clemens 

- Kris is reaching out to the American Heart Association regarding a potential event 

in Pascagoula.  

 

Reports from the Commissioners: 

Planning Commission – Wesley Smith 

- A drive through permit was granted for the Gulf Coast Save Rex. 

- Brenda Gully came before the Commission. The Commission will recommend a 

permit be granted to demolish 1605 Washington Avenue. 

- The Market Street proposals were also discussed. 

Recreation Commission – Mike McElhaney 

- No report. 

Pascagoula Redevelopment Authority (PRA) – Alice Walker 

-  The Riverfront development contract was extended through mid-August. 

- The state legislature allocated $1.5 million to the PRA during the last session. 

PRA hopes to utilize the funds to establish the Commercial Development 

Incentive Program. 

- Another meeting was held with a potential restaurant for the Riverfront.  

- The housing study being conducted by GCR, Inc. will take approximately 90 

days.   

 

Project Update – Jen Dearman: 

- Anchor Square will have two new businesses opening: 1. a t-shirt design shop and 

2. a healthy food store.  There are three openings available. 

- The remaining pilings and pier are being installed at Point Park utilizing Tidelands 

Trust Funds. 

- The River Park Kayak Launch Project is being prepared for bid advertisement.  



Strategic Plan Steering Committee – 170th Meeting  
16 June 2016 – page 3 of 3 

- The B.B. Jennings Park Project to install parking and boardwalk is being prepared 

for bid advertisement.  

- The Round Island Lighthouse is receiving ADA upgrades including sidewalks, 

tactile display, tactile informational sign, video, informational kiosk, and top view 

cameras.  

- Third Fridays will occur April through October from 5PM to 8PM. It will feature an 

available property, live music, and a different theme for each event. The August 

theme is ‘Dog Days of Summer’ which will include a dog parade. Local restaurants 

and businesses are encouraged to be open. 

- The City is considering establishing a Leisure and Recreation District which would 

allow to go cups.  

 

Community: 

Main Street – Michele Coats – Richard Lucas reporting: 

- Arts on the Avenue and Main Street may combine operations with the Singing 

River Art Association. 

Mississippi Maritime Museum – Terry Bollman – Liz Ford reported: 

- Phase one of the capital campaign is now underway. 

Jackson County Historical and Genealogy Society (JCHGS) – Chris Wiggins 

- No Report. 

La Pointe-Krebs (LP-K) Foundation – Liz Ford 

- The grand reopening of the LP-K Museum will be on Friday, July 1, 2016, from 4 

PM to 7 PM. 

- The LP-K House is the oldest documented building in the Mississippi Valley. The 

USM dendrochronology report has received great publicity. The report dates the 

oldest timbers back to 1757. 

 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 5:50 PM.  The next meeting 

will be on Thursday, July 21, 2016. 

 

 

Liz Ford, note taker.  

 

 

 

 



cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text
6.





cwarren
Typewritten Text
7.





cwarren
Typewritten Text
8.





cwarren
Typewritten Text
9.







     



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date:  August 16, 2016     

 
Submitting Department or Individual:  Parks & Recreation Department   

 
Contact Name:  Darcie Crew    Phone:  228‐938‐2356 

 

 

Agenda Topic:  Closeout Documents for Point Park Boat Launch & Pier Restoration
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:   
Authorize the City Manager to execute documents related to the Point Park Boat Launch and Pier Restoration 
project to include the final payment application and certificate signature page, contract completion certificate 
and  recommendation  for  final  acceptance of  contract.   Accept  the  final  completion  inspection  report,  final 
waiver of lien, and consent of surety to final payment from Compton Engineering.  Accept payment application 
no. 1 and final. Authorize a manual check to be issued to J.E. Borries, Inc. in the amount of $293,161.16.   

 
Budgeted Item  Yes    No    Source of Funding    General Fund 
 

Contract Required  Yes    No        Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required  Yes    No        Grant 
 

              Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 10



























     



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

Permission to Advertise MDOT Safe Routes to School Program Jackson Elementary Project

Authorize the City Clerk to advertise for bids for the referenced project contingent on
Mississippi Department of Transportation approval.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
11.



     



cwarren
Typewritten Text
12.





Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures

Approve the CDBG Standard Operating Procedures as presented.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
13.



i 

 

 

City of Pascagoula 

 

Community Development Block Grant Program 

 

 

 

Policies and Procedures Manual 

 

 

 

City of Pascagoula 

Community and Economic Development Department 

630 Delmas Avenue 

Pascagoula, MS 39567 

(228) 938-6639 

 

Adopted by the City Council on August 2, 2016 

  



  

ii 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 



  

iii 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

Table of Contents 

SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

SECTION 2 – CDBG PROGRAM OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 2 

2.1. NATIONAL OBJECTIVES .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

2.2. CDBG ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES .................................................................................................................................. 9 

2.3. CDBG INELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES ........................................................................................................................... 12 

2.4. INCOME ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES .................................................................................................................. 13 

2.5. FAIR MARKET RENTS............................................................................................................................................. 13 

2.6. THE FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED PLAN ......................................................................................................... 13 

2.7. FAIR HOUSING PLAN .............................................................................................................................................. 15 

2.9. CDBG SPENDING TIMELINESS ........................................................................................................................... 16 

SECTION 3 – CDBG PROGRAM ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE ...................................................................... 16 

3.1. ORGANIZATIONAL CHART ................................................................................................................................... 17 

3.2. CDBG ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................................................................ 17 

SECTION 4 – CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN ........................................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 5 – PROJECT REVIEW AND SELECTION ................................................................................................... 22 

5.1. OVERVIEW .................................................................................................................................................................. 22 

5.2. SUBRECIPIENT AGENCIES ................................................................................................................................... 23 

5.3. CITY DEPARTMENTS OR PROJECTS ................................................................................................................. 25 

5.4. HOUSING ACTIVITIES ............................................................................................................................................. 25 

SECTION 6 – CDBG CALENDAR........................................................................................................................................ 25 

SECTION 7 – SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENTS ............................................................................................................. 27 

7.1. KEY PROVISIONS ...................................................................................................................................................... 28 

7.2. AGREEMENT AMENDMENTS .............................................................................................................................. 30 

SECTION 8 – ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW RECORD (ERR) ................................................................................... 30 

SECTION 9 – OTHER CROSS-CUTTING FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS ................................................................ 35 

9.1. LABOR STANDARDS ................................................................................................................................................ 35 

9.2. RELOCATION .............................................................................................................................................................. 37 

9.3. WOMEN AND MINORITY OWNED BUSINESSES ......................................................................................... 37 

9.4. ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES FOR LOW- AND VERY LOW-INCOME PERSONS ............................. 38 

SECTION 10 – PROCUREMENT STANDARDS AND CODE OF CONDUCT ........................................................ 39 

10.1. GENERAL PROVISIONS ....................................................................................................................................... 39 



  

iv 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

10.2. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING ................................................................................................................ 40 

10.3. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS .......................................................................................................................... 41 

10.4. PROCUREMENT METHODS ............................................................................................................................... 42 

10.5 COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS .............................................................................................................................. 46 

10.7 BONDING REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................................................................ 47 

10.8 CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES ......................................................................................... 47 

10.9 CONTRACT PRICING ARRANGEMENTS ........................................................................................................ 48 

10.10 CONTRACT PROVISIONS ................................................................................................................................... 48 

10.11 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION ...................................................................................................................... 48 

10.12 SPECIFICATIONS .................................................................................................................................................. 48 

10.13 APPEALS AND REMEDIES ................................................................................................................................ 49 

10.14 COUNCIL APPROVAL OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS ............................................................................. 50 

10.15 DELEGATION OF CONTRACTING AUTHORITY ....................................................................................... 50 

10.16 DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY ...................................................................................................... 51 

10.17 FUNDING AVAILABILITY .................................................................................................................................. 51 

SECTION 11 – REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................................ 51 

11.1. REPORT TIMELINESS .......................................................................................................................................... 51 

11.2. DOCUMENTING INCOME .................................................................................................................................... 52 

11.3. REPORT REVIEWS ................................................................................................................................................. 52 

11.5. MAINTAINING RECORDS ................................................................................................................................... 53 

SECTION 12 – FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES PROCEDURES........................................................................................... 57 

12.1. ADMINISTRATION AND ACTIVITIES ............................................................................................................. 57 

12.2. UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................ 58 

12.3. REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURES ................................................................................................................... 58 

12.4. SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT AMENDMENTS .......................................................................................... 59 

12.5. RETENTION OF RECORDS ................................................................................................................................. 59 

SECTION 13 – MONITORING............................................................................................................................................. 59 

13.1. MONITORING SITE VISITS ................................................................................................................................. 60 

13.2. PROGRAM MONITORING ................................................................................................................................... 60 

13.3. FISCAL MONITORING .......................................................................................................................................... 61 

APPENDICES: FORMS AND REPORTS ........................................................................................................................... 62 

APPENDIX A1: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN HEARING ..................................................................... 64 



  

v 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

APPENDIX A2: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN DRAFT AVAILABILITY ........................................... 65 

APPENDIX A3: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN INFORMATION AVAILABILITY .......................... 66 

APPENDIX A4: NOTICE OF CITIZEN PARTICIPATION AMENDMENT AVAILABILITY ......................... 67 

APPENDIX A5: NOTICE OF CAPER..............................................................................................PUBLIC HEARING

 68 

APPENDIX A6: NOTICE OF CAPER.................................................................................... DRAFT AVAILABILITY

 69 

APPENDIX B: LIST OF PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCIES AS OF 4/1/2016 ........................................................ 70 

APPENDIX C1: PUBLIC SERVICES ANNUAL ACTION PLAN EMAIL ............................................................. 74 

APPENDIX C2: REQUEST FOR ANNUAL ACTION PLAN COMMENTS.......................................................... 75 

APPENDIX C3: PUBLIC SERVICES NOTICE OF FUNDING AVAILABILITY (NOFA)................................. 76 

APPENDIX C4: PUBLIC SERVICES FUNDING DETAILS...................................................................................... 77 

APPENDIX C5: APPLICATION FOR PUBLIC SERVICE ACTIVITIES ............................................................... 79 

APPENDIX C6: ACTION PLAN DEELOPMENT PROCESS ................................................................................... 82 

APPENDIX D1: PUBLIC SERVICES ACTIVITIES APPLICATION SORING ..................................................... 83 

APPENDIX D2: PUBLIC SERVICES DETERMINATION LETTERS ........................................................................ 84 

APPENDIX E1:  SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT ...................................................................................................... 85 

APPENDIX E2: SUBRECPIENT RESOURCE MATERIALS ........................................................................................ 93 

APPENDIX E3: SUBRECIPIENT AMENDMENT REQUEST ................................................................................ 94 

HUD Activity # (One activity only) ............................................................................................................................ 94 

APPENDIX E4: SUBRECIPIENT QUARTERLY PROGRESS REPORT .............................................................. 95 

APPENDIX E5: SUBRECIPIENT REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST ....................................................................... 97 

APPENDIX E6: SUBRECIPIENT MONITORING CHECKLIST ............................................................................. 99 

Appendix F1: CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE NOTICE .................................................................. 101 

APPENDIX F2: CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONAIRE ............................................................................ 103 

APPENDIX F3: CONFLICT OF INTEREST DETERMINATION ............................................................................ 105 

APPENDIX G1: EXEMPT DETERMINATION FOR ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR 58.34 ................. 106 

APPENDIX G2: CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION NOT SUBJECT TO §58.5 DETERMINATION FOR 

ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR §58.35(b) .......................................................................................................... 107 

APPENDIX G3: DOCUMENTATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH 24 CFR 58.6 (a-d) .................................. 108 

APPENDIX G4: CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION SUBJECT TO §58.5 DETERMINATION ........................... 109 

FOR ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR §58.35(a) ................................................................................................. 109 

APPENDIX G5: 8-STEP DECISION MAKING PROCESS PURSUANT TO EO 11988 ............................... 111 



  

vi 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

APPENDIX G6: ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW FOR PROJECT THAT IS CATEGORICALLY EXCLUDED 

SUBJECT TO SECTION 58.5 PURSUANT TO 24 CFR 58.35(a) ...................................................................... 112 

APPENDIX G7: U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW REQUEST .......... 115 

APPENDIX G8: MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT ARCHIVES AND HISTORY ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

REQUEST ........................................................................................................................................................................... 116 

APPENDIX G9:  MISSISSIPPI BAND OF CHOCTAW INDIANS ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW REQUEST

 ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 117 

APPENDIX G10:  MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF MARINE RESOURCES ENVIRONMENTAL 

REVIEW REQUEST ........................................................................................................................................................ 118 

APPENDIX G11:  ENVIORNMENTAL ASSESSMENT FORM ........................................................................... 119 

APPENDIX G12:  NEPA ENVIORNMENTAL ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST ................................................... 121 

APPENDIX G13:  FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT AND NOTICE OF INTENT ............................. 123 

APPENDIX G14:  REQUEST FOR RELEASE OF FUNDS AND CERTIFICATION ........................................... 127 

APPENDIX H1: PROCUREMENT FLOW CHART................................................................................................. 129 

APPENDIX H2: CDBG PROJECTS MINI-GUIDE FOR ENGINEERS WORKING ......................................... 130 

APPENDIX H3: MANDATORY PROCUREMENT CONTRACT CLAUSES .................................................... 139 

APPENDIX H4: GUIDELINES FOR CONDUCTING COST ANALYSIS............................................................ 143 

APPENDIX H5: CONSTRUCTION CHECKLIST ..................................................................................................... 145 

APPENDIX H6: BID RESULTS .................................................................................................................................... 147 

APPENDIX H7: PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE RECORD .................................................................... 148 

APPENDIX I1: FILE MAINTENANCE CHECKLIST ............................................................................................. 149 

APPENDIX I2: LIMITED CLIENTELE WORKSHEET ......................................................................................... 150 

APPENDIX I3: ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION SHEET ................................................................................................ 151 

APPENDIX J1: A-133 AUDIT PUBLIC SERVICES CERTIFICATIONS ........................................................... 152 

APPENDIX J2: A-133 AUDIT REVIEW CHECKLIST .......................................................................................... 154 

APPENDIX J3: A-133 AUDIT FINDINGS LETTER .............................................................................................. 156 

APPENDIX K: INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE EXAMPLE .......................................................................... 158 

 

  



  

vii 
City of Pascagoula 

CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

ACROYNM INDEX 

A/E Architectual and Engineering 

AAP Annual Action Plan 

AI Analysis of Impediments 

CAPER Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation Report 

CDBG Community Development Block Grant 

CED Community and Economic Development 

CENST Categorically Excluded Not Subject To 

CEST Categorically Excluded Subject To 

CPP Citizen Participation Plan 

EA Environmental Assessment 

EIS Environmental Impact Statement 

EMT Executive Management Team 

ERR Environmental Review Record 

FONSI Finding of No Significant Impact 

FYCP Five Year Consolidated Plan 

HOME Home Investment Partnership Program 

HOPWA Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS 

IDIS Integrated Disbursement Information System 

MBE Minority Business Enterprise 

NOFA Notice of Funding Availability 

NOI Notice of Intent 

RROF Request for Release of Funds 

SBA Small Business Administration 

WBE Women Business Enterprise 



  

1 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION 
 

The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) provides the Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) Program to preserve and develop viable urban communities. The City of Pascagoula’s 

Community and Economic Development (CED) Department administers the CDBG Program. CED staff is 

responsible for grant compliance and the overall administration of the City’s CDBG Program. Throughout 

this manual, “CED staff” will be used to describe the Community and Economic Development staff who 

are responsible for CDBG program administration. 

The City of Pascagoula has utilized CDBG funds for business facade grants, parks and recreation 

improvements, street, sewer and water improvements, and to support local public service agencies that 

serve low- and moderate-income residents. The City must use at least 70 % of its entitlement for activities 

that either directly benefit low- or moderate- income persons, or that serve an area where the majority 

of residents are low- or moderate-income.  

This manual applies to all CDBG funds awarded by the City of Pascagoula. The purpose of this manual is 

to provide management support to the City and CDBG-funded Agencies, ensuring that all Agencies adhere 

to federal and City of Pascagoula rules and requirements. SubrecipientS include nonprofits, public 

agencies, and other government organizations that receive CDBG funds for projects and programs. The 

manual is designed to help Agencies understand the requirements that apply to the use of federal funds 

for the delivery of the CDBG Program and its eligible activities. It is a supplement to applicable regulations, 

standards, and policies. The basic program regulations, government management, and financial systems 

for the CDBG Program are contained in the Code of Federal Regulations Title 24 and various Office of 

Management and Budget (OMB) Circulars referenced in this manual. 

This manual does not replace or amend any of the provisions included in the Agreement executed 

between the City and subrecipient Agencies and should not be used in lieu of reading the articles of the 

Agreement. The Agreement refers to the executed contract, service level agreement or memorandum of 

understanding with the subrecipient. The procedures prescribed in this manual represent minimum 

requirements and controls that must be embodied within the subrecipient’s accounting, internal controls, 

and financial reporting systems.  

The Subrecipient Manual is incorporated in its entirety into the Agreements entered into by the City and 

Agencies for the operation of CDBG-funded project. Each subrecipient must ensure that a copy of the 

Subrecipient is accessible to all personnel responsible for compliance with requirements and procedures 

contained in the manual. 

  



  

2 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

SECTION 2 – CDBG PROGRAM OVERVIEW 
 

In 1974, the U.S Congress established the CDBG through the enactment of the Federal Housing and 

Community Development Act. The program was created to enhance and maintain viable urban 

communities, and to streamline the complex set of programs that preceded it. The program gives 

communities an avenue to address a wide range of issues.  

The City of Pascagoula receives a CDBG allocation as part of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development’s (HUD) CDBG Entitlement Program. The Entitlement Program is the portion of the CDBG 

Program that provides formula grants to metropolitan cities and urban counties. The Entitlement Program 

is the largest component of the CDBG Program, receiving 70 % of CDBG appropriations. Participating 

grantees automatically receive an annual allocation of CDBG funds. The grant amounts are determined by 

the higher of two formulas: overcrowded housing, population, and poverty; or age of housing, population 

growth lag, and poverty. 

2.1. NATIONAL OBJECTIVES 

The authorizing statute of the CDBG program requires that each activity funded, except for program 

administration and planning activities, must meet one of three national objectives. An activity that does 

not meet a national objective is not compliant with CDBG requirements and may be subject to remedial 

actions. 

The three national objectives are:  

a. Benefit to Low- and Moderate-Income (LMI) persons;  

b. Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight; and  

c. Meet a need having a particular urgency (referred to as urgent need).  

2.1.1. BENEFIT TO LMI PERSONS 

The LMI national objective is often referred to as the “primary” national objective because the statute 

requires that recipients expend 70 % of their CDBG funds to benefit LMI persons. In addition to meeting 

the 70 % test, applicants must ensure that the activities proposed, when taken as a whole, will not benefit 

moderate-income persons to the exclusion of low-income persons. This does not mean that each activity 

has to include both LMI beneficiaries, but it further ensures that the CDBG program will primarily benefit 

LMI persons.  

Four separate categories can be used to meet the LMI national objective: 

1. Area benefit activities 

2. Limited clientele activities 

3. Housing activities 

4. Job creation or retention activities 



  

3 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Low- to Moderate-Income Area Benefit (LMA) 

The LMA category is the most commonly used national objective for activities that benefit a residential 

neighborhood. An area benefit activity is one that benefits all residents in a particular area, where at least 

51 % of the residents are LMI persons.  

Examples of area benefit activities may include the following when they are located in a predominately 

LMI neighborhood:  

 Acquisition of land to be used as a neighborhood park;  

 Construction of a health clinic;  

 Improvements to public infrastructure like the installation of gutters and sidewalks; and  

 Development of a community center.  

In order to determine whether an activity meets LMA benefit, the service area for that activity and 

population served must be determined. The size, location, and accessibility of facilities and services 

influence whether those facilities will primarily serve LMI persons or whether they will serve the larger 

population. For example, a recreation facility located near the boundary between a low-income 

neighborhood and a higher-income neighborhood might not meet the LMA benefit since the higher-

income residents would also be likely to use the facility. 

An area has a LMA benefit if at least 51% or more of the surrounding residents are of LMI persons. This 

can be done by:  

 The most recently available decennial Census or American Community Survey together with the 

HUD income information would have applied at the time the income information was collected 

by the Census Bureau or  

 A current survey of the residents of the service area.  

With respect to using Census/American Community Survey information grantees can obtain the following 

data:  

 A listing of all census tracts and block groups in the community’s jurisdiction, 

 The number of persons that resided in each such tract and block group at the time of the last 

census, and  

 The percentage of such persons who were LMI (based on the HUD definition) at that time.  

If the proposed activity’s service area is generally the same as a census tract or block group, then the 

Census data may be used to justify the income characteristics of the area served. If not, an aggregate of 

the applicable census tract percentages can be used to demonstrate low- to moderate-income 

percentages. 



  

4 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

The service area of the activity must be primarily residential and the activity must meet the identified 

needs of LMI persons. Activities under Public Facilities and Improvements and some Public Service 

activities (e.g. police or fire services) tend to provide benefits to all residents in the service area. 

Additionally, public schools can be qualified under LMI area benefit because of the affect a school may 

have on the value of the residential property in the area. Public schools are considered to benefit all the 

residents of the service area and may qualify under this category.  

Low and Moderate Limited Clientele Benefit (LMC) 

The limited clientele category is a second way to qualify specific activities under the LMI benefit national 

objective. Under this category, at least 51 % of the beneficiaries of an activity have to be LMI persons. In 

contrast to the area benefit category, it is not the LMI concentration of the service area of the activity that 

determines whether the activity will qualify or not, but rather the actual number of LMI persons that 

benefit from the activity.  

Activities in this category provide benefits to a specific group of persons rather than everyone in an area. 

It may benefit particular persons without regard to their residence, or it may be an activity that provides 

a benefit to only particular persons within a specific area. Examples of activities that qualify under the 

limited clientele category include:  

 Acquisition of a building to be converted into a shelter for the homeless;  

 Rehabilitation of a center for training severely disabled persons to enable them to live 

independently;  

 Clearance of a structure from the future site of an neighborhood center that will exclusively serve 

the elderly; and  

 Public service activities like the provision of health services.  

With respect to determining the beneficiaries of activities as LMI and qualifying under the LMC category 

the following tests should be applied: 

 Activities must benefit clientele that is generally presumed to be principally LMI including abused 

children, battered spouses, elderly persons, severely disabled adults, homeless persons, illiterate 

adults, persons living with AIDS and migrant farm workers; 

 Activities must document family size and income to establish that 51 % or more of the clientele 

are LMI; or  

 Activities must document LMI eligibility determinations.  

There are two sets of activities that are precluded from qualifying under this category based on statutory 

limitations:  



  

5 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

1. Acquisition, construction, or rehabilitation of property for housing including homeownership 

assistance must qualify under the housing national objective will be discussed below in further 

detail.  

2. Creation or retention of jobs generally qualifies under the jobs or the area benefit category of the 

LMI benefit national objective.  

Low Mod Housing Activities (LMH) 

The housing category of LMI benefit national objective qualifies activities that are undertaken for the 

purpose of providing or improving permanent residential structures which, upon completion, will be 

occupied by LMI households.  

Examples of eligible activities include, but are not limited to:  

 Acquisition of an apartment house to provide dwelling units to LMI households at affordable 

rents, where at least 51 % of the units will be occupied by LMI households; 

 Site improvements on publicly-owned land to serve a new apartment structure to be rented to 

LMI households at affordable rents; 

 Housing rehabilitation for single family units where the units are occupied by LMI households;  

 Conversion of an abandoned warehouse to be reconfigured into new apartments, where at least 

51 % of the units will be occupied by LMI households at affordable rents; 

 Installation or improvement to sewer or water laterals from the public street or other right-of-

way to the house, where the house being served is occupied by LMI households.   

In order to meet the housing LMI national objective, structures with one unit must be occupied by a LMI 

household. If the structure contains two units, at least one unit must be LMI occupied. Structures with 

three or more units must have at least 51 % occupied by LMI households.  

Under the following limited circumstances, structures with less than 51 % LMI occupants may be assisted 

if:  

 assistance is for an eligible activity that reduces the development cost of new construction of non-

elderly, multi-family rental housing; and  

 at least 20 % of the units will be occupied by LMI households at an affordable rent; and  

 the proportion of cost borne by CDBG funds is no greater than the proportion to be occupied by 

LMI households. 

There are a number of activities that generally do not qualify under the LMI Housing national objective. 

These include code enforcement, interim assistance, microenterprise assistance, public services, and 

special economic development activities.  

 



  

6 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Low Mod Job Creation or Retention Activities (LMJ) 

The job creation and retention LMI benefit national objective addresses activities designed to create or 

retain permanent jobs, at least 51 % of which (computed on a full-time equivalent basis) will be made 

available to or held by LMI persons.  

The following requirements must be met for jobs to be considered created or retained.  

 For funded activities that create jobs, there must be documentation indicating that at least 51 % 

of the jobs will be held by or made specifically available to LMI persons.  

 For funded activities that retain jobs, there must be sufficient information documenting that the 

jobs would have been lost without the CDBG assistance and that one or both of the following 

applies to at least 51 % of the jobs:  

o The job is held by a LMI person; or  

o The job can reasonably be expected to turn over within the following two years and steps 

will be taken to ensure that the job will be filled by, or made specifically available to, a 

LMI person.  

Created or retained jobs are only considered to be available to LMI persons when:  

 Special skills that can only be acquired with substantial training or work experience or education 

beyond high school are not a prerequisite to fill such jobs, or the business agrees to hire 

unqualified persons and provide training; and  

 The grantee and the assisted business take actions to ensure that LMI persons receive first 

consideration for filling such jobs.  

Created or retained jobs are only considered to be held by LMI persons when the job is actually held by a 

LMI person.  

For the purpose of determining if the preceding requirements are met, a person may be presumed to be 

LMI if:  

 they  reside in a Census tract andblock numbering area that has a 20 % poverty rate (30 % poverty 

rate if the area includes the central business district); and the area evidences pervasive poverty 

and general distress; or  

 they live in an area that is part of a Federally-designated Empowerment Zone (EZ) or Enterprise 

Community (EC); or  

 they reside in a Census tract and block numbering area where at least 70 % of the residents are 

LMI.  

Jobs created or retained by assisted businesses may also be presumed to be LMI if the job and business 

are located in an area that:  

 Has a 20 % poverty rate (30 % poverty rate if the area includes the central business district) and 

the area evidences pervasive poverty and general distress; or  

 Is part of a Federally-designated EZ or EC.  



  

7 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

In addition to LMI national objective, CDBG may also be used to fund activities that meet the objectives 

of eliminating slums and blight and responding to urgent community need. 

2.1.2.  ELIMINATION OF SLUMS AND BLIGHT  

The focus of activities under this national objective is to change and improve the physical environment of 

a deteriorating area. This contrasts with the LMI benefit national objective where the goal is to ensure 

that funded activities benefit LMI persons. Unlike the LMI benefit national objective, in which an activity 

qualifies based on the number of LMI benefitting under the elimination of slums and blight national 

objective, qualification is based on the extent of physical conditions contributing to blight is central to 

qualifying an activity.  

There are three categories that can be used to qualify activities under this national objective:  

1. Prevent or eliminate slums and blight on an area basis;  

2. Prevent or eliminate slum and blight on a spot basis; or  

3. Be in an urban renewal area.  

Slum Blight Area Basis (SBA) 

This category covers activities that aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight in a designated 

area. Examples of activities that qualify when they are located within the slum or blighted area include:  

 Rehabilitation of substandard housing located in a designated blighted area when the housing is 

brought to standard condition;  

 Infrastructure improvements in a deteriorated area; and  

 Economic development assistance in the form of a low-interest loan to a business as an 

inducement to locate a branch store in a redeveloping blighted area.  

To qualify under this category, the area in which the activity occurs must be officially designated as slum 

or blighted. The following tests apply:  

 The designated area in which the activity occurs must meet the definition of a slum, blighted, 

deteriorated or deteriorating area under state or local law;  

 Additionally, the area must meet either one of the two conditions specified below:  

1. Public improvements throughout the area are in a general state of deterioration; or  

2. At least 25 % of the properties throughout the area exhibit one or more of the following:  

 physical deterioration of buildings;  

 abandonment of properties;  

 chronic high occupancy turnover rates or chronic high vacancy rates in 

commercial or industrial buildings;  

 significant declines in property values or abnormally low property values relative 

to other areas in the community; or  

 known or suspected environmental contamination. 



  

8 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Documentation must be maintained by the grantee on the boundaries of the area and the 

conditions that qualified the area at the time of its designation. The designation of an area as slum 

or blighted must be re-determined every 10 years for continued qualifications.  

Finally, eligible activities must address one or more of the identified conditions that contributed to the 

deterioration of the area.  

Slum Blight Spot Basis (SBS) 

These are activities that eliminate specific conditions of blight or physical decay on a spot basis and are 

not located in a slum or blighted area. Examples include:  

 Acquisition and demolition of a dilapidated property;  

 Rehabilitation of a decayed community center that eliminates code violations that are detrimental 

to the health and safety of potential occupants like faulty wiring, falling plaster, or other similar 

conditions;  

 Preservation of a deteriorated building of historic significance; and  

 Financial assistance to a business to demolish a decayed structure. 

Activities under this category are limited to acquisition, clearance, relocation, historic preservation, 

remediation of environmentally contaminated properties, and building rehabilitation activities. 

Furthermore, rehabilitation is limited to the extent necessary to eliminate a specific condition detrimental 

to public health and safety.  

A third category – urban renewal – may be used to qualify a CDBG activity under the national objective of 

the elimination of slums and blight. However, this category applies only to projects located within a 

federally designated Urban Renewal Area. This category is rarely used and therefore will not be discussed 

in depth in this manual. 

2.1.3.  URGENT NEED 

Use of the urgent need national objective category is rare. It is designed only for activities that alleviate 

emergency conditions. Agencies may not use this category when applying for CDBG funds unless directed 

by the City of Pascagoula’s CED. 

Urgent need qualified activities must meet the following criteria:  

 The existing conditions must pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or welfare of the 

community;  

 The existing conditions are of recent origin or recently became urgent (generally, within the past 

18 months);  

 The grantee is unable to finance the activity on its own; and  

 Other sources of funding are not available.  

 



  

9 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2.2. CDBG ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 

CDBG offers grantees a high level of flexibility in choosing which program activities to fund. The following 

is a sample list of HUD-approved CDBG activities. Note that these activities must meet one of the national 

objectives in order to be considered for CDBG funding. 

2.2.1.  HOUSING 

 Housing services in connection with Home Investment Partnership (HOME) Program activities (§ 

570.201(k));  

 Construction of housing assisted under Section 17 of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937  

 (§ 570.201(m)) or construction of housing by eligible community based development 

organizations (CBDOs) (§570.204(a))– 

 Homeownership assistance (such as down payment assistance and interest subsidies) 

(§570.201(n) or §570.201(e));  

 Rehabilitation of buildings that are owner-occupied housing (§ 570.202). This also includes 

conversion of non-residential structures for residential use. The following types of rehabilitation 

activities may be undertaken:  

o Acquisition for rehabilitation and rehabilitation for residential purposes;  

o Labor, materials, etc. for rehabilitation of properties;  

o Loans for refinancing existing secured indebtedness;  

o Energy improvements;  

o Water efficiency improvements;  

o Connection to water and sewer lines;  

o Some homeowner warranty, hazard and flood insurance premiums;  

o Testing for and abatement of lead-based paint;  

o Costs of acquiring tools to be lent for rehabilitation;  

o Rehabilitation services;  

o Assistance for the rehabilitation of housing under Section 17 of the United States Housing 

Act of 1937; and  

o Removal of material and architectural barriers that restrict accessibility to eligible 

buildings  

 Lead-based paint testing and abatement as a stand-alone program or included as rehabilitation 

as noted above (§ 570.202(f));  

 Activities that support new housing construction such as acquisition (§570.201(a) and (b)), 

clearance (§570.201(d)), site improvements (§570.201(c)), and street improvements 

(§570.201(c)).  

 

 



  

10 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2.2.2. OTHER REAL PROPERTY ACTIVITIES 

In addition to the housing-related activities outlined above, many other real property activities are eligible 

to be funded by CDBG. These include, but are not limited to: 

 Acquisition (§ 570.201(a));  

 Disposition (§ 570.201(b));  

 Clearance and demolition (§ 570.201(d));  

 Rehabilitation of publicly- or privately-owned commercial or industrial buildings (§ 570.202);  

 Code enforcement (§ 570.202I);  

 Historic preservation (§ 570.202(d));  

 Renovation of closed buildings (§ 570.202(e));  

 Interim assistance to arrest severe deterioration or alleviate emergency conditions (§ 570.201(f)); 

 Privately-owned utilities (§ 570.201(l));  

 Completion of urban renewal projects (§ 570.201(h). 

2.2.3. PUBLIC FACILITIES AND IMPROVEMENTS 

CDBG funds may be used for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or installation 

of public improvements or public facilities. (§ 570.201I)  

 “Public improvements” includes, but is not limited to, streets, sidewalks, water and sewer lines, 

and parks.  

 “Public facilities” includes, but is not limited to, neighborhood/community facilities and facilities 

for persons with special needs (e.g. homeless shelters, group homes, and halfway houses).  

2.2.4. PUBLIC SERVICES 

Public services are also generally eligible under the CDBG Program (§ 570.201(e)). These public service 

activities may include, but are not limited to:  

 Job training and employment services;  

 Health care and substance abuse services;  

 Child care;  

 Crime prevention; and  

 Fair Housing counseling.  

2.2.5. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

CDBG funds may also be used for activities related to economic development. The following are examples 

of eligible activities that can be funded by CDBG: 

 Microenterprise assistance (§ 570.201(o));  

 Commercial Rehabilitation; and  

 Special economic development activities (§ 570.203).  

 



  

11 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2.2.6. COMMUNITY BASED DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATIONS (CBDO) 

CDBG recipients may also provide grants or loans to CBDOs to carry out the following types of projects (§ 

570.204):  

 Neighborhood revitalization;  

 Community economic development; and  

 Energy conservation.  

2.2.7. OTHER TYPES OF ACTIVITIES 

Certain other types of activities are eligible under CDBG. These include, but are not limited to: 

 Payment of non-Federal share of grants in connection with CDBG-eligible activities (§ 570.201(g));  

 Relocation assistance (§ 570.201(i));  

 Loss of rental income (related to relocation) (§ 570.201(j));  

 Technical assistance to public or nonprofit entities to increase the capacity of such entities to carry 

out eligible neighborhood revitalization or economic development activities (§ 570.201(p)); and  

 Assistance to institutions of higher education with the capacity to carry out other eligible activities 

(§ 570.201(q)).  

2.2.8. PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION 

CDBG funds may be used for planning activities (§ 570.205). Such activities might include:  

 Comprehensive plans;  

 Community development plans (including the Consolidated Plan);  

 Functional plans (for housing; land use and urban environmental design; economic development; 

open space and recreation; energy use and conservation; floodplain and wetlands management; 

transportation; utilities; historic preservation; etc.);  

 Other plans and studies (e.g., small area and neighborhood plans; capital improvements program 

plans; individual project plans; general environmental; urban environmental design; historic 

preservation studies; etc.); and  

 Policy planning, management, and capacity building activities.  

Grantees may use CDBG funds for program administration activities (§ 570.206). Such activities may 

include: 

 General management, oversight and coordination;  

 Public information;  

 Fair Housing activities;  

 Indirect costs;  

 Submission of applications for Federal programs; and Costs to pursue Section 17 of the United 

States Housing Act of 1937.  

Both planning and administration activities are subject to certain caps and constraints.  



  

12 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2.3. CDBG INELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES 

The general rule is that any activity not specifically authorized under the CDBG regulations and statute is 

ineligible to be assisted with CDBG funds.  

In addition, the regulations stipulate that the following activities may not be assisted with CDBG funds:  

 Buildings for the general conduct of government are ineligible. However, the removal of 

architectural barriers from government buildings is eligible under the category of public facilities 

and improvements. 

 General government expenses are ineligible. 

 Financing for political activities or to engage in other partisan political activities are ineligible. 

However, a facility assisted with CDBG funds may be used on an incidental basis to hold political 

meetings, candidate forums, or voter registration campaigns, if the building is available to all 

community organizations on an equal basis.  

The following activities may not be assisted with CDBG funds unless authorized as a special economic 

development activity or when carried out by a Community Based Development Organization (CBDO):  

 Purchase of equipment is generally ineligible.  

o Compensation for the use of construction equipment through leasing, depreciation, or 

use allowances is eligible.  

o Fire protection considered an integral part of public facilities is eligible. This includes fire 

engines and specialized tools such as “jaws of life” and life-saving equipment as well as 

protective clothing worn by fire fighters.  

 Purchase of personal property, including equipment, fixtures, motor vehicles, furnishings, or 

other personal property is generally ineligible.  

 Operating and maintenance expenses (of public facilities, improvements, and services) are 

ineligible.  

o Specific exceptions to this general rule are operating and maintenance expenses 

associated with public service activities, interim assistance, and office space for program 

staff employed in carrying out the CDBG program;  

 New housing construction is ineligible except under certain conditions or when carried out by a 

CBDO.  

 Income payments made to an individual or family for items such as food, clothing, housing, or 

utilities are ineligible. 

 One-time grants, emergency type grants, or loans for such purposes may be eligible under the 

category of Public Service 

 

 



  

13 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2.4. INCOME ELIGIBILITY GUIDELINES 

At least 70 % of the activities must benefit low- to moderate-income program participants as determined 

by HUD income limits for the Pascagoula Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). Income eligibility is 

determined on a sliding scale by family size. A six-person family, therefore, could have a much higher 

income than a two-person family and still qualify as income eligible. CDBG activities must primarily benefit 

families whose incomes are at or below 80% of area median family income (MFI).  

The following link will provide updated income limits: http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/il.html. 

2.5. FAIR MARKET RENTS 

Any CDBG activities involving rental housing must take steps to deed restrict these units to charging not 

more than fair market rents to be eligible for CDBG funds. Fair market rents (FMR) are determined by the 

number of bedrooms in a rental unit. 

The following link will provide updated fair market rents: 

http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/fmr.html 

2.6. THE FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED PLAN 

In support of use of CDBG funds by grantees, HUD requires the development of a Five-Year Consolidated 

Plan (FYCP). This plan includes a coordinated and collaborative effort between the City of Pascagoula, 

neighboring local governments, and housing and supportive services providers. The Plan is a collective 

effort to identify the housing, homeless, supportive service, and non-housing community development 

needs of the City. The Consolidated Plan provides a comprehensive strategy for the continued 

redevelopment of the City. More information regarding the FYCP can be found in SECTION 4: CITIZEN 

PARTICIPATION PLAN. 

All subrecipient applications for CDBG funding from the City of Pascagoula must be consistent with the 

local priorities as established by the City’s adopted FYCP, which can be found at 

[http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-entitlement-grant]. 

The FYCP combines the planning, application and reporting requirements for the following programs:  

• Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)  

• Home Investment Partnerships (HOME)  

• Housing Opportunities for People with AIDS (HOPWA)  

• Emergency Shelter Grants (ESG)  

It is important to note that Pascagoula is an "entitlement" city under the terms of the Community 

Development Block Grant Program. Pascagoula is not a "formula entitlement" city under the terms of the 

HOME, ESG, and HOPWA formula programs and, therefore, does not receive annual allocations of funding 

for these programs. Other agencies must apply for ESG funding on a competitive basis. They must 

http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/il.html
http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/fmr.html
http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-entitlement-grant


  

14 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

compete for funding with agencies throughout the State of Mississippi. HOPWA funds are provided to the 

State under a formula entitlement. The State will provide direct assistance to persons with HIV/AIDS; 

therefore, local agencies and jurisdictions will not be able to apply for HOPWA funding.   

Among the purposes of the FYCP are the following:  

 To enable communities to view HUD programs, not as isolated tools to solve narrow functional 

problems, but rather as an invitation to embrace a comprehensive vision of housing and 

community development.  

 To include in a comprehensive plan or vision of affordable housing, adequate infrastructure, fair 

housing, protection of the environment, enhancement of civic design, and vigorous economic 

growth coordinated with human development.  

 To enable communities to apply this comprehensive approach to helping the homeless in a 

continuum of care by promoting a comprehensive system for moving individuals and families from 

homelessness to permanent housing.  

 To reduce the amount of unnecessary paperwork and enable HUD to work creatively with local 

governments to provide a forum for planning an integrated approach.  

 To improve program accountability and support results-oriented management by establishing 

clear priority needs and goals; providing more timely and readable information on needs, goals, 

and proposed projects to citizens; providing measurable indicators of progress; and reporting on 

progress against these measures.  

 To facilitate "bottom up" planning by creating a planning process which renews commitment and 

generates new citizen involvement.  

 To ensure that the needs and resources of public housing authorities are included in a 

comprehensive planning effort to revitalize distressed neighborhoods and help low income 

residents locally.  

 To make integrated efforts to identify and take measures to overcome impediments to fair 

housing as an integral part of comprehensive planning efforts.  

Priority needs of the community have been identified as follows in the most recent FYCP, adopted in 2015: 

 Drainage system improvements 

 Water system improvements 

 Street repair 

 Recreation Center improvements 

 Economic development and job opportunities 

 More accessible public transit 

 Jobs skills training programs for the homeless 

 Affordable workforce housing 

 Housing rehabilitation 



  

15 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Additional emergency shelters for homeless individuals and families 

 Sidewalk repair 

 ADA improvments 

In addition to the FYCP, each year, the City must prepare an Annual Action Plan (AAP), which outlines 

annual priorities for addressing local housing and community development needs as part of the five-year 

strategy. The AAP describes how the City CDBG allocation will be used to benefit income-eligible residents 

during the program year. 

Both the FYCP and AAP are discussed in greater detail in Section 3. 

2.7. FAIR HOUSING PLAN 

As a recipient of CDBG funds, the City of Pascagoula has certified that it will affirmatively further fair 

housing. To this end, Pascagoula has developed a strategy for reaching out to its residents to make them 

aware of the Fair Housing Act. Further, the strategy is intended to broaden community-wide knowledge 

of the prohibitions under the Fair Housing Act, what is covered by the Act, and what course of action can 

be taken if violations of the Act occur. 

CDBG recipients are required to prepare an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing (AI) every three to 

five years.  The City of Pascagoula’s AI was most recently updated in June 2015. Among other things, the 

study concluded that the most important element toward eliminating impediments to fair housing is 

education of the public. Additionally, the following factors were identified as impediments to fair housing 

in the City of Pascagoula: 

 Lack of housing (renter and owner-occupant) that is accessible to the elderly and persons with 

disabilities; 

 Lack of code-standard affordable housing units for purchase and rent in Pascagoula which limits 

housing opportunities for low- and moderate-income families; 

 High cost of insurance for all types of housing; 

 Language barriers due to increase in Hispanic residents in recent years; 

 Lack of public transportation options which further limits housing choices for low- and moderate-

income families; 

 Lack of credit worthy low- and moderate-income families which limits homeownership 

opportunities. 

The AI can be found at http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-entitlement-grant  

Public Services Cap 

In any given year, no more than 15% of the sum of the City’s annual CDBG allocation and any program 

income received from the previous year, may be spent on public services.  The City utilizes a competitive 

http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-entitlement-grant


  

16 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

public services application process to select subrecipients. Section 4 further expands upon the public 

services activities selection process. 

Planning and Administration Cap  

No more than 20% of the sum of the annual entitlement grant and any grant program income received in 

the previous grant year may be spent on planning studies or administration.  

LMI Benefit Requirement  

At least 70% of the City of Pascagoula’s non-administrative CDBG spending is required to benefit LMI 

people. The 70% threshold should be exceeded each year to maintain compliance; however, HUD rules 

allow grantees to use an aggregate of expenditures during a fixed three-year period to calculate. 

2.9. CDBG SPENDING TIMELINESS 

As a CDBG Entitlement recipient, HUD requires the City to use CDBG funds it receives in a timely manner. 

Timeliness refers to how quickly the grantee is able to expend CDBG funds. Since federal program budgets 

are limited and there is a great need for community development programs, it is vital that the City of 

Pascagoula and its subrecipient Agencies make every effort to utilize CDBG funds efficiently and 

effectively.  

HUD tracks program activities, including financial data, through the Integrated Disbursement & 

Information System (IDIS). HUD uses this information to report to Congress and to monitor grantees. IDIS 

is the funding and reporting system for the four CPD formula grant programs: CDBG, HOME, ESG, and 

HOPWA. The City of Pascagoula uses IDIS to report all CDBG activities to HUD.  

The entitlement program rule for timeliness mandates that a grantee cannot have more than 1.5 times 

its annual allocation 60 calendar days prior to the end of the program year, unused. For example, if the 

City has on August 1st a $250,000 CDBG Fiscal Year (FY) allocation it may not have any more than $375,000 

in IDIS. If an entitlement grantee chronically has more than 1.5 times its grant in its line of credit, HUD can 

withhold future grants until the grantee effectively spends its existing resources. Thus, it is important to 

ensure that all Agencies are spending CDBG funds effectively and in a timely manner. 

SECTION 3 – CDBG PROGRAM ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

The City of Pascagoula’s CDBG program is administered by the CED, which is also responsible for 

administering all federal and state funded programs within in the City. The CED works with all City 

departments to establish program priorities and make funding recommendations, which are then 

presented to City Council for consideration. See below for a chart outlining the program’s organizational 

structure 

 

 



  

17 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

3.1. ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

CDBG PROGRAM ORGANZATIONAL CHART 

 

3.2. CDBG ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

The following is a summary of each position’s responsibility in CDBG program administration. 

City Council 

 Approves all CDBG assisted activities through the approval of the CPP, AAP, FYCP, CAPER, AI, and 

subrecipient agreements  

 Approves selection of professional services, construction services and materials for CDBG 

Programs 

 Approves CDBG payments to vendors, contractors, and subrecipient agencies 

City Manager 

 Liaison to Council 

  Supervises the CED Director 

 Upon Council approval, executes AAP, FYCP, CAPER, AI, and subrecipient agreements 

 Approves the docket requisitions 

Director of Community and Economic Development 

 General oversight of CDBG program  

 Determines eligibility of CDBG assisted activities and makes recommendations to Council 

 Establishes priority areas for funding 

City Council

City Manager

Community and Economic 
Development Director

Grants 
Accounting 
Specialist

Gnts 
Admnistration

Grants 
Administrator



  

18 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Works with consultant to draft narrative documents for the CDBG program such as the AAP, FYCP, 

CAPER, and AI 

 Oversees subrecipient reimbursement requests, Environmental Review Records (ERR), public 

notices, AAP, FYCP, CAPER, AI, subrecipient agreements, A-133 Audit Decisions, and Conflict of 

Interest Determinations 

Grants Administrator 

 Maintains CDBG files 

 Drafts subrecipient agreements and other documents 

 Monitors activity of the subrecipient agencies including site visits, progress reports, conflict of 

interest certifications, and A-133 Single Audit Act Compliance 

 Develops the ERR 

 Reviews subrecipient requests for reimbursement and makes recommendations 

 Conducts bi-annual monitoring of subrecipients 

Grants Accounting Specialist 

 Processes purchase order requests 

 Drafts public notices required for the CDBG program, AAP, FYCP, CAPER, AI, and  ERR 

 Reviews contracts and activity of subrecipients for adherence to contracts 

 Compares actual expenditures with budgeted amounts for each activity 

 Maintains Labor Standards compliance 

 Assumes primary responsibility for entering program information on HUD IDIS site, MUNIS and 

maintaining back up documentation 

 

SECTION 4 – CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN 
Purpose of the Citizen Participation Plan  

The purpose of this Citizen Participation Plan (CPP) is to develop an effective process to maximize 

opportunity for the following persons or groups to participate in the planning, development, and 

implementation of all City documents related to HUD funding all citizens of the City including minorities, 

non-English speaking persons, persons with mobility, visual or hearing impairments, persons with 

HIV/AIDS and their families, and homeless persons; residents of public housing and other assisted housing; 

public and private agencies that provide assisted housing, health services, and social services; other public 

agencies; non-profit organizations; and other interested persons or groups.  

The CPP is prepared and adopted to satisfy the requirements of the rules governing the FYCP promulgated 

by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development as stated in 24 CFR 91.105. The CPP provides 

for and encourages citizens to participate in the development of the FYCP, any substantial amendments, 

FYCP, AAP, CAPER, AI, and the ERRs and all other City documents related to HUD funding.  

Finally, the CPP replaces and supersedes any other CPP heretofore adopted by the City.  



  

19 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

Interagency Notification  

In an effort to encourage participation and feedback during each program year, the City will send written 

notification via email to social service agencies, non-profits, community organizations, Jackson County, 

the City of Moss Point ,and the City of Gautier.  

Public Hearings  

During each program year, at least two (2) public hearings will be conducted: one during the AAP process 

and the second during the CAPER process.  These hearings will address housing and community 

development needs, development of proposed activities, and review of program performance. These 

hearings will be conducted to obtain the views of citizens, public agencies, and other interested parties 

on non-housing community development, housing, and supportive needs of the community.  

These hearings will occur at least thirty (30) calendar  days prior to the submission of the AAP or CAPER 

to allow for at least a fifteen (15) working day comment period. Notification of a public hearing will be 

distributed at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the hearing. [Appendix A1] 

Rules Governing Public Hearings  

The following rules will be adhered to in the public hearing process:  

 Public hearings will be conducted at City Hall which is handicap accessible, and conveniently 

accessible to all citizens.  

 The City will use electronic and social media to provide notice to the community about hearings 

at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the hearing. 

 Hearings will be conducted on weekdays after normal working hours in order to afford maximum 

opportunity for attendance.  

 Public hearing notices will emphasize and encourage the need for participation by the low, very 

low, and extremely low income residents where housing and community development funds will 

be spent.  

 The City will post notices of the public hearings at the Public Library, the CED Department, and 

City Hall.  

 In addition, the City will notify via email private non-profit organizations and community 

organizations, to distribute broad notices of public hearings to the community.  

 Citizens will be given an opportunity to comment orally or in writing, and the City will respond to 

proposals and comments at the hearing and at all stages of the AAP, AAP Amendments, AAP 

Budget Amendments, CAPER, CPP Amendments, and FYCP, and FYCP Amendments development 

process.  



  

20 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Because the City of Pascagoula has a very small non-English speaking population (4.0% according 

to YEAR census), the City will include Spanish instructions in public notices so residents with 

limited English proficiency may obtain.  

 

Access to Information  

The following are requirements of the CPP which are focused toward ensuring that citizens have access 

to information:  

 In accordance with HUD requirements, citizens will be given an opportunity to review and 

comment on the AAP, CAPER, CPP Amendments, FYCP, and Substantial Amendments, prior to 

their adoption or implementation.  

 The City will post and distribute a APP Draft Availability VIA Social mediaand will allow for a 30 

calendar day comment period. The notice will provide locations where the AAP is available for 

viewing.. [Appendix A2] 

 This CPP requires that the City to distribute notices in a manner that affords citizens, public 

agencies, and other interested parties a reasonable opportunity to examine drafts and to submit 

comments. In an effort to comply, a public notice will be distributed via email and social media to 

inform all citizens and other parties of the availability of the FYCP, AAP, Substantial Amendments, 

and CAPER for public review and comment for at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to HUD 

submission.  

 Notices and copies of the AAP, Substantial Amendments, CAPER, CPP Amendments, and FYCP will 

be posted in the offices of CED, City Hall, and the Public Library. These locations will be included 

in the notice as well.  Notices will be distributed to non-profits and community organizations via 

email to encourage comments from citizens.  [APPENDIX A3] 

 The City will post notices of the public hearings and copies of the relevant documents at the CED, 

City Hall, and the Public Library 

Consideration of Views and Comments  

In the preparation and development stages of the AAP, CAPER, CPP Amendments, FYCP, and Substantial 

Amendments, the City shall give consideration to the views of citizens, public agencies, and others. All 

plans shall include a summary of citizen comments and a written explanation of why the comments were 

accepted or  why the comments were not accepted.  

Substantial Amendments  

The rules governing the development of the CPP, AAP, AAP Budget and FYCP require that the City of 

Pascagoula identify, in its CPP, the criteria that constitutes a substantial amendment. These substantial 

amendments shall be subject to the requirements set out in the CPP. More information regarding 

amendments can be found in SECTION 12.4 BUDGET AMENDMENTS.  



  

21 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

 

For the purposes of the CPP a substantial amendment shall exist when the  approved AAP, FYCP, or CPP 

shall be amended, whenever the City of Pascagoula makes one of the following decisions: 

1. To change any reallocation within the CDBG budget by changing the budget of an activity more 

than 30%; 

2. To make a change in its allocation priorities; 

3.  To change in the method of distributing funds;  

4. To carry out an activity, not previously described in the action plan; or  

5. To change the purpose, scope, location or beneficiaries of an activity. 

Process for Substantial Amendments  

The process for making substantial amendments shall include at least one public hearing at which time 

the City shall explain the proposed amendment and provide citizens an opportunity to comment orally or 

in writing. Notice of the hearing shall be in accordance with the requirements of this Plan.  

The City shall make the amendment public by posting and distributing a Notice of Amendment via social 

media and email then giving citizens at least thirty (30) calendar days to comment on the amendment. 

The Notice of Amendment shall explain the reason for the amendment. Amendments will be posted at 

the CED Department, City Hall, and the Public Library for public review. An example notice is located in 

the appendices. [Appendix A4] 

A summary of citizen comments and reasons why the comments were or were not accepted shall be 

attached to the substantial amendment.  

Performance Reports  

Citizens shall be given reasonable notice and an opportunity to comment on CAPER. To obtain the views 

of citizens and to respond to proposals and questions, a public hearing will be held at least thirty (30) 

calendar  days prior to the submission of the CAPER to allow for at least a fifteen (15) working day 

comment period. Notification of a public hearing will be published at least fourteen (14) calendar days 

prior to the hearing. [APPENDIX A5] 

The City will distribute a Notice of CAPER Draft Availability via email and social media and will post the 

notice in the CED, City Hall, and the Public Library. In addition, the City will distribute the notice to private 

non-profits and community organizations via email. Citizens will be given at least fifteen (15) working days 

to comment, orally or in writing, prior to submission of the Performance Report to HUD. The City of 

Pascagoula will consider any comments or views of citizens received in writing or orally at public hearings. 

A summary of the comments shall be attached to the Performance Report. [APPENDIX A6] 



  

22 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

 

Technical Assistance  

If requested by low, very low, and extremely low-income groups, technical assistance will be provided. No 

funds will be provided to groups seeking technical assistance. The City will provide information and 

technical assistance regarding AAP, CAPER, CPP Amendments, FYCP, and Substantial Amendments, to any 

citizen, citizen group, or organization requesting such information or assistance for the purpose of 

participating in the development, implementation, or evaluation of the Program. Formal requests for such 

information or technical assistance should be in writing and addressed to the CED Director, City of 

Pascagoula, P.O. Drawer 908, Pascagoula, MS 39568.  

Written requests for technical assistance shall include (l) the name, mailing address, and telephone 

number of the citizen or representative; (2) an explanation of the information or assistance needed; and 

(3) a convenient time and date for a meeting with the CED staff.  

Complaints  

The City will provide a substantive written response to written complaints concerning the AAP, CAPER, 

CPP Amendments, FYCP, and Substantial Amendments within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of 

complaints. Written complaints shall be addressed to the CED Director, City of Pascagoula, P.O. Drawer 

908, Pascagoula, MS 39568. 

SECTION 5 – PROJECT REVIEW AND SELECTION 

5.1. OVERVIEW 

The City CED allocates CDBG funding to a variety of nonprofit agencies also known as public services 

agencies, through a competitive application process. Funding amounts are estimated based on the 

anticipated CDBG allocation. Actual CDBG allocation amounst are received from HUD in the spring. 

Annually, the City determines how it will allocate its CDBG funding for the upcoming program year based 

on a series of factors including, but not limited to: 

 The FYCP, 

 Current and ongoing infrastructure needs, 

 Current and ongoing community facilities needs, 

 Current and ongoing housing needs, and  

 Current and ongoing public services needs. 



  

23 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

The City’s entitlement is typically allocated to public services, public infrastructure, community facilities, 

and housing projects and programs, which meet the CDBG National Objectives specified in Section 1.  

 

 

In order to be considered for CDBG funding, all projects and public services agencies must: 

 Meet National Objective, as established in Section 1; 

 Address one of the needs or objectives specified in the City’s Consolidated Plan; 

 Have adequate community support as determined by the CPP process; and 

 Define clearly the scope, location, need, budget, and goals of the project.  

5.2. SUBRECIPIENT AGENCIES 

Annually, the City of Pascagoula may allocate up to 15 % of its CDBG entitlement to nonprofit agencies to 

that address one or more of the public service needs targeted in the City’s FYCP. The actual amount 

allocated to public services varies from year to year as it is dependent on the total amount of the City’s 

CDBG entitlement.   

Targeted public service needs include, but are not limited to: 

 Employment services (e.g., job training), 
 Crime prevention and public safety, 
 Child care, 
 Health services, 
 Substance abuse services (e.g., counseling and treatment), 
 Fair housing counseling, 
 Education programs, 
 Energy conservation counseling and testing, 
 Services for senior citizens, 
 Services for homeless persons, and 

5.2.1. SUBRECIPEINT SELECTION  

Subrecipient Application Process 

A Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) will be posted to the City’s CDBG Public Services webpage 

[http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-public-services], posted to the City’s Facebook page and distributed 

to the list of active public service agencies via email.  All interested nonprofit agencies are required to 

submit an application to the CED. All applications must include a detailed program narrative and budget 

and must be submitted to City of Pascagoula Community and Economic Development Department P.O. 

Drawer 908 Pascagoula, MS 39567, or via email by the date and time specified in the NOFA.  



  

24 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

At this time, following will be distributed to the List of Active Public Services Agencies [APPENDIX B: LIST 

OF ACTIVE PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCIES]: 

 Public Service Annual Action Plan Letter [APPENDIX C1] 

 Request for Annual Action Plan Comments [APPENDIX C2]  

 Public Services Notice of Funding Availability [APPENDIX C3] 

 Funding Details [APPENDIX C4] 

 Public Services Activities Application [APPENDIX C5] 

 Action Plan Development Process [APPENDIX C6]  

Application Scoring 

When applications are received, the CED staff will evaluate aplications to ensure the project meets CDBG 

National Objectives, is consistent with Five-Year Consolidated Plan, and meets other criteria.  

Each application is scored objectively according to the following factors using the Public Services 

Application Scoring form: [APPENDIX D1] 

Program Design and Community Impact (50 points) 

 The proposed project description is clear and specifically identifies beneficiaries and community 
impact.  

 The applicant clearly describes how it would utilize the CDBG award.  

 The proposed project clearly meets CDBG national objectives. 

 The applicant has clearly outlined the budget for the proposed project. 
Experience and Capacity (30 points) 

 The applicant has administered a project similar to the one proposed previously.  

 The applicant has the staff and volunteers identified to implement the project, and thus can get 
underway immediately.  

 The applicant has the financial and program controls needed to satisfy HUD accounting and 
reporting rules without unduly taxing CED staff to secure appropriate information.  

 The applicant has no outstanding complaints against it from local or state agencies.  

 The applicant has shown it can meet HUD requirements for non-discrimination, and will not use 
the CDBG award for political or overt religious activity.  

Scope Alignment with Consolidated Plan (15 points) 

 The proposed project addresses a population specified in the City’s FYCP as in need of assistance.  

 The project will be located in a portion of the City identified as being in particular need of 
intervention.  

 The proposed project directly relates to other CDBG-funded activity being undertaken by the City 
(e.g., the project will serve people living in neighborhoods where the City is funding other activity).  

Not Previously Funded Organization (5 points) 

 As a bonus in scoring, the organization has not been previously funded by the City, using CDBG 
funds, in the past five years.  
 



  

25 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Once the applications have been scored and prioritized, the EMT will review and feedback. A 

recommendation is then made to City Council as to which projects will be funded in the coming program 

year. After City Council approves, the subrecipient public service agencies are notified of the award  or 

decline to award utilizing the Public Service Agencies Determination Letters. [APPENDIX D2] 

5.3. CITY DEPARTMENTS OR PROJECTS 

Annually, the City may allocate CDBG entitlement funds to various City projects for infrastructure, public 

facilities, housing, and economic development. 

5.3.1 CITY PROJECT SELECTION 

The City’s FYCP serves as comprehensive planning strategy for the allocation and utilization of CDBG 

fundsthe for the continued revitalization of the City. The FYCP  identifies the City’s most pressing 

community development and housing needs by category as well as resources and partnerships to address 

those needs.  

Dates and Deadlines 

CED staff review the FYCP to identify the highest CDBG funding needs and priorities for the coming year. 

These priorities will then be presented to the EMT. The EMT will review the recommendations and will 

identify specific CDBG-eligible infrastructure, public facilities, economic development, and housing 

projects to address the identified priorities.  The project will be incorporated AAP. [SECTION 6: CDBG 

CALENDAR].  

5.4. HOUSING ACTIVITIES 

As noted, certain housing activities are eligible for funding under the CDBG program, especially those that 

impact low- and moderate-income households. Pascagoula housing needs are identified in the City’s FYCP. 

Early each year, as the CED staff and EMT review the FYCP to identify public services and infrastructure 

needs for funding in the next year’s CDBG program, the CED staff will also note what housing needs can 

be addressed with this federal resource. In identifying housing needs, the CED staff will also determine 

the best ways of addressing those needs.  

 

SECTION 6 – CDBG CALENDAR   
October 1  

 CDBG program year begins. 

Mid-October 

 Previous fiscal year Quarter 4 Closeout Reports due from subrecipients.   

Late October  

 Notice of Public Hearing pertaining to the CAPER is distributed via email and social media at least 

14 calendar days prior to meeting; notice is also displayed at City Hall, Library, and CED. 

Mid-November 



  

26 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Public hearing to receive input on CAPER is held 

 Notice of Availability of Draft is distributed via email and social media with a 15 day comment 

period. The notice is also displayed at City Hall, Library, and CED 

Early-December  

 Deadline to comment on public hearing on CAPER and notice of availability.  

December 30  

 Submit CAPER to HUD. 

January 

 Receive approval from HUD on Action Plan for the current program year. 

 Request Environmental Determinations for applicable projects. 

 Generate environmental forms for projects and public services 

 Distribute notice of public comment for environmentals. 

January 

 Send Public Service Agreements to subrecipient for execution. 

 Subrecipient Quarter 1 Progress Reports due. 

February  

 Receive environmental determinations for infrastructure projects. 

 Submit Environmental Clearance Packets. 

 Request Council approval to advertise for Action Plan professional services for the upcoming fiscal 

year. 

 Receive Public Service Agreements executed by subrecipients.  

 Advertise for APP professional services. 

March 

 Request Council approval of Public Service Agreements. 

 Obligate public services funding in IDIS. 

 Request Council approval of selected APP professional services consultant . 

April 

 Deadline for APP professional services proposals. 

 Distribute subrecipient NOFA for upcoming fiscal year. 

 Monitor current subrecipients.  

 Adopt Fair Housing Month Proclamation. 

 Post Fair Housing Posters English/Spanish in City departments. 

 Host Fair Housing Workshop. 

 Subrecipient Quarter 2 Progress Reports due. 

May 

 Notice of Availability of Information pertaining to the APP distributed via email and social media. 

  Email announcing Public Hearing dates to housing and supportive services agencies. 



  

27 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Notice of Public Hearing distributed via email and social media; notices also displayed at City Hall, 

Library, and CED  and distributed to social service agencies at least 14  calendar days prior to 

meeting. 

 Subrecipient Application Deadline at least 30 calendar days after Subrecipient NOFA is released 

May/June 

 Public Hearing on APP held for the upcoming program year in City Council Chambers. 

June 

 Notice of Availability of APP draft distributed via email and social media with 30-day comment 

period, and the notice also displayed at City Hall, Library, and CED, and distributed to social service 

agencies via email. 

 Request Council approval of selected public service proposals. 

July 

 Subrecipient determination letters distributed for the upcoming program year. 

 Deadline for 30-day comment period on AAP Draft. 

 Council adoption of the APP. 

 Subrecipient Quarter 3 Progress Reports due. 

August 1 

 Timeliness deadline. 

August 15 

 Deadline to submit APP HUD for approval 

September 30  

 CDBG program year ends 

SECTION 7 – SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENTS 
Pascagoula’s CDBG subrecipient agencies shall be confirmed through a written and legally executed 

Agreement. In addition to the provisions below, the Agreement shall include a clear statement of 

purpose, scope of work, quantifiable outputs, budget, and reporting requirements.  

After each subrecipient has been selected, the CED staff will work with subrecipients to review agreement 

terms and conditions, funding procedures, reporting and other requirements. These briefings allow 

subrecipients to ask questions and get information that can help them implement their projects in a 

smooth and efficient manner. The following documentation is sent with the Agreement: [APPENDIX E1] 

 Subrecipient Resource Materials [APPENDIX E2] 

  Subrecipient Agreement Amendment Request [APPENDIX E3] 

 Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Report [APPENDIX E4] 

 Subrecipient Request for Reimbursement [APPENDIX E5] 



  

28 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Subrecipient Manual (http://cityofpascagoula.com/wp-content/uploads/YEAR/01/CoP-CDBG-

SUBRECIPIENT-MANUAL.pdf) 

 Hud Income Limits (https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il.html) 

 A-133  Audit Certification [APPENDIX Q1] 

7.1. KEY PROVISIONS  

The following provisions are to be included in the executed Agreement. Each subrecipient must comply 

with these provisions in order to meet the specific City and federal requirements. 

7.1.1 SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENTS 

No portion of the program services or activities set forth in the subrecipient agreement may be 

subcontracted to another agency or entity. The process for selecting subcontractors must comply with 

the target area preference requirements of HUD. See discussion of “Section 3”requirements in Section 8 

of this manual for more information. The subcontract agreement must include the following:  

a. A description of specific project services to be provided; 

b. A provision whereby either party to the agreement may terminate the agreement upon receipt 

of written notice of at least thirty (30) calendar days; 

c. The total amount of compensation to be paid to the subcontractor; 

d. Requirement that the subcontractor submit an invoice or other supporting documentation to the 

subrecipient, prior to receiving compensation for services rendered; and 

e. Beginning and ending dates to the agreement. No subcontractor agreement paid for with CDBG 

funds shall be entered into that has a term extending beyond the ending date of the Agreement 

between the City and the subrecipient. Terms and requirements mandated by the City and federal 

guidelines. 

7.1.2. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

All subrecipient agencies must comply with all federal, state, and local conflict of interest laws, 

regulations, and policies applicable to public contracts and procurement practices. Agencies shall ensure 

that no person shall be employed under the Agreement if that person or member of the person’s 

immediate family serves on a board or committee that has the authority to make personnel decisions that 

could affect the person’s job, and no person shall be employed if a member of the person’s immediate 

family would have supervisory authority over that person. A member of the immediate family includes 

spouse, children, mother, father, sister, brother, and the in-laws of any of these persons. In addition, 

subcontracts or lease agreements shall not be awarded to any person employed by the subrecipient, or 

to any member of the person’s immediate family, without prior approval by the City.  The Conflict of 

Interest Certifications and the Conflict of Interest Questionnaire are incorporated into the Application for 

Public Service Activities. A Conflict of Interest Determination will be completed by the CED Director. 

[APPENDIX F3] 

http://cityofpascagoula.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/CoP-CDBG-SUBRECIPIENT-MANUAL.pdf
http://cityofpascagoula.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/CoP-CDBG-SUBRECIPIENT-MANUAL.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il.html


  

29 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

7.1.4. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES NOT WAIVED BY PAYMENT 

In no event shall any payment by the City to the subrecipient constitute or be construed to be a waiver by 

the City of any breach of the terms or conditions of the executed Agreement, or of any default on the part 

of the Agreement that may then exist, and any payment or payments by the City shall in no way impair or 

prejudice any right or remedy available to the City with respect to such breach or default. 

7.1.5. AVAILABILITY OF RECORDS AND INFORMATION 

For the purpose of inspecting, auditing, monitoring, and evaluating the subrecipients performance, in 

meeting their contractual requirements obligations and compliance with applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations, must require its subrecipients to permit, the U.S. Government, or authorized agents to 

inspect and photocopy all books, accounting records, invoices, receipts, payroll records, personnel 

records, and any other project data and records pertaining to all matters covered in the agreement. Such 

records and information must be made available during normal business hours at a reasonable location 

within the City of Pascagoula, and as often as the aforementioned officials deem necessary. The City or 

U.S. Government officials must be permitted to make excerpts or copies of such records and data that are 

related in whole, or in part, to the executed Agreement.  

7.1.6. SECTARIAN CONTROL OR INFLUENCE  

Agencies must ensure that all programs and activities undertaken pursuant to the executed Agreement 

are free of sectarian control or influence, and that no monies, property, materials or services that are 

provided under the Agreement are applied to religious establishment or purpose.  

7.1.7. POLITICAL ACTIVITY PROHIBITED 

Subrecipient agencies must not use or permit to be used any funds, property, materials or services that 

are directly or indirectly authorized by the executed Agreement for any partisan political purpose or 

activity, or to further the election or defeat of any candidate for public office. 

“Political affairs or activities” as used here means the expenditure of funds or use of personnel in a support 

or advocacy role concerning any matter currently pending or being proposed by a vote of the people or 

enactment by any legislative body of the City of Pascagoula, Jackson County, State of Mississippi, or the 

Federal Government.  

7.1.8. FAIR HOUSING 

Agencies shall comply, and require its subcontractors to comply, with Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 

1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended, which prohibits discrimination in the sale, rental, and financing of 

dwellings, and in other housing-related transactions, based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, 

familial status (including children under the age of 18 living with parents or legal custodians, pregnant 

women, and people securing custody of children under the age of 18), and disability. In addition, Agencies 

shall comply with the regulations issued following Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act (as amended by 

Executive Orders 11246, 11375, and 12086) and Section 109 of the 1975 Housing and Community 



  

30 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Development Act that prohibits discrimination in HUD programs based on sex, race, color, national origin, 

and religion and administer all programs and activities in a manner to affirmatively further the policies of 

the Fair Housing Act. 

7.1.9. SECTION 504  

Agencies shall comply, and require its subcontractors to comply, with any Federal regulations issued 

pursuant to compliance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which prohibits discrimination 

against persons with disabilities in any federally assisted program.  

7.2. AGREEMENT AMENDMENTS  

During the course of administering a project, situations may occur that require a change in original terms 

of the executed Agreement. An executed amendment to the original Agreement is required for any 

extension of the Agreement termination date. Agencies shall request approval from the CED staff for an 

amendment to the executed Agreement. Items and information may be required depending on the type 

of amendment requested. CED staff shall review the amendment requests and make a determination. 

Extensions of the Agreement termination date will only be considered on a case-by-case exception basis 

and request for such must be submitted to the CED staff monitor thirty (30) calendar days prior to the 

Agreement expiration date. Due to the timeliness rule, extensions may be denied, if it significantly effects 

the City’s CDBG timeliness ratio. Agencies may not implement the requested amendment during the time 

of the CDBG review and prior to receiving written approval from the City.  

The City may also, in its discretion, amend agreements to conform with Federal, State, or local guidelines, 

policies, and available funding amounts, or for other reasons. If such amendments result in a change in 

funding or the scope of work, such modifications shall be incorporated by written amendment and shall 

not become effective until the amendment is executed. The Subrecipient Agreement Amendment 

Request form is required to be completed to begin the process. [APPENDIX E3] 

SECTION 8 – ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW RECORD (ERR) 
Prior to any action commencing for a CDBG activity, the  CED staff must compile an ERR to make a 

determination about the impact on the environment. The ERR, when completed, shall be retained in the 

CED project files.   

Activities fall into five categories that require different levels of review, public notification and HUD 

review. Those categories include: Exempt, Categorical Exclusion Subject to or Not Subject to 24 CFR 58.5 

(CEST or CENST), requires Environmental Assessment (EA) and requires Environmental Impact Statement 

(EIS). 

 



  

31 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

58.34(a) Exempt Activities 

Expempt Activities require completion of the Exempt Determination for Activities Listed at 24 CFR 58.34 

[APPENDIX G1]. Place documentation in ERR and proceed with project.   

Exempt activities include:  

 Environmental and other studies;  

 resource identification;  

 

58.34(a) Exempt Activities - continued 

 Plans and strategies; 

 Information and financial services; 

 Administrative and management activities; 

 Public services that have no physical impact or result in physical change; 

 Inspections and testing; 

 Purchase of insurance; 

 Purchase of tools; 

 Engineering, design or training; 

 Technical assistance or training; 

 Temporary or permanent improvements limited to protection and restoration to control or arrest 
effects from disasters; and 

 Payment of principal and interest on loans made or guaranteed by HUD. 
 

CENST 58.35 Categorical Exclusions Not Subject to Section 58.5  

 A CENST activities require completion of CENST to 58.5 [APPENDIX G2]; 

 Documentation of Compliance with 24 CFR 58.6 a-d  [APPENDIX G3]; and  

 Place documentation in the ERR and proceed with project.  
 

CENST activities include: 

 Tenant based rental assistance; 

 Supportive services such as health care, day care, housing placement, etc.; 

 Operating costs, maintenance, utilities, furniture and equipment; 

 Economic development activities such as equipment purchase, inventory financing, interest 
subsidy, operating expenses not associated with construction or expansion; 

 Activities to assist homeownership of existing or “new dwelling units not assisted with Federal 
funds”; and 

 Affordable housing pre-development “soft” costs. 
 

CEST 58.35 Categorical Exclusions Subject to Section 58.5  

 A CEST 58.35 Categorical Exclusions Subject to Section 58.5  require CEST 58.5 [APPENDIX G4];  

 A Documentation of Compliance with 24 CFR 58.6 [APPENDIX G3]; 

 An 8 Step Decision Making Process Pursuant to EO 11988 [APPENDIX G6]; 

 An Environmental Review for a Project Categorically Subject to Section 58.5 [APPENDIX G5]; 



  

32 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Submit Review Requests including a return receipt from the following agencies, and a 30 day 
comment period is required: 

o Mississippi Department of Archives and History Review Request [APPENDIX G8] 
o Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians Review Request [APPENDIX G9] 
o Mississippi Department of Marine Resources Review Request [APPENDIX G10]  
o The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [APPENDIX G7]  

 Requested to be contacted via email in lieu of traditional mail.  

If clearance is provided from agencies the project may be considered exempt. If  thirty (30) calendar 

days pass without a response and the activity does not trigger any compliance issues as identified in the 

CEST 58.5, the Determination for Activities listed at 58.35a, or the Documentation of Compliance with 

25 CFR 58.6 a-d, it may be considered exempt.  Complete the Exempt Determination for Activities Listed 

at 24 CFR 58.34 [APPENDIX G1]. Place documentation in the ERR and proceed with project. If issues arise 

from the agencies or forms, efforts needed to resolve any issues from subrecipient consultation should 

be completed before proceeding.   

Public Notice and Comment Period: CEST and Not Converted to Exempt activities require a Notice of 

Intent (NOI) and Request for Release of Funds (RROF) to be published in the local newspaper of general 

circulation or posted in a public location.  A sample NOI/RROF is attached (APPENDIX G13].  This notice 

requires a minimum comment period of seven (7) calendar days if published or ten (10) calendar days if 

posted.  The comment period starts the day after publication or posting. Upon the expiration of the 

comment period, submit a NOI/RROF to the HUD Jackson Field Office.  [APPENDIX G14] 

HUD Approval: Upon receipt of the Request Release of Funds Certification (RROF/C), HUD will observe  a 

15-day objection period.  Following the objection period, barring receipt of any objections, HUD will 

evaluate the RROF/C for the project and, if approved,  transmits an Authority to Use Grant Funds to the 

City, after which, the City may proceed with the project. 

 CEST activities include: 

 Acquisition, repair, improvement, reconstruction or rehab of public facilities other than building 

without change in use or increase in size or capacity by more than 20 % 

 Projects to remove material and architectural barriers that restrict handicap access 

 Rehabilitation of buildings:  

o Residential: 

 Unit density not increased by more than 20 % 

 Does not change use from residential to nonresidential 

 Cost of rehab less than 75% of total cost of replacement after rehab 

o Non-residential: 

  Facilities in place will not change in size or capacity by more than 20 %  

 The activity does not involve a change in land use 



  

33 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Individual action on a 1-4 family dwelling or project of 5 or more units on scattered sites if more 

than 2,000 feet apart or not more than 4 units on one site 

 Acquisition, disposition of existing structure or acquisition of vacant land where use will remain 

unchanged 

58.36 Environmental Assessment (EA) 

An EA is required for all other activities that are not considered exempt or categorically excluded and that 

do not require the completion of an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS).  An EA requires: 

 An Environmental Assessment Form including the Statutory Worksheet [APPENDIX G11], 

 An 8 Step Decision Making Process Pursuant to EO 11988 [APPENDIX G6], 

 A NEPA Environmental Assessment Checklist [APPENDIX G12], and 

 A Documentation of Compliance with 25 CFR 58.6 a-d [APPENDIX G3].  

 

An EAs that results in a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) or a Finding of Significant Impact (FOSI) 

requires: 

1) Findings of No Significant Impact (FONSI) – The City will develop a FONSI [APPENDIX G13] to be 

executed by the City Manager.  A FONSI may be combined with NOI/RROF/EC  for publication.  If 

combined, the notice must clearly indicate the two separate procedural requirements being met 

and must advise the public to identify which notice is being responded to in any comments.    

a) Comment Period: Publish or post notice.   

i) A FONSI requires a public notice with a minimum comment period of fifteen (15) 

calendar days if published or eighteen (18) calendar days if posted.  The comment 

period starts the day after publication or posting. 

ii) NOI/RROF: This notice requires a minimum comment period of seven (7) calendar days 

if published or 10 days if posted.  The comment period starts the day after publication 

or posting. 

iii) Combined FONSI/NOI/RROF: This notice requires a minimum comment period of fifteen 

(15) calendar days if published or eighteen (18) calendar days if posted.  The comment 

period starts the day after publication or posting. 

iv) Note: The public comment period shall be extended to a minimum of 30 calendar days 

when (1) there is considerable public interest or controversy, (2) the project is similar to 

projects normally requiring an EIS, or (3) the project is unique and without precedent. 

b) Upon expiration of the comment period, the City will complete and submit a RROF and 

certification to the HUD Jackson Field Office. 

c) Upon receipt of the RROF, HUD will observe a 15-day objection period.  Following 

completion of the objection period, barring receipt of any objections, HUD approves the 

RROF for the project and transmits an Authority to Use Grant Funds to the City, at which 

point, the City may proceed with the project. 



  

34 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2) A Findings of Significant Impact  triggers the need to prepare an EIS. 

58.37 Environmental Impact Statement Determination (EIS) 

An EIS is required when activity is determined to have potential significant impact on the environment.  

1) Prepare an EIS for any of the following circumstances (58.37(b): 

a. 58.37(b)(1): Project would provide a site or sites for, or result in the 

construction of hospitals or nursing homes containing 2,500 or more beds; 

b. 58.37(b)(2): Project would (1) remove, demolish, convert, or rehabilitate 2,500 

or more existing housing units, (2) construct or install 2,500 or more housing 

units, or (3) provide sites for 2,500 or more housing units; or 

c. 58.37(b)(3): Project would provide enough additional water or sewer capacity to 

support 2,500 or more additional housing units. 

2) Complete the EIS and Documentation of Compliance when any of the following occur: 

a. Immediately after determining to prepare an EIS, the City must publish NOI to 

prepare an EIS (NOI/EIS).  

b. Pursuant to section 58.59, the City must determine whether a scoping meeting 

is necessary.  If necessary, the scoping meeting must be held at least fifteen (15) 

days after publication of the NOI/EIS. 

c. Pursuant to 40 CFR Part 1506.6, the City must determine whether a public 

hearing is necessary based on the following factors: magnitude of the project, 

degree of public interest or controversy, complexity of issues, and extent of 

already accomplished public involvement.   

1. To hold a public hearing, a notice must be published fifteen (15) 

calendar days before the hearing. 

d. In preparing a draft and final EIS, HUD-recommended formats should be used 

and the filing and distribution must be in the prescribed manner.  Time 

requirements for draft and final EIS or request waiver(s) must be pursuant to 40 

CFR Part 1506.6.  Draft and final EIS must be updated when appropriate by 

issuing supplements.  Pursuant to 40 CFR Part 1505.2, a Record of Decision 

(ROD) must be completed. 

e. The City must publish the NOI/RROF in the local newspaper of general 

circulation or posted in a public location. This notice requires a minimum 

comment period of seven (7) calendar days if published or ten (10) calendar 

days if post ina public location.  The comment period starts the day after 

publication or posting. 

f. Upon expiration of the comment period, the City must complete and submit a 

RROF to the HUD Jackson Field Office. 



  

35 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

g. Upon receipt of the RROF, HUD observes a 15-day objection period.  Following 

completion of the objection period, if approved, HUD transmits an Authority to 

Use Grant Funds to the City at which point the City may proceed with the 

project. 

 

2) Other documentation required in the ERR must be tailored towards the compliance factors 

required.  Below is a list of documentation examples: 

1) Project Map with the project location and impact boundaries 

2) Wetlands Map - www.fws.gov/wetlands/Wetlands-Mapper.html.   

3) Coastal Barrier Resource System in Mississippi Map  –

www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html  

4) Sole Source Aquifers Map – Region 4 and Southern Hills 

archive.epa.gov/pesticides/region4/water/groundwater/web/html/r4ssa.html#shills  

5) FEMA Floodplain Map - 

hmsc.fema.gov/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/FemaWelcomeView?storeId=10001&catalo

gId=10001&langId=-1  

6) Quad or Topo Map - www.fws.gov/wetlands/Wetlands-Mapper.html 

SECTION 9 – OTHER CROSS-CUTTING FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 

9.1. LABOR STANDARDS 

The Federal Davis-Bacon Act states that projects utilizing federal funds in excess of $2,000 for 

construction, alterations, and repairs including painting and decorating, that employ laborers and 

mechanics, must adhere to the federal fair labor and wage requirements as established by the Act. Davis-

Bacon applies to the entire project, no matter how small the CDBG contribution. HUD has a guidebook 

entitled, “Making Davis-Bacon Work: A Contractor’s Guide to Prevailing Wage Requirements for Federally-

Assisted Construction Projects” (http://www.hud.gov/offices/olr/library) that further assists those 

Agencies involved in construction projects.  Exceptions to the Davis-Bacon Act include: 

a. The prime construction contract funded in whole or in part with CDBG funds is less than $2,000; 

b. The entire project consists solely of demolition; 

c. The entire project consists of rehabilitating property that was designed for fewer than eight units; 

d. The project consists solely of delivery of goods or services (non-construction Agreement); 

e. There are no federal monies in the construction project; or 

f. The funds shall be used for acquisition ONLY and there is no construction. 

The CED is responsible for monitoring the labor standards compliance of all contractors using CDBG funds. 

It requires that all CDBG funding recipients that are not exempt from Davis-Bacon requirements follow 

the steps outlined below. 

http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/Wetlands-Mapper.html
http://www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html
https://archive.epa.gov/pesticides/region4/water/groundwater/web/html/r4ssa.html#shills
https://msc.fema.gov/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/FemaWelcomeView?storeId=10001&catalogId=10001&langId=-1
https://msc.fema.gov/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/FemaWelcomeView?storeId=10001&catalogId=10001&langId=-1
http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/Wetlands-Mapper.html
http://www.hud.gov/offices/olr/library


  

36 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Step 1: Wage Decision 

After a subrecipient or project contract is awarded, but before the construction work begins, the 

subrecipient or CED staff must obtain a wage decision. A listing of the current wage decisions can be found 

at http://www.wdol.gov/Index.aspx.  

If a work classification needed is not listed on the wage decision, the subrecipient will need to request an 

additional classification and wage rate. This process is usually very simple and should be started 

immediately by identifying the needed classification. A request should be made in writing to the City which 

will pass the request on to the HUD labor relations field staff. To request a classification and wage rate, 

these four rules must be followed: 

1. The requested classification is used by the construction contractors in the area of the project.  

2. The work that will be performed by the requested classification is not already performed by 

another classification that is already on the wage decision. 

3. The proposed wage rate for the requested classification “fits” with other wage rates already on 

the wage decision. 

4. The workers that will be employed in the added classification, or the workers’ representative, 

must agree with the proposed wage rate. 

If an additional classification and wage rate is approved, the contractor must post the approval notice. If 

the classification and wage rate is declined, the Department of Labor will inform the subrecipient in 

writing what classification and wage rate should be used for the work in question. 

Step 2: Posting the Wage Decision 

The prime contractor will be responsible for posting the wage decision and a Department of Labor’s Notice 

to Employees WH-1321 Form on site that is easily accessible to all of the construction workers employed 

at the project documents will not  be destroyed by wind or rain. The Notice to Employee poster is available 

in English and Spanish at HUD Clips (www.hudclips.org/sub_nonhud/html/forms.htm).  

Step 3: Certified Payroll Reports 

Weekly certified payroll reports must be submitted to the CED staff on the Department of Labor form WH-

347  beginning with the first week that a company works on the project and for every week afterward 

until the company’s work has been completed. Each payroll report should be clearly numbered, beginning 

with #1, and the last payroll for the project should clearly be marked “Final.” 

The prime contractor is responsible for the full compliance of all reports including subcontractors on the 

contract and will be held responsible for any wage restitution that may be found due. 

All payroll reports and records must be retained for at least four years after the project is completed. 

These records must be made available for review to any authorized representative of HUD or the 

Department of Labor. 

http://www.wdol.gov/Index.aspx
http://www.hudclips.org/sub_nonhud/html/forms.htm


  

37 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

9.2. RELOCATION 

All acquisition of real property, rehabilitation, demolition, conversions, permanent easements requiring 

relocation of families, individuals, businesses, nonprofits, or farms are to be conducted in accordance with 

the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended 

(Uniform Relocation Act or URA). If CDBG funds are used for any part of the project, agencies must comply 

with the URA, even if local or other non-CDBG funds are used to pay the acquisition costs. The purpose of 

the URA is to provide displaced persons with fair, equitable treatment and protection form 

disproportionate injury by projects designed to benefit the public as a whole. The URA applies to the 

following actions: 

 Displacement of persons or businesses that must move permanently as a direct result of 

acquisition, demolition, or rehabilitation for CDBG-funded projects; 

 Acquisition of real estate for CDBG-funded projects, whether publicly or privately undertaken; 

and 

 Temporary relocation of persons or businesses who are required to move for a relatively short 

time because of a CDBG-funded project, but who may return to the building once the work is 

complete. 

9.3. WOMEN AND MINORITY OWNED BUSINESSES 

It is national policy to award a fair share of contracts to small, Women and Minority Business Enterprises 

(WBE/MBE). Accordingly, affirmative steps must be taken to assure that small and MBE/WBE Businesses 

are utilized when possible as sources of supplies, equipment, construction and services. Affirmative steps 

shall include the following: 

1. Soliciting from qualified small and MBE/WBE on solicitation lists; 

2. When economically feasible, dividing total requirements into smaller tasks or quantities so as to 

permit maximum small businesses and MBE/WBE participation; 

3. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage participation 

by a small business and MBE/WBE; and 

4. If any subcontracts are to be let, requiring the prime contractor to take affirmative steps in 1 

through 4 above. 

Grantees shall take similar appropriate affirmative action in support of MBE/WBE. Grantor agencies may 

impose additional regulations and requirements in the foregoing areas only to the extent specifically 

mandated by statute or presidential direction. A MBE/WBE Information Form must be completed by all 

vendors involved in construction projects funded with CDBG funding.  

 

 



  

38 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

9.3.1. DEFINITIONS 

Minority Business Enterprise 

A MBE is a business in which minority group members own 51% or more of the company or, in the case 

of a publicly-owned business, one in which minority group members own at least 51% of its voting stock 

and control management and daily business operations. For this purpose, minority group members are 

those groups of U.S. citizens found to be disadvantaged by the Small Business Administration pursuant to 

Section 8(d) of the Small Business Act. Such groups include, but are not limited to, Black Americans, 

Hispanic Americans, Native Americans, Indian tribes, Asian Pacific Americans, Native Hawaiian 

Organizations, and other minorities. 

Women Business Enterprise 

A WBE is a small business that is at least 51% owned by one or more women. In the case of publicly owned 

businesses, at least 51% of the stock is owned by one or more women and the management and daily 

operations of the business are controlled by one or more women. 

Small Business 

A small business is one that is independently owned and operated, and which is not dominant in its field 

of operation and in conformity with specific industry criteria defined by the Small Business Administration 

(SBA). 

Small Disadvantaged Business 

A Small Disadvantaged Business is a small business that is at least 51% owned and controlled by a socially 

and economically disadvantaged individual or individuals. 

Minority Newspapers 

In addition to advertising in a newspaper of major circulation, the City may require contracts to also 

advertise in newspapers targeted to the minority community. This advertising requirement may be 

applied especially if minority participation drops.  

Labor Surplus Area Business 

A labor surplus area business is defined as a business which, together with its immediate subcontractors, 

will incur more than 50% of the cost of performing the contract in an area of concentrated unemployment 

or underemployment, as defined by the DOL in 20 CFR Part 654, Subpart A, and in the list of labor surplus 

areas published by the Employment and Training Administration. 

9.4. ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES FOR LOW- AND VERY LOW-INCOME PERSONS 

Section 3 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1968 requires the City and its contractors 

to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated by Federal financial assistance 



  

39 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

from housing and community development programs shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to 

low and very low income families, particularly those who are recipients of government housing assistance.  

 

Pursuant to HUD regulations implementing Section 3 at 24 CFR 135 The City will, establish goals for 

employment, training, and contracting with Section 3 residents.  To accomplish these goals, the City will: 

a. Consider the contracting preferences in Appendices II and III to 24 CFR 135; 

b. Incorporate the Section 3 contract clause provided in 24 CFR 135 in all applicable contracts 

requiring contractor compliance with 24 CFR 135; 

c. Discuss Section 3 contract responsibilities with contractors at pre-bid and post award 

conferences; and 

d. Require Section 3 contractors to provide the contractor's plan for meeting its Section 3 goals 

and reporting progress in meeting the goals during the term of the contract.   

SECTION 10 – PROCUREMENT STANDARDS AND CODE OF CONDUCT 
This Procurement Policy complies with the Annual Contributions from HUD, Federal Regulations at 24 CFR 

85.36, and applicable State and Local laws. [APPENDIX HI: PROCUREMENT FLOW CHART] 

10.1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

The City shall: 

 Provide for a procurement system of quality and integrity; 

 Provide for the fair and equitable treatment of all persons or firms involved in purchasing by the 
City; Ensure that supplies and services (including construction) are procured efficiently, 
effectively, and at the most favorable prices available to the City;  

 Promote competition in contracting; and  

 Assure the City purchasing actions are in full compliance with applicable Federal standards, HUD 
regulations, State, and local laws. 

 
Application 
This Procurement Policy applies to all procurement actions of the City funded with HUD grant funds.  
When both HUD and non-Federal grant funds are used for a project, the work to be accomplished with 
the funds should be separately identified prior to procurement so that appropriate requirements can be 
applied, if necessary. If it is not possible to separate the funds, HUD procurement regulations shall be 
applied to the total project. If funds and work can be separated and work can be completed by a new 
contract, then regulations applicable to the source of funding may be followed. 
 
Definition 
The term "procurement," as used in this Policy, includes the procuring, purchasing, leasing, or renting of: 
(1) goods, supplies, equipment, and materials, (2) construction and maintenance; consultant services, (3) 
Architectural and Engineering (A/E) services, (4) social services, and (5) other services. 
 



  

40 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Changes in Laws and Regulations 
In the event an applicable law or regulation is modified or eliminated, or a new law or regulation is 
adopted, the revised law or regulation shall, to the extent inconsistent with these Policies, automatically 
supersede these Policies. 
 
Public Access to Procurement Information 
Most procurement information, that is not proprietary, is a matter of public record and shall be available 
to the public to the extent provided in the Mississippi Freedom of Information Act. 

10.2. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING 

General 
The City hereby establishes this code of conduct regarding procurement issues and actions and shall 
implement a system of sanctions for violations. This code of conduct  is consistent with applicable Federal, 
State, or local law. 
 
 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
No employee, officer, elected official, or agent of the City shall participate directly or indirectly in the 
selection, award, or administration of any contract if there is a conflict of interest, either real or apparent. 
A conflict exists when one of the following persons has a financial or other interest in a firm competing 
for the award: 

A. An employee, officer, elected official, or agent; 
B. A relative including a father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, 

nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in law, 
brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, 
stepsister, half-brother, half-sister, a partner; 

C. An organization that employs any of the above ; 
D. An organization that is negotiating to employs any of the above; or 
E. An organization that has an arrangement concerning prospective employment any of the above. 

 
Gratuities, Kickbacks, and Use of Confidential Information 
No officer, employee, elected official, or agent shall ask for or accept gratuities, favors, or items of more 
than $25 in value from any contractor, potential contractor, or party to any subcontract, and shall not 
knowingly use confidential  information for actual or anticipated  personal gain. 
 
Prohibition against Contingent Fees 
Contractors wanting to do business with the City must not hire a person to solicit or secure a contract for 
a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, except for bona fide established commercial 
selling agencies.  
 
PROCUREMENT PLANNING 
Because Planning is essential to proper procurement,  the City will periodically review its record of prior 
purchases future needs, to find patterns of procurement actions that could be performed more efficiently 



  

41 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

or economically;  maximize competition  and competitive pricing among contracts and decrease the City's 
procurement costs; reduce City administrative costs; ensure that supplies and services are obtained 
without any need for re-procurement, e.g., resolving bid protests; and minimize errors that occur when 
there is inadequate lead time. Consideration should be given to storage, security, and handling 
requirements when planning the most appropriate purchasing actions. 
 
Prior to entering in to any procurement contract, the City shall check the System for Award Management 
to ensure that the City does not enter into a contract with any party that is excluded, disqualified, or 
otherwise ineligible to participate in federal  procurement and nonprocurement program per 24 CFR 
570.609. 

10.3. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS 

When procuring goods and services, the City, at minimum, will: 

A. Comply with 24 CFR 85.36, and State and local laws; 

B. Provide for a system of contract administration that ensures that contractors perform in 

accordance with the terms, conditions and specifications of their contracts; 

C. Follow the Procurement Standards of Conduct; 

D. Review all procurements to avoid unnecessary purchases and duplicate procurements; 

E. Foster economy and efficiency and enter into intergovernmental agreements for the purchase of 

common goods and services when appropriate; 

F. Wherever possible, use Federal excess and surplus property; 

G. Use value engineering clauses in contracts for construction projects of sufficient size; 

H. Make awards only to responsible contractors possessing the ability to perform successfully under 

the terms and conditions of proposed procurements; 

I. Consideration will be given to such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, 

record of past performance a and financial and technical resources; 

J. Maintain records sufficient to detail the significant history of procurement;  

K. Use time and materials contracts only after a determination that no other contract is suitable and 

if the contract includes a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds as his or her own risk; 

L. Alone, be responsible, in accordance with good administrative practice and sound business 

judgment, for all contractual and administrative issues arising out of the contracting actions; 

M. Have protest procedures to handle and resolve disputes relating to procurements; 

N. Ensure that all purchase orders and contracts are signed by the authorized official of the City; 

O. Prepare an independent cost estimate (ICE) before issuing solicitations and conduct either a cost 

or price analysis in connection with the award of every procurement action, including contract 

modifications, to determine price reasonableness.  A cost or price analysis may be accomplished 

in various ways, market prices and similar indicia, together with discounts.  An Cost analysis is the 

review and evaluation of each individual element of cost to determine reasonableness, allocability 

and allowability of the costs in the proposed price; [APPENDIX J] 



  

42 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

P. Negotiate profit separately from price where competition is lacking or whenever a cost analysis is 

performed. To establish a fair and reasonable profit, consideration will be given to the complexity 

of the work to be performed, the risk borne by the contractor, the contractor's investment, the 

amount of subcontracting, the quality of past performance, and industry rates for the area; 

Q. Not use "Cost plus a percentage of Cost" contracts; 

R. Where appropriate, analyze lease versus purchase alternatives; 

S. Incorporate the mandatory contract clauses contained in 24 CFR 85.36(i) in all contracts, as 

applicable and included in Appendix E of this manual. 

10.4. PROCUREMENT METHODS 

Small Purchase Procedures 
For any amounts below $100,000, the City may use small purchase procedures. Under small purchase 
procedures, the City shall obtain a reasonable number of quotes. To the greatest extent feasible, and to 
promote competition, small purchases should be distributed among qualified sources. Quotes may be 
obtained orally (either in person or by phone), by fax, in writing, or through e-procurement.  Award shall 
be made to the qualified vendor that provides the best value to the City. If award is to be made for reasons 
other than lowest price, documentation shall be provided in the contract file. The City shall not break 
down requirements aggregating more than the small purchase threshold into several purchases that are 
less than the applicable threshold merely to: (1) permit use of the small purchase procedures or (2) avoid 
any requirements that apply to purchases that exceed the Micro Purchase threshold. 
 
Sealed Bids 
Sealed bidding shall be used for all contracts that exceed the small purchase threshold and that are not 
competitive proposals or non-competitive proposals, as these terms are defined in this document. Under 
sealed bids, the City publicly solicits bids and awards a firm fixed-price contract (lump sum or unit price) 
to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming with all the material terms and conditions of the 
Invitation for Bid (IFP), is the lowest in price. Sealed bidding is the preferred method for procuring 
construction, supply, and non-complex service contracts that are expected to exceed $100,000. 

A. Conditions for Using Sealed Bids. The City shall use the sealed bid method if the following 
conditions are present:  a complete, adequate, and realistic statement of work, specification, or 
purchase description is available; two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete 
effectively for the work; the contract can be awarded based on a firm fixed price; and the selection 
of the successful bidder can be made principally on the lowest price. 

B. Solicitation and Receipt of Bids. An IFB is issued which includes the specifications and all 
contractual terms and conditions applicable to the procurement, and a statement that award will 
be made to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder whose bid meets the requirements of 
the solicitation. The IFB must state the time and place for both receiving the bids and the public 
bid opening. All bids received will be date and time-stamped and stored unopened in a secure 
place until the public bid opening. A bidder may withdraw the bid at any time prior to the bid 
opening. 

C. Bid Opening and Award. Bids shall be opened publicly. All bids received shall be recorded on an 
abstract (tabulation) of bids, and then made available for public inspection. If equal low bids are 



  

43 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

received from responsible bidders, selection shall be made by drawing lots or other similar 
random method. The method for doing this shall be stated in the IFB. If only one responsive bid 
is received from a responsible bidder, award shall not be made unless the price can be determined 
to be reasonable, based on a cost or price analysis. 

D. Mistakes in Bids. Correction or withdrawal of bids may be permitted, where appropriate, before 
bid opening by written or telegraphic notice received in the office designated in the IFB prior to 
the time set for bid opening. After bid opening, corrections in bids may be permitted only if the 
bidder can show by clear and convincing evidence that a mistake of a nonjudgmental character 
was made, the nature of the mistake, and the bid price actually intended. A low bidder alleging a 
nonjudgmental  mistake may be permitted to withdraw its bid if the mistake is clearly evident on 
the face of the bid document but the intended bid is unclear or the bidder submits convincing 
evidence that a mistake was made. All decisions to allow correction or withdrawal of a bid shall 
be supported by a written determination signed by the Contracting Officer. After bid opening, 
changes in bid prices or other provisions of bids prejudicial to the interest of the City or fair 
competition shall not be permitted. See the CDBG Projects Mini-guide for Engineers and the 
Mandatory Procurement Clauses [APPENDIX H2 AND H3] 

 
Competitive Proposals 

 Unlike sealed bidding, the competitive proposal method permits 

 Consideration of technical factors other than price 

 Discussion with offerors concerning offers submitted 

 Negotiation of contract price or estimated cost and other contract terms and conditions 

 Revision of proposals before the final contractor selection 

 Withdrawal of an offer at any time up until the point of award 
 
Award is normally made on the basis of the proposal that represents the best overall value to the City, 
considering price and other factors, e.g., technical expertise, past experience, quality of proposed staffing, 
etc., set forth in the solicitation and not solely the lowest price. 

A. Conditions for Use. Where conditions are not appropriate for the use of sealed bidding, 
competitive proposals may be used. Competitive proposals are the preferred method for 
procuring professional services that will exceed the small purchase threshold. 

B. Form of Solicitation. Other than A/E services, competitive proposals shall be solicited through the 
issuance of a RFP. The RFP shall clearly identify the importance and relative value of each of the 
evaluation factors as well as any subfactors and price. A mechanism for fairly and thoroughly 
evaluating the technical and price proposals shall be established before the solicitation is issued. 
Proposals shall be handled so as to prevent disclosure of the number of offerors, identity of the 
offerors, and the contents of their proposals until after award. The City may assign price a specific 
weight in the evaluation criteria or the City may consider price in conjunction with technical 
factors; in either case, the method for evaluating price shall be established in the RFP. 

C. Evaluation. The proposals shall be evaluated only on the criteria stated in the RFP. Where not 
apparent from the evaluation criteria, the City shall establish an Evaluation Plan for each RFP. 
Generally, all RFPs shall be evaluated by an appropriately appointed Evaluation Committee. The 
Evaluation Committee shall be required to disclose any potential conflicts of interest. 



  

44 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Documentation summarizing the results of the evaluation shall be prepared prior to award of a 
contract. 

D. Negotiations.  Negotiations shall be conducted with all offerors who submit a proposal 
determined to have a reasonable chance of being selected for award, unless it is determined that 
negotiations are not needed with any of the offerors. This determination is based on the relative 
score of the proposals as they are evaluated and rated in accordance with the technical and price 
factors specified in the RFP. These offerors shall be treated fairly and equally with respect to any 
opportunity for negotiation and revision of their proposals. No offeror shall be given any 
information about any other offeror's proposal, and no offeror shall be assisted in bringing its 
proposal up to the level of any other proposal. A common deadline shall be established for receipt 
of proposal revisions based on negotiations. Negotiations are exchanges (in either competitive or 
sole source environment) between the City and offerors that are undertaken with the intent of 
allowing the offeror to revise its proposal. These negotiations may include bargaining. Bargaining 
includes persuasion, alteration of assumptions and positions, give-and-take, and may apply to 
price, schedule, technical requirements, type of contract or other terms of a proposed contract. 
When negotiations are conducted in a competitive acquisition, they take place after 
establishment of the competitive range and are called discussions. Discussions are tailored to 
each offeror's proposal, and shall be conducted by the contracting officer with each offeror within 
the competitive range. The primary object of discussions is to maximize the City's ability to obtain 
the best value, based on the requirements and the evaluation factors set forth in the solicitation. 
The contracting officer shall indicate to, or discuss with, each offeror still being considered for 
award, significant weaknesses, deficiencies, and other aspects of its proposal (such as cost, price, 
technical approach, past performance, and terms and conditions) that could, in the opinion of the 
contracting officer, be altered or explained to enhance materially the proposer's  potential for 
award. The scope and extent of discussions are a matter of the contracting officer's judgment. 
The contracting officer may inform an offeror that its price is considered by the City to be too 
high, or too low, and reveal the results of the analysis supporting that conclusion. It is also 
permissible to indicate to all offerors the cost or price that the government's price analysis, 
market research, and other reviews have identified as reasonable. "Auctioning" (revealing one 
offeror’s price in an attempt to get another offeror to lower their price) is prohibited. 

E. Award. After evaluation of the revised proposals, if any, the contract shall be awarded to the 
responsible firm whose technical approach to the project, qualifications,  price and any other 
factors considered, are most advantageous to the City provided that the price is within the 
maximum total project budgeted amount established for the specific property or activity. 

F. Architect and Engineering (A/E) Services. The City must contract for A/E services using Qualified 
Base Selection (QBS) procedures, utilizing a Request for Qualifications (RFQ). Sealed bidding shall 
not be used for A/E solicitations. Under QBS procedures, competitors' qualifications are evaluated 
and the most qualified competitor is selected, subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable 
compensation. Price is not used as a selection factor under this method. QBS procedures shall not 
be used to purchase other types of services, though A/E firms are potential sources. 

 
 
 
 



  

45 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 
Noncompetitive Proposals 
The noncompetitive proposal method permits procurement through a sole source, when the City solicits 
an offer from one source. Also permitted under this method is single source, when the City solicits offers 
from multiple sources but receives only one or the competition is determined inadequate. 
 

A. Conditions for Use. Procurement by noncompetitive proposals (sole-source) may be used only 
when the award of a contract is not feasible using small purchase procedures, sealed bids, 
cooperative purchasing, or competitive proposals, and if one of the following applies: 
1. The item is available only from a single source, based on a good faith review of available 

sources; 
2. An emergency exists that seriously threatens the public health, welfare, or safety, or 

endangers property, or would otherwise cause serious injury to the City, as may arise by 
reason of a flood, earthquake, epidemic, riot, equipment failure, or similar event. In such 
cases, there must be an immediate and serious need for supplies, services, or construction 
such that the need cannot be met through any of the other procurement methods, and the 
emergency procurement shall be limited to those supplies, services, or construction necessary 
simply to meet the emergency; 

3. HUD authorizes the use of noncompetitive proposals; or 
4. After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate. 

B. Justification. Each procurement using noncompetitive proposals shall be supported by a written 
justification for the selection of this method. The justification shall be approved in writing by the 
responsible Contracting Officer. Poor planning or lack of planning is not justification for 
emergency or sole-source procurements. The justification, to be included in the procurement file, 
should include the following information: 

1. Description of the requirement; 
2. History of prior purchases and their nature (competitive vs. noncompetitive); 
3. The specific exception in 24 CFR 85.36(d)(4)(i)(A) through (D) which applies; 
4. Statement as to the unique circumstances that require award by noncompetitive 

proposals; 
5. Description of the efforts made to find competitive sources (advertisement in trade 

journals or local publications, phone calls to local suppliers, issuance of a written 
solicitation, etc.); 

6. Statement as to efforts that will be taken in the future to promote competition for the 
requirement; 

7. Signature by the Contracting Officer’s supervisor (or someone above the level of the 
Contracting Officer); and 

8. Price Reasonableness. The reasonableness of the price for all procurements based on 
noncompetitive proposals shall be determined by performing an analysis, as described in 
this Policy. 

 
Cooperative Purchasing/Intergovernmental Agreements 
The City may enter into State and local cooperative or intergovernmental agreements to purchase or use 
common supplies, equipment, or services. The decision to use an interagency agreement instead of 



  

46 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

conducting a direct procurement shall be based on economy and efficiency. If used, the interagency 
agreement shall stipulate who is authorized to purchase on behalf of the participating parties and shall 
specify inspection, acceptance, termination, payment, and other relevant terms and conditions. The City 
may use Federal or State excess and surplus property instead of purchasing new equipment and property 
if feasible and if it will result in a reduction of project costs. The goods and services obtained under a 
cooperative purchasing agreement must have been procured in accordance with 24 CFR 85.36. 
 
INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE (ICE) 
An ICE) is an estimate prepared by the City prior to obtaining offers. The degree of an analysis will depend 
on the size and complexity of the purchase. For all purchases the City shall prepare an ICE prior to 
solicitation. The level of detail shall be commensurate with the cost and complexity of the item to be 
purchased. 

10.5 COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 

The City shall require assurance that, before entering into a contract, the price is reasonable, in 
accordance with the following instructions. Please see the Guidelines for Conducting Cost Analysis 
[APPENDIX H4]. 
 
Small Purchases 
A comparison with other offers shall generally be sufficient determination of the reasonableness of price 
and no further analysis is required. If a reasonable number of quotes are not obtained to establish 
reasonableness through price competition, the Grants Accounting Specialist shall document price 
reasonableness through other means, such as prior purchases of this nature, catalog prices, the Grants 
Accounting Specialist’s personal knowledge at the time of purchase, comparison to the ICE, or any other 
reasonable basis. 
 
Sealed Bids 
The presence of adequate competition should generally be sufficient to establish price reasonableness. 
Where sufficient bids are not received, and when the bid received is substantially more than the ICE, and 
where the City cannot reasonably determine price reasonableness, the City must conduct a cost analysis, 
consistent with federal guidelines, to ensure that the price paid is reasonable. 
 
Competitive Proposals 
The presence of adequate competition should generally be sufficient to establish price reasonableness. 
Where sufficient bids are not received, the City must compare the price with the ICE. For competitive 
proposals where prices cannot be easily compared among offerors, where there is not adequate 
competition, or where the price is substantially greater than the ICE, the City must conduct a cost analysis, 
consistent with Federal guidelines, to ensure that the price paid is reasonable. 
 
Contract Modifications 
A cost analysis, consistent with federal guidelines, shall be conducted for all contract modifications for 
projects that were procured through Sealed Bids, Competitive Proposals, or Non-Competitive Proposals, 
or for projects originally procured through Small Purchase procedures and the amount of the contract 
modification will result in a total contract price in excess of $100,000. 



  

47 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

10.7 BONDING REQUIREMENTS 

The standards under this section apply to construction contracts that exceed $100,000. There are no 
bonding requirements for small purchases or for competitive proposals. The City may require bonds in 
these latter circumstances when deemed appropriate; however, non-construction contracts should 
generally not require bid bonds. 
 

A. Bid Bonds. For construction contracts exceeding $100,000, offerors shall be required to submit a 
bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to 5% of the bid price. 

B. Payment Bonds. For construction contracts exceeding $100,000, the successful bidder shall 
furnish an assurance of completion. This assurance may be any one of the following four: 

1.  A performance and payment bond in a penal sum of 100% of the contract price; or 
2.   Separate performance and payment bonds, each for 50 % or more of the contract    
      price; or 
3.   A 20% cash escrow; or 
4.   A 25 % irrevocable letter of credit. 

C. These bonds must be obtained from guarantee or surety companies acceptable to the U. S. 
Government and authorized to do business in the State where the work is to be performed. 
Individual sureties shall not be considered. U.S. Treasury Circular Number 570 lists companies 
approved to act as sureties on bonds securing Government contracts, the maximum underwriting 
limits on each contract bonded, and the States in which the company is licensed to do business. 
Use of companies on this circular is mandatory. 

10.8 CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND DUTIES 

Contractor Responsibility 
The City shall not award any contract until the prospective contractor, i.e., low responsive bidder, or 
successful offeror, has been determined to be responsible. A responsible bidder/offeror must: 

A. Have adequate financial resources to perform the contract, or the ability to obtain them; 
B. Be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery or performance schedule, taking into 

consideration all the bidder’s/offeror’s existing commercial and governmental business 
commitments; 

C. Have a satisfactory performance record; 
D. Have a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics; 
E. Have the necessary organization, experience, accounting and operational controls, and technical 

skills, or the ability to obtain them; 
F. Have the necessary production, construction, and technical equipment and facilities, or the ability 

to obtain them; and, 
G. Be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award under applicable laws and regulations, 

including not be suspended, debarred or under a HUD-imposed Limited Denial of Participation. 
If a prospective contractor is found to be non-responsible, a written determination of non-responsibility 
shall be prepared and included in the official contract file, and the prospective contractor shall be advised 
of the reasons for the determination. 

 
 



  

48 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Suspension and Debarment   
Contracts shall not be awarded to debarred, suspended, or ineligible contractors. Contractors may be 
suspended, debarred, or determined to be ineligible with HUD regulations (24 CFR 570.609) or by other 
Federal agencies, e.g., Department of Labor for violation of labor regulations, when necessary to protect 
housing authorities in their business dealings. 

10.9 CONTRACT PRICING ARRANGEMENTS 

Contract Types 
Any type of contract which is appropriate to the procurement and which will promote the best interests 
of the City may be used, provided the cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost and percentage-of-construction-cost 
methods are not used. All solicitations and contracts shall include the clauses and provisions necessary to 
define the rights and responsibilities of both the contractor and the City.  Further, the contract must 
include a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. 

 
Options    
Options for additional quantities or performance periods may be included in contracts, provided that:   

A. The option is contained in the solicitation; 
B. The option is a unilateral right of the Authority;  
C. The contract states a limit on the additional quantities and the overall term of the contract;  
D. The options are evaluated as part of the initial competition;  
E. The contract states the period within which the options may be exercised;  
F. The options may be exercised only at the price specified in or reasonably determinable from the 

contract; and  
G. The options may be exercised only if determined to be more advantageous to the City than 

conducting a new procurement. 

10.10 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

The contract provisions found in 24 CFR 85.36(i) shall be included in all HUD related procurement 
contracts entered into by the City. [APPENDIX H3] 
 

10.11 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

The City shall maintain a system of contract administration designed to ensure that contractors perform 
in accordance with their contracts. These systems shall provide for inspection of supplies, services, or 
construction, as well as monitoring contractor performance, status reporting on major projects including 
construction contracts, and similar matters. For cost-reimbursement contracts, costs are allowable only 
to the extent: that they are consistent with the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, 24 CFR Par 85.36, 
and 24CFR 85.40. 

10.12 SPECIFICATIONS 

General 
All specifications shall be drafted so as to promote overall economy for the purpose intended and to 
encourage competition in satisfying City needs. Specifications shall be reviewed prior to issuing any 



  

49 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

solicitation to ensure that they are not unduly restrictive or represent unnecessary or duplicative items. 
Function or performance specifications are preferred. Detailed product specifications shall be avoided 
whenever possible. Consideration shall be given to consolidating or breaking out procurements to obtain 
a more economical purchase. For equipment purchases, a lease versus purchase analysis should be 
performed to determine the most economical form of procurement. 
 
Limitation 
The following types of specifications shall be avoided: 

A. Geographic restrictions not mandated or encouraged by applicable Federal law (except for A/E 
contracts, which may include geographic location as a selection factor if adequate competition is 
available).  

B. Brand name specifications (unless the specifications list the minimum essential characteristics and 
standards to which the item must conform to satisfy its intended use).  

Nothing in this procurement policy shall preempt any State licensing laws. Specifications shall be reviewed 
to ensure that organizational conflicts of interest do not occur. 

10.13 APPEALS AND REMEDIES 

General    
It is City policy to resolve all contractual issues informally and without litigation. Disputes will not be 
referred to HUD unless all administrative remedies have been exhausted. When appropriate, a mediator 
may be used to help resolve differences.  
 
Informal Appeals Procedure  
The City shall adopt an informal bid protest or appeal procedure for contracts of $100,000 or less. Under 
these procedures, the bidder orcontractor may request to meet with the appropriate Contract Officer.  
 
Formal Appeals Procedure  
A formal appeals procedure shall be established for solicitations or contracts of more than $100,000. 

A. Bid Protest. Any actual or prospective contractor may protest the solicitation or award of a 
contract for serious violations of the principles of this Policy. Any protest against a solicitation 
must be received before the due date for the receipt of bids or proposals, and any protest against 
the award of a contract must be received within ten (10) calendar days after the contract receives 
notice of the contract award, or the protest will not be considered. All protests shall be in writing, 
submitted to the Contracting Officer or designee, who shall issue a written decision on the matter. 
The Contracting Officer may, at his/her discretion, suspend the procurement pending resolution 
of the protest if the facts presented so warrant. 

B. Contractor Claims. All claims by a contractor relating to performance of a contract shall be 
submitted in writing to the Contracting Officer for a written decision. The contractor may request 
a conference on the claim. The Contracting Officer’s decision shall inform the contractor of its 
appeal rights to the next higher level of authority in the City.  

 
 
 
 



  

50 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

ASSISTANCE TO SMALL AND OTHER BUSINESSES  
Required Efforts 
Consistent with Presidential Executive Orders 11625, 12138, and 12432, and Section 3 of the HUD Act of 
1968, all feasible efforts shall be made to ensure that small businesses and MBE/WBE and other 
individuals or firms located in or owned in substantial part by persons residing in the area of the City 
project are used when possible. Such efforts shall include, but shall not be limited to: 
 

A. Including such firms, when qualified, on solicitation mailing lists; 
B. Encouraging their participation through direct solicitation of bids or proposals whenever they are 

potential sources; 
C. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to permit 

maximum participation by such firms; 
D. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage participation 

by such firms; 
E. Using the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration, and the Minority Business 

Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; 
F. Including in contracts, to the greatest extent feasible, a clause requiring contractors, to provide 

opportunities for training and employment for lower income residents of the project area and to 
award subcontracts for work in connection with the project to business concerns which provide 
opportunities to low-income residents, as described in 24 CFR Part 135 (so called Section 3 
businesses); and 

G. Requiring prime contractors, when subcontracting is anticipated, to take the positive steps listed 
above. 

 
Goals shall be established periodically for participation by small businesses, MBE/WBE, labor surplus area 
businesses, and Section 3 business concerns in City prime contracts and subcontracting opportunities. 

10.14 COUNCIL APPROVAL OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS 

The City Council approves this procurement policy, contracts, and payments. It is the responsibility of the 
CED Director to ensure that all procurement actions are conducted in accordance with the policies 
contained herein. 

10.15 DELEGATION OF CONTRACTING AUTHORITY 

While the CED Director is responsible for ensuring that the City’s procurements comply with this 
procurement policy, the CED Director may delegate all procurement authority as is necessary and 
appropriate to conduct the business of the City. 
 
DOCUMENTATION 
The City must maintain records sufficient to detail the significant history of each procurement action. 
These records shall include, but shall not necessarily be limited to, the following: 

A. Rationale for the method of procurement (if not self-evident); 
B. Rationale of contract pricing arrangement (also if not self-evident);  
C. Reason for accepting or rejecting the bids or offers; 
D. Basis for the contract price (as prescribed in this handbook); 



  

51 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

E. A copy of the contract documents awarded or issued and signed by the Contracting 
Officer; 

F. Basis for contract modifications; and 
G. Related contract administration actions. 

 
The level of documentation should be commensurate with the value of the procurement. Records are to 
be retained for a period of three years after final payment and all matters pertaining to the contact are 
closed. 

10.16 DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY 

Property no longer necessary for the City's purposes (non-real property) shall be transferred, sold, or 
disposed of in accordance with applicable Federal, state, and local laws and regulations. 

10.17 FUNDING AVAILABILITY 

Before initiating any contract, the City shall ensure that there are sufficient funds available to cover the 
anticipated cost of the contract or modification. 
 

SECTION 11 – REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
HUD requires the City to report quarterly and annually regarding the use of CDBG funds. Therefore, the 

City will require all subrecipient agencies to submit information quarterly and annually stating progress 

towards the use of CDBG funds. 

Subrecipient agencies must use the current Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Report [APPENDIX E4]. The 

Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Report must be submitted within ten (10) calendar days of the end of 

each quarter. The forms should be internally consistent with each other. Additionally, the Quarter 4 

Progress Report will record activity for the year cumulatively and serve as the Final Closeout Progress 

Report. The Final Closeout report will be due on October 15 

11.1. REPORT TIMELINESS 

To make sure that each subrecipient is able to complete its report on a timely basis, the City shall: 

 Make sure each subrecipient has a system set up to record participants’ income information, race 

information, and household size. 

 Provide technical advice in the completion of the Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Report. 

 The City shall require all subrecipients must submit summaries of participant data on a quarterly 

basis. The CDBG Report calendar is as follows 

o Quarter 1 – October through December  Report Due January 10 

o Quarter 2 – January through March  Report Due April 10 

o Quarter 3 – April through June   Report Due July 10 

o Final Report – October through September Report Due October 15 



  

52 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

11.2. DOCUMENTING INCOME  

When applicable, HUD requires documentation to verify income of households served. Different activities 

and type of income require different documentation standards. 

Activities Documentation Required    Self-Certification Allowed 
Business Assistance (Owner-eligible)    Public Service programs 
Micro-assistance       Public Facility projects 
Housing Rehabilitation Activities     Employees (hired or retained) 
Homebuyer Assistance Activities     through Business Assistance 
 
Income Type   Income Type Term  Income Type Employment Examples  
Stable Income   Three consecutive months  Salaried workers, full or part-time 

    of income documentation  workers  
with stable hours 

 
 
Irregular Income   12 months of income   Self-employed, teachers, and 

documentation   seasonal workers 
 
  
No Income  Checking account statements should be reviewed if an applicatint states they have no 

income. Frequent deposits may mean there is income. It is important to note if the 
household expenses are paid and current or if they remain unpaid. 

 

11.3. REPORT REVIEWS  

All submitted reports are subject to review, and acceptance of that information is tentative pending 

verification by CED staff. 

On a quarterly basis, the CED staff shall determine:  

 if the reports are submitted on a timely basis (on or before the 15th day of each month);  

 if reports are completed in a satisfactory manner (no issues with totals reported and missing 
information);  

 whether cumulative totals match the totals noted in CDBG records, if applicable;  

 if the subrecipient is significantly behind schedule or the provision of services listed in the 
executed agreement; and  

 whether technical assistance shall need to be provided to the subrecipient and its staff. 
The City reserves the right to delay processing Requests for Reimbursement until all Subrecipient 

Quarterly Progress Reports and demographic information have been submitted. 

For non-compliance issues identified in Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Reports, CED staff shall request 

the subrecipient to address such issues.  

 



  

53 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

11.5. MAINTAINING RECORDS 

The City will require that all subrecipients, maintain adequate records with regard to their CDBG projects.  

The City shall maintain a file for each project and organizationincluding the following information.   

Project File Maintenance:  

 Construction Checklist [APPENDIX H5] 

 Bid Results [APPENDIX H6] 

 Pre-Construction Conference Record [APPENDIX H7] 

Subrecipient Public Service Agencies File Maintenance: 

 File Maintenance Checklist [APPENDIX I1] 

 Activity Description Sheet [APPENDIX I2] 

 Limited Clientele Worksheet [APPENDIX I3] 

11.5.1. GENERAL RECORDS  

Maintenance of adequate documentation for CDBG funded activities is critical to the effectiveness and 

overall performance of a program. Adequate documentation includes:  

a. What information needs to be collected and why;  

b. When that information should be collected (and how often);  

c. How the information should be acquired, organized, and stored;  

d. How the information should be reported; and  

e. How long to retain such records.  

All subrecipient agencies shall maintain, and require their subcontractors to maintain, all administrative 

and program records required in connection with the provision of activities or services required by the 

scope of work of the executed Agreement.  

Such records shall minimally include:  

 Records providing a full description of the activity undertaken;  

 Records demonstrating that the  activity undertaken meets the National Objective of the CDBG 

Program that is listed in the executed Agreement;  

 Records required to document the acquisition, improvement, use or disposition of real property 

acquired or improved with CDBG funds;  

 Records documenting compliance with the Fair Housing, Section 504 and equal opportunity 

components of the CDBG Program;  

 Other records necessary to document compliance with Subpart K of 24 CFR 570.  

Agencies may maintain any additional records that it deems to be appropriate. However, such additional 

records should not replace any of the CDBG program required records.  



  

54 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

11.5.2. PROGRAM RECORDS  

Agencies shall maintain project data collection systems that clearly demonstrate the subrecipient 

capability of having project activities and services tracked and validated. Agencies are required to 

maintain verifiable records on clients and client services. Program records maintained must document 

compliance with the CDBG eligibility criteria specified by HUD guidelines. Hard copies must be available 

to support reliable internal controls over client records. The following represents specific records to be 

maintained for various types of projects:  

Construction Projects  

Project files shall minimally include:  

a. If leased property, documentation of owner’s approval of the proposed improvements;  

b. Bid documents, including documentation of contractor solicitation and selection;  

c. Permits, as applicable;  

d. Compliance with Lead-Based Paint requirements, if applicable;  

e. HUD wage determination;  

f. Photo of Davis-Bacon Poster on display; 

g. Weekly HUD certified payroll sheets;  

h. Payroll deduction authorizations;  

i. Employee field interviews;  

j. Progress and final inspections, including documentation of the subrecipient’s periodic on-site 

inspections and final inspection;  

k. Approved change orders;  

l. Records of disbursements made for completed and approved work (Subrecipient should ensure 

that data in the project file agrees with financial records);  

m. Pre- and Post-construction photos of CDBG-funded work completed;  

n. Notice to Proceed (original copy); and  

o. Notice of Completion (original copy).  

Acquisition Projects  

Project files shall minimally include:  

a. Identification of property and property owner(s);  

b. Evidence that owner was informed on a timely basis about the acquisition and his or her rights 

(copy of letter and acknowledgement of receipt);  

c. Copy of each appraisal report or the explanation of the basis for the estimate of fair market value;  

d. Copy of the written purchase offer and the date of delivery to the owner;  

e. Copy of the purchase contract and document conveying the property including, but not limited 

to, evidence of liens to secure loans;  

f. Copy of closing statement identifying incidental expenses and evidence that owner received net 

proceeds due from sale including, but not limited to:  



  

55 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

1. Evidence of any owner contribution or private loan match; 

2. Underwriting costs; and 

g. Copy of any appeal or complaint filed and subrecipient response.  

Minor Residential Rehabilitation Projects  

For minor residential rehabilitation activities conducted, subrecipient project files shall minimally include:  

a. Procedures for determining the households to be served through the approved project;  

b. Identification of property, property owner(s), and renter(s) as applicable;  

c. If renter-occupied household, evidence of owner approval of work to be completed; 

d. Compliance with Lead-Based Paint requirements, if applicable;  

e. Permits, as applicable;  

f. Detailed description of work to be completed with CDBG funds for each household served, 

including location of the work to be performed (such as bedroom, kitchen, or bathroom);  

g. If Davis-Bacon requirements apply:  

a. HUD wage determination;  

b. weekly HUD certified payroll sheets;  

c. payroll deduction authorizations;  

d. employee field interviews;  

h. Documentation of all individuals completing the work, separating labor charged to the CDBG 

Agreement and the labor not charged to the CDBG Agreement; and  

i. Pre- and Post-construction photos of CDBG-funded work completed.  

Nonprofit Organizational Capacity Building and Technical Assistance Projects  

Subrecipient project files shall minimally include:  

a. Procedures for determining the nonprofit agencies to be served through the approved project;  

b. Identification of each nonprofit agency to be served (such as name, location, target population 

served, services, and programs available to target population);  

c. Date, type, and method of all client contacts and contacts made on behalf of the client; and  

d. Detailed description of assessed needs of each nonprofit agency to be addressed through project 

services, the anticipated result of the services to be provided, the timeline for completion of 

services, the actual services provided, and the actual result of the services provided.  

Direct Financial Assistance Projects  

Subrecipient project files shall minimally include,  

a. Procedures for determining the clients to be served through the approved project;  

b. Detailed description of the actual project services provided;  

c. Date, type, and method of all client contacts and contacts made on behalf of the client;  

d. Loan documents, as applicable; and  



  

56 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

e. Information regarding the total number of grants and loans executed, including type of loan 

(amortized or deferred), loan amount, average interest rate, and amortization period as 

applicable.  

Direct Client Services Projects  

Agencies that provide direct individual client services shall keep a record on each client served by the 

project under the Agreement. The actual design of the project data system is at the discretion of the 

subrecipient agencies. However, the project data system shall minimally include the following at the 

minimum:  

Primary Records  

Records shall be maintained by the project to record services provided directly to, or on behalf of, the 

project client. Primary records are typically the client case files. All client case files maintained by the 

project shall be clearly identified as “CDBG Files” and must not be reported to any other funding 

source with regard to the services listed in the City Agreement. All projects providing direct client 

services shall have primary records containing that contain the following information on clients 

receiving services as applicable client:  

a. Name  

b. Project identification number; 

c. Referring agency when applicable; 

d. Client’s family size; 

e. Client's head of household status; 

f. Client's gender; 

g. Client's ethnic origin;  

h. Client's parent's name, when applicable;  

i. Client's address;  

j. Client's phone number and message number, if available;  

k. Client's age or date of birth;  

l. Client's annual or monthly income, or that of the family if client is a dependent; 

m. Problem statement;  

n. Proposed description of services to be provided; 

o. Date, type, and method of all client contacts and contacts made on behalf of the client;  

p. Approximate length of each contact;  

q. Reassessment of client's problem (halfway through services) to determine how well client is 

responding to services;  

r. Termination date; 

s. Reason for termination;  

t. Planned follow-up date(s); and 



  

57 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

u. Actual follow-up date(s) and outcome of follow-up contact: follow-up shall be attempted on 

all clients after termination of client services, unless otherwise stipulated in the Scope of 

Services. 

Secondary Records  

Examples of secondary records are project logs, sign-in or attendance sheets, and appointment book. 

Agencies that do not provide direct services to individual clients shall maintain secondary records to 

document the services provided to the targeted population. Agencies providing services in group 

settings shall also maintain secondary records. In addition, written records documenting project 

volunteer activities shall be maintained as secondary records.  

Microenterprise Assistance Projects  

Subrecipient project files shall minimally include:  

a. The number new businesses assisted;  

b. The number of existing businesses assisted;  

c. Of the number of existing businesses assisted; 

i. the number of businesses expanding;  

ii. the number of businesses relocating;  

d. The number of businesses assisted that provide goods or services to meet the needs of a service 

area, neighborhood, or community; and  

e. The name of business, number of employees and DUNS numbers of each microenterprise 

business assisted.  

For other projects in which client records are not required, agencies shall maintain documentation to 

support activities and services provided to the target population as specified and identified in the 

executed Agreement. 

All Program Records shall be subject to scheduled and unscheduled reviews by CED staff, and acceptance 

of information submitted in quarterly reports is tentative pending verification acquired by the review of 

project records. 

SECTION 12 – FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES PROCEDURES 

12.1. ADMINISTRATION AND ACTIVITIES  

The CED staff are responsible for overall financial management of the CDBG program. Generally, this 

includes the following: 

 Adherence to federal administrative requirements, including OMB circulars and HUD program 

regulations; 

 Oversee the annual budgeting process whereby CDBG funds are allocated to activities; 



  

58 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Obtain the annual HUD Release of Funds at the beginning of each Program Year. 

 Establish accounts for all CDBG activities that have been approved in the AAP; 

 Approve all check and draw requests for CDBG funding; 

 Draw funds from the U.S. Treasury through a computerized transaction system known as IDIS; 

and 

 Oversee the receipt and expenditure of CDBG Program Income according to HUD regulations and 

maintain accounting reports and records on all projects and programs and report status and 

activities on the HUD IDIS and other systems. 

12.2. UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 
All subrecipient must maintain controls to ensure compliance with the requirements of OMB circular A-

133. Audit requirements are invoked when a certain level of federal funds are expended in a given fiscal 

year. Subrecipient expending less than $500,000 in federal funds will not be subject to single audit 

requirements.  CED staff will perform the following annual oversight activities: 

 Request annual audits and financial reports of subrecipient no later than July 30th of each year. 

 Compare the CED  accounting records with federal receipts and expenditures in the subrecipients’ 

reports, and review audit findings and other financial conclusions within the reports. 

 Identify any follow-up and corrective actions on audit findings or other financial reporting issues. 

 Assess all subrecipients’ ability to complete follow-up actions prior to its submission of the 

following year’s APP. 

All subrecipients must also comply with OMB Circular A-87 which establishes principles and standards for 

determining allowable costs under federal programs. Subrecipients assume responsibility for 

administering federal funds in a manner consistent with the terms and conditions of the federal award 

and with underlying agreements. The following need to be completed and maintained in the CDBG 

subrecipient public services files: 

 A-133 Audit Public Services Certification [APPENDIX J1] 

  A-133 Audit Review Checklist [APPENDIX J2] 

 A-133 Audit Findings Letter [APPENDIX J3] 

 A-133 Letter to Auditee Management Decision [APPENDIX J4] 

12.3. REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURES 

12.3.1. REIMBURSEMENT PROCESS 

Reimbursements may be requested periodically through the project implementation stages, or one may 

be requested for the full project at time of completion. Quarterly Porgress Reports must be current. The 

Final Closeout Progress Report must be completed and submitted with a final reimbursement request.  

CDBG funds are paid by check from the City. To request a reimbursement, a subrecipient must submit a 

Request for Reimbursement Form  [APPENDIX E5].  



  

59 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

12.3.2. REPORTING PROCEDURES  

Status reports are required from all subrecipients according to the subrecipient agreements. 

Two reports are required as follows: 

 Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Reports are due every three months as a progress narrative. 

 Subrecipient Closeout Report is due at the end of each CDBG activity. The Quarterly Report Form 

[APPENDIX 4]  will be utilized but will include cumulative data for the entire project period 

12.4. SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT AMENDMENTS  

 All subrecipient amendments must be submitted to the CED Department in writing. Once an Agreement 

Amendment Request [APPENDIX E2] is received by the CED Department, CED staff provide the 

subrecipient with a Subrecipient Agreement Amendment [APPENDIX E6].  

12.5. RETENTION OF RECORDS 

As a general rule, records are to be retained for at least four (4) years after last expenditure report is 

submitted (i.e., 4 years after submission of the Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report 

[CAPER] in which activity is reported as complete). 

 

SECTION 13 – MONITORING 
HUD requires monitoring of subrecipient agencies on an annual basis. Monitoring is an on-going process 

of reviewing performance using subrecipient data and to assist in improving that performance, if 

applicable.  

The fiscal and program compliance monitoring performed by CED staff is different from an annual audit. 

The subrecipient is encouraged to discuss issues about the program or fiscal requirements. To meet HUD 

requirements, the City shall periodically monitor records of subrecipients, typically one to two times per 

year.  

CED staff monitoring visits at subrecipient sites will occur during the project period to: 

 complete the Subrecipient Montiroing Checklist [APPENDIX E7] 

 observe operations or construction status;  

 provide technical assistance; 

 review service delivery or construction processes; 

 review documentation to ensure compliance with agreement; 

 review administrative and financial records to audit; 

 monitor subrecipients’ performance. 

  



  

60 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

13.1. MONITORING SITE VISITS  

Within 30 days, the City will complete a montiroing report identifying the results of the monitoring with 

any concerns or corrective actions. Follow-up visits may be conducted, as required; to ensure compliance 

issues were addressed satisfactorily.  

13.2. PROGRAM MONITORING 

13.2.1. PROGRAM MONITORING GOALS 

1. To review subrecipients to determine if services are being delivered in accordance with 

Agreement requirements as to type of services and number of units of services. 

2. To review records of subrecipients to determine if systems are in place to properly document 

the client eligibility, provision of services, and compliance with any other Agreement 

requirements.  

3. To determine if the prior year’s monitoring findings have been corrected and are not being 

repeated.  

13.2.2. PROGRAM MONITORING PROCESS 

The designated CED staff shall contact the subrecipient to schedule a monitoring visit. The City will inform 

the subrecipient of the records to be reviewed. These records should be ready for review at the scheduled 

montiroing. Agencies shall ensure that a working space is set up for the CED staff to complete the 

monitoring visit.  

The CED staff shall meet with the subrecipient staff to answer any questions regarding the monitoring 

process. CED staff shall review records selected for monitoring and discuss record keeping methods with 

agency staff responsible for maintaining them. Blank copies of program documents utilized by the 

subrecipient may be requested as applicable. Records that may be reviewed include, but are not limited 

to:  

 Programmatic reports sent to the City for the period under review; 

 Daily logs, time sheets, or other documents used to determine the number of units reported; and 

 A list of clients served during the agreement period. A sample of client records from this list may 

be requested for review. These client records should include eligibility documentation and records 

of services provided.  

In addition, individual client files shall be reviewed, as applicable, for:  

 Documentation of eligibility, including City residency and annual income verifications;  

 Documentation of the provision of services per the terms of the Agreement;  

 Determination of whether the date of service and type of service provided that are listed in logs, 

spreadsheets and databases are also recorded in the client files;  



  

61 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Determine whether client notes are dated, reflect the service units provided, include subrecipient 

staff signatures, are complete and documents the client’s progress; and  

 Determine whether files are complete and properly maintained.  

At the conclusion of the monitoring visit, CED staff shall discuss the monitoring results and answer any 

questions. Observations made during the monitoring visit shall be discussed. If there are concerns or 

findings, corrective actions needed to address each concern or finding shall be discussed. Technical 

assistance shall be offered, where applicable.  

The subrecipient shall submit a written response to the monitoring report within thirty (30) calendar days 

after receipt of a monitoring report only if there are concerns or findings. The response should be 

addressed to the CED Director and include the following:  

a. A response to each individual concern issued; and  

b. Copies of any documentation needed to support the response to the concerns as applicable.  

Upon receipt of the subrecipient response to the monitoring report, CED staff shall review the response 

to determine whether the concerns or findings have been satisfactorily addressed. Determinations on 

whether subrecipient responses were satisfactory shall be forwarded to the CED Director for final 

approval. A written response to the subrecipient’s response shall be sent to the subrecipient by the CED 

Director   

13.3. FISCAL MONITORING 

13.3.1. FISCAL MONITORING REQUIREMENTS  

A subrecipient is responsible for ensuring that all CDBG funds are used in accordance with all financial 

management guidelines, fiscal policies and reporting. The purpose of these requirements is to ensure that 

a subrecipient receiving federal funds has a financial management system sufficient to:  

a. Provide effective control over and accountability for all funds, property and other assets;  

b. Identify the source and application of funds for federally-sponsored activities assuring 

reasonableness, allow ability, and allocability of costs;  

c. Verify that the funds have not been used in violation of any of the restrictions or prohibitions that 

apply to this federal assistance;  

d. Assure the accurate, complete, and timely disclosure of financial results is in accordance with the 

reporting requirements of the grantee or HUD; and 

e. Review the prior site visit monitoring finding to determine if the subrecipient has implemented 

the suggested changes for compliance of CDBG.  

 



  

62 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDICES: FORMS AND REPORTS 
Appendix A1: Notice of Annual Action Plan Public Hearing  

Appendix A2: Notice of Annual Action Plan Draft Availability  

Appendix A3: Notice of Annual Action Plan Information Availability 

Appendix A4: Notice of Citizen Participation Plan Amendment Availability 

Appendix A5:  Notice of CAPER Public Hearing 

Appendix A6:  Notice of CAPER Draft Availability 

Appendix B:  List of Public Services Agencies 

Appendix C1: Public Service Annual Action Plan Email 

Appendix C2:  Request for Annual Action Plan Comments 

Appendix C3: Public Services Notice of Funding Availability 

Appendix C4: Public Services Funding Detail 

Appendix C5: Public Service Activities Application 

Appendix C6:  Action Plan Development Process 

Appendix C7: Required Certifications for Public Services 

Appendix D1: Public Service Activities Application Scoring 

Appendix D2: Public Service Agencies Determination Letter 

Appendix E1: Subrecipient Agreement 

Appendix E2: Subrecipient Resource Materials 

Appendix E3 Subrecipient Agreement Amendment Request 

Appendix E4: Subrecipient Quarterly Progress Report 

Appendix E5: Subrecipient Reimbursement Request 

Appendix E6: Subrecipient Monitoring Checklist 

Appendix F1:  Conflict of Interest Disclosure Notice 

Appendix F2: Conflict of Interest Questionnaire 

Appendix F3: Conflict of Interest Determination 

Appendix G1: Exempt Determination for Activities Listed at 24 CFR 58.34 

Appendix G2: Categorical Exclusion Not Subject to 24 CFR 58.5 

Appendix G3: Documentation of Compliance with 24 CFR 58.35b 

Appendix G4: Categorical Exclusion Subject to 24 CFR 58.5 

Appendix G5: 8 Step Decision Making Process Pursuant to EO 11988 

Appendix G6: Environmental Review for Project that is Categorically Subject to Section 58.5 

Appendix G7: U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Environmental Review Request 

Appendix G8: Mississippi Department of Archives and History Service Environmental Review Request 

Appendix G9: Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians Service Environmental Review Request 

Appendix G10: Mississippi Department of Marine Resources Service Environmental Review Request 

Appendix G11: Environmental Assessment Form 

Appendix G12: NEPA Environmental Assessment Checklist 



  

63 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Appendix G13: Finding of No Significant Impact and Notice of Intent 

Appendix G14: Request Release of Funds Form and Certification 

Appendix H1: Procurement Flow Chart 

Appendix H2: CDBG Projects Mini-guide for Engineers 

Appendix H3: Mandatory Procurement Contract Clauses 

Appendix H4: Guidelines for Conducting Cost Analysis 

Appendix H5: Construction Checklist 

Appendix H6: Bid Results 

Appendix H7: Pre-construction Conference Record 

Appendix I1: File Maintenance Checklist 

Appendix I2: Limited Clientele Worksheet 

Appendix I3: Activity Description Sheet 

Appendix J1: A-133 Audit Public Services Certification 

Appendix J2: A-133 Audit Review Checklist 

Appendix J3: A-133 Audit Findings Letter 

Appendix J4:  A-133 Letter to Auditee Management Decision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  

64 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A1: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN HEARING 

 

Notice is hereby given that the City of Pascagoula will conduct a public hearing for the purpose of affording 

residents an opportunity to provide input and participate in the planning, development and 

implementation of the (insert fiscal year) One-Year Action Plan. 

The One-Year Action Plan, a component of the City of Pascagoula’s Five-Year Consolidated Plan, is a 

coordinated and cooperative effort of the City of Pascagoula, other local governments, the Mississippi 

Regional Housing Authority, social service agencies, private groups, non-profit organizations, and other 

interested residents, is a required document of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD). The Consolidated Plan combines the requirements of the following four HUD Community Planning 

and Development formula grants: 

- Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

- Home Investment Partnership (HOME) 

- Emergency Shelter Grants (ESG) 

- Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS (HOPWA) 

The hearing will be held on (insert date), in the City Council Chambers located at 603 Watts Avenue in 

Pascagoula. 

All interested parties are urged to attend, particularly those of low, very low and extremely low income, 

minorities, residents of public housing and those with disabilities. 

For questions, please contact the Community and Economic Development Department at (228) 938-6639. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 for 

accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, pongase 

en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

To be Published: (insert date), Non-Legal, in the Sun Herald. 

 

  



  

65 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A2: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN DRAFT AVAILABILITY 

 

Notice is hereby given that the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi has prepared a draft of its (insert fiscal year) 

One-Year Action Plan for its Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Programs. 

Pascagoula is an entitlement city under the CDBG Program and, therefore, expects to receive an allocation 

of approximately (insert funding amount) from HUD in (insert fiscal year).  

The (insert fiscal year) One-Year Action Plan is a component of the City of Pascagoula’s (insert fiscal year 

period) Five-Year Consolidated Plan. It is a coordinated and cooperative effort of the City of Pascagoula, 

other local governments, the Region VIII Housing Authority, social service agencies, private groups, non-

profit organizations, and citizens interested in identifying the housing and community development needs 

of the low and moderate income persons of Pascagoula and developing a strategy and plan for meeting 

those needs. The (insert fiscal year) Action Plan sets forth activities to be carried out with CDBG funds 

during the period between (insert activity(s) period). The (insert fiscal year) One-Year Action Plan is 

available for public review at the following locations: 

- City of Pascagoula, Department of Community and Economic Development 

- City Hall in Pascagoula 

- The Pascagoula Library 

Oral or written comments will be received for at least thirty (30) calendar days from the date of publication 

of this notice and can be submitted until 4:30PM on (insert date) to the Pascagoula Community 

Development Office at 630 Delmas Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567. 

For additional information pertaining to the (insert fiscal year) Action Plan, contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department at (228) 938-6639. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 for 

accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, pongase 

en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

To be Published One (1) Time, Non-Legal, on (insert date) in the Sun Herald.  

 

  



  

66 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A3: NOTICE OF ANNUAL ACTION PLAN INFORMATION AVAILABILITY 

 

Notice is hereby given that information relative to the planning, development and implementation of 

Pascagoula’s (insert fiscal year) One-Year Action Plan Component of the Consolidated Plan for Housing 

and Community Development required by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development is 

available for review. 

Information and documents available include but are not limited to the following: 

- CDBG General Program rules and Regulations; 

- Citizen Participation Plan for the Consolidated Plan; and 

- A Residential Anti-Displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan for the City of Pascagoula. 

Information listed above and other records relative to the One-Year Action Plan are available at the 

Department of Communication Development of the City of Pascagoula located at 630 Delmas Avenue 

between the hours of 9:00 AM and 4:30 PM, Monday-Friday. Information relative to the planning of the 

Consolidated Plan and the Action Plan is available for a period of at least five (5) years. Please contact the 

Community and Economic Development Department at (228) 938-6639 for further information. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 

for accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, 

pongase en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

 

To be published one (1) time, (insert date), in the Sun Herald, Non-Legal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

67 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A4: NOTICE OF CITIZEN PARTICIPATION AMENDMENT AVAILABILITY 

 

Notice is hereby given that the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi has amended its Citizen Participation Plan 

for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. The Citizen Participation Plan aims to 

provide for and encourage citizens to participate in the development of the City of Pascagoula’s 

Consolidated Plan, Annual Action Plan, Substantial Amendments, and Consolidated Annual Performance 

Evaluation Report (CAPER). This plan amends and supersedes the City’s existing Citizen Participation Plan, 

adopted in compliance with the requirements of 24 CFR 91.105. 

The amended Citizen Participation Plan is available for public review at the following locations: 

- City of Pascagoula, Department of Community and Economic Development 

- City Hall in Pascagoula 

- The Public Library 

Oral or written comments will be received for at least thirty (30) calendar days from the date of publication 

of this notice and can be submitted until 4:30PM on (insert date) to the Pascagoula Community 

Development Office at 630 Delmas Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567. 

For additional information pertaining to the amended Citizen Participation Plan, contact the Community 

and Economic Development Department at (228) 938-6639. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 for 

accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, pongase 

en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

To be Published One (1) Time, Non-Legal, on (insert date) in the Sun Herald.  

 

  



  

68 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A5: NOTICE OF CAPER PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Notice is hereby given that the City of Pascagoula will conduct a public hearing for the purpose of affording 

residents an opportunity to allow for participation in the development and implementation of the (insert 

fiscal year) CAPER. 

The hearing will be held on (insert date), at 5:30PM, in the City Council Chambers located at 603 Watts 

Avenue in Pascagoula. 

All interested parties are urged to attend including other local governments, the Mississippi Regional 

Housing Authority, social service agencies, private groups, non-profit organizations, and other interested 

residents, and particularly those of low, very low and extremely low income, minorities, residents of public 

housing and those with disabilities.  

The CAPER will be received by HUD no later than (insert date). Please contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department at (228) 938-6639 for further information, or if you would like to 

receive a copy or make comment on the Performance Report. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 

for accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, 

pongase en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

 

To be Published: (Insert date), Non-Legal, in the Sun Herald 

 

  



  

69 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX A6: NOTICE OF CAPER DRAFT AVAILABILITY 

 
Notice is hereby given that the Community and Economic Development Department of the City of 

Pascagoula, Mississippi has prepared the Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report 

(CAPER) for (insert evaluation period) for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. This 

Report, prepared for the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), includes a summary of 

activities that received CDBG funding during the (insert fiscal year) grant period. The purpose of the CDBG 

program is to meet community and economic development, public service, and housing needs for the City 

of Pascagoula. The City of Pascagoula’s CAPER is available for public review at the following locations: 

- City of Pascagoula, Department of Community and Economic Development 

- City Hall in Pascagoula 

- The Public Library 

Oral or written comments will be received for at least fifteen (15) business days from the date of 

publication of this notice and can be submitted until 4:30PM on (insert fiscal year) to the Pascagoula 

Community and Economic Development Department at 630 Delmas Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 

for accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, 

pongase en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

 

To be Published One (1) Time, Non-Legal, on (date), (insert fiscal year) in the Sun Herald 

 

  



  

70 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX B: LIST OF PUBLIC SERVICE AGENCIES AS OF 4/1/2016 

 

 American Red Cross 

 Asian Americans for Change 

 Association for Sickle Cell Disease 

 Back Bay Mission 

 Boat People SOS 

 Boy Scouts of America - Singing River  

 Boys & Girls Club of Jackson County 

 CASA Mississippi - Jackson County 

 Catholic Charities 

 Child Abuse Prevention Center 

 C.A.N.D.Y. 

 Coastal Plains Interagency 

Coordinating Council - Bright 

Beginnings 

 Community Development 

 Community Development 

 Community Development 

 Community of Christ 

 Church on the Rock 

 De L'Epee Deaf Center 

 Eastlawn United Methodist Church 

 Family Promise 

 First Presbyterian Church 

 Goodwill Industries 

 Greater Antioch Missionary Baptist 

Church 

 G.N.O.F.H.A.C. 

 Gulf Coast Family Counseling Agency 

 G.C.W.C.N. 

 Health & Handicapped Services 

 Homes of Grace 

 Homes of Grace for Women & 

Families 

 Hope Economic Development Agency 

 J.C.C.A.C. 

 Jackson County Dept. of Human 

Services 

 Jackson County Economic 

Development Foundation 

 Jackson County Health Department 

 Oaisis Church 

 Living Independence for Everyone 

 Memorial Hospital Behavioral Health 

 Mississippi Center for Justice 

 Mississippi Center for Legal Services 

 Mississippi Immigrants Rights 

Alliance 

 MS Regional Housing Authority VIII 

 NAACP - Jackson County 

 Navy Marine Corps Relief Society 

 New Beginnings 

 Open Doors Homeless Coalition 

 Our Daily Bread 

 Pascagoula Restitution Center 

 Salvation Army 

 Singing River Mental Health & 

Retardation Services 

 Social Services of Singing River 

Hospital 

 South MS Aids Task Force 

 South MS Home Health 

 Stevens Center Substance Abuse 

 Union Baptist Church 

 United Way Community Center 

 Visions of Hope 

 



  

74 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX C1: PUBLIC SERVICES ANNUAL ACTION PLAN EMAIL 

 

Date 

Name 

Organization 

Address 

City, State Zip 

Dear Salutation and Name: 

The City of Pascagoula is in the initial stages of developing its YEAR One-Year Action Plan for Housing 

and Community Development Programs.  The Plan is being prepared in accordance with the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development rules and regulations.  

The consolidated planning process offers Pascagoula an opportunity to identify and work with citizens 

groups, public agencies, non-profit organizations and others to develop a coordinated program to 

identify development strategies for meeting housing and community development needs and for 

developing programs that will minimize and  eliminate duplication of efforts and insure maximum 

benefit from limited dollars.  

 

Statutes for the programs set forth three basis goals, each of which must primarily benefit low and very 

low-income persons: 

 To provide decent housing; 

 To provide a suitable living environment; and 

 To expand economic opportunities. 
 

Enclosed you will find a copy of the development process, an application for funding consideration and a 

comment sheet.  Your agency is encouraged to submit its application and any comments or concerns 

pertaining to the YEAR Action Plan to the Department of Community Development by Wednesday, May 

15, YEAR.  You can fax applications and comments to (228)938-6637, or mail them to 630 Delmas 

Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39568. 

 

Thank you in advance for assisting the City of Pascagoula with the development of its Annual Action Plan 

for Housing and Community Development. If you have any questions please contact the Grants 

Administrator at (228) 938-6639 or bmeyer@cityofpascagoula.com. 

Sincerely, 

Name 

Director, Community and Economic Development 



  

75 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX C2: REQUEST FOR ANNUAL ACTION PLAN COMMENTS 

 

The City of Pascagoula is in the process of developing its YEAR One-Year Action Plan to apply for 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds for the fiscal year YEAR. Any comments that you may 

have concerning the housing and  community development needs of the City are valued.    

Name: _______________________________  Phone: ____________________________ 

Organization: ____________________________________________________________ 

Address: ________________________________________________________________ 

 

Comments: 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Comments related to this program may be dropped off or mailed to the City of Pascagoula Community 

and Economic Development Department, 630 Delmas Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567, faxed to (228) 938-

6637, or emailed to the Grants Administrator at bmeyer@cityofpascagoula.com. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

76 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX C3: PUBLIC SERVICES NOTICE OF FUNDING AVAILABILITY (NOFA) 

 

The City of Pascagoula’s Community and Economic Development Department is soliciting applications 

from qualified non-profit organizations interested in providing services that address one or more of the 

public service needs targeted in the City’s CDBG program.  Under this program, CDBG funds may be used 

to provide labor, supplies, materials, facility maintenance and operation costs, and other costs for public 

services including, but not limited to, employment services, health services, and services for senior 

citizens and persons experiencing homelessness.  The approximate amount of funding per organization 

is $5,000 with an implementation period of October 1, 2016, to September 30, 2017.  

Interested parties are encouraged to complete the City’s public service application.  Applications will be 

evaluated based on program design and community impact (50 points), experience and capacity (30 

points), scope alignment with City’s Consolidated Plan (15 points), and new organization not previously 

funded (5 points).  Applications are to be received by the Community and Economic Development 

Department located at 630 Delmas Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567, by Friday, April 29, 2016, at 4:00 PM.   

Inquiries:  All inquiries should be submitted in writing no later than Friday, April 22, 2016, at 4:00 PM to 

Beth Meyer by email bmeyer@cityofpascagoula.com or by phone (228) 938-6639.  Answers will be 

posted on the City of Pascagoula website’s CDBG Public Services webpage 

(http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-public-services). 

This Notice of Funding, the Consolidated Plan, and further information can be found at the City of 

Pascagoula website’s CDBG Entitlement Grant webpage (http://cityofpascagoula.com/cdbg-entitlement-

grant). 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 

for accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, 

pongase en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

 

 

 

 

 



  

77 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX C4: PUBLIC SERVICES FUNDING DETAILS 
 

The City of Pascagoula’s Community and Economic Development Department, is soliciting applications 

from qualified non-profit organizations interested in providing services that address one or more of the 

public service needs targeted in the City’s CDBG program. 

 

Scope of Work: 

Under this program, CDBG funds may be used to provide public services (including labor, supplies, 

materials, facility maintenance and operation costs, and other costs). 

Targeted public service activities include, but are not limited to: 

 Employment services (e.g., job training) 

 Crime prevention and public safety 

 Child care 

 Health services 

 Substance abuse services  

(e.g., counseling and treatment) 

 Fair housing efforts 

 Education programs 

 Energy conservation counseling and 

testing 

 Services for senior citizens 

 Services for homeless persons 

 Recreation Services 

 

Completed application must address one or more of the targeted public service needs listed above and 

must serve primarily low to moderate income persons in City of Pascagoula. Funding is not applicable 

outside of Pascagoula.  

Maximum Funding Per Organization: Approximately $5,000 

Implementation Period: October 1, YEAR - September 30, YEAR   
 

Selection and Evaluation Processes: 

The selection process of applications for funding will include a CED staff evaluation and recommendation 

for an award based on the following criteria: 

 Program Design and Community Impact    50 Points 

 Experience and Capacity      30 Points 

 Scope Alignment with Consolidated Plan    15 Points 

 New Organization not previously funded    5 points 
 
Funding Timeline: 
Notice of Funding Publication and Announcement  April 1, YEAR 
Application Deadline      May 1, YEAR 
CED Staff Recommendation to City Council    June YEAR 
Subrecipient Notification     July  YEAR 
Action Plan submitted for HUD approval   August 15, YEAR 
Subrecipient Agreements     September/October YEAR 



  

78 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Contractual Requirements: 

Each grantee selected to receive funds is required to sign an agreement with the City.  Under CDBG laws 

and regulations, certain requirements must be met in order to negotiate an agreement. These 

requirements include the following:  

1. Applicants must demonstrate that they are a nonprofit organization or a governmental agency. 
2. After an application is approved for funding, an agreement will be prepared and sent by the City to 

the identified by the applicant as the authorized official for signature. The agreement will specify the 
amount of the award, the period for which the project is approved, the contract term, administrative 
provisions and any special conditions. 

3. Each agency receiving CDBG funding from the City is required to certify that it will conduct its business 
in compliance with the non-discrimination requirements of the City, State and Federal governments, 
as applicable. Equal Opportunity in Employment policies will be required. 

4. In the event of non-compliance, the agreement may be terminated or suspended in whole or in part.  
5. All recipients will be required to comply with the federal government’s audit requirements as 

described in OMB Circular A-133 (for HUD’s programs, these requirements are codified at 24 CFR Part 
84.)  

 
Contact and Assistance Information: Grants Administrator, City of Pascagoula, 630 Delmas Avenue 

Pascagoula, MS 39567, Phone: (228) 938 – 6639, Fax: (228) 938 - 6637 

All applications must be received by Wednesday, May 1, YEAR, at 4PM.  Late submissions will not be 

accepted. 

This information is available in Spanish or any other language upon request. Please call (228) 372-6997 

for accommodations for this request. 

 Esta informacion esta disponible en espanol o en cualquier atro idioma bajo peticion. Por favor, 

pongase en contacto (228) 372-6997 de alojamiento para esta solicitud. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

79 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX C5: APPLICATION FOR PUBLIC SERVICE ACTIVITIES 

 

Community and Economic Development 

City of Pascagoula 

Attn: CDBG Public Services Application 

630 Delmas Avenue Pascagoula, MS 39567 
 

All applications must be received at the address above by Wednesday, May 1, YEAR.  Contact the Grants 

Administrator (228) 938-6639 with any questions or concerns. 

  Organization Information 

Name of Organization:  

Contact Person and Title:  

Mailing Address:  

Phone:  

Fax:   

Website URL and E-mail:  

Legal Status of Applicant: 

   □    State-Certified CHDO             □     Non-Profit (non-CHDO)             □   Public Housing Authority 

*If applicable, please provide proof of IRS 501(c) 3 status. 

Project Description 

Proposed Project Scope: 

(Identify the need the project is addressing and the 

project’s target population) 

 

Check applicable priority area(s) that the project addresses: 

 Child care 

 Health care 

 Job training 

 Recreation programs 

 Education programs 

 Public safety services 

 Fair housing activities 

 Services for senior citizens  

 Services for homeless persons 

 Drug abuse counseling and treatment 

 Energy conservation counseling and testing 

 Homebuyer down-payment assistance 

 Welfare (as defined by CDBG) 

 Other:________________________ 
 



  

80 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Low to Moderate Income Benefit National Objective: (Please select one of the following) 

 Area Benefit: The public service is offered to ALL residents of an area where at least 51% of the 
residents are low to moderate income.  The area must be clearly delineated and must be 
primarily residential. 

 Limited Clientele: public service benefits a specific targeted group of persons of which at least 
51% must be LMI.  In order to meet this criteria, the activity must: 

 Serve at least 51% LMI, as evidenced by beneficiary family size and income 
documentation or have income-eligibility requirements which limit the service to 
persons meeting the LMI income requirement, as evidenced by agency procedures, 
intake/application forms, income limits, etc.; 

 Serve a group primarily presumed to be LMI such as abused children, battered spouses, 
elderly persons, severely disabled adults, homeless persons, illiterate adults, persons 
living with AIDS, and migrant farm workers; or 

 Be of such a nature and in a location that it may be concluded that the activity’s 
clientele are LMI. 

Project Location and Service Area - Describe the area to be served by the project. If possible, include a 

map with boundaries of service: 

Organizational Capacity 

Please describe organization’s history and prior experience, including a list of similar projects:  

Proposed Budget 

Specific Cost 

Item/Description 

Amount per 

Unit 

Number of Units 

Needed 
Total Amount  

   $ 

Total Amount  

Conflict of Interest Certification: The standards in OMB Circular A-110, Subpart C, provide that no 

employee, officer, or agent shall participate in the selection, award or administration of a contract 

supported by Federal funds if a real or apparent conflict of interest would be involved. Such a conflict 

would arise when an employee, officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or 

her partner, or an organization which employees or is about to employ any of the parties indicated 

herein; has a financial or other interest in the firm selected for an award. 

Are any employees, agents, consultants, officers, family members, or 

elected officials of the agency requesting funds in a position to participate in 

the decision making process for approval of this grant? 

[  ] Yes [  ] No 

Are any employees, agents, consultants, officers, family members, or 

elected officials of the agency requesting funds in a position to gain inside 

information with regard to approval of this application? 

[  ] Yes [  ] No 



  

81 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Will any employees, agents, consultants, officers, family members, or 

elected officials of the agency requesting funds in a position to gain inside 

information with regard to approval of this grant?   

[  ] Yes [  ] No 

Will any employees, agents, consultants, officers, family members, or 

elected officials of the agency requesting funds have an interest in any 

contract, subcontract or agreement with respect to funding this grant, either 

for themselves or those with whom they have family or business ties during 

the YEAR Program Year or one year thereafter?   

[  ] Yes [  ] No 

If you answered YES to any of the above questions, a letter must be submitted that includes the 

following information: 

1. A disclosure of the nature and extent of the conflict; 

2. A description of how public disclosure will be made; and 

3. A qualified attorney’s opinion that the conflict of interest does not violate federal, state, or 

local law. 

If you answered YES to any of the above questions, a letter must be submitted that includes the 

following information: 

1. A disclosure of the nature and extent of the conflict; 

2. A description of how public disclosure will be made; and 

3. A qualified attorney’s opinion that the conflict of interest does not violate federal, state, or 

local law. 

Public Service Activities Required Certifications: The signature of an agency representatives with 

binding authority below certifies the following statements. 

 Organization has no conflict of interests with City of Pascagoula appointed or 
elected representatives and does not employ city appointed or elected representatives 
or their families. 

 Organization will comply with federal requirements to be observed by organizations 
being funded with CDBG funds, including compliance with federal Labor Standards, Section 3, 
Segregated Facilities, Equal Opportunity, and Non‐Discrimination. Section 109, Title VI and 
EO 11246. All requirements are described in 24 CFR 570 (CDBG Entitlement Grants). 

 Authorized official certifies that this CDBG Public Services application package has been 
reviewed and all information provided in this application and attachments is true and correct. 

Sufficient funds are available from non-CDBG sources to complete the project, as described, if CDBG 

funds are allocated to the applicant. 

Subrecipient Representative Print:  

Subrecipient Representative Title:  

Subrecipient Representative 

Signature:  

 

Date:  
 



  

82 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C6: ACTION PLAN DEELOPMENT PROCESS 
 

The following is a schedule of actions to be taken in the development of the YEAR Action Plan a 
component of the YEAR-YEAR Five-Year Consolidated Plan for the CDBG. 

The development process is designed to insure citizen and interagency participation in the identification 

of non-housing community development needs, housing and supportive service needs of Pascagoula. 

Approximate Date    Action To Be Taken 
 

Monday, April 29, YEAR    Send copy of Development Process to City Manager, Mayor,  

                     City  Council, and City Department Heads 
 

Tuesday, April 30, YEAR Notice of Availability of Information pertaining to the Annual 

Action Plan distributed via electronic and social media as well 

as to non-profit organizations. 
 

Wednesday, May 1, YEAR Email letters advising housing and supportive service agencies 

comprising the institutional structure notice of the 

development of the YEAR Action Plan and dates of Public 

Hearings 
 

Thursday, May 9, YEAR Notice of Public Hearing distributed via electronic and social 

media as well as to non-profit organizations. Notices will also 

be displayed at City Hall, Library and Community and Economic 

Development 
 

Thursday, May 23, YEAR Public Hearing, 5:30PM, City Council Chambers 
 

Friday, June 7, YEAR Notice of Availability of Draft for the Annual Action Plan 

distributed via electronic and social media as well as to non-

profit organizations. 30-day comment period begins.  Post 

Notice of Draft at City Hall, Library and Community and 

Economic Development 

 

Monday, June 24, YEAR  Provide Annual Action Plan Draft to Jackson County and 

neighboring cities 
 

Monday, July 8, YEAR Deadline for 30-day comment period on the Annual Action 

Plan Draft 

 

Tuesday, July 16, YEAR Mayor and City Council adopt the Annual Action Plan at 

regularly scheduled City Council meeting 

 

Monday, July 22, YEAR Submit Annual Action Plan to HUD prior to Aug 15 deadline 



  

83 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX D1: PUBLIC SERVICES ACTIVITIES APPLICATION SORING  
 

  

Public Services 

Agency       

Applicant Name 
  

Public Services 

Agency       

Applicant Name 
  

Public Services 

Agency       

Applicant Name 

Reviewer:  1 2 3   1 2 3   1 2 3 

Program Design and 

Community Impact 

(50)                        

Experience and 

Capacity (30)                        

Scope Alignment 

with Consolidated 

Plan (15)                        

New Organization 

Not Previously 

Funded (5)                        

             

Totals                                           

(out of a possible 100 

points)  0 0 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 

             

Average Score          

             

Rank Per Reviewer                      

             

Average Rank          

 

 

 

 



  

84 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX D2: PUBLIC SERVICES DETERMINATION LETTERS  
Date 

Public Service Subrecipient Name and Address 

RE: CDBG Selection Determination for FYYEAR 

Dear Salutation Sur Name, 

Congratulations!  Your agency has been selected as a subrecipient of the City of Pascagoula’s Community 

Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding for FYYEAR. The City’s CDBG FYYEAR Action Plan will be 

submitted for City Council approval in August. Subrecipient funding in the amount of $7,500 is contingent 

on the City receiving CDBG funding in FYYEAR and approval of the action plan by the United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  

 

Once the City receives HUD approval and receives funding, an agreement will be sent for your review and 

execution. This typically occurs between November and February. However, the scope of work is October 

1, YEAR - September 30, YEAR. Meaning although you are not allowed to submit a reimbursement request 

before the execution of the agreement, you may start collecting documentation on eligible expenses 

starting October 1st. Please contact the Grants Administrator at 228-938-6639 with any questions or needs 

for additional information.  Thank you. 
 

Sincerely, 

Name 

Community and Economic Development Director 

 

Date 

Public Service Subrecipient Name and Address 

Re:  YEAR Community Development Block Grant  

Public Services Application 

Dear Salutation Last Name: 

Thank you for your interest in the City’s YEAR Community Development Block Grant Public Services 

request for funding proposal. We received several proposals and although your work with the 

community is impressive, we regret to inform you that you were not selected. The competition was 

steep. We received double the number of applications this year as compared to last year. We encourage 

you to apply next year. If you have any questions, please the Grants Administrator at 228-938-6639. We 

look forward to working with you in the future.   

Sincerely, 

Name 

Director of Community and Economic Development 



  

85 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E1:  SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT 
 

CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 

AND 

_________________________ 

FOR 

FY __ CDBG Funding 

THIS AGREEMENT, entered this ______ day of _______________, 201_ by and between the CITY OF 

PASCAGOULA (herein called the “GRANTEE”) and ___ (herein called the "SUBRECIPIENT"). 

WHEREAS, the grantee has applied for and received funds from the United States Government under Title 

I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, Public Law 93-383; and  

WHEREAS, the grantee wishes to engage the subrecipient to assist the grantee in utilizing such funds;  

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed between the parties hereto that:  

I. PURPOSE  

A. This contract sets forth the responsibilities of the grantee and subrecipient in accomplishing the 

objectives of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 

Community Development Block Grant Program, as set forth in the Housing and Community 

Development Act of 1974, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 5301 et seq.), hereinafter referred to as CDBG.  

B. The grantee is subgranting funds to the subrecipient to be used for the primary objective of the 

CDBG program of developing viable urban communities by providing decent housing and a 

suitable living environment and expanding economic opportunities, principally for persons of low 

and moderate income (which is defined as 80 % or less of the area’s median income).  

 

II. STATEMENT OF WORK  

A. Description of Work: The subrecipient will be responsible for administering CDBG Year 20 __ funds 

for the purpose of providing (describe the project being funded). 

B. Schedule for Completing Work: Services of the subrecipient may not start before the 1st day of 

October, ___, and shall end on the 30th day of September, ___.  

C. Budget: (insert amount) 

Budget 

Item Description Amount 

Total:  

National Objectives: All activities funded with CDGB funds must meet one of the CDBG program’s National 

Objectives (listed below). The Subrecipient certifies that. The activity(ies) carried out under this 

Agreement will meet the following National Objective (check one): 



  

86 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

a. Benefit low- and moderate-income persons (if selected, check one): 

i. Area benefit activities: An activity, the benefits of which are available to all the 

residents in a particular area, where at least 51 % of the residents are low and 

moderate income persons. 

ii. Limited clientele activities: An activity which benefits a limited clientele, at least 

51 % of whom are low- or moderate-income persons.  

iii. Housing activities: An eligible activity carried out for the purpose of providing or 

improving permanent residential structures which, upon completion, will be 

occupied by low- and moderate- income households. 

iv. Job creation or retention activities: An activity designed to create or retain 

permanent jobs where at least 5l % of the jobs, computed on a full time 

equivalent basis, involve the employment of low- and moderate-income persons.  

b. Activities which aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight (if selected, check 

one): 

i. Activities to address slums or blight on an area basis 

ii. Activities to address slums or blight on a spot basis 

iii. designed to meet community development needs having particular urgency 

iv. Additional criteria 

c. This objective will be met through 

______________________________________________. 

 

III. RECORDS AND REPORTS 

A. Subrecipient shall:  

a. allow the grantee, HUD, and any of their authorized representatives access to financial 

records pertaining to CDBG funds and this agreement for the purpose of audit or 

examination; 

b. submit semi-annual progress reports including, but not limited to, the number of 

individuals served with ethnicity indicated, confirmation of low to moderate income of 

individuals, and detailed budget describing the total expenditures to date as well as each 

individual expenditure on the tenth day of April and October during the schedule for 

completing work time period; 

c. submit a monthly report on all program income as defined in 24 CFR 6'70.500(s) if 

program income is generated by activities carried out with CDBG funds made available 

under this agreement. Please see V. Program Income below for full requirements; 

d. provide management and personnel to adequately perform the services prescribed by 

this agreement; 

e. be solely responsible for any and all taxes (federal, state and  local), worker’s 

compensation insurance, disability payments, social security payments, unemployment 



  

87 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

insurance payments, insurance, and any similar type of payments for the subrecipient or 

any employee thereof and shall hold the grantee harmless from any and all such 

payments; 

f. apply funds from any other source for the services reimbursed under this agreement; 

g. maintain records: 

i. providing a full description of each activity undertaken and demonstrating that 

each activity undertaken meets one of the National Objectives of the CDBG 

program; 

ii. as required to determine the eligibility of activities; 

iii. as required to document the acquisition, improvement, use of disposition of real  

or improved with CDBG assistance; 

iv. documenting compliance with the fair housing and equal opportunity 

components of the CDBG program; 

v. as required in the financial records (24 CFR 570.502, and 24 CFR 84.21-28); and 

vi. of all monitoring performed on the Subrecipient as stated in the Monitoring 

Section; and 

vii. other records necessary to document compliance with Subpart K of 24 CFR Part 

570; 

h. retain all financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, and all other 

records pertinent to the Agreement for a period of four (4) years. The retention period 

begins on the date of the submission of the Grantee's annual performance and evaluation 

report to HUD in which the activities assisted under the Agreement are reported on for 

the final time. Notwithstanding the above, if there is litigation, claims, audits, negotiations 

or other actions that involve any of the records cited and that have started before the 

expiration of the four-year period, then such records must be retained until completion 

of the actions and resolution of all issues, or the expiration of the four-year period, 

whichever occurs later. 

 

IV. PAYMENT PROCEDURES: 

A. Subrecipient shall: 

a. submit payment requests that include required supporting documentation;  

b. provide the grantee a specific unit of measure for all services;  

c. provide the grantee invoices for services tendered based on actual costs; and 

d. submit an indirect cost allocation plan for grantee approval if indirect costs are charged to 

determine the appropriate grantee share of administrative costs. 

B. Grantee shall: 

I. in consideration for services rendered by the subrecipient, pay a total sum not to exceed the 

CDBG program year funded amount of $(insert amount) ; 



  

88 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

II. monitor the operations of vendor activities under this contract to assure compliance with 

applicable Federal requirements, contract provisions and that performance goals are being 

achieved on an annual basis; and 

III. reimburse the subrecipient upon receipt of a payment request that includes accurate 

required supporting documentation from the subrecipient. 

 

V. PROGRAM INCOME  

A. If program income is a result of the subrecipient’s services, the subrecipient is required to 

maintain compliance with 24 CFR 570.504(c). 

B. The subrecipient shall report on all program income (as defined at 24 CFR 570.500(a)) generated 

by activities carried out with CDBG funds made available under this contract. The use of program 

income by the Subrecipient shall comply with the requirements set forth at.24 CFR 570.504. By 

way of further limitations, the Subrecipient may use such income during the contract period for 

activities permitted under this contract and shall reduce requests for additional funds by the 

amount of any such program income balances on hand. All unexpended program income shall be 

returned to the Grantee at the end of the contract period. Any interest earned on cash advances 

from the U.S. Treasury and from funds held in a revolving fund account is not program income 

and shall be remitted promptly to the grantee. 

 

VI. UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS: The subrecipient agrees to comply with all 

applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing the funds provided under this 

contract including OMB Circular A-133 (Audits of State and Local Governments and Non-Profit 

Organizations), OMB Circular A422 (Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations), and 24 CFT Part 

84 (Grants and Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit 

Organizations). 

 

VII. OTHER PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS: The subrecipient will carry out its activities in compliance with 

the requirements of Subpart K of 24 CFR 570, except, that the Subrecipient does not assume the 

grantee’s environmental responsibilities or the responsibility for initiating the environmental 

review process under 24 CFR Part 52. 

A. Audits: In accordance with 24 CFR 570.502 and local requirements, the subrecipient shall submit 

an audit complying with the Single Audit Act of 1984 to the grantee annually. 

B. Client Data: The subrecipient shall maintain client data demonstrating client eligibility for services 

provided. Such data shall include, but not be limited to, client name, address, income level or 

other basis for determining eligibility, and description of services provided. Such information shall 

be made available to grantee monitors or their designees for review upon request. 

C. Prohibition of Political or Religious Activity: There shall be no religious worship, instruction or 

proselytization as part of, or in connection with, the performance of this agreement. None of the 



  

89 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

funds, materials, property or services under this agreement shall be used in the performance of 

this agreement for any partisan political activity, including lobbying, as -specified in Federal 

Circular A-122 Cost Principles for Nonprofit Organizations - lobbying revisions, or to further the 

election, defeat, recall, impeachment, appointment or dismissal of any candidate for or from any 

public office. 

D. Discrimination Prohibited: The subrecipient shall not discriminate against any employee or 

applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, condition or privileges of 

employment on a matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because of race, color, 

religion, national origin, age, or sex. 

E. Merger or Integration: This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

subrecipient and the grantee with respect to the subject matter hereof; there are no other further 

written or oral understandings or agreements with respect hereto. 

F. Modification, Assignment, or Subcontracting Absent Prior Written Consent: No variation or 

modification of this agreement and no waiver of its provisions shall be valid unless in writing and 

signed by the duly authorized officers of the subrecipient and the grantee. Any alterations, 

additions or deletions to the terms’ of this agreement, which are required by the enactment of 

legislation, regulations and directives, are automatically incorporated into this agreement on the 

date designated by law, regulation or directive. 

G. Amendment: grantee or subrecipient may amend this agreement at any time provided that such 

amendments make specific reference to this agreement, and are executed in writing, signed by a 

duly authorized representative of both organizations, and approved by the grantee‘s governing 

body. Such amendments shall not invalidate this agreement, nor relieve or releases grantee or 

subrecipient from its obligations under this Agreement. The grantee may, in its discretion, amend 

this agreement to conform with federal, state, or local governmental guidelines, policies, and 

available funding amounts, or for other reasons. If such amendments result in a change in the 

funding, the scope of services, or statement of work to be undertaken as part of this agreement, 

such modification will be incorporated only by a written amendment signed by both grantee and 

subrecipient. 

H. Monitoring: The subrecipient will be monitored on performance before the closeout of its 

activities. Reports on the review will be provided to the subrecipient and any conclusions made 

must be cleared before closing out. 

I. Close-outs: The subrecipient’s obligation to the grantee shall not end until all close-out 

requirements are completed. Activities during this close-out period shall include, but are not 

limited to: making final payments, disposing of program assets (including the return all unused 

materials, equipment, unspent cash advances, program income balances, and account receivable 

to the grantee), and determining the custodianship of records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

the terms of this agreement shall remain in effect during any period that the subrecipient has 

control over CDBG funds, including program income. 



  

90 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

J. Hold Harmless: To the fullest extent permitted by law, the subrecipient agrees to indemnify, pay 

in behalf of, and hold harmless the grantee, its elected and appointed officials, employees, 

volunteers, boards, commissions and others working in behalf of the grantee, against any and all 

claims, demands, suits, losses, including all costs connected there with for any damages which 

may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the grantee, by reason of personal injury, 

including bodily injury and death, and  property damage, including loss of use thereof, which 

arises out of, or is in any way connected or associated with the activity authorized by this contract. 

K. Confidentiality: The use or disclosure of information by the grantee concerning services, 

applicants or recipients obtained in connection with the performance of the agreement shall be 

restricted to the purposes directly connected with the administration of the services provided 

under this agreement. Such information shall not be used for any other purpose unless required 

by law, statute or other legal process. 

L. Copeland “Anti-Kickback" Act: The subrecipient shall comply with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback" 

Act (18 U.S.C.874) as supplemented in Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR part 3). (Applies 

to contracts and sub grants for construction or repair) 

M. Conflict of Interest: The subrecipient agrees to abide by the provisions of 24 CFR 84.42 and 

570.611, which include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. The subrecipient shall maintain a written code or standards of conduct that shall govern 

the performance of its officers, employees or agents engaged in the award and 

administration of contracts supported by Federal funds. 

b. No employee, officer or agent of the subrecipient shall participate in the selection, or in 

the award, or administration of, a contract supported by Federal funds if a conflict of 

interest, real or apparent, would be involved. 

c. No covered persons who exercise or have exercised any functions or responsibilities with 

respect to CDBG-assisted activities, or who are in a position to participate in a decision-

making process or gain inside information with regard to such activities, may obtain a 

financial interest in any contract, or have a financial interest in any contract, subcontract, 

or agreement with respect to the CDBG-assisted activity, or with respect to the proceeds 

from the CDBG-assisted activity, either for themselves or those with whom they have 

business or immediate family ties, during their tenure or for a period of one (1) year 

thereafter. For purposes of this paragraph, a “covered person" includes any person who 

is an employee, agent, consultant, officer, or elected or appointed official of the grantee, 

the subrecipient, or any designated public agency. 

d. In the procurement of supplies, equipment, construction, and services by subrecipients, 

the conflict of interest provisions in 24 CFR 85.36 and 24 CFR 84.42, respectively, shall 

apply. In all cases not governed by 24 CFR 85.36 and 84.42, the provisions of this section 

shall apply. Such cases include the acquisition and disposition of real property and the 



  

91 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

provision of assistance by the grantee or by its subrecipients to individuals, businesses, 

and other private entities under eligible activities that authorize such assistance. 

 

VIII. SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION 

A. In accordance with 24 CFR 85.43, the grantee may suspend or terminate this agreement if the 

subrecipient materially fails to comply with any term of this agreement, which includes, but not 

limited to the following: 

a. failure to comply with any of the rules, regulations or provisions referred to herein, or 

such statutes, regulations, executive orders, and HUD guidelines, policies or directives as 

may become applicable at any time; 

b. failure, for any reason, of the subrecipient to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its 

obligations under this agreement; 

c. ineffective or improper use of funds provided under this agreement; or 

d. submission by the subrecipient to the Grantee reports that are incorrect or incomplete in 

any material respect. 

e. Also, in accordance with 24 CFR 85.44, this agreement may be terminated for the grantee 

or the subrecipient, in whole or in part, by setting forth the reasons for such termination, 

the effective date, and in the case of partial termination, the portion to be terminated. 

However, if in the case of a partial termination, the grantee determines that the 

remaining portion of the award will not accomplish the purpose for which the award was 

made, the grantee may terminate the award in its entirety. 

 

IX. REVERSION OF ASSETS 

A. Upon this agreement’s expiration the subrecipient shall transfer to the grantee any CDBG funds 

on hand at the time of expiration and any accounts receivable attributable to the use of CDBG 

funds. 

B. Any real property under the subrecipients control that was acquired or improved in whole or in 

part with CDBG funds (including CDBG funds provided to the subrecipient in the form of a loan) 

in excess of $25,000 is either: 

a. used to meet one of the national objectives in 24 CFR 570.208 (formerly 24 CPR 570.901) 

until five years after expiration of the agreement, or for such longer period of time as 

determined to be appropriate by the grantee; or 

b. if not used in accordance with (i), in which event the subrecipient shall pay to the grantee 

an amount equal to the current market value of the property less any portion of the value 

attributable to expenditures of non-CDBG funds for the acquisition of, or improvement 

to, the property. The payment is program income to the grantee. No payment is required 

after the period of time specified in (i). 

 



  

92 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

X. NOTICES: Communication and details concerning this contract shall be directed to the following 

contract representatives: 

A. Grantee:    City of Pascagoula 

a. Point of Contact:  Jen Dearman,  

Community and Economic Development Director 

b. Address:   P.O. Box 908, Pascagoula, MS 39567 

c. Phone:   228-938-6651 

B. Subrecipient: 

a. Point of Contact: 

b. Address: 

c. Phone 

XI. CONTRACT ACCEPTANCE: The undersigned indicate by their signatures that they are authorized 

to act on behalf of their respective party in this capacity. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this contract as of the date first written above. 

  Grantee,      Subrecipient, 

  City of Pascagoula     [Insert Subrecipient Here] 

 

Signature:________________________________  ________________________________ 

 

Title: _______City Manager__________________  ________________________________ 

 

Federal Identification Number:      ________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

93 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E2: SUBRECPIENT RESOURCE MATERIALS 
 

For CDBG governing regulations, please visit 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/

rulesandregs.  

For OMB Circulars, please visit http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_default. 

For Community and Planning Development (CPD) Notices, please visit 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/lawsregs/notices. 

For the CDBG Program Guide to National Objectives and Eligible Activities for Entitlement Communities, 

please visit 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/

library/stateguide.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/rulesandregs
http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/rulesandregs
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_default
http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/lawsregs/notices
http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/library/stateguide
http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/library/stateguide


  

94 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E3: SUBRECIPIENT AMENDMENT REQUEST  
 

Subrecipient Name:          Date:___________ 

HUD Activity # (One activity only)  

Program Year Funds Granted FY 20 

Activity Name (Refer to the Grant Agreement)  

Total Original CDBG Budget (Refer to the Grant Agreement) $ 

Previous Amendment #1 (If Any Approved) $                   (Use parenthesis for budget reduction) 

Previous Amendment #2 (If Any Approved) $                   (Use parenthesis for budget reduction) 

Previous Amendment #3 (If Any Approved) $                   (Use parenthesis for budget reduction) 

Total CDBG Budget $ 

This Request for amendment will affect 

 Scope of Service & Budget 
 Budget only 
 Scope of Service only 
 Other (Explain) 
_____________________________________________ 

If  Scope of Service & Budget or Budget Only selected 

above, indicate the amount being requested to be added to 

or reduced from this activity 

$         (Use parenthesis for budget reduction) 

If  Scope of Service & Budget or Scope of Service Only 

selected above, indicate the anticipated change to the 

original scope including the number of beneficiaries 

 

 

(Please attach additional sheets, if necessary) 

Reason(s) for the amendment request (Please attach additional sheets, if necessary) 

If this request affects the approved budget, indicate the 

source(s) of additional funding for the requested increase 

or the target activity or city-controlled fund pool to transfer 

the funds to 

 From subrecipient’s own funds 
 From other grants, loans or private donations 
 From another CDBG activity    #_______ 
 To another CDBG activity        #_______ 
 To the City’s CDBG fund pool for reallocation 

Preparer’s Name (Please Print)      Signature X 

Authorizing Officer        Signature X 

(If you have any questions concerning this form, please contact the Planning & Development 

Department at 969-1600) 

Official Use 

Only 

 Substantial Change & Council Approval Required   Council Approved / Denied   
Date:_________ 

 Non-substantial Change    Approved by: _________________________ 
Date:________________ 



  

95 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E4: SUBRECIPIENT QUARTERLY PROGRESS REPORT 

 

CDBG Subrecipient Quarterly Reports 
Important Note: Following execution of the Subrecipient Grant Agreement, the Subrecipient must submit these quarterly reports throughout the 
lifespan of the grant. These quarterly reports are due to the City 10 days after the end of each quarter. Delays in submitting required quarterly 
reports are a violation of the Subrecipient Grant Agreement and may result in denial of cost reimbursements and cancellation of the Subrecipient 
Grant Agreement.   

 

I. Program/Project Status Quarterly Report 

Subrecipient Name: _______________________________________ 

CDBG Activity/Project Name: _______________________________ 

Activity/Project Location: __________________________________ 

Instructions: Subrecipient is required to provide summary information outlining the program/project implementation activities carried out 
during the past quarter, regardless whether or not any progress has been made. If no progress or little progress has been made, Subrecipient 
is required to provide justifications for the lack of progress and outline plans, steps, and strategies to address the issue. 

 

Brief summary 

program/projects progress 

If no/little progress to report for the 

quarter, explain the circumstances 

and challenges 

If no/little progress to report for the 

quarter, outline plans, steps and 

strategies to address the issues 

   

Budget Expended to Date 

Item Description Amount 

  

  

Total:  

 

 

 

CDBG FY:  

Report Months  

HUD Act. #:  

Report Date:  



  

96 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

II.  Subrecipient Beneficiary Information 

Subrecipient Name: 

________________________________________ 

CDBG Activity/Project Name: 

________________________________ 

Activity/Project Location: ___________________________________ 

Instructions: To report race information, please include both duplicated and unduplicated in the columns with “Total” in parenthesis and 
enter unduplicated numbers only in the columns with “Unduplicated” in parenthesis. Please also remember that when you report Hispanic 
persons, make sure you enter them in such a way that they are recognized as persons of Hispanic ethnicity belonging to one of the race 
groups listed in the leftmost column. 

 

Race All 

(Accumulative 

Total) 

All 

(Unduplicated) 

Hispanic 

(Total) 

Hispanic 

(Unduplicated) 

Notes 

 

White      

Black/Afr. American      

Am. Indian/Other 

Pacific Islander 

     

Asian & White      

Black/Afr. American & 

White 

     

Am. Indian/Alaskan 

Native & Black/ Afr. 

American 

     

Other Multi-Racial      

Totals      

 

ONLY TO BE COMPLETED IF A LOW MOD CLIENTELE (LMC) & NOT PRESUMED  

Income Level (To determine income 

group, please refer to the current 

income limits on the next page) 

Total Persons/Households (Unduplicated 

Persons/Households Only) 

Note 

Extremely Low (Not Exceeding 30%  of MFI*)   

Moderate (Above 30% But Not Exceeding 

50% of MFI) 

  

Moderate (Above 50% But Not Exceeding 

80% of MFI) 

  

Non-low Moderate (Exceeding 8-% of MFI)   

Total (This total must equal the Unduplicated 

Total in the above table) 

  

# of Female Heads of Household   

* MFI --- Median Family Income. Please refer to the current Income Guidelines, If you do not have them, please contact the City’s Grants 

Administrator at 228-938-6639. 

 

Name of the Preparer  

(Print): ________________   Signature: __________________   Date: ________________ 

CDBG FY:  

Report Months  

HUD Act. #:  

Report Date:  



  

97 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E5: SUBRECIPIENT REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST 

 

Please complete this form and attach all required supporting documentation (including copies of 

account expenditure reports checks, payroll time sheets and logs, invoices w/attached receipts, vendor 

or contractor invoices, etc.). All payments will be made in accordance with City Council meetings. 

Payments may take up to 45 calendar days to process. 

 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION 

1. Name of Organization:  

2. Contact Person:  

3. Phone:  4. Date of Request:  

PROJECT INFORMATION 

5. Project (Fiscal) Year: 20____ 20___ 

6. Project Period: Start: End: 

7. Request for Period: From: To: 

8. Contract Amount: $ 

REIMBURSEMENT DETAILS 

9. Amount Reimbursed to 

Date: 

$ 10. Current Amount 

Requested 

$ 

11. Describe the activity this 

reimbursement covers: 

 

12. Is this activity covered in the scope of work in your subrecipient 

agreement? Yes No 

13. Percentage of Work 

Completed:  

_____% 14. Did these activities result in program income? Yes No 

15. If Yes, how much?  $ _______ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

98 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

DIRECT BENENFIT: Please report the demographic information of those sewed during the dates of service 

listed above. Please report in number of PEOPLE. 

DO NOT COMBINE DATA FROM MORE THAN ONE ACTIVITY OR SERVICE DATES 

DEMOGRAPHICS Ethnicity Income Level 

Race Hispanic Non-

Hispanic 

Very Low 

(0-30%) 

Low 

(31-50%) 

Moderate 

(51-80%) 

Above L/M 

(81%+) 

White       

Black/African American       

Black/African American & 
White  

      

Asian       

Asian & White       

American Indian or Alaskan 
Native 

      

American Indian/ Alaskan & 
White 

      

American Indian/ Alaskan & 
Black 

      

Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific 
Islander 

      

Other       

TOTALS       

Number of Female-headed households: _______  

Percent as Low/Mod Income: ________% 

I CERTIFY THAT, (a) the CITY OF PASCAGOULA, as grantee of CDBG funding, has not previously been 

billed for the costs covered by this invoice, (b) funds have not been received from the federal 

government or expended for such costs under the terms of the contract agreement or grant pursuant 

to FMC-74-4 & 24 CFR Part 58; (c) this subrecipient is in full compliance with all applicable provisions 

under the terms of the subrecipient grant agreement; and (d) this subrecipient is in full compliance 

with all applicable tax laws. 

Name and Title:____________________________________________________________________ 

 

Signature:_________________________________________________________________________  

 

For Department Use ONLY: 

               Audited by: _____________________        Approved/Authorized by: 

_____________________ 

               Date: _____________________                    Date: _____________________                      

 



  

99 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX E6: SUBRECIPIENT MONITORING CHECKLIST 
 

Subrecipient: _________________   Interviewee:  _________________ 
Program: _________________   Budget Amount: _________________ 
CDBG Fiscal Year: _________________   Expended to Date: _________________ 
Reviewer: _________________   Date of Visit:  _________________ 
Location of services:_________________________________________________________________ 
ELIGIBILITY OF ACTIVITIES 

1. Is the work being carried out as described in the agreement? Yes No 

If yes, please describer the services being performed: 
If no, please explain and include if activities appear to be eligible: 

2. What National objective is the subrecipient meeting? (circle one) 
                   Low/Mod                  Slums/Blight                  Area Benefit 

N/A  

Please describe how this national objective is being met: 

3. Do files include adequate documentation of a process in place to accurately track low and 
moderate income benefit? 

Yes No 

4. Are individual client/case files maintained to document the eligibility of the program 
beneficiaries? 

Yes No 

 

REPORTING 
1. Has the subrecipient submitted timely reports? Yes No 

2. Do reports have complete statistics? Yes No 

3. Is the subrecipient making adequate progress and on course to complete project and 
fully expend funding on time? 

Yes No 

 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
1. Is the subrecipient aware of the regulations on conflict of interest? Yes No 

2. Does subrecipient have written conflict of interest policy consistent with City and federal 
standards? 

Yes No 

 

FINANCIALS 
1. Does the subrecipient maintain a system on approval authority for financial transactions 

and guidelines for controlling expenditures (such as purchasing requirements and travel 
authorizations)? 

Yes No 

2. Does the subrecipient utilize multiple funding sources? 
If yes, are the receipt and expenditure of program funds from each funding source 
identified separately? 

Yes No 

3. Does the accounting system provide for accumulating and recording expenditures by grant 
and cost category as shown in the approved budget? 

Yes No 

4. Does the subrecipient maintain sufficient records to document financial transactions, 
correspondence, contracts, etc.? 

Yes No 

5. Does the subrecipient generate program income? 
If yes, is it returned to the grantor or reused in accordance with the contract 
requirements? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

6. Has subrecipient submitted to the City a copy of the annual audit that complies with the 
Single Audit Act of 1984? 

Yes No 

 

 



  

100 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 
PAYROLL (if applicable) 

1. Are time sheets, delineating each major project or activity, available for all staff and 
contractors paid with CDBG/ESG/EZ funds (including those paid via indirect costs)? 
Are they Approved by a supervisor? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

3. Are charges against payroll reconciled with program budgets and are deviations reported 
for follow-up actions? 

Yes No 

6. Are payments being made as required for FICA and withholding taxes? 
 
Is documentation provided? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 
 

PROCUREMENT (if applicable) 
1. Does the subrecipient have written procurement policies consistent with 

OMB Circular A-1710 (or other applicable regulation)? 
Yes No 

2. Has subrecipient procured any goods or services that require some form of competitive 
procurement? 
Did subrecipient follow its written procurement policies in procuring these goods and 
services? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

3. Does the subrecipient have and follow procedures to obtain the best possible price for 
items not subject to competitive bidding requirements? 

Yes No 

4. Does the subrecipient, in its procurement, accounting, or other policies define 
“equipment”? 
If yes, is this definition consistent with OMB requirements? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

5. Has subrecipient purchased equipment with funds under this contract? 
If yes, does it maintain a current log including: purchase date, serial number, quantity, 
price, location of equipment, and status, as well as other pertinent information? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

6. Has subrecipient sold equipment purchased with contract funds (or prior year contract 
funds)? 
If yes, were the proceeds from the sale kept as program income? 

Yes 
 

Yes 

No 
 

No 

7. Has subrecipient sold equipment purchased with contract funds (or prior year contract 
funds)? 

Yes No 

Monitor(s)  
Signature(s): __________________________________________________ Date: ___________ 
Staff Signature(s): _______________________________________________ Date: ___________ 
 
INITIAL AREA(S) OF CONCERN: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



  

101 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Appendix F1: CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE NOTICE 
 
All Applicants 
The standards in OMB Circular A-110, Subpart C, provide that no employee, officer, or agent shall 
participate in the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by Federal funds in 
a real or apparent conflict of interest would be involved.  Such a conflict would arise when an 
employee, officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an 
organization which employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a 
financial or other interest in the firm selected for an award. 
 
The CDBG regulations at 24 CFR 570.611 provide that no person who is an employee, agent, 
consultant, officer, or elected official or appointed official of the recipient or subrecipient that 
are receiving CDBG funds and (1) who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities 
with respect to activities assisted with CDBG funds; or (2) who is in a position to participate in a 
decision-making process or gain inside information with regard to these activities, may obtain a 
financial interest from a CDBG-assisted activity, or have any interest in any contract, subcontract, 
or agreement with respect thereto, or the proceeds thereunder, either for themselves or those 
with whom they have family or business ties, during their tenure or for one (1) year thereafter. 
 
A disclosure of the nature of any perceived or actual conflict must be made prior to the execution 
of agreements utilizing CDBG. 
 
Persons Covered. The conflict of interest provisions of paragraph (b) of this section apply to any 
person who is an employee, agent, consultant, officer, or elected official or appointed official of 
the recipient, or of any designated public agencies, or of subrecipients that are receiving funds 
under this part. 
 
Exceptions. Upon the written request of the recipient, HUD may grant an exception to the 
provisions of paragraph (b) of this section on a case-by-case basis when it has satisfactorily met 
the threshold requirements of (d) (1) of this section, taking into account the cumulative effects 
of paragraph (d) (2) of this section. 
 

 Threshold requirements.  HUD will consider an exception only after the recipient has 
provided the following documentation: 
(i) A disclosure of the nature of the conflict, accompanied by an assurance that there 

has been public disclosure of the conflict and a description of how the public 
disclosure was made; and 

(ii) An opinion of the recipient’s attorney that the interest for which the exception is 
sought would not violate State or local law. 
 



  

102 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 Factors to be considered for exceptions.  In determining whether to grant a requested 
exception after the recipient has satisfactorily met the requirements of paragraph (d) (1) 
of the section, HUD shall conclude that such an exception will serve to further the 
purposes of the Act and the effective and efficient administration of the recipient’s 
program or project, taking into account the cumulative effects of the following factors, as 
applicable: 
 
(i) Whether the exception would provide a significant cost benefit or an essential 

degree of expertise to the program or project that would otherwise not be 
available: 

(ii) Whether an opportunity was provided for open competitive bidding or 
negotiation: 

(iii) Whether the person affected is a member of a group or class of low-or moderate- 
income persons intended to be the beneficiaries of the assisted activity, and the 
exception will permit such person to receive generally the same interests or 
benefits as are being made available or provided to the group or class. 

(iv) Whether the affected person has withdrawn from his or her functions or 
responsibilities, or the decision-making process with respect to the specific 
assisted activity in question: 

(v) Whether the interest or benefit was present before the affected person was in a 
position as described in paragraph (b) of this section. 

(vi) Whether undue hardship will result either to the recipient or the person affected 
when weighed against the public interest served by avoiding the prohibited 
conflict; and 

(vii) Any other relevant considerations. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

103 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX F2: CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONAIRE 
 

The purpose of this questionnaire is to comply with the HUD regulations regarding possible conflict of 

‘interest (24 Code of Federal Regulations See. 92.356 (Home Program) and 24 Code of Federal Regulations 

Sec. 570.611 (CDBG Program)). 

A. Are you: 

1. An employee of the City:   Yes No Initial _______ 

2. An agent of the City:    Yes No Initial _______ 

3. Consultant for the City:    Yes No Initial _______ 

4. Officer of the City:    Yes No Initial _______ 

5. Elected official of the City:   Yes No Initial _______ 

6. Appointed official of the City:   Yes No Initial _______ 

7. A public agency or nonprofit  

organization selected by the City  

to administer the CDBG program  

on behalf of the City:    Yes No Initial_______ 

B. Do you: 

1. Exercise CDBG Program  

functions or responsibilities:    Yes No Initial_______ 

2. Have you exercised CDBG  

responsibilities in the past  

one (1) year:      Yes No Initial_______ 

3. Are you in a position to participate  

in CDBG Program decision-making:  Yes No Initial_______ 

4. Have access to gain inside information  

regarding CDBG Program activity?   Yes No Initial_______ 

C. Do any of the above categories  

in Sections A or B apply to: 

1. You      Yes No Initial_______ 

2. A family member (i.e., spouse,  

Parent (including steps), child 

(including steps) brother or Sister  

(including steps), grandparent,  

grandchild:      Yes No Initial______

D. Is this application being submitted 

during your tenure in any position in  

Section A above or for one year thereafter:  Yes No Initial_______ 



  

104 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

If you answered “YES” to any of the above questions, please describe the nature of the Conflict of Interest below. 

Identify the individual, employment and the conflict of potential conflict, and their affiliation with you 

organization. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I UNDERSTAND THAT A FALSE STATEMENT ON THIS QUESTIONAIRE MAY BE GROUNDS FOR REJECTION OF MY 

APPLICATION FOR ASSISTANCE. IN ADDITION, A FALSE STATEMENT MAY RESULT IN A FINE OR IMPRISONIVIENT 

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1001. 

DATE:  _____________________________________________ 

Print Name: ________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________ 

 

CONSENT TO DISCLOSURE 

I understand that if it is determined that my application for assistance constitutes an actual or potential conflict 

of interest under applicable federal regulation, my application may be considered for an exception, in which case 

my application will be publicly disclosed pursuant to procedures adopted by the City and approved by H. U. D. By 

my further signature below, I hereby expressly consent to such public disclosure. 

DATE: _____________________________________________    

Print Name: ________________________________________ 

Signature: _________________________________________ 

 

 



  

105 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX F3: CONFLICT OF INTEREST DETERMINATION 
 

Applicant Name:_______________________________________________________________________ 

Project:  ________________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  _____________ 

 

The above named individual has submitted an application for funding for an eligible CDBG program or project. 

The Community Development Director has reviewed the attached Conflict of Interest Questionnaire signed by the 

applicant and has determined the following: 

______ Applicant is not a “Covered Person” and therefore NO Conflict of Interest Exists. (No further 

action required) 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Community and Economic Development Director 

 
______ Applicant is a “Covered Person”. However, it is determined that this person does not exercise 

functions or responsibilities with respect to CDBG activities or participate in decision-making 

regarding the activities. Therefore NO Conflict of Interest Exists. (No further Action is required). 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Community and Economic Development Director 

 
______ Applicant is a “Covered Person.” It is determined that the applicant does exercise functions or 

responsibilities with respect to the CDBG activities or participates in decision-making regarding 

the activities. Therefore there is determined a Conflict of Interest either, real or perceived. 

Applicant will be notified in writing of this determination with options available. 

 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Community and Economic Development Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

106 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G1: EXEMPT DETERMINATION FOR ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR 58.34 

 

Grant Recipient:     Project Name:        
Project Description (Include all actions which are either geographically or functionally related): 
              
Location:             
Funding Source: CDBG     HOME    ESG    HOPWA   EDI   Capital Fund   Operating Subsidy    Hope VI   Other 
Estimated Funding Amount:     Grant Number:     
I have reviewed and determined that the abovementioned project is Exempt per 24 CFR §58.34 as follows: 

 
58.349(a)(1). Environmental & other studies, resource identification & the development of plans 
& strategies; 

 58.34(a) (2)  Information and financial services; 

 58.34(a) (3) Administrative and management activities; 

 
58.34(a) (4)  Public services that will not have a physical impact or result in any physical changes, 
including but not limited to services concerned with employment, crime prevention, child care, 
health, drug abuse, education, counseling, energy conservation and welfare or recreational needs; 

 58.34(a) (5)  Inspections and testing of properties for hazards or defects; 

 58.34(a) (6)  Purchase of insurance; 

 58.34(a) (7)  Purchase of tools; 

 58.34(a) (8) Engineering or design costs; 

 58.34(a) (9)  Technical assistance and training; 

 

58.34(a) (10)  Assistance for temporary or permanent improvements that do not alter 
environmental conditions and are limited to protection, repair, or restoration activities necessary 
only to control or arrest the effects from disasters or imminent threats to public safety including 
those resulting from physical deterioration; 

 58.34(a) (11)  Payment of principal and interest on loans made or obligations guaranteed by HUD; 

 
58.34(a) (12) Any of the categorical exclusions listed in §58.35(a) provided that there are no 
circumstances that require compliance with any other Federal laws and authorities cited in §58.5. 

A recipient does not have to submit an RROF and certification, and no further approval from HUD or the State will 
be needed by the recipient for the drawdown of funds to carry out exempt activities and projects.  However, the 
responsible entity must also complete and attach the Documentation with 24 CFR 58.6.  By signing below the 
Responsible Entity officially determines in writing that all activities covered by this determination are Exempt and 
meets the conditions specified for such exemption under section 24 CFR §58.34. This document must be 
maintained in the ERR.
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PREPARER: 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Signature   
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Name (printed) 
       
Title and Date (printed) 

AUTHORIZED RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OFFICIAL: 
 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Signature   
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Name (printed) 
       
Title and Date (printed) 



107 

 

APPENDIX G2: CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION NOT SUBJECT TO §58.5 DETERMINATION FOR 
ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR §58.35(b) 
 

Grant Recipient:      Project Name:       
Project Description (Include all actions which are either geographically or functionally related): 
Location:             
Funding Source: CDBG     HOME    ESG    HOPWA   EDI   Capital Fund   Operating Subsidy    Hope VI   Other 
Estimated Funding Amount:    Grant Number:      
     Categorical exclusions not subject to Sec. 58.5. The Department has determined that the following 
categorically excluded activities would not alter any conditions that would require a review or 
compliance determination under the Federal laws and authorities cited in Sec. 58.5. When the following 
kinds of activities are undertaken, the responsible entity does not have to publish a NOI/RROF or 
execute a certification and the recipient does not have to submit a RROF to HUD (or the State) except in 
the circumstances described in paragraph (c) of this section. Following the award of the assistance, no 
further approval from HUD or the State will be needed with respect to environmental requirements, 
except where paragraph (c) of this section applies. The recipient remains responsible for carrying out 
any applicable requirements under Sec. 58.6. I have reviewed and determined that the abovementioned 
project is a Categorically Excluded activity (not subject to §58.5) per 24 CFR §58.35(b) as follows: 

 58.35(b).1. Tenant-based rental assistance; 

 
58.35(b) 2. Supportive services including, but not limited to, health care, housing services, permanent 
housing placement, day care, nutritional services, short-term payments for rent/mortgage/utility costs, 
and assistance in gaining access to local, State, and Federal government benefits and services; 

 
58.35(b) 3. Operating costs including maintenance, security, operation, utilities, furnishings, equipment, 
supplies, staff training and recruitment and other incidental costs; 

 
58.35(b) 4. Economic development activities, including but not limited to, equipment purchase, inventory 
financing, interest subsidy, operating expenses and similar costs not associated with construction or 
expansion of existing operations; 

 
58.35(b) 5. Activities to assist homebuyers to purchase existing dwelling units or dwelling units under 
construction, including closing costs and down payment assistance, interest buy-downs, and similar 
activities that result in the transfer of title. 

 
58.35(b). 6. Affordable housing pre-development costs including legal, consulting, developer and other 
costs related to obtaining site options, project financing, administrative costs and fees for loan 
commitments, zoning approvals, and other related activities which do not have a physical impact. 

 

58.35(b). 7. Approval of supplemental assistance (including insurance or guarantee) to a project 
previously approved under this part, if the approval is made by the same responsible entity that 
conducted the environmental review on the original project and re-evaluation of the environmental 
findings is not required under §58.47. 

The responsible entity must also complete and attach Documentation with 24 CFR 58.6. By signing below the 
Responsible Entity officially determines in writing that each activity or project is Categorically Excluded (not subject 
to §58.5) and meets the conditions specified for such exclusion under section 24 CFR §58.35(b).  This document 
must be maintained in the ERR.  

ENVIRONMENTAL PREPARER:       _____________ 
Authorized Responsible Entity Signature :        
Authorized Responsible Entity Name (printed): ________________________________ 
Title and Date (printed):      
 
 



  

108 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G3: DOCUMENTATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH 24 CFR 58.6 (a-d) 
Project______________________Date____________Signature_____________________________________ 

Flood Insurance:  

_____ The site is not in the 100-year flood plain (see attached map) 

_____ The site is in the 100-year flood plain (see attached map) 

_____  Flood Insurance is required for structures in the 100-year flood plain 

Flood Insurance when the site is in the 100-year flood plain: 

a. Under the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, as amended (42 U.S.C. 4001 – 4128), Federal financial 
assistance for acquisition and construction purposes (including rehabilitation) may not be used in an area 
identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) as having special flood hazards, unless: 

1. The community in which the area is situated is participating in the National Flood Insurance Program (see 
44 CFR parts 59 through 79), or less than one year has passed since the FEMA notification regarding such 
hazards; and  

2. Where the community is participating in the National Flood Insurance Program, flood insurance 
protection is to be obtained as a condition as a condition of the approval of financial assistance to the 
property owner. 

b. Where the community is participating in the National Flood Insurance Program and the recipient provides 
financial assistance for acquisition or construction purposes (including rehabilitation) for property located in 
an area identified by FEMA as having special flood hazards, the responsible entity is responsible for assuring 
that flood insurance under the National Flood Insurance Program is obtained and maintained. 

c. Paragraph (a) of this section does not apply to apply to Federal Formula grants made to a State. 
Under section 582 of the National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994, 42 U. S. C. 5154a, HUD Disaster 

assistance that is made available in a special flood hazard area may not be used to make a payment (including 

any loan assistance payment) to a person for repair, replacement or restoration for flood damage to any 

personal, residential or commercial property if: 

1. The person had previously received Federal flood disaster insurance conditioned on obtaining and 
maintaining flood insurance flood insurance; and 

2. The person failed to obtain and maintain flood insurance. 
Coastal Barrier Islands: 

_____ The site is not in a Coastal Barrier Island (documentation attached) 

_____ The site is in the Coastal Barrier Island but the activity is not prohibited as indicated at: 

http://www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html 

_____ The site is in the Coastal Barrier Island and the activity is prohibited as indicated at: 

http://www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html the project must be rejected. 

Pursuant to the Coastal Barrier Resources Act, as amended by the Coastal Barrier Improvement Act of 1990 (16 U.S.C. 

3501), HUD assistance may not be used for most activities proposed in the Coastal Barrier Resources System. 

Clearzones: 

_____ The site is not in the Clearzone (documentation attached) 

_____ The site is in the Clearzone (signed acknowledgement attached) 

In all cases involving HUD assistance, subsidy, or insurance for the or sale of an existing property in a Runaway Clear Zone 

or Clear Zone, as defined in 24 CFR Part 51, the responsible entity shall advise that the property is in a runway clear zone 

or clear zone, what the implications of such a local are, and that there is a possibility that the property may, at a later 

date, be acquired by the airport operator.  The buyer must sign a statement acknowledging receipt of this information. 

 

http://www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html
http://www.fws.gov/cbra/Maps/index.html


  

109 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G4: CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION SUBJECT TO §58.5 DETERMINATION 
FOR ACTIVITIES LISTED AT 24 CFR §58.35(a) 

 

Grant Recipient:      Project Name:       
Project Description (Include all actions which are either geographically or functionally related): 
              
Location:             

Funding Source: CDBG     HOME    ESG    HOPWA   EDI   Capital Fund   Operating Subsidy    Hope VI   Other 
 

 

58.35(a) (1). Acquisition, repair, improvement, reconstruction, or rehabilitation of public 
facilities and improvements (other than buildings) when the facilities and improvements are 
in place and will be retained in the same use without change in size or capacity of more than 
20 % (e.g., replacement of water or sewer lines, reconstruction of curbs and sidewalks, 
repaving of streets); 

 
58.35(a) (2). Special projects directed to the removal of material and architectural barriers 
that restrict the mobility of and accessibility to elderly and handicapped persons; 

 
58.35(a) (3). Rehabilitation of buildings and improvements when the following conditions are 
met: 

 
58.35(a) (3) (i.)In the case of a building for residential use (with one to four units), the density 
is not increased beyond four units, the land use is not changed, and the footprint of the 
building is not increased in a floodplain or in a wetland; 

 

58.35(a) (3) (ii). In the case of multifamily residential buildings:  (A) Unit density is not 
changed more than 20 %;  (B) The project does not involve changes in land use from 
residential to non-residential; and  (C) The estimated cost of rehabilitation is less than 75 % of 
the total estimated cost of replacement after rehabilitation. 

 

58.35(a) (3) (iii). In the case of non-residential structures, including commercial, industrial, 
and public buildings:   
(A) The facilities and improvements are in place and will not be changed in size or capacity by 
more than 20 %; AND 
(B) The activity does not involve a change in land use, such as from non-residential to 
residential, commercial to industrial, or from one industrial use to another. 

 
58.35(a) (4) (i) An individual action on up to four dwelling units where there is a maximum of 
four units on any one site. The units can be four one-unit buildings or one four-unit building 
or any combination in between; or 



  

110 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Estimated Funding Amount:     Grant Number:     
I have reviewed and determined that the above mentioned project is a Categorically Excluded activity 
(subject to §58.5) per 24 CFR §58.35(a) as follows: 
 
The responsible entity must also complete and attach a §58.5 Statutory Worksheet and a Documentation 
of Compliance. By signing below the Responsible Entity officially determines in writing that all activities 
covered by this determination are Categorically Excluded (subject to §58.5) and meets the conditions 
specified for such exclusion under section 24 CFR §58.35(a).  This document must be maintained in the 
ERR.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL PREPARER: 
 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Signature      
 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Name (printed) 
 
       
Title and Date (printed) 
 
AUTHORIZED RESPONSIBLE ENTITY OFFICIAL: 
 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Signature   
 
       
Authorized Responsible Entity Name (printed) 
 
       
Title and Date (printed) 

 

 

 

 

58.35(a )( (ii) An individual action on a project of five or more housing units developed on 
scattered sites when the sites are more than 2,000 feet apart and there are not more than 
four housing units on any one site. 
58.35(a) (iii) Paragraphs (a) (4) (i) and (ii) of this section do not apply to rehabilitation of a 
building for residential use (with one to four units) (see paragraph (a) (3) (i) of this section).  

 
58.35(a) (5). Acquisition (including leasing) or disposition of, or equity loans on an existing 
structure, or acquisition (including leasing) of vacant land provided that the structure or land 
acquired, financed, or disposed of will be retained for the same use. 

 58.35(a) (6). Combinations of the above activities. 



  

111 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G5: 8-STEP DECISION MAKING PROCESS PURSUANT TO EO 11988 
 

8-Step Decision Making Process pursuant to EO 11988 
 

1. Determine whether the proposed action is located in a floodplain of concern.   
(example text) The proposed action under the Hwy 90 high-rise bridge and surrounding Lake 
Elementary School at 4503 Willow Street is located in a 100-year flood plain. 

2. If yes, accomplish and early public notice. 
(example text) An Early Public Notice was published in the Sun Herald on December 11, YEAR.  A 
copy is attached hereto. 

3. Identify and evaluate alternative actions to lessen or remove impacts. 
(example text) The scope of the project is to repair and reconstruct sidewalks and bike trails 
beneath the Highway 90 high-rise bridge and around Lake Elementary School at 4503 Willow 
Street.  The sidewalks and bike trails cannot be moved to another location where it is not in a 
flood zone and are not susceptible to loss in a flood. 

4. Identify the full range of potential direct and indirect adverse impacts. 
(example text) The sidewalks and bike trails could receive water in a major flood event.  
However is such that it will be exposed to rain and elements on a regular basis and it would not 
be affected by flood waters. 

5. If adverse impacts cannot be avoided, minimize/mitigate impacts. 
(example text) The sidewalk and bike trail is constructed from materials which are intended to 
be exposed to rain and other weather conditions.  Therefore, impacts are minimized/mitigated 
by the materials used in construction. 

6. Re-evaluate the proposed action in light of Steps 4 & 5.  Still practical? 
(example text) The project is still practical because one which would incur minimal damage if 
any in a flood, and such damages would be repaired through routine maintenance. 

7. If yes, accomPlish a final public notice. 
(example text) Final notice was published on January 25, YEAR and is attached hereto. 

8. Implement the proposed plan. 
 

If any hazardous material is found during construction activities, the grantee or sub recipient shall 
comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations related to the testing, management, 
abatement, removal, transportation and disposition of such hazardous material. 
 

Should artifacts or archeological features be encountered during demolition activities, Mississippi 
Department of Archives and History shall be consulted immediately. 
 

Construction and engineering controls shall be taken to avoid disturbance of nearby undisturbed and  
wooded areas.  
 

All mitigation measures to minimize impact to the flood plain shown in the 8-Step Process shall be 
implemented. 
 

All environmental conditions established by HUD or grantee in the approval of this ER shall be reflected 
in all agreements and contracts related with the undertaking.  
 



  

112 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G6: ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW FOR PROJECT THAT IS CATEGORICALLY 

EXCLUDED SUBJECT TO SECTION 58.5 PURSUANT TO 24 CFR 58.35(a) 
 

Project Information 
Project Name:  
Responsible Entity: City of Pascagoula 
Grant Recipient (if different than Responsible Entity): NA 
State/Local Identifier:  
Preparer: Jen Dearman 
Certifying Officer Name and Title:  Joseph R. Huffman, City Manager 
Grant Recipient (if different than Responsible Entity): NA 
Consultant (if applicable): NA 
Direct Comments to: Community and Economic Development Department, 630 Delmas Avenue, 
Pascagoula, MS 39567 
Project Location:  
Description of the Proposed Project [24 CFR 50.12 & 58.32; 40 CFR 1508.25]:  
Level of Environmental Review Determination 
 Categorically Excluded per 24 CFR 58.35(a), and subject to laws and authorities at §58.5  
 
Funding Information 

Grant Number HUD Program  Funding Amount  

   

   

 
Estimated Total HUD Funded Amount: $ 
Estimated Total Project Cost (HUD and non-HUD funds) [24 CFR 58.32(d)]:  
 
Compliance with 24 CFR 50.4, 58.5, and 58.6 Laws and Authorities 
Record below the compliance or conformance determinations for each statute, executive order, or 
regulation.  Provide credible, traceable, and supportive source documentation for each authority. Where 
applicable, complete the necessary reviews or consultations and obtain or note applicable permits of 
approvals. Clearly note citations, dates/names/titles of contacts, and page references. Attach additional 
documentation as appropriate. 

Compliance Factors: Statutes, Executive Orders, 
and Regulations listed at 24 CFR §58.5 and §58.6                               

Are formal 
compliance 

steps or 
mitigation 
required? 

Compliance determinations  
 

STATUTES, EXECUTIVE ORDERS, AND REGULATIONS LISTED AT 24 CFR 50.4 & 58.6 

Airport Hazards  
24 CFR Part 51 Subpart D 

Yes     No 
     X 

 

Coastal Barrier Resources  Yes     No  



  

113 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Coastal Barrier Resources Act, as amended by 
the Coastal Barrier Improvement Act of 1990 [16 
USC 3501] 

     X 

Flood Insurance   
Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 and 
National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994 [42 
USC 4001-4128 and 42 USC 5154a] 

Yes     No 
     X 

 

STATUTES, EXECUTIVE ORDERS, AND REGULATIONS LISTED AT 24 CFR 50.4 & 58.5 

Clean Air  
Clean Air Act, as amended, particularly section 
176(c) & (d); 40 CFR Parts 6, 51, 93 

Yes     No 
     X 

 

Coastal Zone Management  
Coastal Zone Management Act, sections 307(c) 
& (d) 

Yes     No 
          X 

 

Contamination and Toxic Substances   
24 CFR Part 50.3(i) & 58.5(i)(2) 

Yes     No 
    X 

 

Endangered Species  
Endangered Species Act of 1973, particularly 
section 7; 50 CFR Part 402 

Yes     No 
    X 

 

Explosive and Flammable Hazards 
24 CFR Part 51 Subpart C 

Yes     No 
     X 

 

Farmlands Protection   
Farmland Protection Policy Act of 1981, 
particularly sections 1504(b) and 1541; 7 CFR 
Part 658 

Yes     No 
    X 

 

Floodplain Management   
Executive Order 11988, particularly section 2(a); 
24 CFR Part 55 

Yes     No 
X     

 

Historic Preservation   
National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, 
particularly sections 106 and 110; 36 CFR Part 
800 

Yes     No 
      X     

  

Noise Abatement and Control   
Noise Control Act of 1972, as amended by the 
Quiet Communities Act of 1978; 24 CFR Part 51 
Subpart B 

Yes     No 
    X 
 

 

Sole Source Aquifers   
Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, 
particularly section 1424(e); 40 CFR Part 149 

Yes     No 
    X 
 

 

Wetlands Protection   
Executive Order 11990, particularly sections 2 
and 5 

Yes     No 
    X 
 

 

Wild and Scenic Rivers    



  

114 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 1968, particularly 
section 7(b) and (c) 

Yes     No 
    X 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE 

Environmental Justice 
Executive Order 12898 

Yes     No 
    X 

 

 

                                                                                  
Field Inspection (Date and completed by):  
Summary of Findings and Conclusions:  
 
Mitigation Measures and Conditions [40 CFR 1505.2(c)]  
Summarize below all mitigation measures adopted by the Responsible Entity to reduce, avoid, or eliminate 
adverse environmental impacts and to avoid non-compliance or non-conformance with the above-listed 
authorities and factors. These measures/conditions must be incorporated into project contracts, 
development agreements, and other relevant documents. The staff responsible for implementing and 
monitoring mitigation measures should be clearly identified in the mitigation plan. 

Law, Authority, or Factor  
 

Mitigation Measure 

  

 
Determination:  

 This categorically excluded activity/project converts to EXEMPT per Section 58.34(a)(12), because 
it does not require any mitigation for compliance with any listed statutes or authorities, nor 
requires any formal permit or license; Funds may be committed and drawn down after 
certification of this part for this (now) EXEMPT project; OR 

 This categorically excluded activity/project cannot convert to Exempt status because one or more 
statutes or authorities listed at Section 58.5 requires formal consultation or mitigation. Complete 
consultation/mitigation protocol requirements, publish NOI/RROF and obtain “Authority to Use 
Grant Funds” (HUD 7015.16) per Section 58.70 and 58.71 before committing or drawing down 
any funds; OR 

 This project is not categorically excluded OR, if originally categorically excluded, is now subject to 
a full Environmental Assessment according to Part 58 Subpart E due to extraordinary 
circumstances (Section 58.35(c)).  

 
Preparer Signature: __________ ________________________________________Date:_______ 
Name/Title/Organization: _Beth Meyer, Grants Administrator, City of Pascagoula______  
Responsible Entity Agency Official Signature: ______________________________Date:________ 
Name/Title: __Joseph R. Huffman, City Manager___________________________________ 
 
This original, signed document and related supporting material must be retained on file by the 
Responsible Entity in an Environmental Review Record (ERR) for the activity/project (ref: 24 CFR Part 
58.38) and in accordance with recordkeeping requirements for the HUD program(s).  



  

115 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G7: U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW REQUEST 

 

Note: Paul Necaise requested to be contacted via email (paul_necaise@fws.gov) instead of traditional 

mail.  

 

Date 

 

Paul Necaise, Coastal Biologist 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 

6578 Dogwood Parkway, Suite A 

Jackson, MS 39213 

 

RE: City of Pascagoula CDBG YEAR Chateau Lake Drainage Repairs 

 

Dear Mr. Necaise, 

 

A determination is requested from your office to complete an environmental review for HUD for 

the above referenced project: 

 

 Project 1: The City of Pascagoula will replace a collapsed storm drain to prevent flooding 
in the vicinity of Chateau Lake. 

 Project 2:  
 

Enclosed please find a map of the proposed project. 

 

 Please do not hesitate to contact the Grants Administrator by phone (228) 938-6639 or by email 

bmeyer@cityofpascagoula.com should you need any additional information or have any questions.  I 

appreciate your assistance with this matter. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Name 

Director of Community Development 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:paul_necaise@fws.gov
mailto:bmeyer@cityofpascagoula.com


  

116 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G8: MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT ARCHIVES AND HISTORY ENVIRONMENTAL 

REVIEW REQUEST 

 

Date 

 

 

Mr. Greg Williamson 

Mississippi Department of Archives and History 

P.O. Box 571 

Jackson, MS 39205-0571 

 

RE: City of Pascagoula CDBG YEAR Chateau Lake Drainage Repairs 

 

Dear Mr. Baker, 

 

A determination is requested from your office to complete an environmental review for HUD for 

the above referenced project: 

 

 Sample Text: The City of Pascagoula will replace a collapsed storm drain to prevent 
flooding in the vicinity of Chateau Lake. 

 

Enclosed please find a map of the proposed project. 

 

 Please do not hesitate to contact the Grants Administrator at (228) 938-6639 should you need 

any additional information or have any questions.  I appreciate your assistance with this matter. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Name 

Director of Community Development 

 

 

 



  

117 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G9:  MISSISSIPPI BAND OF CHOCTAW INDIANS ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

REQUEST 

 
Note: Ken Carleton requested that the MBCI only be contact if a project will result in ground disturbance 

with the potential to disturb or destroy an archaeological site in an email on June 2, YEAR. 

 

Date 

 

 

Mr. Kenneth H. Carleton 

Tribal Historic Preservation Officer 

Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians 

P.O. Box 6257 

Choctaw, MS 39350 

 

RE: City of Pascagoula CDBG YEAR Chateau Lake Drainage Repairs 

 

Dear Mr. Carleton, 

 

A determination is requested from your office to complete an environmental review for HUD for 

the above referenced project: 

 

 Sample Text: The City of Pascagoula will replace a collapsed storm drain to prevent 
flooding in the vicinity of Chateau Lake. 

 

Enclosed please find a map of the proposed project. 

 

 Please do not hesitate to contact Grants Administrator at (228) 938-6639 should you need any 

additional information or have any questions.  I appreciate your assistance with this matter. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Name 

Director of Community Development 

 
 
 
 



  

118 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G10:  MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF MARINE RESOURCES ENVIRONMENTAL 

REVIEW REQUEST 

 

Date 

Jan Boyd, Director  

Mississippi Coastal Program  

Department of Marine Resources  

1141 Bayview Avenue, Suite 101  

Biloxi, MS 39530  

 

Re: CDBG FYYEAR – MCC Park Restroom ADA Access Improvements 

       Coastal Zone Management 

 

Dear Mr. Boyd: 

 

A determination is requested from your office to complete an environmental review for the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development for the above referenced project: 

 

 Sample Text: The project will remove architectural barriers in order to make the restrooms at the 
park ADA compliant. There are currently two stalls in each of the men’s and women’s restrooms. 
Removing the stalls and one of the lavatories in each of the restrooms will remove restrictions to 
mobility. Grab bars and sink pipe protection will also be added. 

 

Enclosed please find a location map for the proposed project. Please do not hesitate to contact me at 

(228) 938-6651 should you need any additional information or have any questions. I appreciate your 

assistance with this matter. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Name 

Community and Economic Development Director 

 

 

 



  

119 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G11:  ENVIORNMENTAL ASSESSMENT FORM 

 

Environmental Assessment  
For HUD-funded Proposals 

Recommended Format per 24 CFR Part 58.36 
Revised March 2005  

 
Project Identification:__________________________________ 
Preparer:_____________________________________________ 
Responsible Entity:____________________________________ 
Month/Year:__________________________________________ 
 

Environmental Assessment 
 

Responsible Entity: ____________________________________ 
(24 CFR Part 58.2(a)(7)) 
Certifying Officer: ______________________________________ 
(24 CFR Part 58.2(a)(2)) 
 

Project Name: _________________________________________ 
Project Location:_______________________________________                    
Estimated Project Cost: __________________ 
 
Grant Recipient: ________________________________________ 
(24 CFR Part 58.2(a)(5)) 
Recipient Address: ______________________________________ 
Project Representative: __________________________________ 
Telephone Number:_________________________ 
 

Conditions for Approval:__________________________________ 
List all mitigation measures adopted by the responsible entity to eliminate or minimize adverse 
environmental impacts.  These conditions must be included in project contracts and other relevant 
documents as requirements.  (See 24 CFR 58.40(d); 40 CFR 1505.2(c)). 
 

FINDING:  (24 CFR Part 58.40(g)) 
_____  Finding of No Significant Impact  

(The project will not result in a significant impact on the quality of the human environment) 
_____  Finding of Significant Impact  

(The project may significantly affect the quality of the human environment) 
 

Preparer Signature: ________________________________ Date: _______________ 
Name/Title/Agency: ____________________________________________________ 
 

RE Approving Official Signature:______________________ Date: _______________ 
Name/Title/Agency: ____________________________________________________ 
 



  

120 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Statement of Purpose and Need for Proposal: (40 CFR Part 1508.9(b)) 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Description of the Proposal: Include all contemplated actions, which logically are either geographically 
or functionally a composite part of the project, regardless of the source of funding (24 CFR Part 58.32; 
40 CFR Part 1508.25). 
 

Existing Conditions and Trends:  Describe the existing conditions of the project area and its 
surroundings, and trends likely to continue in the absence of the project (24 CFR Part 58.40(a)).  
  
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT FORM REQUIRES COMPLETION OF THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS: 

1. Statutory Worksheet 24 CFR §58.5 Statutes, Executive Orders and Regulations  
2. NEPA Environmental Assessment Checklist  
3. 8-Step Decision Making Process pursuant to EO 11988  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

121 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G12:  NEPA ENVIORNMENTAL ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST 
 [Environmental Review Guide HUD CPD 782, 24 CFR 58.40; Ref. 40 CFR 1508.8 &1508.27] 

Evaluate the significance of the effects of the proposal on the character, features and resources of the project area.  Enter 
relevant base data and verifiable source documentation to support the finding. Then enter the appropriate impact code from 
the following list to make a determination of impact.  Impact Codes:  (1) - No impact anticipated; (2) - Potentially beneficial; (3) 
- Potentially adverse; (4) - Requires mitigation;  (5) - Requires project modification.  Note names, dates of contact, telephone 
numbers and page references.  Attach additional material as appropriate. Note conditions or mitigation measures required. 
 

Land Development             Code           Source or Documentation 

Conformance with Comprehensive 
Plans  
and Zoning 

  

Compatibility and  
Urban Impact 

  
 

Slope   

Erosion   

Soil Suitability   

Hazards and Nuisances  
including Site Safety 

  

Energy Consumption   

 

Noise - Contribution to Community 
Noise Levels 

  

Air Quality 
Effects of Ambient Air Quality on 
Project and Contribution to 
Community Pollution Levels 

  

Environmental Design 
Visual Quality - Coherence, Diversity, 
Compatible Use and 
Scale 

  

  

Socioeconomic                  Code              Source or Documentation 

Demographic Character Changes   
Displacement   
Employment and Income Patterns   

 
Community Facilities 
    and Services                   Code               Source or Documentation 

Educational Facilities   

Commercial Facilities   

Health Care   

Social Services   

Solid Waste   

Waste Water   

Storm Water   

Water Supply   

Public Safety   



  

122 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

                      - Police  

                      - Fire   

 - Emergency Medical   

Open Space and Recreation  
                     - Open Space 

  
 

                     - Recreation   

                     - Cultural Facilities   

Transportation   

 
Natural Features    Source or Documentation 

Water Resources   

Surface Water   

Unique Natural Features and 
Agricultural Lands 

  

Vegetation and Wildlife   

 
Other Factors          Source or Documentation 

Flood Disaster Protection Act 
[Flood Insurance] 
[§58.6(a)] 

  

Coastal Barrier Resources Act/ 
Coastal Barrier Improvement Act 
[§58.6(c)] 

  

Airport Runway Clear Zone or Clear 
Zone Disclosure 
[§58.6(d)] 

  

Other Factors 
 

  

 

Summary of Findings and Conclusions 
 
ALTERNATIVES TO THE PROPOSED ACTION 
Alternatives and Project Modifications Considered [24 CFR 58.40(e),  Ref. 40 CFR 1508.9] (Identify other reasonable 

courses of action that were considered and not selected, such as other sites, design modifications, or other uses of the subject 
site.  Describe the benefits and adverse impacts to the human environment of each alternative and the reasons for rejecting it.) 

 
No Action Alternative [24 CFR 58.40(e)] 

(Discuss the benefits and adverse impacts to the human environment of not implementing the preferred alternative). 

 
Mitigation Measures Recommended [24 CFR 58.40(d), 40 CFR 1508.20] 

(Recommend feasible ways in which the proposal or its external factors should be modified in order to minimize adverse 
environmental impacts and restore or enhance environmental quality.) 
 
Additional Studies Performed 
(Attach studies or summaries) 

 
List of Sources, Agencies and Persons Consulted [40 CFR 1508.9(b)] 
 



  

123 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G13:  FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT AND NOTICE OF INTENT 
 

TIPS 

 This notice is to be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the non-legal section when the 
level of environmental review is determined to be Environmental Assessment, per 24 CFR 58.36. 

 This notice is to be published when the Environmental Review Record (ERR) is complete, and has been 
signed by the preparer and the certifying officer. 

 The notice must appear at least once.  The grantee must obtain a clipping of the notice, including 
evidence of the date of publication. 

 The notice must specify, at a minimum, a 15-calendar day period within which persons may evaluate 
and comment on the record.  (The first day the notice is published is considered day 0.  If the 15th day 
falls on a weekend or holiday, the period must be extended to the next business day.)  The record 
must be readily available for public inspection within the jurisdiction of the grantee on the first day of 
the comment period. 

 The notice must specify, at a minimum, an additional 15-calendar day period within which persons 
may object to the release of funds.  There must be a minimum of 3 calendar days between the last 
date of the local comment period and the first date of the objection period.  During this time, the 
grantee mails a copy of a Request for Release of Funds and Certification to HUD. 

 Example:          Date 
Publication Date         1st 

1st day of Local Comment Period       2nd 

Last day of the Local Comment Period      16th 

(Note: Make sure the last day of local comment is a business day – if the last  

day ends up being on a weekend, you must bump it up to the next business day) 
 

Mailing time for Request for Release of Funds and Certification (RROF and Cert.) 17th – 20th 

(Note: CEO cannot sign RROF until the 17th or day after the last day of the local 

comment period) 
 

Date HUD Receives RROF and Certification    21st 

1st day of Objection Period        22nd 

Last day of Objection Period        7th 

Date HUD can Release if no Objections are received   8th 
 

 The notice must use the prescribed format, and the title of the notice must be published. 

 Listed below is the minimum format required for the notice.  The grantee is to fill in the appropriate 
information between the parentheses (). 

 
 
 
 
 
 



  

124 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

NOTICE TO PUBLIC OF A  FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE ENVIRONMENT (FONSI) 
COMBINED NOTICE 

 (Date of Publication) 
 (Name of Responsible Entity) 
 (Name of the Agency) 
 (Address of the Location of the Environmental Review Records) 
 (Phone Number for Questions) 
 

To All Interested Persons, Agencies, and Groups: 
 

The (Name of Responsible Entity) proposes to request that HUD release Federal funds under Section 104 
(g) of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended; Section 288 of Title II 
of the Cranston Gonzales National Affordable Housing Act (NAHA), as amended; and  Title IV of the 
Stewart B. McKinney Homeless Assistance Act, as amended; to be used for the following project(s): 

(Project Name: List of Project's Activities) 
(Source of Federal Funds, e. g. CDBG, ARC, ESG, HOME, etc.) 

(Description of Purpose or Nature of the Project) 
(Identification of Single or Multi-Year Project) 

(Location, e. g. Village, City, County) 
(Estimated Cost of Project) 

 

The (Name of Responsible Entity) has determined that the project(s) will have no significant impact on the 
environment.  Therefore, an Environmental Impact Statement under the National Environmental Policy 
Act of 1969, as amended is not required. 
 

The (Name of Responsible Entity) has prepared an Environmental Review Record (ERR) for each of the 
projects listed above.  The ERR(s) documents the environmental review of the project(s).  The ERR(s) is 
(are) on file and available for the public's examination and copying, upon request, between the hours of 
(time) a.m. and (time) p.m., Monday through Friday (except holidays) at the above address. 
 

Note: If any negative environmental impacts have been identified, publish the following: 
The (Name of Responsible Entity) has identified the following negative environmental impacts, and will 
implement the appropriate associated mitigation measures: 
(List impact(s) of each Project.) 
 

Note: Or, if no negative impacts have been identified, publish the following 
No further environmental review of the project(s) will be conducted prior to the request for release of 
Federal funds. 
 

The (Name of Responsible Entity) plans to undertake the project(s) described above with the Federal funds 
cited above.  Any interested person, agency, or group wishing to comment on the project or disagreeing 
with this Finding of No Significant Impact decision may submit written comments for consideration to the 
(Name of Responsible Entity) at the above listed address by 5:00 p. m. on (Date 1), which is at least 15 
calendar days after the publication of this combined notice.  A notice regarding the responsible entity’s 
intent to request the release of funds is listed immediately below. 
 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO REQUEST RELEASE OF FUNDS (NOI/RROF) 
 



  

125 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

To All Interested Persons, Agencies, and Groups: 
 

On or about, but not before, (Date 2), the (Name of Responsible Entity) will submit a request to the City 
of Pascagoula for the release of Federal funds under Section 104 (g) of Title I of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974, as amended; Section 288 of Title II of the Cranston Gonzales 
National Affordable Housing Act (NAHA), as amended; and  Title IV of the Stewart B. McKinney 
Homeless Assistance Act, as amended; to be used for the project(s) listed above. 
 

The (Name of Responsible Entity) certifies to the City of Pascagoula that (Name of Certifying Officer), in 
his/her capacity as (Title, e.g. Mayor or President of County Commissioners), consents to accept the 
jurisdiction of Federal courts if an action is brought to enforce responsibilities in relation to the 
environmental review process and that these responsibilities have been satisfied. 
 

The legal effect of the certification is that upon its approval, the (Name of Responsible Entity) may use the 
Federal funds, and the City of Pascagoula will have satisfied its responsibilities under the National 
Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as amended. 
 

The City of Pascagoula will accept an objection to its approval of the release of funds and 
acceptance of the certification only if it is on one of the following grounds:  (a) the certification 
was not, in fact, executed by the responsible entity’s Certifying Officer; (b) the responsible 
entity has failed to make one of the two findings pursuant to Section 58.40 or to make the 
written determination required by section 58.35, 58.47, or 58.53 for the project, as applicable; 
c) the responsible entity has omitted one or more of the steps set forth at subpart E of 24 CFR 
Part 58 for the preparation, publication, and completion of an Environmental Assessment; d) 
the responsible entity has omitted one or more of the steps set forth at subparts F and G of 24 
CFR Part 58 for the conduct, preparation, publication, and completion of an Environmental 
Impact Statement; e) the recipient has committed funds or incurred costs not authorized by 24 
CFR Part 58 before release of funds and approval of the environmental certification by the 
State; or f) another federal agency, acting pursuant to 40 CFR Part 1504, has submitted a 
written finding that the project is unsatisfactory from the standpoint of environmental quality. 
 
Written objections must meet the conditions and procedures set forth in subpart H of 24 CFR Part 58, and 
be addressed to: City of Pascagoula Community and Economic Development; P. O. Drawer 908; 
Pascagoula, MS 39568. 
 
Objections to the Release of Funds on bases other than those stated above will not be considered by the 
City of Pascagoula.  No objections received after (Date 3) (which is 15 calendar days after it is anticipated 
that the State will receive a request for release of funds) will be considered by the City of Pascagoula. 
 
The address of the certifying officer is:  

   (Name and Title of Chief Executive Officer) 
    (Name of Community) 
    (Address) 

 
 



  

126 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

COMBINED NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC OF A FONSI AND A NOI/RROF 
 By combining the publication of a FONSI and NOI/RROF, the combined notice meets two separate procedural 

requirements (see 24 CFR 58.43, §58.45, and §58.70).  The responsible entity can choose, however, to 
publish these notices individually. 

 The responsible entity must publish this notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the non-legal section 
for all Environmental Assessment-level projects when the responsible entity determines that the project 
is not an action that will result in a significant impact on the quality of the human environment.  This is the 
required format.  The title of the notice must be published, as well as the body of the notice. 

 No portion of the aggregated project may move forward and no funds may be committed until the 
Responsible Entity receives a Release of Funds from the State. 

 Insert local information and dates in the areas bracketed with parentheses.  Explanations of the relevant 
dates are listed below: 

 Date 1: Last Date the Responsible Entity will Receive Comments for Consideration. 
To determine this date, count 15 calendar days forward starting the day after the 
publication is to appear in the newspaper (if this date is on a weekend or holiday, use 
the next business working day as this date). 

 Date 2: Date the Responsible Entity Plans to Submit a Request For Release of Funds and 
   Certification. 
   The earliest possible date the Responsible Entity can submit a RROF is one day after  
   The last day of the local comment period (Date 1). 
 Date 3: Last Day the Public May Object to the State Releasing the Community's Funds. 

 Prior to submitting a Request for Release of Funds and Certification, the Responsible Entity must consider all 
comments received during the published local comment period and, if necessary, make final revisions to 
the environmental review record.  The Responsible Entity's Request for Release of Funds and Certification 
may be signed by the certifying officer after due consideration of all comments.  Therefore, the certifying 
officer can sign on or after, but not before, Date 2. 

 After acquiring the signature of the certifying officer, the Responsible Entity may submit the Request for 
Release of Funds and Certification to the State.  A copy of the published NOI/RROF, as it actually appeared 
in the newspaper, must accompany the RROF. 

 Upon receipt of the RROF, the State reviews the publication for accuracy and evaluates the appropriateness 
of the environmental review classification.  The Responsible Entity can perform a self-check on the 
submission prior to sending it to the State by completing a Completeness Screening of Environmental 
Request for Release of Funds and Certification for Environmental Assessment Projects. 

 Upon receipt of a valid RROF, the State is required to receive and consider any objections to the release of 
funds.  Objections will be resolved in coordination with the Responsible Entity.  Upon resolution of 
objections (or, if the State did not receive any objections, following the 15-day comment period), the State 
will issue a Release of Funds (ROF) to the Responsible Entity.  Upon receipt of the ROF, the Responsible 
Entity may commit funds to the project and proceed with project work. 

 If you have any questions regarding the publication of the combined notice or the ROF process, please 
contact one of the State's Environmental Review Specialists at (614) 466-2285. 

 All correspondence should addressed to: Community and Economic Development Department, P.O. 
Drawer 908, Pascagoula, MS 39568 

 
 
 



  

127 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX G14:  REQUEST FOR RELEASE OF FUNDS AND CERTIFICATION 
 



  

128 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

129 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX H1: PROCUREMENT FLOW CHART 



  

130 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H2: CDBG PROJECTS MINI-GUIDE FOR ENGINEERS WORKING  

AN OVERVIEW OF THE KEY REQUIREMENTS AND YOUR ROLE IN ENSURING PROJECT SUCCESS 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

City of Pascagoula 

Welcome to the world of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG).  Engineers play an important role 
in many CDBG-funded construction projects at the local level.  As a key player in a CDBG-funded project, 
it is critical that you understand and adhere to a myriad of rules and requirements to ensure each project’s 
success and full compliance.  
 
Below is a summary of some of the requirements that apply with the use of CDBG funds (as well as funds 
used as match); including some of the Federal “cross-cutting” requirements that are triggered when CDBG 
funds are used in a project.  Each section is described in summary fashion with information on what the 
requirement translates with regard to a project, as well as some information on the typical role that is 
expected of an engineer with regard to that requirement.   
 
Engineers should have a good working relationship with their grantee (local government entity that 
receives the CDBG funds) and the certified grant administrator (entity or person overseeing the project 
on a grantee’s behalf), and should adhere to the scope of work in the engineering contract.   
 
Environmental Review  
Environmental review refers to the process of assessing the impact of a Federally-funded project on the 
environment as well as the impact of the environment on the project in accordance with procedures and 
processes outlined in Federal regulations and other authorities.   
 
Under 24 CFR Part 58, CDBG recipients (units of local government) are required to conduct an 
environmental review.  Part 58 implements the policies of the National Environmental Protection Act 
(NEPA) of 1969, other Federal laws and authorities, and HUD-specific environmental requirements.  Once 
a grantee has submitted an application for CDBG funds to the State, Part 58 requirements are applicable 
to the project.  At this point, the grantee and any other project participants must cease all project activity 
until the environmental review has been completed.   
 
Engineers must understand and comply with Part 58 which prohibits nearly all types of project activities 
and actions from being undertaken prior to completion of the environmental review and the receipt of 
environmental clearance from the state.  In addition, engineers should note that even if another Federal 
funding source is involved in a project (i.e. USDA), an environmental review that meets the HUD 
requirements must be completed.  The entire environmental review process can take a minimum of 90 
calendar days.  It is encouraged that the environmental review process be started as early as possible.   
 



  

131 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

The role of the engineer might include providing essential information to the grantee (local unit of 
government) and  its grant administrator for the environmental review.  The engineer might be asked to 
assist in the areas of: designating wetlands, providing maps showing project area, describing how the 
project will be carried out including identifying existing right-of-way, stream crossings, etc.   Engineers 
should NOT authorize any project activity without the approval of the grantee and  the grant 
administrator.   
 
The grantee (local unit of government) is required to conduct an environmental review of the project area 
before Release of Funds is issued.  The certified grant administrator and the engineer should work 
together to complete the environmental review record and address any issues that may be found.  Under 
no circumstances can a project proceed without clearance of the environmental review record by the 
Department.    
 
Procurement  
The use of CDBG funds requires compliance with 24 CFR Part 85 and state/local procurement procedures 
to ensure maximum open and free competition and that supplies, services and construction are obtained 
efficiently and economically.  Grantees are required to adhere to a written code/standards of conduct.  
Affirmative steps must be taken to assure that small, minority and female-owned businesses have the 
opportunity to provide supplies, equipment, construction and services.  Grantees must perform some 
type of cost or price analysis in connection with every procurement, including contract modifications, and 
must only permit allowable costs to be included.  A cost plus a percentage of cost method of contracting 
may not be used.  The design-build process may not be used.   
 

 Engineering services are typically procured using Competitive proposals.  Grantees cannot enter into a 
contract with an engineer until after Release of Funds.  Competitive sealed bids (formal advertising) must 
be used for all construction contracts, which requires publicly solicited sealed bids and a firm-fixed price 
contract (including unit prices) awarded to the lowest most responsive bidder. (To be considered 
responsive, a bid must conform to the material requirements of bid documents.  The bid documents must 
be examined to ensure that the bidder did not alter the specifications or other terms and conditions (e.g., 
delivery schedules, payment terms, etc.) or attempt to impose different terms and conditions. If the bid 
does not conform to the solicitation, it must be rejected and the next lowest bid examined for 
responsiveness.  The Contracting Officer shall document his/her findings regarding the low bidder’s 
responsiveness in the procurement file.) 

 The process must meet certain minimum conditions including the information provided to bidders, the 
publication period, bid opening process, bid review and selection process, etc.  The scope of work in bid 
and contract documents must be the same as what was approved and stated in the bid documents.  If all 
bids received are over budget, then the grantee should contact the Department to discuss options, or the 
grantee has the option to re-bid the project.  Grantees cannot enter into a construction contract until 
after Release of Funds has been awarded and appropriate procurement procedures have been met.   
Engineers will typically prepare the technical bid specifications.  The specifications should provide a 
complete and accurate description of the materials, products and services to be provided or performed, 
all of the required Federal and state CDBG clauses and bonding and insurance requirements.  The required 
documents can be found at:  http://www.neded.org/community/grants/documentslibrary-a-

http://www.neded.org/community/grants/documentslibrary-a-forms#cdbgotherforms


  

132 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

forms#cdbgotherforms, Construction Compliance Packet-After Award and Construction Compliance 
Packet-Bid Documents.   
 
Engineers must adhere to all requirements pertaining to the bidding, review and selection process and 
should not approve or give any indication of approval of a bid that has not adhered to the required process 
and been approved by the grantee.  It is recommended bid documents be reviewed by the local attorney.   
 
Construction Management 
Construction management refers to the process of overseeing any type of construction project using 
standard procedures and tools such as preconstruction conferences, inspections prior to payment, pre-
approval of change orders, coordination and communication regarding project timelines, etc.  CDBG 
grantees are monitored on whether or not they have properly overseen CDBG-funded projects to ensure 
funds are spent in compliance with all applicable requirements and within the project time periods 
outlined in the grant agreement with the state. 
 
It is critical that engineers establish a good working relationship with the grantee and the grant 
administrator.  The engineer must adhere to all of the procedures that have been put in place and 
communicate regularly regarding all aspects of the project.  Regular project meetings or conference calls 
are recommended.  In addition, the schedule for construction is critical to the grant period.  Any failure to 
get the project underway and completed in a timely manner can cause a loss of grant funds and affect the 
grantee’s ability to obtain future funding; therefore, information regarding any possible delays must be 
conveyed to the grantee and grant administrator as soon as they arise.   
 
Engineers will play a key role in the preconstruction conference by reviewing plans and explaining 
contractual requirements and expectations, reviewing the construction schedule, establishing procedures 
for change orders, inspections and payments, etc.  The engineer needs to coordinate and communicate 
regularly and fully with the grantee and grant administrator during the entire project, including informing 
the grantee and grant administrator of any issues that may have arisen or will arise with the project 
schedule.   
 
Davis-Bacon and Related Acts (Labor Standards)  
Labor standards refer to a set of requirements that apply to Federally-funded projects to ensure a 
minimum level of pay to and safety standards for workers.   
 
- The Davis-Bacon Act is applicable to all contracts for construction and requires that workers be 

paid certain minimum wages.   
- The Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act requires that payment to employees must be made at least 

once a week without subsequent deductions or rebate on any account except “permissible” 
payroll deductions.   

- The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (CWHSSA) requires that laborers and 
mechanics not work in excess of forty (40) hours in any work week on a covered project unless 
they receive overtime compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate 
of pay for those overtime hours plus any fringe benefits.  CWHSSA also provides for safety 
protection of workers on the job site.   

http://www.neded.org/community/grants/documentslibrary-a-forms#cdbgotherforms


  

133 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

- The Fair Labors Standards Act (FLSA) contains Federal minimum wage rates and overtime (O/T) 
requirements.   

 
Grantees are required to document compliance with the above referenced requirements.  Wage decisions 
must be obtained and included in all bid documents along with certain regulatory language to inform 
potential bidders of the applicable requirements.  The wage decision must also be included in all contracts 
and subcontracts.  Labor requirements should be discussed at the preconstruction conference by the 
CDBG administrator.  Certain information must be posted at the construction site (wage decision, posters, 
etc).  During construction weekly payrolls in a prescribed format must be submitted by all contractors and 
subcontractors and periodic on-site employee interviews must be conducted.  If any issues arise after the 
submission of the payrolls, the grantee will have to hold payments to the prime contractor until the issues 
are resolved.  The grants administrator will have to verify compliance by contractors by conducting on-
site interviews with workers.   
 
Typically, the Director of Community and Economic Development manages the labor standards 
compliance for construction projects.  The engineer can help to ensure that the wage decision and 
required labor standards language are included in all bid and contract documents.  The engineer can also 
avoid any problems and  construction delays by being informed of the requirements and conveying the 
importance of compliance to the contractor and subcontractors on a regular basis.   
 
Section 3  
Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, requires that training, 
employment and other economic opportunities generated by certain types of construction projects shall, 
to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to low and moderate income persons and to businesses that 
provide economic opportunities to low- and very low-income persons.  These requirements apply to 
contractors and subcontractors performing work on construction projects for which the amount of the 
assistance exceeds $200,000; and the contract or subcontract exceeds $100,000.  If this threshold is met, 
the Section 3 requirements apply to the entire project or activity that is funded with Section 3 covered 
assistance, regardless of whether the Section 3 activity is fully or partially funded with Section 3 covered 
assistance.   
 
If the project meets the threshold described above, the contractor and subcontractors will have to make 
efforts to train and hire local low income residents and  to hire businesses owned by local low income 
residents.  Similar to labor standards, clauses spelling out these requirements must be in all bid and 
contract documents and the contractor will have to report to the grantee and certified grant administrator 
to document its efforts.   
 
Typically, the Director of Community and Economic Development manages Section 3 compliance for 
construction projects.  Engineers can assist by ensuring that Section 3 clauses and forms are included in 
bid and contract documents and assist contractors with hiring questions to ensure compliance and 
decrease the chances of project delays.    
 
 
 



  

134 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Financial Management  
CDBG grantees are held accountable for all funds, property and assets of the CDBG program.  Grantees 
must maintain a financial accounting system for grants that meets the CDBG regulations, 24CFR Part 84 
and OMB Circular A-87 and A-133.  This includes requirements pertaining to financial management 
systems and records, allowable costs and audits.  Grantees are required to ensure that CDBG funds are 
spent only on reasonable and necessary costs associated with approved grant activities and must have a 
procedure for determining the reasonableness, allowability and allocability of costs.   
 
Grantees and certified grant administrators are required to review all requests for payments to ensure 
that costs are allowable under regulations, approved in the CDBG grant application, allocated to the 
correct program activity and are reasonable.   
 
Engineers must be aware that grantees and certified grant administrators are subject to these 
requirements.  Engineers should ensure that their recommendations for payments to contractors are only 
for costs that are eligible, reasonable, and adhere to approved budgets, contract specifications, plans and 
other applicable requirements.   
 
Engineering Costs  
CDBG funds may be used to pay for specific engineering costs as shown below: 

- Preparing drawings and specifications  
- Provide information for use in filing applications for permits or design approvals 
- Revising drawings in response to directives from governmental authorities as needed 
- Preparing bid documents and revising,  as needed 
- Bidding the project and negotiating with contractors, if needed 
- Preparing the contract 
- Participating in the preconstruction conference 
- Construction observation and inspection  
- Preparing pay requests 
- Conducting final inspection and providing a notice stating that the work is acceptable  
- Preparing final as-built drawings 

Resources: 
HUD Forms  
HUD Labor Relations ........ portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/labor_relations/olrform 
 HUD 4010-Federal Labor Standards Provisions (Needs to be in Construction Contract) 
 HUD 11-Record of Employee Interview (English/Spanish) 

HUD 4230-A-Report of Additional Classification & Wage Rates 
WH-347-Payroll Report 
Making Davis-Bacon Work (Contractor’s Guide) 

 
Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act . http://www.dol.gov/compliance/laws/comp-cwhssa.htm 
 
Posters  
Labor Law Posters ..... http://mdes.ms.gov/employers/unemployment-tax/employer-resources/required-
posters/ or http://www.mwcc.state.ms.us/INFO/_posters.asp  

http://www.portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/labor_relations/olrform
http://www.dol.gov/compliance/laws/comp-cwhssa.htm
http://mdes.ms.gov/employers/unemployment-tax/employer-resources/required-posters/
http://mdes.ms.gov/employers/unemployment-tax/employer-resources/required-posters/
http://www.mwcc.state.ms.us/INFO/_posters.asp


  

139 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX H3: MANDATORY PROCUREMENT CONTRACT CLAUSES 

1. Compliance with Executive Order 11246 - During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor 
agrees as follows: 

a. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant because of race, creed, 
color, age, sex, handicap or national origin. The Contractor will take affirmative action to 
ensure that applicants are employed and that employees are treated during employment 
without regard to their race, religion, color, sex, sexual orientation, age, handicap or national 
origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: Employment, upgrading, 
demotion or transfer; recruitment advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor 
agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, 
notices to be provided setting forth the provisions of this non-discriminating clause. 

b. The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees place by or on behalf 
of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, religion, color, sex, age, handicap or national origin. 

c. The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 
collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice advising the said 
labor union or worker's representatives of commitments under this section, and shall post 
copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for 
employment.  

d. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because he or she is a disabled veteran or a veteran of the Vietnam Era in regard to any position 
for which the employee or applicant for employment is qualified. The Contractor agrees to 
take affirmative action to employ, advance in employment, and otherwise treat qualified 
disabled veterans and veterans of the Vietnam Era without discrimination based upon their 
disability or veteran status in all employment practices such as the following: employment 
upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment, advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay 
or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

e. The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, 
and of the rules, regulations and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. No segregated 
facilities will be maintained as required by Title VI of Civil Rights Acts of 1964. 

f. The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant 
thereto, and will permit access to his book, records, time cards, and accounts by the 
administering agency and the Secretary of Labor for the purposes of investigation to ascertain 
compliance with such rules, regulations and orders.  

g. In the event of the Contractor's non-compliance with the non-discriminatory clauses of this 
Contract or with any of the said rules, regulations or orders, this Contract may be canceled, 
terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for 
further grantee contracts or federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with 
procedures authorized in Executive Order 11236 of September 24, 1965, and such other 
sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in Executive Order 11246 of 



  

140 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulations or order, of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise 
provided by law. 

h. The Contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) 
and the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (8) in every subcontract or purchase order unless 
exempted by rules, regulations or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to Section 
204 of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding 
upon each subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with respect to any 
subcontract or purchase order as the administering agency may direct as a means of enforcing 
such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, however, that in the event 
a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or 
vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency, the Contractor may request 
the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

2. Audit, Inspection, and Retention of Records - The Contractor shall permit the Owner, the City of 
Pascagoula, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, the U.S. Department of 
Labor, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their duly authorized 
representatives, to inspect and audit any books, documents, papers, and records of the 
Contractor which are directly pertinent to the Contractor’s performance under this Contract until 
the expiration of three (3) years after the Owner makes final payment under this Contract and all 
other pending matters are closed. Failure of the Contractor to produce or have available these 
records may result in debarment. 

3. Energy Efficiency - The Contractor shall comply with the mandatory standards and policies relating 
to energy efficiency which are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in 
compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act (Pub. L. 94-163, 89 Stat. 871).  

4. Violation or Breach of Contract - If any party violates or breaches any term of this Contract, such 
violation or breach shall be deemed to constitute a default, and the other parties have the right 
to seek such administrative, contractual or legal remedies as may be suitable to the violation or 
breach; and, in addition, if any party, by reason of any default, fails within fifteen (15) calendar 
days after notice thereof by another party to comply with the conditions of the Contract, the party 
having provided such notice may terminate this Contract. 

5. Termination for Default or Convenience 
a. The Owner may terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice 

to the Contractor. The Contractor shall be paid its costs, including Contract closeout costs 
and profit on work performed up to the time of termination. The Contractor shall 
promptly submit its termination claim to be paid to the Contractor. If the Contractor has 
any property in its possession belonging to the Owner, the Contractor will account for the 
same, and dispose of it in the manner the Owner directs. The parties agree that the Owner 
shall not be liable for the cost of the Contractor doing business, his overhead, or salaries 
if this Contract is terminated. 

b. If the Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in this Contract, or if the 
Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this Contract, the Owner may 
terminate this Contract for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a "Notice of 
Termination" on the Contractor setting forth the manner in which the Contractor is in 
default. The Contractor will only be paid the Contract price for services performed in 
accordance with the manner of performance set forth in this Contract. 



  

141 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

c. In the event of a strike, fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of the Contractor, or 
events that make it impossible or impractical for the Contractor to complete said work on 
schedule, the Owner, after establishing a new performance schedule, may allow the 
Contractor to continue work, or may treat the said events as a termination for 
convenience. 

6. Subcontracts 
a. The Contractor shall not subcontract any work to be performed under this Contract to 

parties listed on the General Services Administration's List of Parties Excluded from 
Federal Procurement or Nonprocurement Programs in accordance with E.O.s 12549 and 
12689, "Debarment and Suspension." This list contains the names of parties debarred, 
suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, and contractors declared ineligible under 
statutory or regulatory authority other than E.O. 12549. 

b. The provisions enumerated herein (including Exhibits) shall be applied to and physically 
be made a part of any and all subcontracts entered into by the Contractor for the 
performance of any part of the work of this Contract. The Contractor shall notify the 
Owner and the City of Pascagoula Community and Economic Development Department 
in writing prior to executing such subcontracts so that a pre-construction conference may 
be scheduled with the subcontractor and Owner to review applicable contract provisions. 

7. Section 3 Clause (Applicable if Contract amount exceeds $100,000) 
a. The work to be performed under this Contract is subject to the requirements of Section 3 

of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u 
(Section 3).  The purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic 
opportunities generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by Section 
3, shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, 
particularly persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 

b. The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135, 
which implement Section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties 
to this contract certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would 
prevent them from complying with the 24 CFR part 135 regulations. 

c. The Contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers 
with which the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, 
if any, a notice advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the 
Contractor's commitments under this Section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice 
in conspicuous places at the work site where both employees and applicants for training 
and employment positions can see the notice. The notice shall describe the Section 3 
preference, shall set forth minimum number and job titles subject to hire, availability of 
apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and 
location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated 
date the work shall begin. 

d. The Contractor agrees to include this Section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as 
provided in an applicable provision of the subcontract in this Section 3 clause, upon a 
finding that the subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. The 
Contractor will not subcontract with any subcontractor where the Contractor has notice 



  

142 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

or knowledge that the subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 
CFR part 135. 

e. The Contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training 
positions, that are filled (1) after the Contractor is selected but before the contract is 
executed, and (2) with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 
135 require employment opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the 
Contractor's obligations under 24 CFR part 135. 

f. Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 
termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD 
assisted contracts. 

g. With respect to work performed in connection with Section 3 covered Indian housing 
assistance, Section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 
U.S.C. 450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract. Section 7(b) 
requires that to the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training 
and employment shall be given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts 
and subcontracts shall be given to Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic 
Enterprises.  Parties to this contract that are subject to the provisions of Section 3 and 
Section 7(b) agree to comply with Section 3 to the maximum extent feasible, but not in 
derogation of compliance with Section 7(b). 

8. Environmental Protection (Applicable if Contract amount exceeds $100,000) - The Contractor 
shall comply with the applicable standards, orders, or requirements issued under section 306 of 
the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)), section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368), 
Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR part 15). 

9. Administrative, contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach 

contract terms, and provide for such sanctions and penalties as may be appropriate (contracts 

more than $50,000). 

10. Termination for cause and for conveniences by the City including the manner by which it will be 

effected and the basis for settlement. (All contracts in excess of $10,000) 

11. Compliance with the Copland "Anti-Kickback" act (18 U.S.C.)874) as supplemented in Department 

of Labor regulations 29 CFR part 3) (All contracts for construction or repair) 

12. Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C.276a to 276a-7) as supplemented by the 

Department of Labor regulations (29 part 5).  (Construction contracts in excess of $2,000) 

13. Notice of awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to reporting. 

14. Notice of awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to patent rights with respect 

to any discovery or invention, which arises or is developed in the course of or under such contract. 

15. Awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to copyrights and rights in data. 

16. Access by the City, the Federal grantor agency, the Comptroller General of the United States, or 

any of their duly authorized representatives to any books, documents, papers and records of the 

contractor which are directly pertinent to that specific contract for the purpose of making audit, 

examination, excerpts, and transcriptions. 

 



  

143 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H4: GUIDELINES FOR CONDUCTING COST ANALYSIS 

A cost or price analysis must be performed in connection with every procurement action including 
contract modifications. The method and degree of analysis is dependent on the facts surrounding the 
particular procurement situation. An independent estimate must be made before receiving bids or 
proposals. 

 When evaluating competitive proposals; 

 When there is a sole source (or non-competitive proposal); 

 When after solitciting bids, only one bid is received, the City does not have sufficient data on 
costs to establish price reasonableness (such as prior purchases of similar nature), and the City is 
considering making an award to the sole bidder; 

 When negotiating modifications to contracts that impact the price or estimated cost; 

 When terminating a contract and the contractor is entitled to payment of reasonable costs 
incurred as a result of terminiation; or 

 When awarding a cost-reimbursement contract. 
The following lists the basic steps in conducting a cost analysis: 

A.  Verify cost and price information, including: 
1. The necessity for, and reasonableness of, the proposed cost; 
2. Technical evaluation or appraisal of the proposed direct cost elements; 
3. Application of audited or pre-negotiated indirect cost rates, direct labor rates, etc.; 

B.  Evaluate the effect of the offeror/contractor’s current practices on future costs; 
 C.  Compare costs proposed by the offeror/contractor with the following: 

1. Actual costs previously incurred by the same firm; 
2. Previous cost estimates from the same firm or other firms for the same or similar items; 
3. The methodology to be used to perform the work (are the costs consistent with the 

technical approach being proposed?); 
4. The independent cost estimate (ICE). 

D. Verify that the offeror/contractor’s cost proposal complies with the appropriate cost principles; 
E. Verify that costs are allowable, allocable, and reasonable. 

The major categories of costs are: 
A. Direct Costs, which include: 

1. Direct Labor (personnel) 
2. Equipment 
3. Supplies 
4. Travel and Per Diem 

5. Subcontractors  
6. Other Direct Costs 

Cost Proposal Cost Principle 

For-Profit or commercial organization  FAR Part 31 

State or local governments OMB Circular A-87 

Private, non-profit organizations OMB Circular A-122 

Educational institutions OMB Circular A-21 

B. Indirect Costs, which includes: 
1. Overhead 



  

144 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

2. General and Administrative Expenses 
3. Profit (or Fee) 

In the process of analyzing costs, profit should be analyzed separately.  In analyzing profit, consideration 
should be given to:  

A. Complexity of the work to be performed
 

B. Contractor’s risk in performing the 
contract;  

C. Contractor’s investment in the 
contracted effort; 

D. Amount of subcontracting; 
E. Contractor’s record of past 

performance; and 
F. Industry profit rates in the general area 

for similar work. 
Remember: The objective is to establish overall cost reasonableness and not individual  
components. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

145 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX H5: CONSTRUCTION CHECKLIST 

 
ACTIVITY NAME: ____________________________________ 
 
1. PRIOR TO BIDDING, AGENCY HAS: 

 Received fully executed copy of Subrecipient Agreement/Contract  

 Developed clear and accurate bid specifications (If architects, engineers or other services are 
required in order to prepare the specifications for your project, you must procure those services) 

 Received Federal Wage Determination  

 Received determination from City staff whether project is covered under “Section 3” 
2. PREPARE BID PACKET: 

 Bid specifications for the construction activity 

 Language: “This is a federally-assisted project and Davis-Bacon (DBRA) requirements will be strictly 
enforced. Federal Labor Standards provisions HUD-4010 will be incorporated into the successful 
bidder’s contract and is attached hereto as Attachment __. Contractors, including all 
subcontractors and apprentices, must be eligible to participate. A Preliminary Federal Wage 
Determination #__ is incorporated herein and is attached hereto as Attachment __. Said Wage 
Determination is subject to change up to the lock-in date.” 

 Specifying only a “brand name” product instead of allowing “an equal” product is not allowed. 

  The language in the contract concerning Change Orders shall be such that cost plus will not be 
acceptable.  Lump sum Change Orders will be acceptable.  

 Bonding Requirements (applicable for construction contracts exceeding $100,000): 

 A Bid Bond or a certified check shall be filed with each bid equivalent to 5% of the bid 
price as assurance that the bidder will, upon acceptance of their bid, execute such 
contractual documents as may be required within the time specified. 

 A Performance Bond for 100% of the contract price to assure fulfillment of the 
contractor’s obligations under the contract. 

 A Payment Bond for 100% of the contract price to assure payment of all persons supplying 
labor and material in the execution of the work provided for in the contract. 

 NOTE: The Bid Bond must be submitted with the bid and the Performance Bond and 
Payment Bond must be provided to the project owner before construction begins. 

 Bidder’s Certification form, documenting compliance with CDBG rules and regulations 

 CDBG Contract Language 

 Federal Labor Standards Provisions 

 Federal Wage Determination 

 The location and date/time of the public bid opening 
3. PUBLIC BIDDING/ADVERTISING: 

 Bid Notice published in newspaper 15 calendar days prior to Bid Opening. Provide copy of 
publisher’s affidavit to the City. 

 Agency must make efforts to solicit participation by small, minority, women and  disabled 
owned businesses (document that Bid Notice has been sent to firms on City’s list and any other 
efforts) 



  

146 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 If Section 3 contract, must make attempt to solicit Section 3 Business Concerns 

 Maintain a list of all contractors that pick up a bid packet, and provide a copy of said list to the 
City. 

 Bids must remain sealed until the date/time indicated in the bid notice. Bids must be opened in 
a public meeting and read aloud. Record the results of the bid opening, and provide a copy to 
the City. 

 The City will review www.sam.gov to verify that contractors are not debarred 

 Selection of lowest responsible bidder, unless written justification is provided 
4. PREPARE CONTRACT, INCLUDE: 

 Language: “This is a federally-assisted project and Davis-Bacon requirements will be strictly 
enforced.  Federal Labor Standards provisions HUD-4010 is incorporated herein and attached 
hereto as Attachment Contractors, including all subcontractors and apprentices, are confirmed 
to be eligible to participate.  Federal Wage Determination #__ is incorporated herein and is 
attached hereto as Attachment __. Any request for payment, claim, or any other documentation 
submitted for the purpose of issuance of any payment, transfer or allocation of funds under this 
contract, shall require PRIOR written authorization and approval of CED staff.” 

 Federal Labor Standards Provisions - HUD 4010 

 CDBG Contract Language 

 Federal Wage Determination 

 Provide copy of contract to City 
5. PREPARE TO BEGIN CONSTRUCTION: 

 Subrecipient staff and General Contractors have attended mandatory Pre-Construction 
Conference with CED staff to review rules, regulations, and compliance 

 Subrecipient must collect Minority and Women’s Business Enterprise (MBE/WBE) Information 
Form for all contractors and subcontractors and provide copies to City 

6. CONSTRUCTION 

 If project is a Section 3 covered project, Contractor to submit list of employees within 7 calendar 
days of executing contract 

 Ensure that labor standards are being followed 

 “Employee Rights under the Davis Bacon Act” and Wage Determination posted at site 

 Certified Payroll Reports Collected Weekly by Subrecipient from Contractor 
 HUD-payroll form WH-347 – Original required to be maintained in Subrecipient 

file, copy to be submitted to City 
 HUD-payroll Certification – Original required to be maintained in Subrecipient 

file, copy to be submitted to City 

 Employee Interviews conducted by City 

 If project is Section 3 covered project, City will periodically request that Contractor submit 
updated list of employees identifying new hires since contract execution 

 If there are any Change Orders to the Contract, provide copies to the City 

 If any changes are made to the Contractors or subcontractors to the project, Subrecipient must 
collect updated Minority and Women’s Business Enterprise (MBE/WBE) Information Forms and 
submit to City 

 

http://www.sam.gov/


  

147 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX H6: BID RESULTS 

 
AGENCY NAME: _________________________________________________________________ 
ACTIVITY NAME: _________________________________________________________________ 
Bid Advertising Date: _____________________________________________________________ 
Bid Opening Date: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Bidders  Total Amount Bid Bond (if applicable) 

1.   

2.   

3.   

4.   

5.   

6.   

7.   

8.   

9.   

10.   

 
INSTRUCTIONS: 
Subrecipient may use this form as a record of the results of the Bid Opening – or use an Agency format 
document to record the results of the bid opening. 
 
Please note: Construction may not begin until a preconstruction conference has been held, including the 
CED staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

148 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX H7: PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE RECORD 

 
AGENCY NAME: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
ACTIVITY NAME: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
This is to certify that the representatives of the General Contractor and Subrecipient Agency, below, have 
attended a Preconstruction Conference and understand the Davis/Bacon Wage Requirements and the 
labor standards clauses pertaining to the subject project. 
 
 
__________________________________  __________________________________ 
Subrecipient Agency     General Contractor 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Agency Representative (Print)   General Contractor Representative (Print) 
by       by 
 
___________________________________  ____________________________________ 
(Signature)      (Signature) 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
(Title)       (Title) 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
(Date)       (Date) 
 
______________________________________ 
CED Staff signature 
 
INSTRUCTIONS: 
This form is to be completed and executed by Subrecipient Agency and General Contractor to the project.  
Originals must be maintained in the Subrecipient File; copy to City. 

 
 

 

 

 

 



  

149 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX I1: FILE MAINTENANCE CHECKLIST 

 

Activity Name:  

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

CDBG Fiscal Year: _____________________   Amount Funded: ______________________ 

Check of all documents within file: 

 Activity Description Sheet 

 Letter of Interest 

 Subrecipient Award Notification 

 Map(s) showing project location, boundaries, census tract, and low-mod percentage 

 Environmental Clearances 

 Conflict of Interest Questionnaire 

 Conflict of Interest Certification 

 Conflict of Interest Determination 

 Subrecipient Agreement 

 Limited Clientele Worksheet, if applicable  

 Subrecipient Monitoring Checklist 

 Monitoring Report 

 Income Determination as Appropriate for Homebuyer Down Payment Assistance, if applicable 

 Income Determination Calculation Chart, if applicable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

150 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX I2: LIMITED CLIENTELE WORKSHEET 

 
I. IDENTIFY THE PROJECT 

CDBG Fiscal Year:  ________________________________________ 
Subrecipient: ________________________________________ 
Project Location:  ________________________________________ 
 

II. IDENTIFY THE CLIENTELE TO BENEFIT 
To qualify under Limited Clientele criteria, the activity must benefit clientele who are generally 
presumed to by HUD to be principally low- to moderate-income (L/M) persons 
(24CFR570.483(b)(2)(ii)(A). Please select one of the following groups that are generally presumed by 
HUD to be principally L/M persons for this project. 

____ Presumed 
 ___ Abused Children    ___ Illiterate adults 
 ___ Battered Spouses   ___ Persons living with AIDS 
 ___ Elderly persons   ___ Severely disabled adults 
 ___ Family size and income  ___ Migrant farm workers 
       ___ Homeless persons 

____ Family size and income 
____ Low and moderate income eligibility restrictions 
____ Be of such a nature and in such a location to be concluded primarily LMI 
 

III. DOCUMENTATION 
Total Number Limited Beneficiaries:  __________________________________ 
Number of beneficiaries who are LMI: __________________________________ 
 
Provide the following information as applicable to the proposed project: 
For projects under the “presumed” group (as listed above): 

 Attach any documentation that the facility or service will be used exclusively by LMI persons. 

 Describe how the nature and  the location of the activity establish that it will be used primarily 
by LMI persons. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

151 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX I3: ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION SHEET 

 
Activity Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 
CDBG Fiscal Year: _______     Amount Funded: _______ 
Project Location: ______________________________________________________________________ 
Drawdowns:  First: Date: _____ Amount: ______ Last:  Date: _____ Amount: _____ 
National Objective: (check applicable) 

 Benefit low- and moderate-income persons: 
o         Area benefit activities 
o         Limited clientele activities:  

 Presumed     
 ___ Abused Children    ___ Illiterate adults 
 ___ Battered Spouses   ___ Persons living with AIDS 
 ___ Elderly persons   ___ Severely disabled adults 
 ___ Family size and income  ___ Migrant farm workers 
       ___ Homeless persons 

o ___ Low and moderate income eligibility restrictions 
o ___ Be of such a nature and in such a location to be concluded primarily LMI 
o         Housing activities 
o         Job creation or retention activities 

 Activities which aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight: 
o         Activities to address slums or blight on an area basis 
o         Activities to address slums or blight on a spot basis 
o          Activities designed to meet community development needs having particular 

urgency 
o         Additional criteria 

 
____ Map(s) attached showing project location, boundaries, census tract, and lowmod percentage 
 
 
 

 

  



  

152 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX J1: A-133 AUDIT PUBLIC SERVICES CERTIFICATIONS 

 

The City of Pascagoula is subject to the requirements of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 

Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Nonprofit Organizations.  Through the 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, the City is required to monitor our subrecipients 

of federal awards and determine whether they have met the audit requirements of the circular and 

whether they are in compliance with federal laws and regulations (24 CFR 570.502(a)(7) and 24 CFR 

570.502(b)).  A subrecipient spending $500,000 or more in total federal awards during the subrecipient’s 

fiscal year must have a single audit performed and is required to submit their audit report to the Federal 

Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) within the earlier of 30 calendar days after receipt of the auditor’s report, or 

within 9 months after the end of the audit period.   

 

1. Name of Subrecipient:  

2. CDBG Project (Fiscal) Year: 20 ____ 3. Contract Amount: $ ______ 

 

The City of Pascagoula requests the following:  

1. Provide all appropriate documentation regarding your organization’s compliance with the audit 
requirements, and 

2. Sign and date the letter and return this letter to the address below at your earliest convenience.  
 

City of Pascagoula 

Attn: Community & Economic Development, CDBG Grants 

P.O. Box 908  

Pascagoula, MS 39568 

 

If you have not completed your audit before receipt of this letter, please return this letter once your audit 

report has been completed and submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC). Please contact your 

finance office in completing the information below. 

 

Section A: Organization subject to the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 

Please check one of the following and provide all appropriate documents: 

 

 I hereby certify that for the fiscal year ended      (date):  

1. The auditor’s report on financial data states that the audited information is fairly stated in all 
material respects; and  

2. The administration of our federal projects has been audited in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 
and there were no  material instances of noncompliance with federal laws and regulations or 
reportable conditions; and  



  

153 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

3. There were no findings of noncompliance in the audit report that are specifically related to the 
subrecipient award(s); and  

4. Management has addressed the resolution of previous-year findings from prior audit reports if 
related to the subrecipient award(s).  

  

Auditor’s report filed on      (date). Enclosed is a copy of the audit report.  

 

 We have completed our OMB Circular A-133 audit for the fiscal year ended      (date), and material 

noncompliance issues and  reportable conditions were noted. Enclosed is a copy of the audit report 

and our response. 

 

 We have not completed our OMB Circular A-133 audit for the fiscal year ended      (date). 

We expect the audit to be completed by      (date). Within thirty (30) calendar days of completion 

of the A-133 audit we will provide a new Audit Certification along with the audit report and response 

(if applicable). 

 

Section B: Organization NOT subject to the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 

Our organization is not subject to the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 because we (please check one 

of the following): 

 

  Did not expend $500,000 or more of federal funds during the fiscal year. 

 

I CERTIFY THAT, I am an authorized agent of this organization and this form is being completed to the best 

of my knowledge and responsibility.  I understand failure to complete this form accurately and submit the 

necessary audit may affect current funding and eligibility for future funding. 

 

 

Name and Title:  ____________________________________________________________  

 

 

Signature:  ____________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

154 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX J2: A-133 AUDIT REVIEW CHECKLIST 

 

 

Name of Public Service:  __________________________ 

Date Fiscal Year Ends:   ___________________________ 

Name of Reviewer:          ___________________________ 

Date of Review:                ___________________________ 

 

A. Determine Need for Audit Report – This form is to be used to review audits that have been 
submitted through the A-133 Audit Certification form process which determines the need of 
audit report. 
 

B. Determine if there are specific findings related to CDBG funding in the report - Review 
sections 9 and I 0 in Part III of Form SF-SAC, Data Collection Form for Reporting on Audits of 
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.” 
(https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/Default.aspx)  Section 9 is entitled "Federal Awards 
Expended During Fiscal Year" and section 10 is entitled "Audit Findings".  

 
1. Are there any CDBG programs shown in section 9 with corresponding 

entries in section 10 Part III of Form SF-SAC?  
 

         

 

Yes       No 
Comments: 

 
 

If the answer to the above question is “Yes,” proceed to Section C below. If the answer to the above 

question is “No,” do not proceed further. The review process is complete. 

 

C. Review Audit Report – Review the audit report to determine which findings are in need of a 
management decision. 

 

1. Does the audit report contain current CDBG related findings?  

         

 

Yes       No 
Comments: 
 

2. Does the audit report contain prior CDBG related findings for which 
management decisions have not been previously made? 

 

         

 

Yes       No 

https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/Default.aspx


  

155 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

Comments: 
 

 

If the answer to any of the above questions is “Yes,” proceed to Sections D and E.  If the answers to 

all of the questions are “No,” do not proceed further.  The review process is complete.  

 

D. Make Management Decisions - Management decisions on all CDBG specific findings must be made 
within six months of receipt of the audit.  Even if the audit report contains a corrective action plan 
and a timetable for correcting the finding, you still must follow the formal management decision-
making process described here. 

 
Requirements: All management decisions for CDBG specific must be formally communicated to the 
recipient in written correspondence signed by the Community and Economic Development Director. 
The correspondence must clearly state the following: 

 
 Whether or not the City sustains the audit finding. 

 The reason(s) for the decision to sustain or not sustain the finding. 

 The expected action of the subrecipient to repay disallowed costs, to make financial 
adjustments, or to take other corrective action.  
o Note that Subpart A, §_105 of Circular A-133 defines corrective action to mean that the 

subrecipient has  
1. Corrected the identified deficiencies;  
2. Produced recommended improvements; or  
3. Demonstrated that audit findings are either invalid or do not warrant 

subrecipient action. 

 A timetable for the City follow-up action, if the subrecipient has not completed corrective 
action.  

 A description of the process available to the auditee for appealing any City -determined 
management decisions, if the specific program guidelines authorize such an appeal. 

 
The City will use the Sample Letter to the Audit Management Decision Letter (Appendix ___). 

1. Did the City make management decisions on all CPD-specific findings 
(current and prior) and were they made in accordance with the above 
requirements? (Check N/A if there were no CPD-specific findings in 
the report.) 

 

             

 

Yes      No    N/A 
Comments: 

 
 

 

If the answer to the question above is “No,” do not proceed further. The review process is complete. 

 

 

 

 



  

156 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX J3: A-133 AUDIT FINDINGS LETTER 

 

Date 

 
Subrecipient Name 

Subrecipient Address 

 
RE:  A-133 Single Audit Findings 

Fiscal Year XX Annual Audit [Period Ending (date)]  
 

Dear [Subrecipient Contact]: 

 
In accordance with OMB Circular A-133, Subpart D, §_.400, the City of Pascagoula is required to review the 
Audit of [Public Service Agency name]. As a result, this letter is in response to the audit findings contained 

in the annual Single Audit prepared by the CPA firm [name], in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, Audits 
of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. The audit listed three Findings [#,#,and#] 
related to the City of Pascagoula’s Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. In accordance 
with OMB Circular, Subpart D, paragraph 405(c)(5), this the City is required to issue management decision 
and ensure that the Public Service Agency takes appropriate and timely corrective action for each audit 
Finding. Below are the details of the Findings in the subject audit that relate to the Community 
Development Block Grant Public Service Agency funding. 

 
Finding  Number X: Lack of FYYEAR Quarterly Reports 

 

Condition: Through a review of the subrecipient’s records, the auditor determined that the 
subrecipient did not submit quarterly reports for Fiscal Year YEAR. 

 

Criteria: 24 CPR 85.41 (c), Financial Reporting, pursuant to 24 CPR 570.502(a)(l5),  requires that HUD 

recipients and subrecipients submit an SF 425, Federal Financial Report, on a quarterly basis, reflecting 
the federal funds received, disbursed, ending balance(s) by program, and related program income 
received and disbursed. 

 

Cause: The [auditee] did not maintain internal controls to ensure timely and accurate submission 
of quarterly reports as required by HUD regulations. 

 

Effect: The [auditee] is not in compliance with the CDBG regulations requiring submission of the 
Federal Financial Reports and, as a result, has not kept HUD informed of the status of its federal funds 
activity. 

 

Questioned  Costs:None. 
 

Management Decision: The City sustains the audit Finding. The failure to submit the SF 425, 

Federal Financial Report, on a quarterly basis is a violation of24  CPR 570.502(a)(15). 
 

Required  Corrective Action: The subrecipient must submit a copy of the policies and procedures put 
intoplace to ensure timely and accurate submission of the SF 425 form and submit copies of the missing 
quarterly reports for FY YEAR. 

 



  

157 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

 

Finding Number [XX]: Equipment 
 

Condition: The subrecipient sold equipment acquired with federal award funds (along with other 
subrecipient equipment) by way of an on-line auction without proper documentation of the items sold, 
the original costs of those items, and the related proceeds from their sale. 

 

Criteria:24 CPR 85.32(e)(2), Equipment disposition, pursuant to 24 CFR 570.502(a)(8), states that the 

awarding agency has the right to a proportionate amount of the proceeds due to the disposition of 
equipment with a fair market value of $5,000.00 or more, if the disposed equipment was acquired via 
the awarded federal funds. 

 

Cause:  The subrecipient did not have procedures in place to ensure that equipment purchased with 
federal funds was disposed of in accordance with the regulatory requirements. 

 

Effect: The subrecipient is not in compliance with the CDBG regulations regarding federal equipment and 
its related disposition and has been deprived of program income that could be used to carry out CDBG 

program objectives. 
 

Questioned  Costs:  Undetermined. 
 

Management Decision:  The City sustains the audit Finding. The failure to follow equipment 
disposition procedures is a violation of the CDBG regulations. Further, failure to report the related 
income from disposition as program income to the CDBG program is a violation of24  CFR 570.504. 

 
Required Corrective Action: The subrecipient must develop and submit policies and procedures which 
will ensure that equipment is disposed of in compliance with Federal requirements.  Further, the amount 
of funds derived from the sale of CDBG equipment via the on-line auction must be derived and 
deposited into the CDBG program account as program income. Documentation showing the calculations 
and confirming the deposit of these funds is to be submitted to our office. 

 
Please provide responses to these three Required Corrective Actions within 30 calendar days of the 
date of this letter. If the subrecipient does not concur with the Management Decisions listed, please 
refer to 24 CFR 570.913 for procedures governing appeals. If you have any questions regarding this 
letter, please contact [name//phone/email]. 

 
    Sincerely, 
 

 
    Name 

   Community and Economic Development Director 
 

 

 

 



  

158 

City of Pascagoula 
CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 

 

 

APPENDIX K: INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE EXAMPLE 

 

CDBG Activity/Project Name: ________________________________ 
CDBG Fiscal Year:  _____________________________ 
Date of ICE: __________________________ 
 
SCOPE #1 
Description of purchase to be evaluated:  The City of Pascagoula would like to purchase plant materials. 
 

Item Cost Quantity Total 

Gulf Muhly Grass (3g) $7.50 27 $202.50 

Parson’s Juniper (3g) $7.00 327 $2,289.00 

Sand Cord Grass (3g) $8.00 192 $1,536.00 

Live Oak Trees (30g) $100.00 3 $300.00 

SUBTOTAL $4,327.50 

 
Determination: The City will acquire at least one quote and solicit from all relevant firms from the City’s 
MWB database. 
 
 
SCOPE #2 
Description of purchase to be evaluated:  The City of Pascagoula would like to purchasing the site prep 
and installation of aforementioned plant material. 
 

Item Cost 

Labor and Equipment to build and amend plant beds for 
project as specified in L1.0 

$7,000.00 

 
Determination: The City will acquire at least two quotes and solicit from all relevant firms from the City’s 
MWB database. 
 

 

 



     



Agenda Number:  

8/16/2016

Purchasing/Public Works

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Extension of Red Clay Bid 334

Council approval to extend annual Red Clay Bid 334. New contract dates will be
6/5/2016-6/4/2017. The signed letter of request to extend and tabulation sheet are attached.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
14





Company Location Price

Whitehead Construction Co. Pascagoula, MS 17.25 yd
Manning Trucking, Inc. Pascagoula, MS 9.25 yd
Mallette Bros Construction Co. Gautier, MS 12.00 yd
Jet Construction Pascagoula, MS 8.75 yd

TABULATION SHEET
RED CLAY - BID #334

BID OPENING: TUESDAY, APRIL 15, 2014



     



Agenda Number:  

8/16/2016

Purchasing/Public Works

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Extension of Gas Pipe Bid 337

Council approval to extend annual Gas Pipe Bid 337. New contract dates will be
6/4/2016-6/3/2017. The signed letter of request to extend and tabulation sheet are attached.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
15.



B
id

 O
p

e
n

in
g

 W
e
d

n
e
s
d

a
y
, 
A

p
ri

l 
2
3
, 
2
0
1
4

 C
om

pa
ny

 
 L

oc
at

io
n 

5/
8"

 O
D

 (1
/2

" 
C

TS
), 

SD
R

-7
, 5

00
' C

oi
ls

3/
4"

 S
D

R
11

, 
50

0'
 C

oi
ls

1"
 S

D
R

11
, 

50
0'

 C
oi

ls
2"

 S
D

R
11

, 
50

0'
 C

oi
ls

3"
 S

D
R

11
, 

40
' L

en
gt

hs
4"

 S
D

R
11

, 4
0'

 
Le

ng
th

s
6"

 S
D

R
11

, 4
0'

 
Le

ng
th

s
Po

rt
 C

ity
 P

ip
e

M
ob

ile
, A

L
0.

16
$

0.
30

$
0.

36
$

0.
88

$
1.

85
$

3.
02

$
6.

67
$

H
D

 S
up

pl
y 

W
at

er
w

or
ks

G
ul

fp
or

t, 
M

S
0.

21
$

0.
33

$
0.

49
$

1.
02

$
2.

28
$

3.
63

$
7.

93
$

M
T

 D
ea

so
n

B
rim

in
gh

am
, A

L
0.

17
5

$
0.

30
$

0.
41

$
0.

91
$

2.
35

$
3.

57
$

7.
89

$
C

on
so

lid
at

ed
 P

ip
e 

&
 S

up
pl

y
Pa

sc
ag

ou
la

, M
S

0.
16

$
0.

25
$

0.
39

$
0.

84
$

2.
29

$
3.

45
$

7.
23

$
C

ob
ur

n 
Su

pp
ly

R
ic

hl
an

d,
 M

S
0.

20
$

0.
30

$
0.

45
$

0.
94

$
1.

94
$

3.
25

$
6.

80
$

Pi
pe

 S
iz

e 
PE

-2
40

6

T
a
b

u
la

ti
o

n
 S

h
e
e
t

G
a
s
 P

ip
e
 -

 B
id

 #
3
3
7

2
:0

0
 P

.M
.





     



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Engineering

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Change Order 3 for Drainage Improvements - Holland Street to Ingalls Avenue

Approve Change Order 3 with Apple Construction for the referenced project, relating to field
conditions and adjustments needed as work progresses under Ingalls Avenue. The overall
adjustment to the contract is an increase of $2,140.00. Authorize the City Manager to execute
the documents.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
16



































     



Agenda Number:  

8/16/2016

Human Resources

Valerie Moore 2289386611

Senior Center Assistant

Request authorization to make the revisions to the job description Senior Center Assistant.  
These are minor changes to update the description.  No salary change is necessary.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
17



 
 1

 

   
 

Senior Center Assistant  
 

DEPARTMENT: Parks and Recreation  LABOR GRADE: 101   
EXEMPT(Y/N): No    POSITION CODE:    
REPORTS TO:   Senior Center and Cultural Art Coordinator 

 
MEETING PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS 

 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must perform each essential duty satisfactorily.  The requirements listed below are 
representative of the knowledge, skills and/or ability required.  Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with 
disabilities to perform the essential functions. 
 
SUMMARY:  
 
This position is responsible for performing various skilled clerical and computer tasks and 
providing support services to the Senior Center in accordance with all applicable laws and 
City of Pascagoula policies and procedures.   

     
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES include the following: 

 
• Assist in planning daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly and annual events, activities and 

services.   
• Assist in the organization and implementation and preparing rosters and receipts of said 

events, activities and services.   
• Keep an up to date inventory on all supplies and equipment pertaining to day-to-day 

activities, compiling lists of necessary needed items.   
• Assist with the pottery program when an instructor is not available. Assist with inventory 

and keep control of all supplies and equipment necessary in maintaining a high quality 
pottery program.   

• Load and unload ceramics and pottery items into the kiln to be fired, when needed.  
Operate and do basic maintenance on kilns. 

• Manage all kitchen operations including volunteers and cooking.  Inventory and order all 
supplies and materials needed for such. 

• Drives a 15 passenger van or bus as needed for trips, tours and outings.   
• Assist in accounting procedures for all income and expenditures related to activities, 

programs and services.   
• Make recommendations on items that need to be purchased and use proper purchasing 

procedures.   
• Be available and willing to participate in any and all activities to offer a well-rounded 

well versed recreation program for the senior adult population   
• Any other duties assigned by the Senior Center and Cultural Art Coordinator 

City of Pascagoula 
Job Description 



 
 2

 

 
The absence of specific statements of duties does not exclude those tasks from the position if 
the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment of the position. 
 
 
 
 
                                       QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS:  
 
The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill and/or ability required to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this position.   
 
SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENT: 
 
This position does not supervise any employees. 
 
EDUCATION and/or EXPERIENCE: 
 
A high school graduate or its equivalent, including or supplemented by business school training or 
any combination of education and experience that results in the required knowledge, skills, and 
abilities is required.    
 
SPECIAL QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Computer proficiency in MS Word, MS Excel, and Outlook is required; previous experience with 
MUNIS software is preferred. Knowledge of office machines, terminology and procedures is 
essential.  Some knowledge of fundamental bookkeeping is desired.   
 
LANGUAGE AND REASONING SKILLS: 

 
Ability to understand written or oral instructions; read, analyze and interpret documents, instruction 
manuals, policies and procedures is essential.  Strong interpersonal skills are essential to maintain 
effective working relationships with others.  The ability to work effectively and efficiently to ensure 
deadlines are met is essential.  Ability to apply logical reasoning application to carry-out instructions 
furnished in written, oral or diagram form.   
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an employee to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this job. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to talk, see or hear; to 
stand; walk; sit; and use hands to finger, handle or feel objects, tools or controls.   
 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT: 
 
The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an employee 
encounters while performing the essential functions of this job. 



 
 

3
 

 
The noise level in the work environment is usually low and work is performed in a well lit, 
adequately ventilated, climate controlled office.   



 
 1

 

   
 

Senior Center Assistant – proposed 2016 
 

DEPARTMENT: Parks and Recreation  LABOR GRADE: 101   
EXEMPT(Y/N): No    POSITION CODE:    
REPORTS TO:   Senior Center and Cultural Art Coordinator 

 
MEETING PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS 

 
To perform this job successfully, an individual must perform each essential duty satisfactorily.  The requirements listed below are 
representative of the knowledge, skills and/or ability required.  Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable individuals with 
disabilities to perform the essential functions. 
 
SUMMARY:  
 
This position is responsible for performing various skilled clerical and computer tasks and 
providing support services to the Senior Center in accordance with all applicable laws and 
City of Pascagoula policies and procedures.   

     
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES include the following: 

 
• Assist in planning daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly and annual events, activities and 

services.   
• Assist in the organization and implementation and preparing rosters and receipts of said 

events, activities and services.   
• Keep an up to date inventory on all supplies and equipment pertaining to day-to-day 

activities, compiling lists of necessary needed items.   
• Assist with the pottery program when an instructor is not available. Assist with  

Specifically inventory and keep control of all supplies and equipment necessary in 
maintaining a high quality ceramics/pottery program.   

• Load and unload ceramics and pottery items into the kiln to be fired, when needed.  
Operate and do basic maintenance on kilns. 

• Manage all kitchen operations including volunteers and cooking.  Inventory and order all 
supplies and materials needed for such. 

• Drives a 15 passenger van or bus as needed for trips, tours and outings.   
• Assist in accounting procedures for all income and expenditures related to activities, 

programs and services.   
• Make recommendations on items that need to be purchased and use proper purchasing 

procedures.   
• Be available and willing to participate in any and all activities to offer a well rounded 

well versed recreation program for the senior adult population   
• Any other duties assigned by the Senior Center and Cultural Art Coordinator 

City of Pascagoula 
Job Description 



 
 2

 

 
The absence of specific statements of duties does not exclude those tasks from the position if 
the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment of the position. 
 
 
 
 
                                       QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS:  
 
The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill and/or ability required to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this position.   
 
SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENT: 
 
This position does not supervise any employees. 
 
EDUCATION and/or EXPERIENCE: 
 
A high school graduate or its equivalent, including or supplemented by business school training or 
any combination of education and experience that results in the required knowledge, skills, and 
abilities is required.    
 
SPECIAL QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Computer proficiency in MS Word, MS Excel, and Outlook is required; previous experience with 
MUNIS software is preferred. Knowledge of office machines, terminology and procedures is 
essential.  Some knowledge of fundamental bookkeeping is desired.   
 
LANGUAGE AND REASONING SKILLS: 

 
Ability to understand written or oral instructions; read, analyze and interpret documents, instruction 
manuals, policies and procedures is essential.  Strong interpersonal skills are essential to maintain 
effective working relationships with others.  The ability to work effectively and efficiently to ensure 
deadlines are met is essential.  Ability to apply logical reasoning application to carry-out instructions 
furnished in written, oral or diagram form.   
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS: 
 
The physical demands described here are representative of those that must be met by an employee to 
successfully perform the essential functions of this job. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to talk, see or hear; to 
stand; walk; sit; and use hands to finger, handle or feel objects, tools or controls.   
 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT: 
 
The work environment characteristics described here are representative of those an employee 
encounters while performing the essential functions of this job. 



 
 

3
 

 
The noise level in the work environment is usually low and work is performed in a well lit, 
adequately ventilated, climate controlled office.   



     



Agenda Number:  

08/16/2016

Human Resources Dept

Brenda Germany 228-762-2445

City of Pascagoula Employees Group Health Plan Amendment #12

Approval to amend the Group Health Plan, on pages 2 and 66 of the Plan Document, to include 
the position of Public Defender in the description of Source of Plan Contributions and  
Definition of an Employee, respectively.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
18



CITY OF PASCAGOULA 
Employee Health Care Plan Amendment #12 

Plan Year 2015/16 
 
 

 
The City of Pascagoula believes this Health Care Plan to be a “Grandfathered Health Care 
Plan” under the Patient Protection and Affordable Act of 2010 and does hereby amend the 
City of Pascagoula Employee Health Care Plan as follows: 

 

 
 

Effective August 1, 2016: 
 
Page 2 | Summary Plan Description | Source of Plan Contributions is amended to read as 
follows: 
 
Contributions for Plan expenses are obtained from the employer and from the covered employees 
and their covered dependents. The employer evaluates the costs of the Plan based on projected 
Plan expenses and determines the amount to be contributed by the employer and the amount to be 
contributed by the covered employees. In no case will the employer contribute more than the cost 
of Employee Only coverage for the positions of City Judge, City Prosecutor and City Public 
Defender. 

 

Page 66 | Definitions | Employee is amended to read as follows: 
 

A person directly involved in the regular business of and compensated for services by the 
employer, who is regularly scheduled to work not less than thirty (30) hours per work week on a 
full-time status basis. This definition includes the members of the City Council and positions of 
Mayor, City Judge, City Prosecutor, and City Public Defender. 

 
 
 

These changes, as approved by the City of Pascagoula on                        day of                          , 
2016, are effective August 1, 2016. By signature of its duly authorized representative below, the 
Plan Administrator agrees to be bound by the terms and provisions of the above amendment on or 
after the effective date hereof. 

 

 
 
 

City of Pascagoula 
 

Printed Name:    Title:    

 
 
Signature:    Date:    



Agenda Number:  

08/16/2016

Human Resources Dept

Brenda Germany 228-762-2445

City of Pascagoula Employees Insurance Committee Bylaws

Approval of Bylaws for the operation and structure of the City of Pascagoula Employees 
Insurance Committee.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
19



CITY OF PASCAGOULA EMPLOYEE INSURANCE PROGRAM  
STEERING COMMITTEE  

BYLAWS 
 

ARTICLE I. 
 

NAME: The name of this committee shall be the City of Pascagoula Employee Insurance Program 
Steering Committee (Committee). 

 

ARTICLE II. 

PURPOSE: The City of Pascagoula Employee Insurance Program Steering Committee shall 
provide recommendations and expertise regarding the operation and structure of the City of 
Pascagoula Employee Insurance Program (COPEIP). The Committee shall have the opportunity 
to review, provide comment and recommendations regarding all benefit and premium structures, 
eligibility, enrollment rules and requirements as well as any other matters that have an impact or a 
potential impact on the COPEIP. In order to achieve this purpose, the Committee will solicit and 
encourage comment and input from the members of the COPEIP.  Committee members are 
charged with the responsibility of monitoring and shaping a COPEIP that is both fiscally 
responsible and responsive to the needs of City of Pascagoula Employees.  

 
The Committee shall review all proposed changes in benefit and premium structures, eligibility, 
enrollment rules and requirements for the COPEIP prior to such changes being submitted to the 
City Council for final approval. The moderator of the Committee shall present the Committee’s 
recommendations in writing to the City Council for approval as an Agenda Item at a regularly 
scheduled Council meeting.   

 
ARTICLE III. 

 
MEMBERSHIP:  The Committee shall consist of the following fourteen (14) 
members: 
 VOTING MEMBERS 

 Police Department (90):  2 Active Members and 1 Alternate Member 
 Fire Department (55):  2 Active Members and 1 Alternate Member  
 Parks & Recreation Department (21):  2 Active Members and 1 Alternate Member  
 Planning, Building, Inspections and Engineering (10):  1 Active Member and 1 Alternate 

Member 
 City Hall, MIS & City Council (23):  2 Active Members and 1 Alternate Member  
 Utilities & Community Development/Grants (13): 1 Active Member and 1 Alternate 

Member 
 Retirees & COBRA (3):  1 Active Member and 1 Alternate Member 

 

NON-VOTING MEMBERS 

 Comptroller 
 Human Resources Director 
 Human Resources Insurance Administrator (Committee Moderator).  

 
Members of the Committee shall serve voluntarily without compensation for their services. 

 

 



Article IV. 

TERMS:  Members shall serve three (3) year terms upon appointment to the Committee.  Members 
will serve at the discretion of their department’s Executive Management Team (EMT) member or 
Supervisor and may be removed from this Committee at any time.  Members who serve an initial 
three (3) year term may continue to serve the Committee for any number of years thereafter. 

A member may resign from the Committee at any time or at the discretion of their Department Head 
or Supervisor.  

Article V. 

VOTING:  Committee members shall be entitled to one (1) vote on all matters that shall come 
before the Committee. 

Article VI. 

MEETINGS:  A Majority of the voting members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for the 
purpose of conducting the official business of the Committee.  The Committee shall meet at least 
once a month, or as needed.  Committee meetings shall be called by the Committee Moderator. 

Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures outlined in the most recent version 
of Robert’s Rules of Order. 

The location of the regular meetings of the Committee shall be the Pascagoula City Council 
Chambers currently located at 603 Watts Avenue Pascagoula, MS unless otherwise deemed 
necessary.  

Article VII. 

ATTENDANCE:  Committee Members shall attend at least 50 percent of Committee meetings each 
year.  If a Committee member fails to or cannot do so, the Committee Moderator may request that 
the Department Head or Supervisor re-evaluate said member’s participation in the Committee. 

Article VIII. 

COMMITTEE MODERATOR:  The Human Resources Insurance Administrator shall act as the 
Committee Moderator and shall maintain a record of the Committee meetings and actions. 

Article IX. 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING:  In an effort to better serve the City of Pascagoula Employees, the 
Committee will conduct and members will attend an annual Education Day to review any Plan 
Document, Group Health and Voluntary Insurance changes and any legislative changes that may 
have occurred during the prior Plan year or will occur in the upcoming Plan year.  Educational 
information related to the operation and structure of the Plan shall also be presented at regular 
monthly or called meetings of the Committee as needed. 

Article X. 

VACANCIES:  Appointments to fill vacancies on the Committee roster shall be made by the EMT 
member or Supervisor of the Department in which the vacancy occurs. 

 

 



Article XI. 

AMENDMENTS:  Proposed amendments to these bylaws may be approved at any meeting of the 
Committee by a quorum of the voting members of the Committee.  Following approval by the 
Committee, proposed amendments to the bylaws shall be submitted to the Pascagoula City Council 
for final approval. 

 
 
These Bylaws, as approved by the City of Pascagoula on                        day of                          , 
2016, shall be effective August 1, 2016. By signature of the duly authorized representative below, the City 
of Pascagoula Employees Insurance Program Steering Committee agrees to be bound by the terms and 
provisions of the above Articles on and after the effective date hereof. 

 
 

City of Pascagoula 
 

Printed Name:    Title:    

 
 

Signature:                   Date:  ____________________________ 



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date: 8/16/16   

 
Submitting Department or Individual: Ravin Floyd/Public Relations 

Specialist  

 
Contact Name: Ravin Floyd  Phone: 228.334.2482 

 

 

Agenda Topic: City of Pascagoula Website Redevelopment 
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:  
To move forward with the proposal from CivicPlus and authorize City Manager to sign and execute necessary 
documents. 

 
Budgeted Item Yes  No  Source of Funding  General Fund 
 

Contract Required Yes  No    Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required Yes  No    Grant 
 

       Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 20



PASCAGOULA,

MISSISSIPPI

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS
CITY WEBSITE DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT & 

HOSTING

REVISED RESPONSE WITH WEBSITE 
DEVELOPMENT PRICING ONLY

JULY 20, 2016

LISA LANOUE

REGIONAL SALES MANAGER

ACHIEVING YOUR VISION



April 7, 2016 / revised June 16, 2016 / revised July 20, 2015

Anne Pitre
Public Relations Specialist
City of Pascagoula, Mississippi
   
  Submitted via City website:  http://bids.sourcesuite.com/pascagoula.com

RE: Request for Qualifications - City Website Design, Development and Hosting

Dear Ms. Pitre: 

Meeting the expectations of citizens is at the core of civic responsibility. Finding that perfect blend of functionality, ease of 
maintenance and citizen engagement can be daunting. Today’s “what I want, when I need it” population is all about digital and timely 
responses. Saving time and money and increasing citizen satisfaction is every government entity’s goal. How do you achieve both?  It’s 
easy with CivicPlus—we help you achieve your vision of success to promote the quality of life for your community with an emphasis in 
marketing the community.    

We understand, after reviewing your RFQ, that you are seeking our qualifications and performance data for website design, 
development and hosting. This should include a solution to replace your existing website and creation of a microsite to promote 
the Department of Community and Economic Development. Our project management team will work closely with City Staff to put 
a custom plan in place for your target launch date.  We have included a typical project timeline and scope of work that details our 
proven and successful website development process. Following this process will ensure everything needed is accounted for from both 
the City and CivicPlus to deliver your new and engaging web solution.

CivicPlus has nearly 20 years of experience in assisting local governments improve their web environment with our CivicEngage CMS 
platform.  CivicEngage is developed with cutting edge technology offering your online community friendly navigation and easily 
editable and maintainable solutions for your staff. CivicPlus websites don’t just meet the minimum Section 508 ADA requirements for 
compliance. We go above and beyond for our clients by being highly compliant with WCAG 2.0 A and AA to maintain compliance and 
accessibility for all of your visitors. CivicPlus is a sole source provider and offers state-of-the-art hosting and security so your website is 
safe and your investment is protected.  Our customized design and navigation structure is sleek and modern, but also functional, easy 
to navigate and easy to modify.  

We are your partner 24/7/365 days a year. Our company is passionate about our mission to help make local government better. We 
are not just designing a website, we are helping build a trusted and long-term relationship between you and your community through 
our state-of-the-art technology and process. Our expertise lies in collaborating with our clients to deliver the right solution, housed 
within a sophisticated and custom design that captures the culture of your community.

Please review our RFQ closely. We encourage you to contact our references and find out for yourself their experiences working with 
CivicPlus. We think you will be impressed.  

Sincerely,

M. Lisa LaNoue
Regional Sales Manager
lanoue@civicplus.com 
302 S. 4th Street, Suite 500 / Manhattan, KS 66502   
Direct Line 785-477-8604



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COST PROPOSAL ........................................................................................................ 4

PRICING / ANNUAL DETAILS ..................................................................................... 5

EXPERIENCE ................................................................................................................. 6

CIVICPLUS COMPANY PROFILE  ................................................................................ 8

TEAM ........................................................................................................................... 10

TIME FRAME & APPROACH...................................................................................... 12

SCOPE OF WORK ...................................................................................................... 18

REFERENCES .............................................................................................................. 20

REPRESENTATIVE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT SOLUTIONS ............................. 22

ADDITIONAL CIVICPLUS INFORMATION ............................................................... 24



4

As detailed in the included Scope of Work, Pascagoula’s project development includes:

Total Investment  – Year One

$31,653
Includes 1st Year annual costs

Year 1
All quotes are priced per project and presented in US dollars.  Pricing is valid for 60 Days from July 20, 2016

Website Design, Development & Deployment

 � CivicEngage Content Management System (including upgrades, hosting, maintenance and support)

 � Migration of all requested pages of existing content

 � Included Security Package

Professional Consulting Services & Training

 � Two (2) Days On-site Align Consulting (data collection & analysis ) - itemized cost:  $3,025

 � Two (2) Days On-site Navigate Consulting (analyze audience, top services & relevant information) - 
itemized cost:  $3,025

 � Three (3) Days On-site Training for up to 12 Staff Members - included with development

Projects Enhancements & Functionality

 � CivicSend

 � CivicMobile App

 � CivicMedia (Live Streaming and 10 GB additional storage)

 � Design Essentials

 � Predictive Search

 � Virtual Webmaster (no charge Year 1)

 � One (1) Department Header Package (Economic Development)

COST PROPOSAL



5

Annual Hosting  & Maintenance 
(Beginning year 2)

Total Annual Services 

$5,598

Year 2 and Beyond

Annual Hosting, Support & Maintenance Service  (Beginning year 2)

Receive maximum benefit at minimal cost while protecting your investment. Each year of your contract, you’ll 

receive system enhancements, maintenance and optimization and have full access to our support staff so your 

site stays up-to-date with    our latest features and functionality. Your annual services fee includes redundant 

hosting services, daily backups, extensive disaster recovery plans, 24/7 support, software maintenance, system 

enhancements, recurring training, and access to the CivicPlus community. Annual Hosting/Maintenance Services 

are subject to a cumulative annual 5% technology fee increase beginning Year 3  (for non-CPA payment projects) 

and beyond.

CivicPlus Redesign Guarantee

At the end of your third year of continuous service with us, you are eligible to receive a basic website redesign 

with no further out-of-pocket expense. Your website stays current and doesn’t need to be re-built from the 

ground up again!

1st Year CPA Payment . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,185

2nd Year CPA Payment . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,185

3rd Year CPA Payment . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,186

4th Year Annual + 5% Technology Fee. . . $5,878

Alternate Payment Plan

The CivicPlus Advantage (CPA) provides zero 
interest, level payments that divides the Total 
Investment - Year One expense of your project 
over the first four 43) years of your contract. Each 
payment also includes your Annual Hosting/
Maintenance Services. Our CivicPlus Advantage 
payment plan lowers your initial “out of pocket” 
expenses dramatically. 

PRICING / ANNUAL DETAILS



6

CivicPlus’s team of nearly 200 in house professionals have assisted more than 2,200 government clients throughout the United 
States, Australia and Canada with the design, implementation and hosting of engaging, innovative and functional websites. 
Our experience providing websites to municipalities of every size means that we have invested thousands of hours developing 
capabilities to integrate websites, content management, third party software, numerous modules and social media to provide 
great satisfaction and a more fluid user experience.  

We are uniquely suited to provide you with a solution that meets your goals and objectives with our nearly 18 year history, 
expertise and proven results.  Our dedication to government clients, custom development, website strategy and implementation 
process ensures that we will deliver a technically sound website that attracts and “wows” your visitors.  

Our solutions are based on the latest in web coding technologies, which means they function across all major browsers, platforms 
(including mobile), and incorporate engaging features such as social media integration.  As a result, users of sites created by 
CivicPlus are likely to view more content and engage with sites in ways that our clients hadn’t experienced before.  

We believe effective websites start with a solid project implementation approach.  Through an iterative proven process that 
combines a series of interviews with you, a detailed review of your current website and structured brainstorming, we will help 
you develop unique insights that will help you reach your target audience and entice them to engage with your new planned 
website.  Taking the time to delve into your community’s personality and target audience will ensure that the story we tell with 
your new website will be significantly more compelling and attractive.  

EXPERIENCE



7

REPRESENTATIVE EXPERIENCE PORTFOLIO

City of Natchez, Mississippi

City of Jackson, Mississippi

City of Starkville, Mississippi

City of Citrus Heights, California



8

CivicPlus is the unique provider of CivicEngage 
content management system—the most 
innovative, user-friendly and comprehensive 
source for engaging Government websites. Our 
clients’ solutions are based on the latest in web 
coding technologies. They function across all 
major browsers, platforms (including mobile) 
and incorporate engaging features such as social 
media integration.  

Today, under the leadership of founder Ward 
Morgan, CivicPlus has more than 200 staff 
members and continues to implement new 
technologies and services to maintain the 
highest standards of excellence and efficiency 
for our more than 2,200 clients with over 
50,000 users and over 50 million visitors (and 
counting!). 

CivicPlus’ project development approach has 
been proven successful in the launching of our 
over 2,200 government-related websites.  As a 
part of that successful process, it is our policy to 
assign individual team members at the project 
start.  But rest assure, trained and experienced 
designers, technicans and programmers will be 
ready to help Pascagoula create your new and 
innovative website.

Your individual, dedicated team members will 
be determined just prior to Kickoff so we can 
be sure they will be available to begin your 
project immediately and work directly with you 
throughout the entire process. This process 
helps ensure we deliver the attention and effort 
you need and deserve to create a website that 
achieves your vision of success.

Our commitment to setting the standard in 
website design, management and government 
communication has been instrumental in making 
CivicPlus a leader in web design, communication 
programming and hosting. 

CivicPlus 
was recently 
recognized as 
one of the top 
100 leading 
companies…
“that are making 
a difference in the state and local government 
market...to improve or transform government, 
or...having created new models for delivering 
services”  by the respected, industry publication 
GovernmentTechnology. Ensuring the services 
we provide are respected, tested and enduring.  

CIVICPLUS COMPANY PROFILE 

DID YOU  
KNOW? 

Our clients have won over  
370 state and national awards 
for their websites designed 
and implemented by CivicPlus. 
We think our clients’ success 
speaks for the quality of  
our work.



9

We consider it a privilege to partner with 
municipalities such as yours to provide your 
community a website that will serve your needs 
today and in the future.

Your new website will convey a sense of place 
for your community, be visually appealing 
and utilize the latest technology to provide 
a convenient source of information to 
communicate and engage your community – so 
they can find the information they need, when 
they want it. 

Why should Pascagoula choose CivicPlus to 
achieve its vision? 

  � We are driven by client service, not billings. 
Our goal is to become your trusted partner 
and deliver what you need. 

  � We set the industry standard and have 
the reputation to back it up, for helping 
governments better connect with citizens 
and constituents and we will bring that same 
expertise to your project.

  � We deliver in-house professional consulting 
services to provide direction for your vision, 
alignment, consistency and peace of mind 
knowing your website will be what you need 
today and tomorrow.

  � We develop highly-usable, mobile responsive 
sites so your website is available anywhere 
at any time. 

  � We create a website specific to how you and 
your citizens will use it and design it to be 
both end-user and maintenance friendly.  

  � We securely host your site in our state-
of-the-art facilities – keeping it safe.  We 
exceed industry standards maintaining over 
99.7% uptime for our clients’ websites! 

  � Our proven step-by-step implementation 
process has been effective for clients 
throughout the United States, Canada and 
Australia.

  �  Since our inception nearly 20 years ago, 
our focus has been and continues to be, 
helping local governments work better and 
that involves knowing what you need to be 
successful in your procurement process. 
From the RFP process and finalization 
interviews to contract negotiation and 
approval to accounting and billing, CivicPlus 
brings the experience and familiarity 
with procurement processes to help keep 
your project moving forward and moving 
smoothly.

Our dedication to working closely with you 
throughout the project and developing a unique-
to-you design ensures we deliver a website 
that is not only functional, but will WOW your 
visitors.  

HEAR FROM  
OUR CUSTOMERS

“I became increasingly 
impressed with the capability 
of CivicPlus. We had other 
companies come in and do 
presentations; some of their 
websites were beautiful, but 
they weren’t as interactive or 
integrated with other modules, 
or they were limited as to 
what they could do. The fact 
that CivicPlus customized from 
scratch, not from a template, 
was fantastic. Every module I 
could ever think of and more 
was fully integrated with the 
site — which was a dream 
come true.”

Tricia Dzuris
Assistant to Town Manager
Chelmsford, MA

We can’t wait to get started on yours!



10

From project management, design and development to training and support, CivicPlus professionals will coordinate your needs 
with qualified, dedicated specialists who will work directly with you throughout your project development and beyond.

TEAM

Adam Block – Manager of Project Administration
Adam leads our project management team. This team oversees inter-departmental and client 

interactions assuring that your project will be developed in a timely manner by professional 
website experts. Using their knowledge of effective online citizen engagement techniques, they 

will keep the process moving smoothly from phase to phase. 

Jessica Jones – Manager of Content Development
Jessica’s goal is to help make your website convey the messages you need. She heads our content 
development department. She will assign a team of developers to help you develop and maintain 
quality content for your site and keep your project on schedule.  

Education
BS Business Administration 
Management
Economics

Resume
Lead Project Manager
Financial Services

10+ Years of Experience
Project Management
Business Management
Team Building
Customer Service

Education
BA English Arts

Resume 
Project Management
Customer Service
Contract Development and 
Administration

4+ Years of Experience
Customer Service
Content Migration and Editing
Customer support
Education

Lisa LaNoue - Regional Sales Manager
As your regional sales manager, I will initially work with you to determine the best solutions for your administrative 
users and website audience. My extensive knowledge of our CivicEngage CMS, website usability expertise and 
client-driven philosophy will ensure that we arrive at the best solution for your budget.  



11

Amy Vikander - Director of Account Management
After your Go Live date, Amy will assign an account manager to your project. Your account 

manager stays current on new CivicPlus products and will continue to optimize your site. This 
specialized team member will provide you with information on how to better engage your citizens 

utilizing the tools that CivicPlus has put into place on your website. 

Jim Steffensmeier – Manager of Training and Consulting
From consulting services to content development to technical specifications, our consulting and 
training department will assist you in developing the right message in the right way by the right 
team.  He will coordinate his team of professionals to deliver the solutions you need to achieve 
your training and consulting success.

Tony Ridder – Manager of Creative Services
Tony knows all things design. He is the head of our creative development and graphic 

representations and is responsible for each website overview and uniqueness. He leads our 
brilliant team of designers at CivicPlus and will team you with the right designer for your project. 

Education
BA Fine Art

Resume
Digital Imaging Instructor
Creative Director
Senior Illustrator & Photographer
Thorough recognition of web 
design and video creation

20+ Years of Experience
Graphic & Web Design
Digital & Traditional Illustration,
Photography & Interactive Media
Branding and Logo Design
Marketing Media Campaigns
Photography & Graphic Design 
Teaching

Education
MA in Education/Adult Education 
& Training
BS in Psychology
AA in Business Management

Resume
Training
Consulting

10+ Years Experience
Customer Service
Best Practices & Website 
Optimization
US Army Veteran

Education
Graphic Design
Management

Resume
Customer Solutions Management
Inside Sales
Account Management
Business Development

10+ Years of Experience
Customer Service
Team Management & Leadership
Relationship Management
Training



12

Average Project
Timeline 16-25 Weeks

Timeline 4-6 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-4 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

TIME FRAME & APPROACH

Typical Project Timeline Timeline

Phase 1 – Website Optimization 
Includes: Needs assessment, best practices, and takeaways 
assigned.

4-6 weeks

Phase 2 - Website Layout 
Includes: Layout presentation, mood board and main navigation 
review, design feedback meeting and approval and takeaways 
assigned.

3-5 weeks

Phase 3 – Website Reveal  
Includes: Presentation of a functional website based on goals, 
recommendations and combined vision; final approval and take-
aways assigned.

3-5 weeks

Phase 4 – Customized Training  
Includes: Customized to give your staff the skills they need to 
maintain your website.

3-4 weeks

Phase 5 – Go Live 3-5 weeks

Website Launch         
16 - 25 Weeks 
(On Average)

Consulting, design, usability guidance, programming, secure hosting 
and dedicated training - CivicPlus delivers all of this and more during the 
development of your new website.



13

  � Customized Training – Offered either onsite 
or virtually, our trainers will ensure your staff 
is ready to hit the ground running at Go Live.

  � Dedicated Project Team & Continuing 
Support – Your dedicated team will assist 
you through the development process, 
and includes your project manager, expert 
designer, and a team of content experts to 
edit and optimize your website. Our support 
team ensures your complete satisfaction 
with our products for as long as you are part 
of the CivicPlus family. 

  � Fully Responsive Design – As part of 
providing industry-leading technology, 
responsive design is included with your 
CivicPlus site. With responsive design, your 
site adjusts to the screen size regardless of 
the device they are using. 

  � Guaranteed Redesign – At the end of your 
fourth year of continuous service with us, 
you are eligible to receive a basic website 
redesign with no further out-of-pocket 
expense. Your website stays current and 
doesn’t need to be re-built from the ground 
up again!

  � CP Connection – THE place to stay in the 
loop!  Our online community for all CivicPlus 
clients provides you the venue to exchange 
ideas and best practices with other CP 
clients; continue training and learning more 
about CivicEngage CMS and support services.

TIMEFRAME & APPROACH

Pascagoula’s proactive vision to develop a 
user-friendly, self-service government web 
environment for its community and employees 
is commendable.  You should have complete 
confidence that the firm you choose to achieve 
your vision and create your website is the right 
choice. Becoming your strategic, trusted partner 
is paramount to the professionals at CivicPlus. 

Although you currently have a capable web 
presence, it’s time for a new look with better 
functionality. CivicPlus will help you re-envision, 
re-new and re-invigorate your website.  

Our approach to achieving your vision will 
include: 

  � Unique Design – A customized website 
design to meet your unique needs and 
desires. This will include project design, 
development, and implementation of our 
content management system, CivicEngage, 
as well as hosting and continual support. 

  � CivicEngage Content Management System 
(CivicEngage CMS) – Our robust, secure 
and sophisticated management system 
allows development of new content and the 
migration of existing content all within an 
intuitive and easy to use platform for your 
staff to update and manage.

  � Accessibility Compliance - As a leader in 
government web technology, CivicPlus 
references the more robust WCAG 
international standard for accessibility 
compliance. We develop compliant sites 
based on WCAG 2.0 A and AA, which 
encompasses and surpasses ADA Section 
508 requirements.  

Deliver a unique and 

customized, fully responsive 

website design reflecting 

your vision. 

  � Intuitive navigation 
and page layout with 
unlimited submenus 
and subpages. 

  � True live editing and 
training so your staff 
can be efficient on 
day one of your new  
website. 

  � Interactive 
functionality 
through CivicEngage 
and continuously 
updated,cutting-edge 
solutions designed by 
experts specifically for 
you.

OUR
PHILOSOPHY



14

Average Project
Timeline 16-25 Weeks

Timeline 4-6 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-4 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Kick-Off Meeting 
During the initial kick-off meeting, you will 
meet your project manager to establish 
your project timeline, review the startup kit 
and discuss the takeaway items that need 
to be completed. Your project manager will 
discuss the implications of deadlines and the 
expectations required to keep the project on 
track.  

Phase 1: Website Optimization  
Review Needs  
We will review where you are now and discuss 
where you want to go.

Functionality, Design & Content 
We will review how you want your website to 
look, feel and function. 

Best Practices  
We will discuss our CivicPlus content best 
practices and standards. 

Phase 2: Website Layout
Based on your results and goals outlined 
during the website optimization phase, your 
project team will collaborate to present the 
most effective user interface for your website, 
ensuring a flexible design optimized to display 
in any format now and in the future.  

Deliverables Include:

  � Layout: You will be presented with a custom 
layout that showcases the placement of 
your navigation and key functionality. 
Very similar to the floor plan of a house, 
the layout will allow you to focus on 
where things are and if the function and 
proportion of the space is adequate. 

  � Global Navigation: Simple navigation and 
consistent page layouts ensure that your 
visitors can easily find the information they 
seek. We’ll provide you with a best practice 
navigation for your new website based 
on your community engagement goals 
and our prior experience in working with 
government entities.

  � Mood Board: Your Project Team will also 
present a custom mood board reflecting 
the color and imagery that will set the 
tone for your design. A mood board is 
a collection of colors, textures, images, 
graphics, text and descriptive words.  
These items will be applied to the floor 
plan you choose. Think of this as the paint 
that will be used on the canvas that you 
have chosen.



15

Average Project
Timeline 16-25 Weeks

Timeline 4-6 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-4 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Phase 3: Website Reveal
Your Project Team will present your layout, 
functionality and design based on your goals, 
our recommendations and our combined 
vision.  

Content Development
During the Kick-Off Meeting and Phase 1 your 
staff has the role of updating the content 
on your current primary site. While you 
are making design decisions, our content 
development team will optimize and reorganize 
your content based on CivicPlus best practices. 
Content from sites other than the primary site 
can be migrated to the new primary site for an 
additional fee.
 
The CivicPlus content usability experts 
research and establish their standards from 
the following resources: Jakob Nielsen, www.
Usability.gov and www.HowTo.gov. We will 
format and reorganize your content so it is easy 
for visitors to quickly scan and retrieve desired 
information. There is no limit to the pages 
you can create after you have gone through 
training.

Design Review
You will have the opportunity to evaluate 
and collaborate with the Project Team on 
proposed changes. You can revise your design 
composition up to the deadline that you and 
your project manager agree upon during the 
timeline meeting (the average client requests 
a total of three). After that deadline, your 
project’s Go Live date will be adjusted. 
Following design approval and functionality 
development, we conduct a review to ensure 
your expectations are met and website best 
practices are upheld. Custom designs are rarely 
produced in anticipation of a project. 

Copyright authorization and/or photography 
production are required unless you already 
have quality, usable photographs. 

Accessibility Compliance
There are two accessibility standards applicable 
to local government: Section 508 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act and Web 
Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.0. 
With more than 2,200 local government clients, 
accessibility compliance is a topic we take 
seriously. As a leader in the local government 
space, CivicPlus references the more robust 
WCAG international standard for accessibility 
compliance. We provide highly compliant 
sites based on WCAG 2.0 A and AA, which 
encompasses and surpasses ADA Section 508 
requirements.  We will make recommendations 
on best practices for keeping your content 
accessible and available for all users by 
ensuring that, among other things: 

  � All menu items are clickable

  � Submenus display throughout the site

  � Alt tags are used for images

  � Site maps are dynamically generated

  � Documents and links can be set to open in 
the same window

With our commitment to ongoing code-base 
updates and compliant content standards, 
we’ve got you covered. 



16

Average Project
Timeline 16-25 Weeks

Timeline 4-6 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-4 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Phase 4: Customized Training
Our goal for training is to give your staff the 
skills and tools they need to quickly and easily 
keep your website current. Trainers will work 
with you to ensure your staff is correctly 
trained. Before your site is launched, CivicPlus 
provides in-person or online webinar training 
to equip your staff with the knowledge, tools 
and comfort level needed to maintain the site’s 
integrity upon Go Live.  

Regardless of technical ability, we will help your 
staff gain the confidence to effectively maintain 
your website. 

Features, Module & Page Creation Training
Included in our training for Administrators 
& Content Contributors will be delivering 
an understanding of your site’s navigation 
and page layout and how these affect target 
audiences. We will instruct your staff on 
creating area-rights and back-end features for 
site administration as well as review all the 
modules included with your site. Your staff will 
learn how to create links, format text and lay 
out pages for usability and scannability. 

CivicPlus training manuals and videos are 
available for download at no cost from our 
online resources.

Phase 5: Go Live
This is an exciting time; it is the last step before 
your new site launches! Your Project Team 
will provide you the information you need to 
prepare your site for Go Live.  

Testing and Review
You typically have three weeks after training to 
become familiar with your site. This will allow 
you to add, create and make adjustments to 
content on your production site, as well as 
ensure overall satisfaction with your website. 
Content changes will display and function the 
same way before and after your Go Live date. 

Upon completion of a collaborative final 
review of the website and a final spelling and 
links checkup by our Quality Control Team, 
your domain name is directed to the newly 
developed website.  

You are now a part of the CivicPlus family 

and will continue to receive both technical 

and consultative support from our support 

and account management team.  



17

Average Project
Timeline 16-25 Weeks

Timeline 4-6 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Timeline 3-4 Weeks

Timeline 3-5 Weeks

Your Role 
We will need your help to create the strongest 
possible website for your community. During 
the process, you will have homework.  Yes, 
homework!  We will need you to:

Assess Your Current Website
For the best consulting experience possible 
the following takeaways need to be completed 
prior to your consulting: 

  � Functionality and Design Form - Prior to 
starting this form, research other websites 
that you like based on functionality 
and design elements. Provide URLs and 
specifics about what you like. This form 
also asks for details on your community’s 
tagline, logo and branding. 

  � Web Team Form - Prior to starting this 
form, please have an understanding of 
your project goals, focus and expectations. 
This allows your CivicPlus project team to 
develop a site specific to your needs and 
lays the foundation for developing a highly 
functional information architecture. 

  � Content Form – The information that you 
provide on this form will also help our 
content development professionals to 
assess your wants and needs.   

Clean House and Update Content 
We will need you to update the content on 
your current primary live website. This step 
is critical to guaranteeing the information 
available is relevant, fresh and on-point. Your 
staff should delete any pages from your current 
website that you no longer want or need and 
ensure the remaining information is applicable 
and up-to-date. If you are not able to access 
your current site, our team will work with 
you to ensure that your content needs are 
addressed.

 
Gather Photos and Logos
Collect pictures that will be used in the overall 
design and logos or branding that should 
remain consistent.

Department List
Provide a list of all departments in your 
organization.

Website Statistics
Provide statistics from your current site for 
the previous 12 months along with a list of all 
pages and downloaded documents. 

Site Map
Provide the outline of your current site’s 
navigational structure.  

External Application List
Supply a list of all third-party or in-house 
applications being utilized.

Verbatim Content
Compile a list of any content on your current 
website that must be migrated verbatim to 
your new site.

Update Internet Browsers



18

SCOPE OF WORK

Kick-Off Meeting
Deliverable: Project timeline, training jump start, online forms, kick-off meeting

CivicPlus will:
  � Assign a project manager to your project

  � Conduct a project Kick-off meeting to review awarded 
contract

  � Establish communication plan for project duration

  � Identify all key internal and external key stakeholders 

  � Develop project plan and timeline

  � Provide project management and support

What we will need from you: 
  � Completion of: Functionality and Design Form, Web 

Team Form and Content Form (prior to Phase 1)

  � Attend Kick-off meeting with key stakeholders and 
decision makers

  � Approval of the project timeline 

  � Update current primary content and delete any pages 
no longer needed or not to be migrated. 

Phase 1: Website Optimization
Deliverable: Website optimization meeting

CivicPlus will:
  � Provide communication support and status to key 

stakeholders via email or phone as needed

  � Review goals and expectations you submitted on 
the completed forms to ensure all needs are clearly 
understood

What we will need from you:
  � Gather and provide statistics from the current website 

for the previous 12 months

  � Collect graphics to be incorporated in the new site 

  � Submit a list of all divisions and/or departments within 
the organization

  � Submit a list of third-party and in-house developed 
applications presently being utilized 

  � A site map or outline of the current website’s 
navigational structure 

  � A list of any content on the primary website that must 
remain intact (verbatim) 

Phase 2: Website Layout
Deliverable: Website grayscale layout and mood board color pallet presentation

CivicPlus will:
  � Present one custom layout in grayscale and one mood 

board color palette including placement of navigation, 
graphic buttons and feature areas -  based on 
previously determined goals

  � Begin design development once approved 

What we will need from you:
  � Approval of and/or request changes to layout and 

mood board concepts

  � Review of marketing packet material and guidelines

  � Phase 2 - Website Layout billing milestone complete



19

Phase 3: Website Reveal 
Deliverable: Website design and production

CivicPlus will:
  � Present a fully functional website on production URL

  � Migrate all agreed upon content pages 

  � Migrate Microsoft Word or .pdf documents of current, 
plus previous three years, of agendas and minutes 

  � Conduct a quality review of the website to ensure the 
statement of work is met, after approval of design and 
functionality

  � Coordinate training needs

What we will need from you:
  � Evaluate and provide feedback on design and content

  � Collaborate with CivicPlus on proposed changes

  � Provide all necessary DNS items identified

  � Submit any revisions to design (until agreed deadline 
date determined during Kick-off meeting)

  � Design changes requested after agreed deadline date, 
will cause Go Live date to be adjusted

Phase 4: Training
Deliverable: Train System Administrator(s) on CivicEngage Administration, permissions, setting up groups and users, 
module administration. Basic User training on pages, module entries, applying modules to pages. Applied use and 
usability consultation

CivicPlus will:
  � Provide training as agreed upon for staff members, 

based on internal daily task and workflow

  � Train staff on CivicEngage, including updating content 
pages and modules 

  � Provide access to online training manuals and videos 
for additional assistance

What we will need from you:
  � Provide a location for training with internet access

  � Provide computers for training purposes

  � Phase 4 - Training billing milestone complete

Phase 5: Go Live 
Deliverable: Custom website launched to the public.

CivicPlus will:
  � Address system issues identified

  � Redirect the domain name to the newly developed 
website once you sign off on the completed project

What we will need from you:
  � Test CivicEngage functionality and update the final site 

as per approved timeline

  � Report any system issues 

  � Sign off on finalized site before Go Live



20

HEAR FROM  
OUR CUSTOMERS

“Converting our old  
web site in to the modern 
County web presence  
would have cost more 
in time and frustration 
than the reasonable cost 
associated with hiring 
CivicPlus consulting staff  
to lead the way.”

Snohomish County, WA
David Stroble
Business Analysis & Project 
Management Team

City of Moss Point, Mississippi 
 
URL:
www.cityofmosspoint.org

Contact: 
Sue Wright
Economic Development Director
228-475-0300
Sue.wright@cityofmosspoint.org

Included are just three examples of relevant reference sites - with contact information - 
similar in scope to your project, which we have designed. But don’t just take our word for 
the success of these sites. 

We encourage you to contact our clients and let them tell you about their experiences 
working with CivicPlus.  Want to see more?  Just let us know…we have about 2,200 we 
can share with you! 

REFERENCES

City of Moss Point

Still in Production

Although the City of Moss Point’s new and exciting website is still in production, we 
encourage you to talk with Sue Wright and discover how their project development 
with CivicPlus is unfolding.  



21

HEAR FROM OUR 
CUSTOMERS

“A company is created by 
its people. The CivicPlus 
staff is phenomenal. 
CivicPlus is going to 
understand what your 
town means to you and 
your residents and how 
you want your town or 
city to appear. They are 
just as passionate about 
promoting your area as 
you are.”

Castle Rock, Colorado
Karen McGrath  

Hall County, Georgia 
 
URL:
www.hallcounty.org

Contact: 
Katie Crumley
Public Information Officer
770-297-5504
kcrumley@hallcounty.org

Lowndes County, Georgia 
 
URL:
www.lowndescounty.com

Contact: 
Paige Dukes
County Clerk
229-671-2440
pdukes@lowndescounty.com



22

Grapevine, Texas
Economic Development 
 
URL:
www.tx-grapevineed.civicplus.com

Contact: 
Bob Farley
Grapevine Economic Development 
817-410-3108
bfarley@grapevinetexas.gov

REPRESENTATIVE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT SOLUTIONS

Grants Pass, Oregon
Economic Development
Travel & Tourism
 
URL:
www.travelgrantspass.com

Contact: 
Jo Woerner
Webmaster
541-450-6189
jwoerner@grantspassoregon.gov



23

Montrose, Colorado
Economic Development 
 
URL:
www.montroseedc.org

Contact: 
Patricia Cummings
Montrose Economic Development
1-800-270-0211
patriciac@montroseedc.org

Burlington, North Carolina
Economic Development
 
URL:
www.ci.burlington.nc.us

Contact: 
Rachel Hawley Kelly
Public Information Officer
336-222-5076
rkelly@ci.burlington.nc.us



ADDITIONAL CIVICPLUS INFORMATION

  � Security & Hosting Features

  � CivicEngage CMS - Features & Functionality

  � Additional Products & Services Available



25

HOSTING & SECURITY SERVICES

CivicPlus protects your investment and takes hosting and security of our client sites seriously.  Redundant power sources and 
internet access ensures consistent and stable connections. We invest over $1.0m annually to ensure we adapt to the ever-
changing security landscape while providing maximum availability. To help ensure your site is protected at the level you need, 
CivicPlus offers two options for coverage.

Included Hosting & Security Package
Your system is monitored 24/7/365. CivicPlus’ extensive, industry-leading process 
and procedures for protecting and hosting your site is unparalleled. From our secure 
data center facilities to constant and vigilant monitoring and updating of your system, 
including 99.7% guaranteed up-time. We’ve got you covered.  This security option 
covers up to five (5) unique domain addresses.  Additional annual charges will apply for 
any domain sites above the included five.

Platinum Hosting & Security Package
Ensuring your visitors can access your site and that it continues to be business as usual with least amount of interruption 
is attainable through the CivicPlus Platinum hosting and security. Cyber security is a high profile topic that makes the news 
almost daily. Every industry is a target, including local government. Our Platinum package protects your site through all of our 
included hosting and security features, but also adds the peace of mind of comprehensive and continuous DDoS protection. 
Our team has been pressure tested by high-profile events and has the experience and expertise to handle any situation.  
Coverage and annual services cost is per domain name/URL.  We’ve got you covered.

Ongoing Protection Services 
If you choose the Included Package and experience a DDoS attack or threat, CivicPlus has mitigation and DDoS Advanced 
Security options that are available to you at the time of event. Whatever your needs are we have an option that will be a fit 
for your community. 

Hosting & Security Features Included 
Hosting & Security

Platinum Upgrade 
Hosting & Security

Data Center
  � Highly reliable data center  

  � Managed network infrastructure  

  � On-site power backup & generators  

  � Multiple telecom/network providers  

  � Fully redundant network  

  � Highly secure facility  

  � System monitoring 24/7/365 24/7/365



26

*Thresholds:
Traffic exceeds 25 Mb/s sustained for 2+ hours
Traffic over 1 Gb/s at any point during attack

Hosting
  � Automated CivicEngage software updates  

  � Server management & monitoring  

  � Multi-tiered software architecture  

  � Server software updates & security patches  

  � Database server updates & security patches  

  � Antivirus management & updates  

  � Server-class hardware from nationally recognized provider  

  � Redundant firewall solutions  

  � High performance SAN with N+2 reliability  

Bandwidth
  � Multiple network providers in place  

  � Unlimited bandwidth usage for normal business operations  
(does not apply in the event of a cyber attack)  

  � Burst bandwidth 22 Gb/s 45 Gb/s
Disaster Recovery

  � Emergency after-hours support, live agent (24/7)  

  � On-line status monitor by Data Center  

  � Event notification emails  

  � Guaranteed recovery TIME objective (RTO) 8 hours 4 hours
  � Guaranteed recovery POINT objective (RPO) 24 hours 4 hours
  � Pre-emptive monitoring for disaster situations  

  � Multiple data centers  

  � Geographically diverse data centers  

DDoS Mitigation
Defined DDoS Attack Process

  �      Identify attack source  

  �      Identify type of attack  

  �      Monitor attack for threshold* engagement  

DDoS Advanced Security Coverage 
  �      Continuous DDoS mitigation coverage Not Included 

Additional coverage 
available at time of event. 

(Additional fees apply)



  �      Content Distribution Network support 

  �      Proxy server support 

  �      Live User Detection service 



27

CivicPlus won’t be with you just for the development, design and launch – we will be here year 
after year to respond to new needs and new opportunities for you to continue to have the best site 
possible. We offer all of our clients continuing support and additional advantages as a member of 
the CivicPlus family.  

Dedicated Account Management
CivicPlus has a team of dedicated account managers to help you implement the tools needed to 
successfully meet the level of Community Engagement that you desire. Upon website Go Live, you 
will have a dedicated member of this team to help you keep up on new CivicPlus products and 
optimize your site. This specialized team member can provide you with further information on how 
to engage your citizens, utilizing the tools that CivicPlus has put into place on your new website. 

Around-the-Clock Technical Support
Our support personnel are ready to answer your staff members’ questions and ensure their 
confidence in using our site. When you choose CivicPlus, our knowledgeable staff is available from 
7 a.m. to 7 p.m. (CST) to field your calls and emails, and emergency services are available after 
regular hours with our on-call staff 24-hours a day.

In addition to fielding support requests, CivicPlus is proactive in identifying any potential system 
issues. Through regularly scheduled reviews of site logs, error messages, servers, router activity 
and the internet in general, our personnel often identify and correct issues before they even affect 
our clients’ websites. Our expertise in website management provides assurance to our clients that 
their site is in good hands.

CONTINUING SERVICE & SUPPORT

HEAR FROM
OUR CUSTOMERS

“CivicPlus acted 

quickly to quash a 

DDOS on our website.  

The site was back up 

within an hour.  The 

speed in which your 

folks responded and 

the personal attention 

of your staff was very 

refreshing.  I will give 

a double thumbs up to 

CivicPlus on this issue.  

I even bragged about 

you at our Director’s 

meeting!”

Sally Ellertson
Public Information Officer
City of Burleson, TX



28

Developed for organizations that have a need to update their site frequently, CivicPlus provides a powerful government content 
management structure and website menu management system. The system allows non-technical employees the ability to 
easily update any portion of your website instantaneously. The CivicPlus content management system, CivicEngage utilizes 
Microsoft SQL Server, ASP, JavaScript and HTML for web development. 

Each website begins with a unique design developed to meet your specific communication and marketing goals, while 
showcasing the individuality of your community. Features and capabilities are added and customized as necessary, and all 
content is organized in accordance with web usability standards.

CIVICENGAGE FEATURES & FUNCTIONALITY

Modules Functionality

Agenda Center Action Items Queue

Alerts Center & Emergency Alert Notification Audit Trail / History Log

Archive Center Automated PDF Converter

Bid Postings Automatic Content Archiving

Blog Dynamic Breadcrumbs

Business/Resource Directory Dynamic Sitemap

Calendar Expiring Items Library

Citizen Request Tracker™ (5 users) Graphic Link Administration

Community Connection Links Redirect

Community Voice™ Menu Management

Document Center Mouse-over Menu Structure

CivicPayments / eCommerce Integration Live Editing and Page Creation

Facilities & Reservations Online Web Statistics

Form Center Printer Friendly/Email Page

Frequently Asked Questions RSS

Intranet Site Layout Options

Job Postings Site Search & Entry Log

My Dashboard Slideshow

News Flash Social Media Integration - to existing accounts

Notify MeTM email and 500 SMS subscribers User & Group Administration Rights

Opinion Poll Web Page Upload Utility

Photo Gallery Website Administrative Log

Quick Links

Real Estate Locator

Spotlight

Staff Directory



29

  � Agenda Center – Create and display agendas and 
minutes for various civic organizations

  � Alert Center – Graphically show when there is an 
emergency or important notification

  � Bid Postings – Simple and easy to use method of posting  
your bids

  � Blog – Post opinions/information about various topics. 
Can also be set up to allow site visitors to comment and 
subscribe

  � Business / Resource Directory – The Yellow Pages of your 
website

  � Calendar – Create multiple calendars for various 
divisions and departments

  � Citizen Request Tracker™ – Allow users to report a 
problem while providing follow-up communication with 
the point of contact

  � Community VoiceTM – Open forum in which citizens can 
interact while allowing you to showcase projects in your 
community

  � Document Center – Organize and house documents in 
department or division folders and sub-folders

  � CivicPayments  – The CivicPayments module is included 
with our premium website solution and allows 
customers to have the ability to process payment 
transactions via the website. Additional fees will apply.

  � Facilities & Reservations – Facilities and meeting places 
in one convenient place allowing reservations online

  � Form Center - Create custom online forms that can be 
completed and submitted online

  � Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) – Answer the most 
frequently asked questions from your visitors

  � Job Postings – Post available jobs in an easy to access 
manner

  � My Dashboard – Allow users to personalize their dashboard 
to stay updated on news, events, and information they care 
about

  � NotifyMeTM – Send out mass emails to subscribers of 
specific lists and modules, includes 500 SMS subscribers.  
More SMS subscribers can be purchased for additional 
annual subscription fees.

  � News Flash – Post organizational news items, right on your 
home page, that are important to your citizens

  � Opinion Poll – Interact with your site visitors by posting 
various questions and polls

  � Photo Gallery – Store and display photos

  � Quick Links – Place links on any page

  � Real Estate Locator - Lists residential and commercial 
properties within the local community. Properties are 
separated from the commercial properties with their own 
functionality.  Community members can post and manage 
their own real estate listing by setting up their profile and 
paying a small subscription fee.

  � Spotlight – Allows you to highlight important text or widgets 
in a compact, easy-to-update module

  � Staff Directory – Detailed contact information for your staff 
and offices

Social Networking & Gov 2.0
CivicPlus understands the importance of Gov 2.0 and how social 
networking sites like Facebook and Twitter help governments 
connect with their residents in unique and innovative ways. 
From your existing community-centric pages on Facebook to 
real-time Twitter feeds that can deliver emergency alerts, we 
are dedicated to helping our clients integrate their web content 
into the most dynamic social media sites and make their marks 
in the world of Gov 2.0.  

CIVICENGAGE PREMIUM MODULES



30

CivicPlus can sync your website to your Facebook and 
Twitter profiles to automatically publish news, notices, and 
calendar events on Facebook with a link to your website for 
more information. Twitter’s short, 140-character “tweets” 
offers a way to distribute information quickly and effectively.
Other social networking sites (such as LinkedIn, YouTube, 
Pinterest, etc.) can be featured on your website as links to 
your profile on those websites.

Administrative Features
  � Instantaneous Updates – Once published, updates are 

posted to the live site in real time.

  � Browser Based – No installation of programs or software 
needed! Your staff can update the site from an internet 
connection or platform (Mac or PC) at any time. 

  � Mobile Updates – Immediately update your site from 
any location using your tablet or phone. 

  � Action Items – Direct access to a queue of pending items 
to be published or reviewed by the administrator upon 
login. 

  � Site Search and Search Log – Powerful site search 
automatically indexes all content making it easy for 
visitors to find information. A log of all words that have 
been searched by visitors is kept, allowing you to update 
highly searched information and feature key items.

  � Automatic Alt Tags – Built-in features ensure your site 
is Section 508 compliant without having to know the 
requirements.

  � Bad Links Identifier – This module creates a list of the 
broken links on your site when they are accessed. 

  � Content Creation – CivicEngage makes it easy to add 
new content, edit old content, and keep page layout 
consistent through use of our What You See Is What 
You Get (WYSIWYG) editor. Content changes will not 
affect the design - site breadcrumbs, page structure 
and sitemaps will dynamically update upon publishing. 
With mega menus and drop-down, pop-out menu 
functionality, you can essentially get to any page on your 
website within a single click if desired!

  � Content Scheduling – Material throughout the entire 
system can be set to auto-unpublish (expire) or it can be 
manually retired. 

  � Content Versioning – CivicEngage includes version control, a 
history log for reviewing changes made within the system, 
file locking through our permission system and an archive of 
all published content.

  � Dynamic Layout – The layout for your website will be 
determined by you and the designer. Placement of navigation 
and dynamic areas are important in guiding site visitors to 
key information quickly and easily. 

  � Dynamic Page Components – Events Calendar, FAQs, Opinion 
Poll, News Flash and other new features may be included as 
dynamic page components. Dynamic Page Components may 
be placed on any page and will help dedicated areas of the 
site appear as its own website. For example, the entry page 
for your Parks and Recreation Department can be customized 
with specific lists of events, FAQs and news announcements 
pertaining to that department.

  � Dynamic Breadcrumbs and Site Map – Dynamic Breadcrumbs 
are used to show a visitor’s location within the site. 
Breadcrumbs are automatically generated by our system. A 
dynamically generated site map automatically updates to 
reflect your new navigation if changes are made.

  � CivicPayments / eCommerce Integration – The CivicPayments 
module is included with our premium website solution and 
allows customers to have the ability to process payment 
transactions via the website, saving staff time and effort by 
of manually processing payments. To take advantage of this 
module, additional processing transaction and merchant 
account fees will apply.  

  � History Log – Easily tracks changes made to your website 
including items in your Page Menu, Archive Center, 
Document Center and more. History Log information is 
searchable, sortable and exportable.

  � Integration/Interfacing – CivicPlus’ integration services work 
cohesively with most third-party software applications. 



31

We have the capability to link with most software or 
databases currently utilized. Systems such as purchasing, 
taxes, assessment and utilities have been developed for 
many of our clients. 

  � Intranet – An intranet is a secure location on your 
website that allows employees and other groups to login 
and access non-public resources and information.  You 
will have the ability to set up multiple intranet groups 
with varying view rights.

  � Levels of Rights – Levels of Rights may be defined as 
publishers (create or publish) or authors (create but 
not publish), or as administrators of modules.  Assigned 
groups may have the right to update their own content 
without affecting web pages, menu structure, top of 
page, banner or navigation. 

  � LDAP or ADFS Integration – LDAP and ADFS provide 
a powerful and simple way to manage users and 
permissions by syncing your website with your existing 
active directory database - negating the need for 
multiple user upload and sign-on. Because LDAP or 
ADFS integration require custom programming time, 
additional fees apply.

  � Link Redirects – Instead of sending your users to http://
civicplus.com/248/Awards-and-Recognition, you can 
send them to http://civicplus.com/awards. A more 
intuitive approach to help visitors find particular pages. 

  � Maps – Help website users find commonly requested 
information such as bus routes, highways, tourist 
attractions, education information, major employers, 
or demographics. Maps can be simple, clickable maps, 
using our Image Map Editor, or more sophisticated 
JavaScript or Flash (additional fees required for 
JavaScript or Flash development). 

  � Printer Friendly – Our printer friendly functionality 
separates critical content from the site template to 
provide a clean print without menu structure and 
banner information included.

  � RSS Feeds - RSS stands for Real Simple Syndication and in 
short, it brings your site to the people. After signing up, they 
receive email notifications of the latest news updates. 

  � Supported Browsers – CivicPlus websites are viewable in all 
common browsers. We optimize them for administrative use 
with Windows 2000+ and in the two most recent versions of 
major browsers including: Internet Explorer, Firefox, Safari 
and Chrome. 

  � Website Statistics – Administrators will be trained on the 
use and analysis of web statistics, provided through Google 
Analytics. 

Application Programming Interfaces

We have nearly a dozen application programming interfaces 
(APIs) throughout the system and continue to build more to 
make integrations with our CivicEngage CMS and disparate 
applications as straightforward as possible.  It’s this “open 
architecture” approach that allows your IT staff and 
programmers to spend time creating applications and systems 
that are specific to your community’s needs and tie them into 
the site, using the site itself as a sturdy platform on which to 
build.

CivicMedia - Mobile Video
CivicPlus offers a robust mobile video experience as part of our 
CivicMedia solution. Consumption of video is continuing to grow, 
and providing this option as part of your overall experience 
is a must have to drive engagement for anything from board 
meetings to community events. CivicMedia is available for an 
additional fee.

Mobile Video
  � Just about any file format is supported and easily searchable, 

shareable and accessible from almost any device.

  � Drag-and-drop uploading

  � Includes ability to stream live HD video (additional charges 
may apply to continuous streaming).



32

ADDITIONAL PRODUCTS

Mobile device ownership is high – and growing. What are 
users doing on all those devices?  Using apps! Mobile apps 
are used everywhere for everything by everyone. You use 
apps, right? Your citizens do too.

Research shows that the average person looks at their 
mobile phone up to 150 times a day.  As more and more 
people adopt mobile devices we’ll continue to see the user 
demand for apps increase. Currently, 86% of the time we 
spend on mobile devices is spent using apps.  This provides 
a great opportunity for you to connect with citizens. You’ll 
want to do everything you can to make sure they can access 
your site content whenever, wherever, and however they 
want – an app makes that possible.

With seamless integration, the CivicMobile app puts the 
power of your CivicPlus website conveniently in the palm of 
your citizens’ hands. Updates to your site are automatically 
synced to the app in real-time. Designed to keep users 
informed, content and alerts can be scheduled for automatic 
delivery. The controls are simple and easy for anyone to use. 
One customizable app. One user-friendly interface. Endless 
possibilities. 

Benefits of CivicMobile:
  � Cross-Platform Compatibility – CivicMobile is designed 

to look and work great on both Apple® iOS  and 
Android® mobile devices.

  � Fully Integrated – The CivicMobile app is seamlessly 
connected directly to your CivicPlus website; your 
content will always be in-sync with your app.

  � Custom Design – Our designers work hard to make sure 
that no matter what device your citizens are on, your 
brand identity is instantly recognized.

  � Push Notifications – Through integration with Notify 
Me,® your citizens are able to receive updates across all 
of their mobile devices.

  � Custom Content – CivicMobile allows you to choose the 
most relevant content for your app.

  � No additional resources – Once the app is designed and 
developed, there is no upkeep on your end. Our expert 
team will make sure it stays up-to-date and follows the 
ever-changing  landscape of mobile apps.

What do you get?
  � Choose to include up to 18 modules

  � Include up to six web links for easy integration with any 
mobile-friendly web page

  � Link to social media accounts (Facebook,® Twitter,®  and 
YouTube®)

  � Choose your own app name



33

CivicSend 888.228.2233       CivicSend.com       302 South 4th Street, Suite 500 Manhattan, KS  66502

CONNECTING PEOPLE

Sending Made Simple
Save Time. Improve Efficiency. Increase Engagement.

A visually rich e-communication platform designed with governments and 
citizens in mind. 

Communicating with your citizens just got easier.

With CivicSend, you can create professional-looking messages in minutes. Simply select your 

communication channels (email, text, social media), then choose a template, customize, and send. 

It really is that easy, that efficient.

CivicSend at a glance:
■ Versatile communication tool – Not just for newsletters

■ Communicates efficiently – From one interface to multiple channels

■ Robust analytics – Track and measure response rates

■ Mobile-responsive – Reach citizens anywhere

■ Autopost to website – All communication in one centralized location

■ Accesses your CivicEngage subscriber lists – Select one or multiple
notification lists

■ Template-based – Create attractive, engaging messages

■ Intuitive – Features a new, easy-to-use CivicPlus interface

■ Value-conscious – Offers unlimited emails and lists

CivicSend offers all this and more, right from the user-friendly interface of your CivicEngage solution. 

You can create anything from simple messages to event invitations to multi-image e-newsletters. Our 

templates make crafting professional-looking messages a snap – no experience necessary.

If using a centralized communication tool to save time, improve efficiency, and increase citizen 

engagement is important to you, let us show you first-hand what CivicSend can do. 

Easily create customized messages 

Robust, yet simple to use 

Seamless CivicEngage integration

BENEFITS



34

CivicSend 888.228.2233       CivicSend.com       302 South 4th Street, Suite 500 Manhattan, KS  66502

CONNECTING PEOPLE

One communication solution. One user-friendly interface. Endless possibilities.

Additional Services 

Save your customized templates 

for future communication 

Add a lead-in message to text 

messages and social media posts

Since 2001, CivicPlus has been working to help local governments communicate the way citizens

most want to connect – digitally. Our solutions reach beyond interactive websites to help our clients

stay in step with today’s technology across the board. CivicSend answers the need for a robust,

anytime, mobile-ready communication solution.

Simplify your communication, beautifully.

CivicSend offers both beauty and brains. You can use it to craft visually rich messages, then measure 

citizen engagement with our analytics dashboard.

Better yet, we’re saving you steps. Create your message using a single interface, then send through 

multiple channels (email, text, social media). CivicSend also auto-posts the content to your website.

Our goal with CivicSend was to create an e-communication tool that does everything you need it to

do… and nothing you don’t. It’s sending made simple.

Save Time Improve Efficiency Increase Engagement



35

CivicPlus.com       888.228.2233
302 South 4th Street, Suite 500, Manhattan, KS 66502

CivicAdvise®

Hands-on Consulting to Ensure Your Project is Set-up for Success.

Setting the stage for a sustainable website project. 

Implementing an enterprise-wide software solution is a huge undertaking. Not only does new software 

touch every department in your organization, it has the potential to positively impact the hundreds  

of end-users in your community. Our expert consultants don’t just hand you a strategy document and  

take off—they help develop a plan that is practical and ready to execute. They will help you:

ALIGN GOALS
����  Identify goals for implementation and beyond 

����  Make a plan to improve information and end-user 

navigation

����  Devise a strategy to integrate third party applications 

GET EVERYONE EXCITED AND ON-BOARD
����  Facilitate stakeholder review of strategic initiatives to be 

achieved by new website 

����  Ensure everyone’s needs are heard and addressed 

IDENTIFY YOUR AUDIENCE, TOP SERVICES & MOST 
RELEVANT INFORMATION

����  Assist in analyzing web statistics and citizen input

����  Create process maps for critical services 

����  Suggest streamlined content making it easy for citizens 

to follow and staff to maintain



36
CivicPlus.com       888.228.2233
302 South 4th Street, Suite 500, Manhattan, KS 66502

CivicPlus is a cloud-based solutions company 
working with over 2,000 local governments 
including municipalities, townships and counties. 
CivicPlus has been selected by Inc. Magazine 
as “One of the Fastest-Growing Privately Held 
Companies in the U.S.” since 2011. 

With CivicAdvise consulting, you’ll receive a customized project strategy to help 
you meet your goals, whether they include aligning stakeholder goals for website 

implementation and sustainment, better understanding end-users’ information needs  
or adapting and optimizing internal processes that rely on your software systems.

CivicAdvise  
Consultation  

Offering

Who Should 
Attend

Why Attend

Organization’s  
Commitment  

without  
Consulting

Envision
Web Team and 
stakeholders

Consultant will work with all 
stakeholders to research your 
current website, target audience and 
develop a project road-map.

n/a

Research 
Web Team and 
stakeholders

Consultant will work with all 
stakeholders to get everyone excited 
and aligned for website project.

60 staff hours

Align
Web Team and 
stakeholders

Consultant will work with 
stakeholders to collect data (call 
logs, foot logs, web analytics, third 
party applications) to make good 
project decisions.

120 staff hours  
per 200 pages

Navigate
Web Team 
and Website 
Content Editors

Consultant will work with 
departments to recognize their 
audience, top services and most 
relevant information.

60 staff hours  
per 6 departments

Optimize
Web Team and 
process/service 
owner

Consultant will facilitate creation of a 
process map for critical departments 
or services, and will create a plan for 
how to optimize via the website.

30 staff hours  
per 1 service

*We offer on-site and virtual consulting.  We will make a recommendation based on the size of your team 

and scope of your project.

Envision Research Align Navigate Optimize



     



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date:  August 16, 2016     

 
Submitting Department or Individual:  Parks & Recreation Department   

 
Contact Name:  Darcie Crew    Phone:  228‐938‐2356 

 

 

Agenda Topic:   Task Order ‐ 2D Renderings of Recreation Facilities 
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:   
Approve  task  order with  Compton  Engineering  in  the  amount  not  to  exceed  $3,000  for  up  to  two  (2),  2D 
renderings of athletic facilities in Pascagoula. Authorize the City Manager to execute the task order.  

 
Budgeted Item  Yes    No    Source of Funding    General Fund 
 

Contract Required  Yes    No        Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required  Yes    No        Grant 
 

              Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 21







PARKING

PARKING

PLAY

GROUND

ENTRANCE SIGN

CONCESSIONS

CONCESSIONS

BATTING FACILITYPAVILION

B
A

T
T
I
N

G
 
F
A

C
I
L
I
T
Y

P

A

S

C

A

G

O

U

L
A

 S P O R
T

S

 

C

O

M

P

L

E

X

geoffcl
Sticky Note



P
A
R
K
I
N

G

L
O

O
P
 R

O
A
D

NEW LIGHTING

P
A
R
K
I
N

G

P
A
R
K
I
N

G

L
O

O
P
 R

O
A
D

P

A

S

C

A

G

O

U

L
A

 S O C
C

E

R

 
C

O

M

P

L

E

X



     



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Finance

Sherria Trosclair 938-6610

YTD Revenue and Expenditure Reports

Accept YTD Revenue and Expenditure Reports for July 2016.

✔✔✔✔



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:16    |City of Pascagoula |P      1
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL ESTIM REV REVISED ACTUAL YTD REMAINING PCT
                                            ESTIM REV ADJSTMTS EST REV REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

010 GENERAL FUND                       
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
01000005 GENERAL FUND-TAXES   -8,810,296           0  -8,810,296  -6,827,220.85                 -1,998,870.15   77.5%
01000010 GENERAL FUND-LICENSE & PER   -1,920,617           0  -1,920,617  -1,472,361.03                   -448,255.97   76.7%
01000015 GENERAL FUND-GRANTS     -283,790     -52,834    -336,624     -87,708.69                   -248,915.31   26.1%
01000020 GENERAL FUND-INTERGOV'TAL   -8,093,907           0  -8,093,907  -5,494,591.88                 -2,599,315.12   67.9%
01000025 GENERAL FUND-CHGS/GOV'T SE   -2,042,372           0  -2,042,372    -317,038.89                 -1,725,333.11   15.5%
01000030 GENERAL FUND-FINES & FORFE   -1,020,637           0  -1,020,637    -543,131.07                   -477,531.16   53.2%
01000035 GENERAL FUND-INTEREST      -92,153           0     -92,153     -50,722.36                    -41,430.64   55.0%
01000040 GENERAL FUND-RENTS      -84,197           0     -84,197     -56,359.65                    -27,837.35   66.9%
01000045 GENERAL FUND-MISCELLANEOUS     -314,429      -3,600    -318,029    -123,396.70                   -194,632.30   38.8%
01000055 GENERAL FUND-TRANSFERS   -1,453,834           0  -1,453,834            .00                 -1,453,834.00     .0%
01000060 GENERAL FUND-OTHER FIN SOU  -10,464,022           0 -10,464,022        -778.50                -10,463,243.50     .0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                       -34,580,254     -56,434 -34,636,688 -14,973,309.62                -19,679,198.61   43.2%

 
TOTAL GENERAL FUND                   -34,580,254     -56,434 -34,636,688 -14,973,309.62                -19,679,198.61   43.2%

 
 

015 TAX CLEARING FUND                  
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
01500045 TAX CLEARING FUND-MISC.            0           0           0            .01                          -.01  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                                 0           0           0            .01                          -.01  100.0%

 
TOTAL TAX CLEARING FUND                        0           0           0            .01                          -.01  100.0%

 
 

020 SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION             
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
02000020 SPECIAL TAX-INTERGOVTAL RE     -163,000           0    -163,000    -133,544.53                    -29,455.47   81.9%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                          -163,000           0    -163,000    -133,544.53                    -29,455.47   81.9%

 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:16    |City of Pascagoula |P      2
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL ESTIM REV REVISED ACTUAL YTD REMAINING PCT
                                            ESTIM REV ADJSTMTS EST REV REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
TOTAL SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION            -163,000           0    -163,000    -133,544.53                    -29,455.47   81.9%

 
 

030 PAYROLL FUND                       
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
03000035 PAYROLL FUND-INTEREST            0           0           0      -1,480.76                      1,480.76  100.0%
03000045 PAYROLL FUND-MISCELLANEOUS            0           0           0            .01                          -.01  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                                 0           0           0      -1,480.75                      1,480.75  100.0%

 
TOTAL PAYROLL FUND                             0           0           0      -1,480.75                      1,480.75  100.0%

 
 

040 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE FUND          
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
04000030 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE-FORFE      -60,000      -2,434     -62,434    -288,849.03                    226,415.03  462.6%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                           -60,000      -2,434     -62,434    -288,849.03                    226,415.03  462.6%

 
TOTAL FORFIETURE & SEIZURE FUND          -60,000      -2,434     -62,434    -288,849.03                    226,415.03  462.6%

 
 

050 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE FUND         
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
05000020 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE-INTR     -121,900           0    -121,900    -143,611.91                     21,711.91  117.8%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                          -121,900           0    -121,900    -143,611.91                     21,711.91  117.8%

 
TOTAL FIRE INSURANCE REBATE FUND        -121,900           0    -121,900    -143,611.91                     21,711.91  117.8%

 
 

060 INNER HARBOR                       
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:16    |City of Pascagoula |P      3
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL ESTIM REV REVISED ACTUAL YTD REMAINING PCT
                                            ESTIM REV ADJSTMTS EST REV REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

06000020 INNER HARBOR-INTGOVRMTL RE            0           0           0         -50.84                         50.84  100.0%
06000040 INNER HARBOR-RENTS            0           0           0     -17,937.00                     17,937.00  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                                 0           0           0     -17,987.84                     17,987.84  100.0%

 
TOTAL INNER HARBOR                             0           0           0     -17,987.84                     17,987.84  100.0%

 
 

070 MACHPELAH CEMETERY FUND            
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
07000060 MACHPELAH CEMETERY-OTH FIN      -45,000           0     -45,000     -50,500.00                      5,500.00  112.2%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                           -45,000           0     -45,000     -50,500.00                      5,500.00  112.2%

 
TOTAL MACHPELAH CEMETERY FUND            -45,000           0     -45,000     -50,500.00                      5,500.00  112.2%

 
 

100 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND         
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
10000015 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT-GRAN   -2,239,021  -3,853,316  -6,092,337  -1,309,133.24                 -4,783,203.41   21.5%
10000055 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT-TRNF            0     -11,765     -11,765            .00                    -11,765.00     .0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                        -2,239,021  -3,865,081  -6,104,102  -1,309,133.24                 -4,794,968.41   21.4%

 
TOTAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND      -2,239,021  -3,865,081  -6,104,102  -1,309,133.24                 -4,794,968.41   21.4%

 
 

180 SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS           
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
18000015 SPECIAL REV PROJECTS-GRANT     -350,661           0    -350,661     -50,772.60                   -299,888.58   14.5%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                          -350,661           0    -350,661     -50,772.60                   -299,888.58   14.5%

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:16    |City of Pascagoula |P      4
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL ESTIM REV REVISED ACTUAL YTD REMAINING PCT
                                            ESTIM REV ADJSTMTS EST REV REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS          -350,661           0    -350,661     -50,772.60                   -299,888.58   14.5%

 
 

200 GENERAL OBLIG. DEBT SERVICE        
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
20000005 GENERAL OBLIG. DEBT SER-TA   -1,088,300           0  -1,088,300  -1,000,097.81                    -88,202.19   91.9%
20000020 GENERAL OBLIG. DT SER- INT            0           0           0     -18,934.87                     18,934.87  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                        -1,088,300           0  -1,088,300  -1,019,032.68                    -69,267.32   93.6%

 
TOTAL GENERAL OBLIG. DEBT SERVICE     -1,088,300           0  -1,088,300  -1,019,032.68                    -69,267.32   93.6%

 
 

400 PASCAGOULA UTILITIES               
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
40000035 PASCAGOULA UTILITIES-INTER      -28,180           0     -28,180            .00                    -28,180.00     .0%
40000045 PASCAGOULA UTILITIES-MISC      -11,000           0     -11,000      -4,291.24                     -6,708.76   39.0%
40000050 PASCAGOULA UTILITIES-UTIL  -14,298,360           0 -14,298,360  -9,655,353.99                 -4,643,006.01   67.5%
40000060 PAS UTILITIES-OTH FIN SOUR   -5,681,483           0  -5,681,483    -187,762.36                 -5,493,720.64    3.3%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                       -20,019,023           0 -20,019,023  -9,847,407.59                -10,171,615.41   49.2%

 
TOTAL PASCAGOULA UTILITIES           -20,019,023           0 -20,019,023  -9,847,407.59                -10,171,615.41   49.2%

 
 

480 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND        
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
48000005 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT-TAX     -240,990           0    -240,990    -210,992.08                    -29,997.92   87.6%
48000020 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT-INT       -9,400           0      -9,400      -3,994.70                     -5,405.30   42.5%
48000025 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT-GOV   -1,295,700           0  -1,295,700  -1,036,977.15                   -258,722.85   80.0%
48000035 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT-INT       -2,800           0      -2,800            .00                     -2,800.00     .0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                        -1,548,890           0  -1,548,890  -1,251,963.93                   -296,926.07   80.8%

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:16    |City of Pascagoula |P      5
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL ESTIM REV REVISED ACTUAL YTD REMAINING PCT
                                            ESTIM REV ADJSTMTS EST REV REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
TOTAL SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND     -1,548,890           0  -1,548,890  -1,251,963.93                   -296,926.07   80.8%

 
 

500 PASCAGOULA GROUP INSURANCE         
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
50000045 PASCAGOULA GRP INS-MISC.            0           0           0  -2,471,448.81                  2,471,448.81  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                                 0           0           0  -2,471,448.81                  2,471,448.81  100.0%

 
TOTAL PASCAGOULA GROUP INSURANCE               0           0           0  -2,471,448.81                  2,471,448.81  100.0%

 
 

600 FIRE AND POLICE D & R FUND         
_________________________________________

 
000 REVENUES                           
_________________________________________

 
60000005 FIRE AND POLICE D & R-TAXE     -688,796           0    -688,796    -632,973.41                    -55,822.59   91.9%
60000020 FIRE AND POLICE D & R-INTG            0           0           0     -11,984.10                     11,984.10  100.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES                          -688,796           0    -688,796    -644,957.51                    -43,838.49   93.6%

 
TOTAL FIRE AND POLICE D & R FUND        -688,796           0    -688,796    -644,957.51                    -43,838.49   93.6%

 
 

GRAND TOTAL  -60,904,845  -3,923,949 -64,828,794 -32,204,000.03                -32,640,614.03   49.7%
 

                                        ** END OF REPORT - Generated by Sherria Trosclair **                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      1
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

010 GENERAL FUND                       
_________________________________________

 
001 CITY COUNCIL                       
_________________________________________

 
01000165 CITY COUNCIL-PERSONAL SERV      158,289           0     158,289     143,796.72            .00      14,492.28   90.8%
01000170 CITY COUNCIL-SUPPLIES       31,150           0      31,150      28,226.98            .00       2,923.02   90.6%
01000175 CITY COUNCIL-OTHER CHARGES       83,025       2,350      85,375      98,270.66            .00     -12,895.66  115.1%

 
TOTAL CITY COUNCIL                       272,464       2,350     274,814     270,294.36            .00       4,519.64   98.4%

 
 

010 COURT                              
_________________________________________

 
01001065 COURT-PERSONAL SERVICES      275,560           0     275,560     229,122.47            .00      46,437.53   83.1%
01001070 COURT-SUPPLIES        5,000           0       5,000       1,602.75            .00       3,397.25   32.1%
01001075 COURT-OTHER CHARGES        4,300           0       4,300         300.00            .00       4,000.00    7.0%

 
TOTAL COURT                              284,860           0     284,860     231,025.22            .00      53,834.78   81.1%

 
 

020 CITY MANAGER                       
_________________________________________

 
01002065 CITY MANAGER-PERSONAL SERV      295,419           0     295,419     241,376.28            .00      54,042.72   81.7%
01002070 CITY MANAGER-SUPPLIES        4,150           0       4,150       1,924.63         172.34       2,053.03   50.5%
01002075 CITY MANAGER-OTHER CHARGES       88,070      -2,350      85,720      37,987.47       7,343.26      40,389.27   52.9%

 
TOTAL CITY MANAGER                       387,639      -2,350     385,289     281,288.38       7,515.60      96,485.02   75.0%

 
 

040 CITY CLERK                         
_________________________________________

 
01004065 CITY CLERK-PERSONAL SERVIC      138,021           0     138,021     123,342.61            .00      14,678.39   89.4%
01004070 CITY CLERK-SUPPLIES        6,300           0       6,300       2,582.17         273.70       3,444.13   45.3%
01004075 CITY CLERK-OTHER CHARGES        9,825           0       9,825         929.52         290.00       8,605.48   12.4%

 
TOTAL CITY CLERK                         154,146           0     154,146     126,854.30         563.70      26,728.00   82.7%

 
 

050 ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE             
_________________________________________

 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      2
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
01005065 ACCOUNTING-PERSONAL SERVIC      310,439           0     310,439     220,525.64            .00      89,913.36   71.0%
01005070 ACCOUNTING-SUPPLIES        3,125           0       3,125       2,516.42         541.00          67.58   97.8%
01005075 ACCOUNTING-OTHER CHARGES        1,500           0       1,500       1,068.44            .00         431.56   71.2%

 
TOTAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE             315,064           0     315,064     224,110.50         541.00      90,412.50   71.3%

 
 

055 PURCHASING                         
_________________________________________

 
01005565 PURCHASING-PERSONAL SERVIC      111,640           0     111,640      94,862.25            .00      16,777.75   85.0%
01005570 PURCHASING-SUPPLIES        1,450           0       1,450       1,413.74          15.00          21.26   98.5%
01005575 PURCHASING-OTHER CHARGES        5,175           0       5,175       4,225.27         280.49         669.24   87.1%

 
TOTAL PURCHASING                         118,265           0     118,265     100,501.26         295.49      17,468.25   85.2%

 
 

060 CITY ATTORNEY                      
_________________________________________

 
01006065 CITY ATTORNEY-PERSONAL SER      225,056           0     225,056     190,762.46            .00      34,293.54   84.8%
01006070 CITY ATTORNEY-SUPPLIES       12,700          20      12,720       5,545.16         130.71       7,044.28   44.6%
01006075 CITY ATTORNEY-OTHER CHARGE        6,875           0       6,875       3,362.77            .00       3,512.23   48.9%

 
TOTAL CITY ATTORNEY                      244,631          20     244,651     199,670.39         130.71      44,850.05   81.7%

 
 

070 HUMAN RESOURCES                    
_________________________________________

 
01007065 HUMAN RESOURCES-PERSONAL S      283,973           0     283,973     244,156.04            .00      39,816.96   86.0%
01007070 HUMAN RESOURCES-SUPPLIES        4,000           0       4,000       2,880.64          52.18       1,067.18   73.3%
01007075 HUMAN RESOURCES-OTHER CHAR       55,375           0      55,375      17,549.63         191.29      37,634.08   32.0%
01007080 HUMAN RESOURCES-CAPITAL OU        5,000           0       5,000       4,982.28            .00          17.72   99.6%

 
TOTAL HUMAN RESOURCES                    348,348           0     348,348     269,568.59         243.47      78,535.94   77.5%

 
 

080 INFORMATION SYSTEMS MGM'T          
_________________________________________

 
01008065 INF SYS MGM'T-PERSONAL SER      158,355           0     158,355     134,270.77            .00      24,084.23   84.8%
01008070 INF SYS MGM'T-SUPPLIES       48,275           0      48,275      22,347.54      17,758.41       8,169.05   83.1%
01008075 INF SYS MGM'T-OTHER CHARGE      397,751           0     397,751     273,699.87      70,559.52      53,491.61   86.6%

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      3
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
01008080 INF SYS MGM'T-CAPITAL OUTL       74,000           0      74,000      50,745.14      11,028.57      12,226.29   83.5%

 
TOTAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS MGM'T          678,381           0     678,381     481,063.32      99,346.50      97,971.18   85.6%

 
 

090 GEN'L GOV'T BLDG MAINTENANCE       
_________________________________________

 
01009070 GN GV BLD MNT-SUPPLIES        7,300           0       7,300       7,026.33         311.54         -37.87  100.5%
01009075 GN GV BLD MNT-OTHER CHARGE      221,263      -3,000     218,263     180,270.10      35,805.00       2,187.90   99.0%
01009080 GN GV BLD MNT-CAPITAL OUTL      153,000           0     153,000       3,708.77            .00     149,291.23    2.4%

 
TOTAL GEN'L GOV'T BLDG MAINTENANCE       381,563      -3,000     378,563     191,005.20      36,116.54     151,441.26   60.0%

 
 

099 GENERAL ADMINISTRATION             
_________________________________________

 
01009975 GENERAL ADMIN-OTHER CHARGE    1,562,685       4,355   1,567,040   1,385,962.66       1,355.00     179,722.34   88.5%
01009990 GENERAL ADMIN-TRANSFERS       46,000       2,434      48,434      46,000.00            .00       2,434.00   95.0%

 
TOTAL GENERAL ADMINISTRATION           1,608,685       6,789   1,615,474   1,431,962.66       1,355.00     182,156.34   88.7%

 
 

100 POLICE ADMINISTRATION              
_________________________________________

 
01010065 POLICE ADMIN-PERSONAL SERV      270,326           0     270,326     225,029.23            .00      45,296.77   83.2%
01010070 POLICE ADMIN-SUPPLIES      319,500     -22,000     297,500     182,623.48       4,004.02     110,872.50   62.7%
01010075 POLICE ADMIN-OTHER CHARGES      144,000           0     144,000     117,074.81       4,068.34      22,856.85   84.1%
01010080 POLICE ADMIN-CAPITAL OUTLA      750,000           0     750,000            .00            .00     750,000.00     .0%

 
TOTAL POLICE ADMINISTRATION            1,483,826     -22,000   1,461,826     524,727.52       8,072.36     929,026.12   36.4%

 
 

105 ADMINISTRATIVE BUREAU              
_________________________________________

 
01010565 ADMIN BUREAU-PERSONAL SERV    1,561,074           0   1,561,074   1,236,155.29            .00     324,918.71   79.2%
01010570 ADMIN BUREAU-SUPPLIES        2,250           0       2,250         789.03         300.00       1,160.97   48.4%
01010575 ADMIN BUREAU-OTHER CHARGES       34,850           0      34,850      23,519.50            .00      11,330.50   67.5%
01010580 ADMIN BUREAU-CAPITAL OUTLA      234,913      51,901     286,814     233,298.62       2,928.66      50,586.43   82.4%

 
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE BUREAU            1,833,087      51,901   1,884,988   1,493,762.44       3,228.66     387,996.61   79.4%

 
 

110 CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS            
_________________________________________

 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      4
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

01011065 CRIM INVEST-PERSONAL SERVI    1,513,564           0   1,513,564   1,024,255.07            .00     489,308.93   67.7%
01011070 CRIM INVEST-SUPPLIES        3,675           0       3,675         856.48       1,118.80       1,699.72   53.7%
01011075 CRIM INVEST-OTHER CHARGES       39,750           0      39,750      35,172.10         200.00       4,377.90   89.0%
01011085 CRIMINAL INVEST-DEBT SERVI        8,200           0       8,200       6,339.40       1,267.88         592.72   92.8%

 
TOTAL CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS          1,565,189           0   1,565,189   1,066,623.05       2,586.68     495,979.27   68.3%

 
 

112 FIELD SERVICES                     
_________________________________________

 
01011265 FIELD SERVICE-PERSONAL SER    3,219,096      15,400   3,234,496   2,682,717.65            .00     551,778.35   82.9%
01011270 FIELD SERVICES-SUPPLIES       13,675       2,000      15,675      13,636.66         785.43       1,252.91   92.0%
01011275 FIELD SERVICES-OTHER CHARG       29,814           0      29,814      26,942.58            .00       2,871.42   90.4%

 
TOTAL FIELD SERVICES                   3,262,585      17,400   3,279,985   2,723,296.89         785.43     555,902.68   83.1%

 
 

115 JAIL FACILITIES                    
_________________________________________

 
01011575 JAIL FACIL-OTHER CHARGES      165,000           0     165,000     128,277.01            .00      36,722.99   77.7%

 
TOTAL JAIL FACILITIES                    165,000           0     165,000     128,277.01            .00      36,722.99   77.7%

 
 

130 POLICE TRAINING                    
_________________________________________

 
01013065 POLICE TRAIN-PERSONAL SERV      155,538           0     155,538     121,508.60            .00      34,029.40   78.1%
01013070 POLICE TRAIN-SUPPLIES        2,500           0       2,500       1,356.44            .00       1,143.56   54.3%
01013075 POLICE TRAIN-OTHER CHARGES       12,750      23,600      36,350      32,807.82            .00       3,542.18   90.3%

 
TOTAL POLICE TRAINING                    170,788      23,600     194,388     155,672.86            .00      38,715.14   80.1%

 
 

155 STATION BUILDING MAINTENANCE       
_________________________________________

 
01015565 POL STN BUILD-PERSONAL SER       49,569           0      49,569      41,394.50            .00       8,174.50   83.5%
01015570 POL STN BLDG-SUPPLIES       11,000           0      11,000       7,975.19       1,850.00       1,174.81   89.3%
01015575 POL STN BLDG-OTHER CHARGES        9,500           0       9,500       8,843.66          30.00         626.34   93.4%

 
TOTAL STATION BUILDING MAINTENANCE        70,069           0      70,069      58,213.35       1,880.00       9,975.65   85.8%

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      5
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

160 FIRE ADMINISTRATION                
_________________________________________

 
01016065 FIRE ADMIN-PERSONAL SERVIC      280,122           0     280,122     208,574.05            .00      71,547.95   74.5%
01016070 FIRE ADMIN-SUPPLIES       11,250           0      11,250       5,642.20            .00       5,607.80   50.2%
01016075 FIRE ADMIN-OTHER CHARGES       10,975           0      10,975       3,175.59            .00       7,799.41   28.9%

 
TOTAL FIRE ADMINISTRATION                302,347           0     302,347     217,391.84            .00      84,955.16   71.9%

 
 

161 FIRE FIGHTING                      
_________________________________________

 
01016165 FIRE FIGHTING-PERSONAL SER    3,988,820           0   3,988,820   3,283,642.31            .00     705,177.69   82.3%
01016170 FIRE FIGHTING-SUPPLIES       62,800           0      62,800      14,299.31      21,763.23      26,737.46   57.4%
01016175 FIRE FIGHTING-OTHER CHARGE       12,200           0      12,200       5,964.00           8.00       6,228.00   49.0%

 
TOTAL FIRE FIGHTING                    4,063,820           0   4,063,820   3,303,905.62      21,771.23     738,143.15   81.8%

 
 

162 FIRE PREVENTION                    
_________________________________________

 
01016265 FIRE PREVENTION-PERSONAL S       80,625           0      80,625      65,089.86            .00      15,535.14   80.7%
01016270 FIRE PROTECT-SUPPLIES        1,500           0       1,500       1,004.49         191.75         303.76   79.7%

 
TOTAL FIRE PREVENTION                     82,125           0      82,125      66,094.35         191.75      15,838.90   80.7%

 
 

165 FIRE REPAIR SERVICE                
_________________________________________

 
01016565 FIRE REPAIR-PERSONAL SERVI       64,207           0      64,207      52,789.80            .00      11,417.20   82.2%
01016570 FIRE REPAIR-SUPPLIES       31,500           0      31,500      27,857.86         917.18       2,724.96   91.3%

 
TOTAL FIRE REPAIR SERVICE                 95,707           0      95,707      80,647.66         917.18      14,142.16   85.2%

 
 

167 FIRE STATIONS and BUILDINGS        
_________________________________________

 
01016770 FIRE STN BLDG-SUPPLIES       27,500          57      27,557      21,949.92       1,671.57       3,935.01   85.7%
01016775 FIRE STN BLDG-OTHER CHARGE        8,000           0       8,000       4,191.89         462.32       3,345.79   58.2%

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      6
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
01016780 FIRE STN BLDG-CAPITAL OUTL       60,000           0      60,000            .00            .00      60,000.00     .0%

 
TOTAL FIRE STATIONS and BUILDINGS         95,500          57      95,557      26,141.81       2,133.89      67,280.80   29.6%

 
 

180 PLANNING,BUILDING CODE ENFORCE     
_________________________________________

 
01018065 PLANNING AND BUILDING      581,248           0     581,248     480,986.61            .00     100,261.39   82.8%
01018070 PLANNING AND BUILDING       24,500           0      24,500       6,292.17         286.91      17,920.92   26.9%
01018075 PLANNING AND BUILDING      204,640           0     204,640      72,274.48      53,695.62      78,669.90   61.6%
01018080 PLANNING AND BUILDING       22,000           0      22,000      22,000.00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
TOTAL PLANNING,BUILDING CODE ENFORCE      832,388           0     832,388     581,553.26      53,982.53     196,852.21   76.4%

 
 

190 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE           
_________________________________________

 
01019070 ENVIROMENTAL COMP-SUPPLIES       31,700           0      31,700         825.00      15,675.00      15,200.00   52.1%
01019075 ENVR COMP-OTHER CHGS        1,000      13,800      14,800      13,481.34         318.66       1,000.00   93.2%

 
TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE            32,700      13,800      46,500      14,306.34      15,993.66      16,200.00   65.2%

 
 

200 PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION        
_________________________________________

 
01020070 PUBLIC WORKS ADM-SUPPLIES          100           0         100          22.78            .00          77.22   22.8%
01020075 PUBLIC WORKS ADM-OTHER SVC      225,149      -6,221     218,928     183,449.18         375.00      35,103.82   84.0%

 
TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION        225,249      -6,221     219,028     183,471.96         375.00      35,181.04   83.9%

 
 

201 STREET                             
_________________________________________

 
01020170 STREET-SUPPLIES      262,500         200     262,700      91,895.94      42,682.36     128,121.70   51.2%
01020175 STREET-OTHER CHARGES    1,962,295      65,393   2,027,688   1,241,970.34      35,979.25     749,738.21   63.0%
01020180 STREET-CAPITAL OUTLAY    5,879,022     640,572   6,519,594     909,783.44   3,088,848.87   2,520,961.92   61.3%

 
TOTAL STREET                           8,103,817     706,165   8,809,982   2,243,649.72   3,167,510.48   3,398,821.83   61.4%

 
 

202 STREET LIGHTING                    
_________________________________________

 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      7
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
01020270 STREET LIGHT-SUPPLIES        8,000           0       8,000       2,446.36            .00       5,553.64   30.6%

 
TOTAL STREET LIGHTING                      8,000           0       8,000       2,446.36            .00       5,553.64   30.6%

 
 

240 PROPERTY MAINTENANCE               
_________________________________________

 
01024070 PROP MAINT-SUPPLIES      109,100           0     109,100      43,162.24      11,560.00      54,377.76   50.2%
01024075 PROP MAINT-OTHER CHARGES      543,672    -108,254     435,418     400,634.31         515.00      34,268.69   92.1%
01024080 PROP MAINT-CAPITAL OUTLAY      640,000     122,500     762,500     132,674.99     178,548.45     451,276.56   40.8%

 
TOTAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE             1,292,772      14,246   1,307,018     576,471.54     190,623.45     539,923.01   58.7%

 
 

241 BEAUTIFICATION                     
_________________________________________

 
01024165 BEAUTIFICATION-PERSONAL SV      131,263      17,000     148,263     122,812.67            .00      25,450.33   82.8%
01024170 BEAUTIFICATION-SUPPLIES       88,100      17,350     105,450      49,487.31       2,114.65      53,848.04   48.9%
01024175 BEAUTIFICATION-OTHER CHARG    1,091,076    -120,077     970,999     835,046.19         539.60     135,413.41   86.1%
01024180 BEAUTIFICATION-CAPITAL OUT       35,000           0      35,000      33,315.00            .00       1,685.00   95.2%

 
TOTAL BEAUTIFICATION                   1,345,439     -85,727   1,259,712   1,040,661.17       2,654.25     216,396.78   82.8%

 
 

250 ANIMAL CONTROL                     
_________________________________________

 
01025065 ANIMAL CNTRL-PERSONAL SERV      114,384           0     114,384      92,049.48            .00      22,334.52   80.5%
01025070 ANIMAL CNTRL-SUPPLIES       14,200           0      14,200       3,299.53            .00      10,900.47   23.2%
01025075 ANIMAL CNTRL-OTHER CHARGES       22,495           0      22,495      20,846.11            .00       1,648.89   92.7%

 
TOTAL ANIMAL CONTROL                     151,079           0     151,079     116,195.12            .00      34,883.88   76.9%

 
 

300 SENIOR CITIZEN CENTER              
_________________________________________

 
01030065 SR CTZ CENTER-PERSONAL SER      201,567           0     201,567     149,099.26            .00      52,467.74   74.0%
01030070 SR CTZ CENTER-SUPPLIES       14,350           0      14,350       6,633.00       1,002.30       6,714.70   53.2%
01030075 SR CTZ CENTER-OTHER CHARGE       43,950           0      43,950      32,398.65       1,429.53      10,121.82   77.0%
01030080 SR CTZ CENTER-CAPITAL OUTL       55,000           0      55,000            .00      29,391.00      25,609.00   53.4%

 
TOTAL SENIOR CITIZEN CENTER              314,867           0     314,867     188,130.91      31,822.83      94,913.26   69.9%

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      8
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

301 PARKS and RECREATION               
_________________________________________

 
01030165 PARKS & RECR-PERSONAL SERV      986,765           0     986,765     775,401.59            .00     211,363.41   78.6%
01030170 PARKS & REC-SUPPLIES      167,700           0     167,700      80,729.93      28,656.88      58,313.19   65.2%
01030175 PARKS & REC-OTHER CHARGES      526,607       1,240     527,847     326,115.12      46,113.22     155,618.66   70.5%
01030180 PARKS & REC-CAPITAL OUTLAY    1,512,900           0   1,512,900     150,321.33      38,802.50   1,323,776.17   12.5%

 
TOTAL PARKS and RECREATION             3,193,972       1,240   3,195,212   1,332,567.97     113,572.60   1,749,071.43   45.3%

 
 

355 SCRANTON MUSEUM                    
_________________________________________

 
01035565 SCRANTON MUS-PERSONAL SERV       88,366           0      88,366      34,968.21            .00      53,397.79   39.6%
01035570 SCRANTON MUS-SUPPLIES        8,500           0       8,500       3,263.39         906.26       4,330.35   49.1%
01035575 SCRANTON MUS-OTHER CHARGES       21,700           0      21,700       2,232.87          30.00      19,437.13   10.4%
01035580 SCRANTON MUS-CAPITAL OUTLA       15,000           0      15,000            .00            .00      15,000.00     .0%

 
TOTAL SCRANTON MUSEUM                    133,566           0     133,566      40,464.47         936.26      92,165.27   31.0%

 
 

402 GRANTS ADMINISTRATION              
_________________________________________

 
01040265 GRANTS ADMIN-PERSONAL SERV      319,106           0     319,106     228,143.73            .00      90,962.27   71.5%
01040270 GRANTS ADMIN-SUPPLIES        3,900           0       3,900       1,127.33            .00       2,772.67   28.9%
01040275 GRANTS ADMIN-OTHER CHARGES      124,400       2,300     126,700      50,342.38      41,122.00      35,235.79   72.2%

 
TOTAL GRANTS ADMINISTRATION              447,406       2,300     449,706     279,613.44      41,122.00     128,970.73   71.3%

 
 

404 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT               
_________________________________________

 
01040465 ECONOMIC DEV-PERSONAL SERV       46,160           0      46,160      38,623.14            .00       7,536.86   83.7%
01040470 ECONOMIC DEV-SUPPLIES       23,000           0      23,000      10,906.34       2,063.20      10,030.46   56.4%
01040475 ECONOMIC DEV-OTHER CHARGES      359,250        -600     358,650     157,283.94       8,619.49     192,746.57   46.3%
01040480 ECONOMIC DEV-CAPITAL OUTLA       86,500           0      86,500       2,500.00            .00      84,000.00    2.9%

 
TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT               514,910        -600     514,310     209,313.42      10,682.69     294,313.89   42.8%

 
TOTAL GENERAL FUND                    34,580,254     719,969  35,300,224  20,460,944.26   3,816,950.94  11,022,328.56   68.8%

 
 

020 SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION             
_________________________________________

 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P      9
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
020      SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION             APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
305 SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION             
_________________________________________

 
02030580 SPECIAL TAX-CAPITAL            0      80,168      80,168      18,006.75            .00      62,161.25   22.5%

 
TOTAL SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION                   0      80,168      80,168      18,006.75            .00      62,161.25   22.5%

 
TOTAL SPECIAL TAX-RECREATION                   0      80,168      80,168      18,006.75            .00      62,161.25   22.5%

 
 

040 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE FUND          
_________________________________________

 
148 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE               
_________________________________________

 
04014870 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE-SUPPL        4,000           0       4,000            .00            .00       4,000.00     .0%
04014875 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE-OTH C       10,000           0      10,000       7,253.27            .00       2,746.73   72.5%
04014880 FORFIETURE & SEIZURE-CAPIT       30,000       4,990      34,990      33,167.04            .00       1,822.96   94.8%

 
TOTAL FORFIETURE & SEIZURE                44,000       4,990      48,990      40,420.31            .00       8,569.69   82.5%

 
TOTAL FORFIETURE & SEIZURE FUND           44,000       4,990      48,990      40,420.31            .00       8,569.69   82.5%

 
 

042 S MS METRO ENFORCEMENT TEAM        
_________________________________________

 
215 S MS METRO ENFORCE TEAM            
_________________________________________

 
04215075 SMMET - OTHER CHARGES       95,000           0      95,000      56,069.64         224.00      38,706.36   59.3%

 
TOTAL S MS METRO ENFORCE TEAM             95,000           0      95,000      56,069.64         224.00      38,706.36   59.3%

 
TOTAL S MS METRO ENFORCEMENT TEAM         95,000           0      95,000      56,069.64         224.00      38,706.36   59.3%

 
 

050 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE FUND         
_________________________________________

 
168 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE              
_________________________________________

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P     10
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
050      FIRE INSURANCE REBATE FUND         APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
05016870 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE-SUPP       36,900           0      36,900      18,310.00       2,985.80      15,604.20   57.7%
05016875 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE-OTH       46,000           0      46,000       4,790.45       2,490.65      38,718.90   15.8%
05016885 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE-DEBT      112,000           0     112,000     111,491.56            .00         508.44   99.5%
05016890 FIRE INSURANCE REBATE            0      11,765      11,765       1,123.75            .00      10,641.25    9.6%

 
TOTAL FIRE INSURANCE REBATE              194,900      11,765     206,665     135,715.76       5,476.45      65,472.79   68.3%

 
TOTAL FIRE INSURANCE REBATE FUND         194,900      11,765     206,665     135,715.76       5,476.45      65,472.79   68.3%

 
 

060 INNER HARBOR                       
_________________________________________

 
356 INNER HARBOR                       
_________________________________________

 
06035675 INNER HARBOR-OTHER CHARGES       10,000           0      10,000         832.50       1,084.00       8,083.50   19.2%
06035680 INNER HARBOR-CAPITAL OUTLA    1,800,000           0   1,800,000     491,753.00            .00   1,308,247.00   27.3%

 
TOTAL INNER HARBOR                     1,810,000           0   1,810,000     492,585.50       1,084.00   1,316,330.50   27.3%

 
TOTAL INNER HARBOR                     1,810,000           0   1,810,000     492,585.50       1,084.00   1,316,330.50   27.3%

 
 

070 MACHPELAH CEMETERY FUND            
_________________________________________

 
290 MACHPELAH CEMETERY                 
_________________________________________

 
07029075 MACHPELAH CEMETERY-OTH CHA      125,560           0     125,560            .00       1,795.00     123,765.00    1.4%

 
TOTAL MACHPELAH CEMETERY                 125,560           0     125,560            .00       1,795.00     123,765.00    1.4%

 
TOTAL MACHPELAH CEMETERY FUND            125,560           0     125,560            .00       1,795.00     123,765.00    1.4%

 
 

100 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND         
_________________________________________

 
410 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT              
_________________________________________

 
10041075 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT-OTH    1,914,419   4,951,365   6,865,784   1,353,580.38   2,819,734.20   2,692,469.35   60.8%

 
TOTAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT            1,914,419   4,951,365   6,865,784   1,353,580.38   2,819,734.20   2,692,469.35   60.8%

 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P     11
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
100      COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND         APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
TOTAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND       1,914,419   4,951,365   6,865,784   1,353,580.38   2,819,734.20   2,692,469.35   60.8%

 
 

180 SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS           
_________________________________________

 
430 SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS           
_________________________________________

 
18043075 SPECIAL REV PROJECTS-PROJE      312,078           0     312,078      13,490.00     295,631.40       2,956.74   99.1%

 
TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS           312,078           0     312,078      13,490.00     295,631.40       2,956.74   99.1%

 
TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE PROJECTS           312,078           0     312,078      13,490.00     295,631.40       2,956.74   99.1%

 
 

200 GENERAL OBLIG. DEBT SERVICE        
_________________________________________

 
450 GENERAL OBLIGATION - CITY          
_________________________________________

 
20045085 GENERAL OBLIG. DT SER-DEBT    1,110,030           0   1,110,030   1,033,579.72            .00      76,450.28   93.1%

 
TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION - CITY        1,110,030           0   1,110,030   1,033,579.72            .00      76,450.28   93.1%

 
TOTAL GENERAL OBLIG. DEBT SERVICE      1,110,030           0   1,110,030   1,033,579.72            .00      76,450.28   93.1%

 
 

400 PASCAGOULA UTILITIES               
_________________________________________

 
650 UTILITY ADMINSTRATION              
_________________________________________

 
40065065 UTILITY ADMIN-PERSONAL SER      241,190           0     241,190     203,448.14       1,089.00      36,652.86   84.8%
40065070 UTILITY ADMIN-SUPPLIES        5,000       1,500       6,500       4,029.43         885.45       1,585.12   75.6%
40065075 UTILITY ADM-OTHER CHARGES       76,016     166,413     242,429     102,849.62            .00     139,579.66   42.4%

 
TOTAL UTILITY ADMINSTRATION              322,206     167,913     490,119     310,327.19       1,974.45     177,817.64   63.7%

 
 

652 UTILITY ACCOUNTING                 
_________________________________________

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P     12
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
40065265 UTILITY ACCOUNTING-PER SVC      367,419           0     367,419     302,590.22            .00      64,828.78   82.4%
40065270 UTILITY ACCOUNTING-SUPPLIE        2,200           0       2,200       1,153.43         230.50         816.07   62.9%
40065275 UTILITY ACCOUNTING-OTHER S       26,597      -2,500      24,097      20,390.97            .00       3,706.03   84.6%

 
TOTAL UTILITY ACCOUNTING                 396,216      -2,500     393,716     324,134.62         230.50      69,350.88   82.4%

 
 

655 UTILITY GENERAL OVERHEAD           
_________________________________________

 
40065575 UTILITY GN OH-OTHER CHARGE    2,196,630       2,500   2,199,130     529,441.48       7,110.00   1,662,578.52   24.4%
40065585 UTILITY GENERAL OVHD-DEBT    1,181,080           0   1,181,080   1,210,070.47            .00     -28,990.47  102.5%
40065590 UTILITY GN OH-TRANSFERS    1,453,834           0   1,453,834            .00            .00   1,453,834.00     .0%

 
TOTAL UTILITY GENERAL OVERHEAD         4,831,544       2,500   4,834,044   1,739,511.95       7,110.00   3,087,422.05   36.1%

 
 

670 UTILITY BUILDING MAINTENANCE       
_________________________________________

 
40067070 UTIL BLDG MNT-SUPPLIES        2,000           0       2,000         578.68            .00       1,421.32   28.9%
40067080 UT BLDG MNT-CAPITAL       14,600           0      14,600      14,600.00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
TOTAL UTILITY BUILDING MAINTENANCE        16,600           0      16,600      15,178.68            .00       1,421.32   91.4%

 
 

671 METERING SERVICES                  
_________________________________________

 
40067165 METERING SVC-PERSONAL SERV      157,940           0     157,940     133,605.10            .00      24,334.90   84.6%
40067170 METERING SVC-SUPPLIES       14,250           0      14,250       4,264.33          12.99       9,972.68   30.0%
40067175 METERING SVC-OTHER CHARGES        8,674           0       8,674       4,198.08         106.96       4,368.96   49.6%

 
TOTAL METERING SERVICES                  180,864           0     180,864     142,067.51         119.95      38,676.54   78.6%

 
 

672 WATER OPERATION & MAINTENANCE      
_________________________________________

 
40067270 WATER O & M-SUPPLIES      461,000       2,711     463,711     249,671.11      43,018.45     171,021.04   63.1%
40067275 WATER O & M-OTHER CHARGES      900,947     187,002   1,087,949     780,564.05      11,275.44     296,109.51   72.8%
40067280 WATER O & M-CAPITAL OUTLAY    3,757,000     469,257   4,226,257     509,195.46      19,460.90   3,697,600.84   12.5%

 
TOTAL WATER OPERATION & MAINTENANCE    5,118,947     658,970   5,777,917   1,539,430.62      73,754.79   4,164,731.39   27.9%

 
 

673 SEWER OPERATION & MAINTENANCE      
_________________________________________

 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P     13
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

40067370 SEWER O & M-SUPPLIES      208,800           0     208,800     109,283.87       7,146.23      92,369.90   55.8%
40067375 SEWER O & M-OTHER CHARGES    3,366,468     -52,061   3,314,407   3,463,994.95       3,304.92    -152,892.87  104.6%
40067380 SEWER O & M-CAPITAL OUTLAY    1,375,228   2,127,546   3,502,774   1,722,405.28     548,543.70   1,231,825.21   64.8%

 
TOTAL SEWER OPERATION & MAINTENANCE    4,950,496   2,075,485   7,025,981   5,295,684.10     558,994.85   1,171,302.24   83.3%

 
 

674 GAS OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE       
_________________________________________

 
40067470 GAS O & M-SUPPLIES      198,100           0     198,100     104,438.54       8,472.18      85,189.28   57.0%
40067475 GAS O & M-OTHER CHARGES    2,907,950     -70,756   2,837,194   1,527,619.14       1,158.33   1,308,416.53   53.9%
40067480 GAS O & M-CAPITAL OUTLAY    1,139,555     219,777   1,359,332     239,796.30      77,147.79   1,042,388.13   23.3%

 
TOTAL GAS OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE     4,245,605     149,021   4,394,626   1,871,853.98      86,778.30   2,435,993.94   44.6%

 
TOTAL PASCAGOULA UTILITIES            20,062,478   3,051,389  23,113,867  11,238,188.65     728,962.84  11,146,716.00   51.8%

 
 

480 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND        
_________________________________________

 
685 SOLID WASTE MGMT                   
_________________________________________

 
48068565 SOLID WASTE MGT-PERSONAL S       14,204           0      14,204       3,798.99            .00      10,405.01   26.7%
48068575 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT-OTH    1,218,470      17,715   1,236,185     930,811.10         500.00     304,873.90   75.3%

 
TOTAL SOLID WASTE MGMT                 1,232,674      17,715   1,250,389     934,610.09         500.00     315,278.91   74.8%

 
TOTAL SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FUND      1,232,674      17,715   1,250,389     934,610.09         500.00     315,278.91   74.8%

 
 

500 PASCAGOULA GROUP INSURANCE         
_________________________________________

 
500 GROUP INSURANCE                    
_________________________________________

 
50050075 GROUP INS-OTHER SVC'S & CH            0           0           0   2,334,190.93            .00  -2,334,190.93  100.0%

 
TOTAL GROUP INSURANCE                          0           0           0   2,334,190.93            .00  -2,334,190.93  100.0%

 
TOTAL PASCAGOULA GROUP INSURANCE               0           0           0   2,334,190.93            .00  -2,334,190.93  100.0%

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

08/11/2016 12:19    |City of Pascagoula |P     14
strosclair          |MONTH TO DATE EXPENDITURES REPORT |glytdbud

JULY 2016
 
 

FOR 2016 10
 

ORIGINAL TRANFRS/ REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
510      UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE FUND        APPROP ADJSTMTS BUDGET YTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

510 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE FUND        
_________________________________________

 
510 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE             
_________________________________________

 
51051075 UNEMPLOYMENT INS-OTHER CHA            0           0           0       4,705.53            .00      -4,705.53  100.0%

 
TOTAL UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE                   0           0           0       4,705.53            .00      -4,705.53  100.0%

 
TOTAL UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE FUND              0           0           0       4,705.53            .00      -4,705.53  100.0%

 
 

600 FIRE AND POLICE D & R FUND         
_________________________________________

 
700 DISABILITY & RELIEF FUNDING        
_________________________________________

 
60070075 FIRE AND POLICE D & R-OTHR      766,733           0     766,733     679,725.11            .00      87,007.89   88.7%

 
TOTAL DISABILITY & RELIEF FUNDING        766,733           0     766,733     679,725.11            .00      87,007.89   88.7%

 
TOTAL FIRE AND POLICE D & R FUND         766,733           0     766,733     679,725.11            .00      87,007.89   88.7%

 
 

GRAND TOTAL   62,248,127   8,837,361  71,085,488  38,795,812.63   7,670,358.83  24,619,316.86   65.4%
 

                                        ** END OF REPORT - Generated by Sherria Trosclair **                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 23







     



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date:  08‐16‐16     

 
Submitting Department or Individual:  City Attorney   

 
Contact Name:  Eddie Williams    Phone:             

 

 

Agenda Topic:  Appointment of an Election Commissioner
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:   

           

 
Budgeted Item  Yes    No    Source of Funding    General Fund 
 

Contract Required  Yes    No        Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required  Yes    No        Grant 
 

              Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 24



     



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

Mississippi Home Corporation - HOME Investment Partnership Homeowner
Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Application

Approve the resolution authorizing submission of the HOME Investment Partnership
Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Application to the Mississippi Home
Corporation. Authorize the Mayor to execute documents associated with the application. Adopt
the Affirmative Marketing Plan. The application requests $349,600 and there is no match
required.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text
25



Page | 3  
 
 
 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 
HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS PROGRAM 

2016  
HOMEOWNER REHABILITATION/RECONSTRUCTION APPLICATION 

 
 
APPLICANT INFORMATION                                 Area of Opportunity     
 

                                                                                       Area of Need               
 
Complete for Legal Applicant: 

Applicant: City of Pascagoula 

Chief Elected Official:  Harry J. Blevins 

Street/Post Office Box: P.O. Drawer 908 

Physical Address: 603 Watts Avenue 

City/State/Zip + 4 digits:  39567 

County: Jackson 

Congressional District: 4 

Telephone: 228-938-6639 

Telefax Number: 228-938-6637 

Tax ID Number: 64-6000949 

Population: 22,392 

Complete if Application Not Prepared by Applicant: 

Preparer:       

Street/Post Office Box:       

Physical Address:       

City/State/Zip + 4 digits:       

County:       

Telephone:       

TELEFAX NUMBER:       

Fiscal Year End Date:       

CAGE Number:       

CCR Number:       

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The City of Pascagoula seeks $349,600 for a Homeowner Rehabilitation Project in an area of urgent need. The City 
proposes rehabilitation of eight homes in Census Tract 421 in which forty‐nine percent of households without a 
mortgage are spending twenty percent or more of their income on household costs.  If awarded this project will 
expand the supply of decent, safe, sanitary, and affordable housing, and strengthen the ability of the City to 
implement its strategy for achieving an adequate supply of affordable housing.  

 

PROGRAM COST INFORMATION 

HOME funds requested:  $349,600 

*Amount of other funds:  $0 

Total project cost:  $365,600 

*Other funds may allow for more than the 
maximum 8 units  

Area of Opportunity     
 
Area of Need               

 
THRESHOLD AND PAST PERFORMANCE 
 
Applicant Previously Funded?   Yes    No     If Yes, please identify: 

Year       
Contract Number       
Contract Amount       
Grant Audited       

 

  



Page | 4  
 
 
 

 
 
SECTION A:  HOMEOWNER REHABILITATION/RECONSTRUCTION SPECIFIC 
INFORMATION 

 
This section describes the Homeowner Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Program proposed for the 
community.  Documentation which verifies accuracy should be retained in the local files. 
 
1. Describe the proposed project and determination of need in the target area to include the estimated 

number of units to be addressed.  

The City proposes rehabilitation of eight homes in Census Tract 421 in which forty‐nine percent of 
households without a mortgage are spending twenty percent or more of their income on household 
costs.   
 

2. Is applicant in compliance with the State’s Citizen Participation Plan?  Yes  No  

 Attachment 1a – Proof of Publication 

 Attachment 1b – Signed Minutes 

 Attachment 1c – Sign-in Sheet 

 
3. Provide a copy of the Applicant’s Affirmative Marketing Plan adopted by its current Board. 

 Attachment 2 – Affirmative Marketing Plan 
 

4. Submit signed Certifications/Assurances, Section B and C 
 Attachment 3 – Certifications and Assurances Section B 
 Attachment 4 - Certifications and Assurances Section C 

 
5. Provide Conflict of Interest Certification, Section F 

 Attachment 5 – Conflict of Interest Certification, Section F 
 

6.    Provide a copy of the current Board’s Resolution to submit this HOME application. 
 Attachment 6 – Council Resolution 

 
7.    Provide proof of procurement procedures and results for administrative services, if applicable. 

 The City completed the Phase I Application and will not charge any costs for the preparation 
of the Phase I Application. 

 The City is requesting proposals for the preparation of Phase II application, if invited to apply. 
The $5,000 administrative allowance will be utilized in its entirety for the Phase II Application. 

 
8. Submit executed HUD 2880. 

 Attachment 7 – Applicant Recipient Disclosure Update Report – HUD Form 2880 
 
9.    What organization will carry out the housing activities?  

 The City will solicit proposals from to carry out the housing activities. Please contact Jen 
Dearman, Director of Community and Economic Development, at 228-938-6651 if she may 
assist with questions. 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 



Page | 5  
 
 
 

 
 
10.  Indicate MBE/WBE Contracts in previously funded HOME projects.  

 Not Applicable – The City has never been previously funded through the HOME Program 
 

HOME Project No. Name of MBE/WBE Contactor 
Amount of 
Contract 

Percentage 
of Grant 

 
                        

                        
 

     11. Is program income being received?   Yes   No 
      If yes, has it been reported to?   Yes   No 

  



bmeyer
Typewritten Text

bmeyer
Typewritten Text
Attachment 1a

bmeyer
Typewritten Text



Attachment 1b 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING MEETING MINUTEs 
City of Pascagoula 

2016 HOME Investment Partnership 
Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Application 

5:30 p.m. - Tuesday, August 9, 2016  
 
 

Place Holder 
Minutes to be executed by Mayor 

 



# Name Email  or Phone

1 Place holder 

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

City Hall, 603 Watts Avenue, Pascagoula, MS 39567

HOME Investment Partnership 

Tuesday, August 9, 2016  5:30PM

Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Application Public Hearing

bmeyer
Typewritten Text
Attachment 1c



Page 1 of 2 
 

Attachment 2 

 

 

Affirmative Marketing Plan 

2016 HOME Investment Partnership Program 

 

I. Purpose 

In accordance with Title 24: Housing and Urban Development Part 92.351 HOME Investment Partnership 

Program Affirmative Marketing; Minority Outreach Program and the furtherance of the City of 

Pascagoula’s (the City) commitment to non‐discrimination and equal opportunity in housing, the City 

has established procedures to affirmatively market the opportunity of home rehabilitation and 

reconstruction or otherwise assisted 2016 HOME funds. The City is also committed to the goals of 

increasing housing opportunities for persons with limited English proficiency, low income residents and 

underrepresented racial and ethnic groups. These goals will be achieved through the implementation of 

the City’s Affirmative Marketing Plan.  

 

1. Dissemination of Information 

a. Marketing shall include public hearings, email, social media posts, press releases, application 

solicitations, and general information about HOME Program funds.  

b. The Equal Housing Opportunity Logo will be utilized in public communications about the 

HOME Program. 

c. The City will display fair housing posters at City Hall, and the Community and Economic 

Development Department where the HOME Program clients will be received.  

 

2. Procedures 

a. The City will identify the segments of the eligible population which are least likely to apply 

for home rehabilitation without targeted outreach efforts. The current racial and ethnic 

composition of the residential area will be considered as well as language barriers and 

income eligibility requirements.  

b. The City will target outreach efforts  towards the identified population segments by 

notifying community organizations, places of worship, employment centers, fair housing 

groups, and housing counseling agencies who serve those least likely to apply for HOME 

funding opportunities.  

c. Notices will be posted at City Hall, the Community and Economic Department and library. 

The City will utilize email and social media to provide notice about opportunities involving 

HOME funds. 



Page 2 of 2 
 

d. The City of Pascagoula has a non‐English speaking population of 4.0% according to 2010 

census. Spanish instructions will be included in public notices so residents with limited 

English proficiency may obtain application information. 

e. The City will utilize the Mississippi Development Authority’s Minority Business Directory to 

identify and solicit MBE/WBE for the homeowner rehabilitation projects.  

 

3. Records 

a. A list identifying population segments least likely to participate in the home 

rehabilitation application process  

b. Public hearing minutes, fact sheets, and sign‐in sheets 

c. Applicant data including income, family size, and ethnicity of families 

d. A list of  and communications with groups or organizations identified as serving least 

likely to apply populations and those serving special populations who may be served by 

the project 

e. Social media posts, public notices, and any informational materials  

f. Photographs of fair housing posters displayed HOME Program clients  

g. Copies of press releases 

h. Evidence of television broadcasts or radio advertisements, if applicable 

 

4. Assessment and Corrective Actions 

a. The Affirmative Marking Plan will be evaluated considering the target populations 

segments and the actual applicants received. A file memo will be generated 

summarizing the findings. 

b. If a deficiency exists, the City will adjust marketing efforts to reach target population 

segments for the next application cycle.  

c. The Affirmative Marketing Plan will be updated every five years to capture demographic 

changes in the housing’s market area. 

  

 

 

 



Page | 6  
 
 
 

Attachment 3 
 

SECTION B: CERTIFICATIONS/ASSURANCES 
 
By signing this application for HOME Homeowner Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Program funds, the 
applicant certifies the following statements to be true and correct: 
 

 The submission of program description is authorized under State and local law and the 
applicant possesses legal authority to carry out the HOME Homeowner 
Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Program described therein, in accordance with the  

HOME Homeowner Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Program Regulations. 
 

 Its HOME Homeowner Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Program was developed after 
consultation with the public and its description of program activities has been made 
available to the public. 

 
 The locality has established written policies and procedures concerning temporary 

displacement, and relocation assistance in accordance with program regulations.  This 
written policy will be used in connection with the program and will be made available to the 
public. 

 
 The locality has established a written Affirmative Marketing Policy in order to ensure 

affirmative marketing of housing units.  The locality will operate its program in accordance 
with the Federal Fair Housing Law and the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and program regulations 
pertaining to nondiscrimination, equal opportunity, and affirmative marketing. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that all data contained in this application and all supportive 
documentation is true and correct and its submission has been duly authorized by the governing body of 
the City of Pascagoula. 
 
WARNING:  Title 18, Section 1001 of the U.S. Code states that a person is guilty of a felony for 
knowingly and willingly making false or fraudulent statements to any department of the United 
States Government. 
 

August 17, 2016 
________________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Signature, Chief Elected Official                   Date 
 

 
 

Mayor Harry J. Blevins     228-938-6614 
________________________________________ _____________________________________ 
  Name/Title (Typed)     Telephone Number 
 
  



Page | 7  
 
 
 

Attachment 4 
 

SECTION C: CERTIFICATIONS/ASSURANCES 
 

The recipient hereby assures and certifies that: 
 
A. It possesses legal authority to receive the grant, and to execute the proposed program. 

 
B.  Its governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion, or                          

similar action which authorized the filing of the application. 
 

C. Its program has been developed so as to give maximum feasible priority to activities which will benefit 
low and very-low income persons. 

D.    It will: 
 

1. Comply with Section 104(f) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended, which requires compliance with the policies of the National Environmental Policy Act 
of 1969 (NEPA) and other provisions of law which further the purposes of the National 
Environmental Policy Act.  Such other provisions of law which further the purposes of the NEPA 
are specified in regulations issued pursuant to Section 104(f) of the Housing and Community 
Development Act of 1974, as amended, and are contained in 24 CFR Part 58; and 

 
2. Assume all of the responsibilities for environmental review, decision making, and action as 

specified and required in regulations issued by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development 
pursuant to Section 104(f) of the Housing and County Development Act of 1974, as amended, 
and published in 24 CFR Part 58. 

 
E. Its chief executive officer or other officer of recipient: 

1.    Consents to assume the status of a responsible federal official under the National Environmental 
Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA) and other provisions of federal law, as specified in 24 CFR Part 58: 
and 

 
2.  Is authorized and consents on behalf of the applicant and himself/herself to accept the jurisdiction 

of the federal courts for the purpose of enforcement of his/her responsibilities as such an official. 
 

F. It will, in connection with its performance of environmental assessments under the National   
Environmental Policy Act of 1969, comply with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act 
of 1966 (16 U.S.C. 470), Executive Order 11593, and the Preservation of Archeological and Historic 
Data Act of 1966 (16 U.S.C. 469 a-1, et seq) by: 

 
1. Consulting with the State Historic Preservation Officer to identify properties listed in or eligible for 

inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places that are subject to adverse effects of the 
proposed activities; and 
 

 2. Complying with all requirements established by HUD to avoid or mitigate adverse effects upon 
such properties. 
 

G.   It will comply with Executive Order Number 12898, issued February 11, 1994, by: 

1. Focusing attention on the environment and health conditions in minority and low-income 
communities; and 

 



Page | 8  
 
 
 

 2. Fostering non-discrimination in federal programs that substantially affect human health and the      
environment; and 

 
3. Providing minority and low-income communities with access to information on, and opportunities 

for public participation in, matters relating to human health and the environment. 
 

H. Procurement and Audit – It will comply with the regulations, policies, guidelines, and requirements 
of 24 CFR Part 85 and OMB Circulars A-87, A-133 and MHC Program Bulletins as they relate to the 
application and use of federal funds. 

 
It will comply with: 

1.  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Public Law 88-352) and the regulations issued pursuant 
thereto (24 CFR Part 1), which provides that no person in the United States shall on the grounds 
of race, color, familial status, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the 
benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity for which the 
applicant receives federal financial assistance and will immediately take any measures necessary 
to effectuate this assurance.  If any assurance shall obligate the applicant, or in the case of any 
transfer of such property, any transferee, for the period during which the real property or structure 
is used for a purpose for which the federal financial assistance is extended, or for another purpose 
involving the provision of similar services or benefits; 

 
2. Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Public Law 90-284), as amended, administering all 

programs and activities relating to housing and community development in a manner to affirmatively 
further fair housing in the sale or rental of housing, the financing of housing, and the provision of 
brokerage services; 

 
3.    Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259, on equal opportunity in housing     

and nondiscrimination in the sale or rental of housing built with federal assistance; and 
 

4.   Executive Order 11246 and the regulations issued pursuant thereto (24 CFR Part 130 and 41 CFR 
Chapter 60), which provides that no person shall be discriminated against on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex familial status, or national origin in all phases of employment during the 
performance of federal or federally assisted construction contracts, Contractors and subcontractors 
on federal and federally assisted construction contracts shall take affirmative action to ensure fair 
treatment in employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; 
layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training and 
apprenticeship. 

 
J. It will comply with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property acquisition policies Act of 1970, 

as amended, and Federal Implementing regulation at 49 CFR Part 24, and the requirements of Section 
570.496a (including the requirement to provide a certification that the recipient is following a residential 
anti-displacement and relocation assistance plan under Section 104(d)) of the Act. 

 
K. It will establish a written Code of Standards of conduct to prohibit any of its officers, employees, and 

agents from using his/her position in any manner or matter which would have the purpose or effect of 
a conflict of interest, real or apparent.  Conflict of Interest Provisions-24CFR 92.356 states that no 
person who exercises decision making responsibilities of the program may benefit from a HOME-
assisted activity, either for themselves or those with whom they have family or business ties. In order 
to properly implement this provision, it will fully comply with the requirements of 24 CFR Part 85.36 (3), 
“Code of Conduct.” 

L. It will comply with the provisions of the Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. 1501 et seq), which limits the political activity 
of employees. 



Page | 9  
 
 
 

M. It will give the State of Mississippi, HUD, and the Controller General, through any authorized 
representatives, access to and the right to examine all records, books, papers, or other documents 
related to the grant. 

N. It will comply with Section 110 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, 
which requires that all laborers and mechanics employed by contractors or subcontractors on 
construction work assisted under the Act shall be paid at rates not less than those prevailing on similar 
construction in the locality as determined by the Secretary of Labor in accordance with the Davis-Bacon 
Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 276a-276a-5), and it will comply with the Contract Work Hours and Safety 
Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327 et seq).  (However, these requirements apply to the rehabilitation of 
residential property only if such property is designed for residential use of eight or more families.) 

O. It will comply with the applicable requirements of the Copeland Act (40 U.S.C. 276c). 

P. It will comply with Section 109 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, 
which requires that no person in the United States shall on the grounds of race, color, national origin, 
or sex be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination, 
under any program or activities funded in whole or in part with HOME funds made available pursuant 
to the Act.  Section 109 further provides that any prohibition against discrimination on the basis of age 
under the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq), or with respect to an otherwise 
qualified handicapped individual as provided in Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 
794), shall also apply to any such program or activity. 

Q. It will comply with Title IV of the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. 4831), which 
prohibits the use of lead-based paint in residential structures constructed or rehabilitated with federal 
assistance in any form. 

R. It will adopt and enforce a policy of prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies 
within its jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in nonviolent civil rights demonstrations; and 
enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance to or exit from a facility or 
location which is subject of such nonviolent civil rights demonstrations within its jurisdiction. 

S. The recipient shall remain fully obligated under the provision of the “Statement of HOME Award” 
notwithstanding its designation of any third party or parties of the undertaking of all or any parts of the 
program with respect to which assistance is being provided under the “Statement of HOME Award” to 
the recipient.  Any recipient who is not the applicant shall comply with all lawful requirements of the 
applicant necessary to ensure that the program with respect to which assistance is being provided 
under the “Statement of HOME Award” to the recipient is carried out in accordance with the applicant’s 
assurances and certifications to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and other requirements. 

T. The chief elected official certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

1. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, 
to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of 
Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, 
the making of any federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement. 

2. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person 
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of 
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in 
connection with this federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 



Page | 10  
 
 
 

complete and submit standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance 
with its instructions. 

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under 
grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose 
accordingly. 

U. It will comply with the applicable requirements of 24 CFR 92.504(c)(1), 24 CFR 92.504(c)(3), 24 CFR 
92.504(c)(5): 

1. Program income.  Program Income, as the term is used in the context of HUD regulations, is the   
income derived as a result of the use of the HOME Program funds provided under this contract.  
Program Income derived for the use of HOME funds must be returned to MHC.  All Program 
Income, if any, shall be used to defray the expenses incurred in the implementation of this contract, 
before requesting, disbursement of additional HOME funds. 

 
2. Uniform administrative requirements.  The recipient will comply with applicable uniform 

administrative requirements, as described in э92.505. 
 
3. Project requirement.  The recipient will comply with project requirements in subpart F of this part, 

as applicable in accordance with the type of project assisted. 
 
4. Other Program requirements.  The recipient must agree or consent to carry out each activity in 

compliance with all Federal laws and regulations described in subpart H of this part, except that 
the recipient does not assume the State’s responsibilities for release of funds under э92.352 and 
the intergovernmental review process in э92.357 does not apply to the State recipient. 

 
5. Affirmative marketing.  The agreement must specify the State recipient’s affirmative marketing 

responsibilities in accordance with э92.351, if the HOME funds received by the State recipient will 
be used for housing containing five or more assisted units. 
 
a. Each grant recipient shall display in public view, posters affirming Equal Housing Opportunity 

as amended under the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988. 
 

b. The State certifies that HOME program funds will be awarded in accordance with the 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirements set forth in the program regulations.  The 
State will provide the recipients with all applicable non-discrimination laws.  Recipients will be 
provided with procedures outlining corrective action for non-compliance, as well as copies of 
the State’s Minority Business Directory to be used in selection and award of contracts for 
HOME activities. 

c. The State will require grant recipients to establish appropriate procedures and requirements to 
affirmatively market units in the HOME projects and to assess the results of their efforts in 
accordance with the HOME program regulations.  Procedures and requirements must include 
the following: 

1.  The methods for informing the public, owners, and potential tenants about the federal fair 
housing laws and the grant recipient’s affirmative marketing policy. 

2. The requirements and practices for owners to follow in complying with the grant recipient 
are affirmative marketing procedures and requirements. 

3. The special outreach procedures to be used by owners to inform and solicit applications 
from persons in the housing market area who would not otherwise apply.  The owner may 



Page | 11  
 
 
 

wish to use community organizations, places of worship, employment centers, fair housing 
counseling agencies, social service centers, and other resources for this outreach. 

4. The owner must maintain a listing of all tenants residing in each unit at the time of 
application submittal through the end of the compliance period. 

5. The owner must maintain a file containing all marketing efforts (i.e. copies of newspapers, 
calls, letters, etc.) 

6. Records must be kept on file describing efforts and results of grant recipients and owners 
in affirmatively marketing units. 

7. Owner advertisement of vacant units must contain the fair housing opportunity logo or 
statement. 

6. Requests for disbursement of funds.  The State recipient may not request disbursement of HOME 
funds under this agreement until the funds are needed for payment of eligible costs.  The amount 
of each request must be limited to the amount needed.  Available program income must be 
disbursed before the State recipient requests funds from the State. 

 
7. Records and reports.  The Recipient shall include in all contracts with participating parties who 

receive grant funds provisions requiring that they: 
 

a. Keep and maintain books, records, and other documents relating directly to the recipient and 
disbursement of grant funds; 

 
b. Allow any authorized representative from MHC, HUD, and/or the Controller General of the 

United States, at all reasonable times, to have access and the right to inspect, copy, audit, and 
examine such books, records, and other documents of participating parties until the completion 
of all close-out procedures involving this grant and the final settlement and concluding of all 
issues arising out of this grant. 

c. In addition to audits, records, books, and documents, the Recipient shall maintain and keep on 
file information regarding household characteristics of those receiving housing assistance.  The 
recipient shall use the Homeownership Rehab Set Up and Completion Form to provide this 
information.  In addition, the Recipient must provide on this form the number of female-headed 
households. 

d. Records must be retained for a period of not less than five (5) years from the final close-out 
date of this contract.  This applies to all financial and programmatic records, supporting 
documents, statistical and other records of grantees or sub-grantees.  MHC has the right to 
continue monitoring this project for the extended period of affordability as set forth in the 
Recipient’s HOME application in order to comply with regulation found at 24 CFR Part 92.252. 

8. Enforcement of the agreement.  The agreement must provide for a means of enforcement of 
affordable housing requirements by the State or the intended beneficiaries, if the State recipient 
will be the owner at project completion of the affordable housing.  The means of enforcement may 
include liens on real property, deed restrictions, or covenants running with the land.  The 
affordability requirements in э92.252 must be enforced by deed restriction.  In addition, the 
agreement must specify remedies for breach of the HOME requirements.  The agreement must 
specify that, in accordance with 24 CFR 85.43, suspension or termination may occur if the State 
recipient materially fails to comply with any term of the agreement.  The State may permit the 
agreement to be terminated for convenience in accordance with 24 CFR 85.44. 

 



Page | 12  
 
 
 

V. Building Standards.  The recipient agrees to and understands that project activities shall comply with 
the applicable codes and standards approved by the International Residential Code of the International 
Code Council (ICC), and the Model Energy Codes, or locally adopted codes, whichever is more 
stringent. 

 
W. Budget.  The Recipient agrees to and accepts the budget forms attached to the contract.  The budget 

forms shall constitute the true and correct budget for the HOME project and are hereby incorporated 
and made a part of this contract.  No modifications shall be made without prior written approval from 
MHC. 

 
X. Flood Insurance.  If applicable, the Recipient agrees to comply with the provisions of the Flood Disaster 

Protection of 1973 (42 U.S.C. 4001-4128) with respect to obtaining flood insurance on any housing 
located in a floodplain. 

 
Y.  Termination for Cause.  All contracts between the sub-grantee and third party should contain a 

“termination for cause” clause.  A basis for termination for cause can be suspension and debarment. 
 
WARNING:  Title 18, Section 1001 of the U.S. Code states that a person is guilty of a felony for 
knowingly and willingly making false or fraudulent statements to any department of the United 
States Government. 
 

 
_______________________________________________________________ 

Signature, Chief Elected Official 
 

Mayor Harry J. Blevins 
_______________________________________________________________ 

Name/Title (Typed) 
 

August 17, 2016 
_______________________________________________________________ 

Date 
 
 

  



Page | 14  
 
 
 

Attachment 5 
 

SECTION F:  CERTIFICATION/CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 

Conflict of Interest Provisions-24 CFR 92.356 states that no person who is an employee, agent, consultant, 
officer, elected or appointed official of the recipient or sub-recipient who exercises any functions or 
responsibilities with respect to HOME activities, is in a position to participate in the decision making process, 
or gains inside information with regard to such activities may:  obtain a financial interest or benefit from a 
HOME activity; have a financial interest in any contract with respect to a HOME activity or its proceeds for 
themselves or those they have business or immediate family ties (relatives).   
 
 It is the responsibility of the Chief Elected Official and the Application Preparer to properly disclose whether 
a “conflict of interest” has occurred.  The grant recipient may be required to repay program funds using non-
federal funds.  Failure to repay may result in further participation in the HOME programs. 
 
Warning:  If you knowingly make a false statement on this form, you may be subject to civil or 
criminal penalties under Section 1001 of Title 18 of the United States Code.  In addition, any person 
who knowingly and materially violates any required disclosures of information, including 
intentional non-disclosure, is subject to civil money penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each 
violation.  I certify that this information is true and complete. 
 

   August 17, 2016 
_____________________________________________________  ________________________   
 Signature, Chief Elected Official               Date 
 
 
 Mayor Harry J. Blevins      
_____________________________________________________   

Name (typed)                                            
  

 
         August 17, 2016 
_____________________________________________________  _________________________ 
 Signature, Application Preparer                                                      Date 
 
 
 
  



 
Attachment 6 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF THE  

2016 HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM  

HOMEOWNER REHABILITATION AND RECONSTURCITON APPLICAION 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Pascagoula is a “local unit of government” and eligible applicant 

under the terms of the Mississippi Home Corporation (MHC) 2016 HOME Investment 

Partnership (HOME) Program; and 

  WHEREAS, the Regulations of the HOME Program require the preparation and 

submission of a Homeowner Rehabilitation and Reconstruction application for consideration of 

the HOME Program funds allocation: and 

  WHEREAS, the City will adopt an Affirmative Marketing Plan for the 2016 HOME 

Program Year, which was prepared in accordance with rules and regulations governing the 2013 

HOME Program Final Rule; and 

  WHEREAS, the said application for 2016 HOME Program Homeowner Rehabilitation and 

Reconstruction included, other the proposed project estimated at $349,600;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PASCAGOULA THAT: 

  Section One:  The findings, conclusions, statements of fact contained in the preamble 

are adopted and ratified. 

  Section Two:  Harry J. Blevins, Mayor of the City of Pascagoula, be and is hereby 

authorized to sign the required certifications and submit 2016 HOME Program Homeowner 

Rehabilitation and Reconstruction application to MHC for review and approval. 

 



Form HUD-2880 (3/13)

Applicant/Recipient
Disclosure/Update Report 

U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development

OMB Approval No. 2510-0011 (exp. 12/31/20 5)

Instructions.  (See Public Reporting Statement and Privacy Act Statement and detailed instructions on page 2.)

Applicant/Recipient Information Indicate whether this is an Initial Report  or an Update Report 

1.  Applicant/Recipient Name, Address, and Phone (include area code):  2.  Social Security Number or 
Employer ID Number: 

3.  HUD Program Name  4.  Amount of HUD Assistance 
Requested/Received

5.  State the name and location (street address, City and State) of the project or activity:

Part I  Threshold Determinations
1. Are you applying for assistance for a specific project or activity? These 

terms do not include formula grants, such as public housing operating 
subsidy or CDBG block grants.  (For further information see 24 CFR Sec. 
4.3).

Yes No

2. Have you received or do you expect to receive assistance within the 
jurisdiction of the Department (HUD) , involving the project or activity in 
this application, in excess of $200,000 during this fiscal year (Oct. 1 - 
Sep. 30)?  For further information, see 24 CFR Sec. 4.9 

Yes  No.

If you answered “No” to either question 1 or 2, Stop!  You do not need to complete the remainder of this form.
However, you must sign the certification at the end of the report. 

Part II  Other Government Assistance Provided or Requested / Expected Sources and Use of Funds.
Such assistance includes, but is not limited to, any grant, loan, subsidy, guarantee, insurance, payment, credit, or tax benefit.
Department/State/Local Agency Name and Address Type of Assistance Amount

Requested/Provided
Expected Uses of the Funds 

             
             

(Note:  Use Additional pages if necessary.)

Part III  Interested Parties. You must disclose:
1. All developers, contractors, or consultants involved in the application for the assistance or in the planning, development, or implementation of the 

project or activity and 
2. any other person who has a financial interest in the project or activity for which the assistance is sought that exceeds $50,000 or 10 percent of the 

assistance (whichever is lower).

Alphabetical list of all persons with a reportable financial interest 
in the project or activity (For individuals, give the last name first)

Social Security No. 
or Employee ID No. 

Type of Participation in 
Project/Activity 

Financial Interest in 
Project/Activity ($ and %) 

(Note:  Use Additional pages if necessary.) 

Certification
Warning:  If you knowingly make a false statement on this form, you may be subject to civil or criminal penalties under Section 1001 of Title 18 of the 
United States Code.  In addition, any person who knowingly and materially violates any required disclosures of information, including intentional non-
disclosure, is subject to civil money penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each violation. 
I certify that this information is true and complete. 

Signature:

X

Date:  (mm/dd/yyyy) 

✔

City of Pascagoula, P.O. Drawer 908, Pascagoula, MS 39568, 228-938-6614
64-60000949

HOME Investment Partnership Program
$349,600

NA - Census Tract 421

✔ ✔

Mississippi Home Corporation grant $349,600 home rehabilitation

NA - Phase I Applicaiton

To Be Determined - Phase II Application

bmeyer
Typewritten Text
Attachment 7

bmeyer
Typewritten Text



Page | 19  
 
 
 

Attachment 8 
FUNDING CERTIFICATION FORM 

 
  Organization: City of Pascagoula         Fiscal Year End     September / 30 /2016    

               Month    Day     Year 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
We have exceeded the federal expenditure threshold of $750,000. We will have our Single Audit or Program Specific 
Audit completed and will submit by June 30, 2016, which is no later than nine (9) months after the end of the audited 
fiscal year. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
We did not exceed the $750,000 federal expenditure threshold required for a Single Audit or a Program Specific Audit 
to be performed this fiscal year.  (Fill out schedule below) 

Must be filled out if Single Audit or Program Audit is not required: 
Federal Funds

 
Federal Grantor 

 Pass-through 
Grantor 

Program Name &
CFDA Number Contract Number 

 
Expenditures 

                                 
                                 
                                 
                                 
                                 
                                 
                                 
                                 
                                                  Total Federal Expenditures for this Fiscal Year  $      

 

 
 

  
 
Harry J. Blevins               Mayor 

Authorized Signature (Executive Director, Mayor, 
Board President ) 

 Printed Name  
 
 
Pascagoula, MS 

 Title   
 
 
39568 

 
P.O. Drawer 908 

  

Mailing Address: 
 
jhuffman@cityofpascagoula.com 

 City, State 
 
228-938-6614 

 Zip Code 
 
228-938-6749 

Email Address:  
 
 
Bobby Parker______________________ 

 
 
 
 

Phone Number 
 
 
228-938-6716________________ 

 Fax Number 
 
 
228-938-6749___________________ 

Chief Financial Officer / Comptroller 
                                                 

 Phone Number  
 

 Fax Number 

                                                                                                       
Failure to submit this completed form or a completed Single Audit package as described in the audit requirements by 
the required due date will affect eligibility for future funding. 
 

Form should be mailed to:                                            
                                                                              

Mississippi Home Corporation 
Attn:  Jackie Cobbins 
735 Riverside Drive 
Jackson, MS 39202 

jackie.cobbins@mshc.com 



Page | 13  
 
 
 

Attachment 9 
 
 

SELF-CERTIFICATION 
Chief Executive Officer’s Certification 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, the applicant has no outstanding serious audit or monitoring 
findings, no delinquent audits, closeouts have been submitted on previous funded HOME projects, and all 
data contained in this application is true and correct.  Its submission has been duly authorized by the 
governing body.  I certify that all requirements of the State’s Citizen Participation Plan are being followed. 
 
WARNING:  Title 18, Section 1001 of the U.S. Code states that a person is guilty of a felony for 
knowingly and willingly making false or fraudulent statements to any department of the United 
States Government. 
 
 
 

Mayor 
_________________________________________  ____________________________________ 

Signature, Chief Elected Official Title (typed) 
 
 
 
  Harry J. Blevins      August 17, 2016 
_________________________________________  ____________________________________ 

Name (typed) Date 
 
 
 

228-938-6614      228-938-6651 
_________________________________________  ___________________________________ 

Office Telephone Number Other Telephone Number 
 
 
 
 

Application Preparer’s Certification 
 
I certify that I am not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or 
voluntarily excluded from participation in the HOME Investment Partnerships program, and I also affirm that 
all data contained in this application is true and correct. 
 
WARNING:  Title 18, Section 1001 of the U.S. Code states that a person is guilty of a felony for 
knowingly and willingly making false or fraudulent statements to any department of the United 
States Government. 
 
 
_________________________________________ ___Community and Economic Development____ 

Signature, Applicant Preparer Department 
 

Jen Dearman      August 17, 2016 
_________________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Name (typed) Date 
 
 

  



     



Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the General Fund for the FY2017 DUI grant revenue and 
related expenditures. BA 16.21.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
26



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.21

August 16, 2016

Current Budget Amended

Budget Amendment Budget

General Fund

Revenues:

Grants:

2017 DUI Grant -                  15,411 15,411

Total Revenues -                  15,411 15,411

Expenditures:

Field Services:

Personal Services:

Overtime - DUI -                  15,411 15,411

Total Expenditures -                  15,411 15,411

Net Change in Fund Balance -

General Fund -                  

To amend budget to provide authority for expenditures

stemming from the FY2017 DUI Grant and the related grant

revenue as approved by the Council on July 19, 2016.



cwarren
Typewritten Text
27





Agenda Number:  

August 16, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Claims Docket for August 16, 2016

Approve Order for Docket of Claims

✔✔✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
28



 
ORDER 

 

WHEREAS, the attached docket of claims for the period of July 29, 2016, through  

August 12 , 2016,  has been presented to the City Council for allowance and approval; 

WHEREAS, the below claim numbers 06-03-01, 06-17-02, and 06-03 have also been 

presented to the City Council for allowance and approval: 

July 1, 2016                                            Claim # 07-01-01 

 

010   General Fund                  $ 468,300.61 

400   Pascagoula Utilities            26,485.58 

Total                 $    494,786.19 

 

July 15, 2016                                                                      Claim 07-15-02 

    

010   General Fund                 $   494,822.13 

400   Pascagoula Utilities                       24,382.58 

Total               $      519,204.71     

 

 

July 29, 2016                                                                      Claim 07-29-03 

    

010   General Fund                 $  494,822.13 

400   Pascagoula Utilities                       24,674.98 

Total               $      519,497.11     

 

 

 Miscellaneous Claim      Claim #07-03 

  

  1000            City Share  FICA                                           $       74,740.80 
  1100            City Share  Medicare                                              17,479.57 
                        7000            City Share PERS                                                   189,062.66 
                                                                     Total                                      $     281,283.03 
 



               WHEREAS, it appears that all of said claims are proper and should be allowed; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that all claims shown on said dockets are hereby 
allowed and approved for payment. 








































	Agenda 8-16-16
	1. AIR- Bike-Ped Infrastructure (002)
	2. AIR Planning Board Min.
	3. AIR Rezoning of Parcels
	4. AIR - Minutes of Recessed Regular Council Meetings - August 2 and 3, 2016
	New Agenda Item Request Form
	AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM

	Regular Council Meeting 8-2-16
	The next item for consideration was a request to accept and approve the Parks and Recreation Fee Schedule, as recommended by Darcie Crews, Parks and Recreation Director.
	*****
	*****

	Recessed Regular Council Meeting 8-3-16 (Budget Meeting)

	5. AIR Strategic Plan Comm.
	170th Meeting Strategic Plan - AIR flat
	170th Meeting Strategic Plan

	6. AIR - 8-16-16 - Order terminating state of emergency
	7. AIR - 8-16-16 - Advertising the Resources - PHS Quarterback Club
	8. AIR - 8-16-16 - Advertising the Resources - Rotary Club Golf Tournament
	9. AIR - 8-16-16 - Order authorizing Sale of Real Property on 11th St
	10. AIR- Point Park Boat Launch & Pier Close Out 2016
	AIR - Point Boat Launches & Piers Close Out 2016
	Closeout Letter.pdf

	11. AIR - MDOT SRSP Jackson Ementary Permission to Advertise
	12. AIR Orion Add. Funds
	13. CDBG Standard Operating Procedures AIR
	CDBG Standard Operating Procedures 8-16-16 - AIR flat
	CDBG Standard Operating Procedures revised 8-16-16

	14. Red Clay Bid 334 Extension 2016F
	15. AIR - Extend Gas Pipe Bid 337 2016F
	16. AIR - Ingalls Lambert Holland CO3 w attach
	17. Air 8.16.16 plus job descriptions2
	18-1.08-16-16 AIR-Group Health Plan Amendment #12
	18-2. CP Amendment #12 2016-Proposed
	19-1.  AIR-Insurance Committee Bylaws
	19-2. Bylaws-City of Pascagoula Employee Insurance Program Steering Committee
	20. AIR - Website Redevelopment
	AIR - Website Redevelpment
	Pascagoula MS_CivicPlus Proposal_revised 7-20-16_no HR

	21. AIR - Task Order for 2D Renderings of Athletic Facilities 2016
	AIR - task order for 2D renderings of athletic complexes w CE- 8-2016
	Letter Darcie Crew 7-29-16.pdf
	X-1.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	X-1


	X-2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	X-2



	22. AIR YTD REPORTS JULY 2016
	23.  AIR Resolution Liens
	24. AIR Appointment of Ele. Comm
	25. AIR - HOME Investment Partnership Applicaiton
	AIR - HOME Investment Partnership Applicaiton
	AIR - HOME Investment Partnership Applicaiton flat
	1 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I 3-5
	1a proof of pub
	1b Public hearing minutes place holder
	1c sign in sheet place holder
	2 Affirmative Marketing Plan
	3 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I
	4 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I

	5 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I
	AIR - HOME Investment Partnership Applicaiton
	6 2016 HOME Investment Partnership Resolution
	7 HUD-Form-2880 flat
	Untitled

	8 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I
	9 MHC FY16 HOME Application Phase I


	26. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.21 - GF - 2017 DUI Grant
	27. AIR - 8-16-16 - Ordinance to amend Section 70-9 - rate charged for refuse collection
	28.1 AIR - Claims Docket 081616
	28.2  AIR Order
	28.3 Docket of Claims



